
Page 1 of 4

Prosper is a place where everyone matters. 

Welcome to the Prosper Town Council Meeting. 

Citizens may watch the meeting live by using the following link: 
https://prospertx.new.swagit.com/views/378/  

Addressing the Town Council: 

Those wishing to address the Town Council must complete the Public Comment Request Form
located on the Town's website or in the Council Chambers. 

If you are attending in person, please submit this form to the Town Secretary or the person
recording the minutes for the Board/Commission prior to the meeting. When called upon, please
come to the podium, and state your name and address for the record. 

If you are watching online, please submit this form to the Town Secretary prior to 4:00 p.m. on
the day of the meeting in order for your comments to be read into the record. The Town assumes
no responsibility for technical issues beyond our control. 

In compliance with the Texas Open Meetings Act, the Town Council/Board/Commission may not
deliberate or vote on any matter that does not appear on the agenda. The
Council/Board/Commission, however, may provide statements of fact regarding the topic, request
the topic be included as part of a future meeting, and/or refer the topic to Town staff for further
assistance. 

Citizens and other visitors attending Town Council meetings shall observe the same rules of
propriety, decorum, and good conduct applicable to members of the Town Council. Any person
making personal, impertinent, profane or slanderous remarks or who becomes boisterous while
addressing the Town Council or while attending the Town Council meeting shall be removed from
the room, if so directed by the Mayor or presiding officer, and the person shall be barred from
further audience before the Town Council during that session of the Town Council.  Disruption of
a public meeting could constitute a violation of Section 42.05 of the Texas Penal Code. 

Call to Order/ Roll Call. 

Invocation, Pledge of Allegiance and Pledge to the Texas Flag. 

Announcements of recent and upcoming events. 

Presentations. 

1. Receive a presentation from the Salvation Army of North Texas regarding the 2022
Mayors Red Kettle Challenge. (MLS) 

2. Presentation of a Proclamation declaring February 2023 as Congenital Heart Defect
Awareness Month. (MLS) 

Agenda
Prosper Town Council Meeting

Prosper Town Hall, Council Chambers
250 W. First Street, Prosper, Texas

Tuesday, January 24, 2023
6:15 PM

Page 1

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
https://prospertx.new.swagit.com/views/378/



Page 2 of 4

3. Presentation of a Proclamation declaring the week of January 14 -29, 2023 as Health
for Humanity Yogathon. (MLS) 

4. Receive a presentation and discuss the Prosper Passport event proposal. (RB) 

CONSENT AGENDA: 
Items placed on the Consent Agenda are considered routine in nature and non-controversial.  The
Consent Agenda can be acted upon in one motion.  Items may be removed from the Consent
Agenda by the request of Council Members or staff. 

5. Consider and act upon the minutes of the January 6, 2023, Town Council Special
meeting. (MLS) 

6. Consider and act upon the minutes of the January 7, 2023, Town Council Special
meeting. (MLS) 

7. Consider and act upon the minutes of the January 10, 2023, Town Council Work
Session meeting. (MLS) 

8. Consider and act upon the minutes of the January 10, 2023, Town Council meeting. 
MLS) 

9. Consider and act upon awarding CSP No. 2023-05-B to DDM Construction
Corporation, related to construction services for the Teel/US 380 Intersection
Improvements project; and authorizing the Interim Town Manager to execute a
construction agreement for same. (HW) 

10. Consider and act upon approving a Service Agreement with Flock Group, Inc. for the
purchase of software and hardware situational awareness solution for automatic
license plates, video, and audio detection; and authorizing the Interim Town Manager
to execute documents for same. (DK) 

11. Consider approving the purchase of a 2023 Chevrolet Silverado 1500 for Construction
Inspection, a 2023 Chevrolet Silverado 1500 for Right of Way, and a 2023 Ford
Maverick for Code Enforcement from Enterprise Fleet Management utilizing The
Interlocal Purchasing System (TIPS); and authorizing the Interim Town Manager to
execute the same. (JC) 

12. Consider and act upon an ordinance granting a non-exclusive gas franchise to Atmos
Energy Corporation. (RBS) 

13. Conduct a public hearing and consider and act upon a request to rezone 0.1± acres
from Single Family-15 (SF-15) to Downtown Office (DTO), on Lots 10A & 11B, located
on the north side of Broadway Street, east of Coleman Street. (Z22-0017). (DS) 

14. Conduct a public hearing and consider and act upon a request for a Specific Use
Permit for a new Wireless Communications and Support Structure, on . 2± acre, 
located on the north side of Prosper Trail, west of Legacy Drive.  (S22-0011) (DS) 

15. Conduct a public hearing and consider and act upon a request to amend a Specific
Use Permit-19 (S-19) for a Child Care Center, Licensed on 2.3± acres, located on the
north side of Prairie Drive, west of Legacy Drive. (S22-0010) (DS) 

16. Consider and act upon a resolution expressing official intent to reimburse costs of
Town capital improvement program projects that may be funded with proceeds of

Page 2



Page 3 of 4

bonds or other obligations, if those costs are paid prior to the issuance of such bonds
or other obligations. (CL) 

CITIZEN COMMENTS
The public is invited to address the Council on any topic. However, the Council is unable to
discuss or take action on any topic not listed on this agenda. Please complete a “Public Comment
Request Form” and present it to the Town Secretary prior to the meeting. Please limit your
comments to three minutes. If multiple individuals wish to speak on a topic, they may yield their
three minutes to one individual appointed to speak on their behalf. All individuals yielding their
time must be present at the meeting, and the appointed individual will be limited to a total of 15
minutes. 

REGULAR AGENDA: 
If you wish to address the Council, please fill out a “Public Comment Request Form” and present
it to the Town Secretary, preferably before the meeting begins. Pursuant to Section 551.007 of
the Texas Government Code, individuals wishing to address the Council for items listed as public
hearings will be recognized when the public hearing is opened. For individuals wishing to speak
on a non-public hearing item, they may either address the Council during the Citizen Comments
portion of the meeting or when the item is considered by the Town Council. 

Items for Individual Consideration: 

17. Conduct a public hearing and consider and act upon ordinances adopting the following
International Codes with local amendments: 

A. 2021 Existing Building Code; 

B. 2021 Building Code; 

C. 2021 Residential Code; 

D. 2021 Plumbing Code; 

E. 2021 Mechanical Code; 

F. 2021 Fuel Gas Code; 

G. 2021 Energy Conservation Code; 

H. 2021 Property Maintenance Code; 

I. 2021 Fire Code; 

J. 2020 National Electric Code; 

and repealing all prior versions of said International Codes, to the extent referenced in
each applicable ordinance. The foregoing codes are contained in Chapter 3, "Building
Regulations, " of the Town's Code of Ordinances, as amended. (BC) 

Possibly direct Town staff to schedule topic(s) for discussion at a future meeting. 

EXECUTIVE SESSION: 
Recess into Closed Session in compliance with Section 551.001 et seq. Texas Government Code, 
as authorized by the Texas Open Meetings Act, to deliberate regarding: 

Page 3



Page 4 of 4

Section 551.087 – To discuss and consider economic development incentives and all
matters incident and related thereto. 

Section 551.072 – To discuss and consider purchase, exchange, lease or value of real
property for municipal purposes and all matters incident and related thereto. 

Section 551.074 – To discuss and consider personnel matters and all matters incident
and related thereto. 

Section 551.089 - Deliberation of security information collected, assembled, or
maintained by or for a governmental entity to prevent, detect or investigate criminal
activity, pursuant to Section 2059.055 of the Texas Government Code, and all matters
incident and related thereto. 

Section 551.071– To discuss retention of legal services to assist in NEPA EIS
evaluation, and all matters incident and related thereto. 

Reconvene in Regular Session and take any action necessary as a result of the Closed
Session. 

Adjourn. 

CERTIFICATION

I, the undersigned authority, do hereby certify that this Notice of Meeting was posted at Prosper
Town Hall, located at 250 W. First Street, Prosper, Texas 75078, a place convenient and readily
accessible to the general public at all times, and said Notice was posted by 5:00 p.m., on
Friday, January 20, 2023, and remained so posted at least 72 hours before said meeting was
convened. 

Michelle Lewis Sirianni, Town Secretary Date Notice Removed

Pursuant to Section 551.071 of the Texas Government Code, the Town Council reserves the right to consult
in closed session with its attorney and to receive legal advice regarding any item listed on this agenda. 

NOTICE

Pursuant to Town of Prosper Ordinance No. 13-63, all speakers other than Town of Prosper staff are limited
to three (3) minutes per person, per item, which may be extended for an additional two (2) minutes with
approval of a majority vote of the Town Council.  

NOTICE OF ASSISTANCE AT PUBLIC MEETINGS: The Prosper Town Council meetings are wheelchair
accessible.  For special services or assistance, please contact the Town Secretary’s Office at (972) 569 -
1011 at least 48 hours prior to the meeting time. 

Page 4



Page 1 of 1

Prosper is a place where everyone matters. 

Call to Order/ Roll Call. 

The meeting was called to order at 8:00 p.m.  

Council Members Present: 
Mayor David F. Bristol
Mayor Pro-Tem Jeff Hodges
Deputy Mayor Pro-Tem Craig Andres
Councilmember Marcus E. Ray
Councilmember Amy Bartley
Councilmember Chris Kern
Councilmember Charles Cotten

Staff Members Present: 
Bob Scott, Executive Director of Administrative Services
Michelle Lewis Sirianni, Town Secretary

EXECUTIVE SESSION: 
Recess into Closed Session in compliance with Section 551.001 et seq. Texas Government Code, 
as authorized by the Texas Open Meetings Act, to deliberate regarding: 

Section 551.074 – To discuss and consider personnel matters, including Town Manager
search and selection process, and all matters incident and related thereto. 

The Town Council did not meet in Executive Session; therefore, no action was taken. 

Adjourn. 

The meeting was adjourned at 8:00 p.m. 

These minutes approved on the 24th day of January 2023. 

APPROVED:     

David F. Bristol, Mayor

ATTEST: 

Michelle Lewis Sirianni, Town Secretary

MINUTES
Prosper Town Council Special Meeting

Prosper Town Hall – Executive Conference Room
250 W. First Street, Prosper, Texas

Friday, January 6, 2023

Page 5

Item 5.



Page 1 of 2

Prosper is a place where everyone matters. 

Call to Order/ Roll Call. 

The meeting was called to order at 8:30 a.m.  

Council Members Present: 
Mayor David F. Bristol
Mayor Pro-Tem Jeff Hodges
Deputy Mayor Pro-Tem Craig Andres
Councilmember Marcus E. Ray
Councilmember Amy Bartley
Councilmember Chris Kern
Councilmember Charles Cotten

Staff Members Present: 
Bob Scott, Executive Director of Administrative Services
Michelle Lewis Sirianni, Town Secretary

EXECUTIVE SESSION: 
Recess into Closed Session in compliance with Section 551.001 et seq. Texas Government Code, 
as authorized by the Texas Open Meetings Act, to deliberate regarding: 

Section 551.074 – To discuss and consider personnel matters, including Town Manager
search and selection process, and all matters incident and related thereto. 

Section 551.071–To discuss possible litigation regarding U.S. 380 siting decisions, 
including alternate routes and environmental studies matters, and all matters incident and
related thereto. 

The Town Council recessed into Executive Session at 8:30 a.m. 

Reconvene in Regular Session and take any action necessary as a result of the Closed
Session. 

The Town Council reconvened into Regular Session at 2:42 p.m. 

Mayor Pro-Tem Hodges made a motion to start contract negotiations for the position of Town
Manager with the selected candidate. Councilmember Cotten seconded that motion, and the
motion was unanimously approved.  

Adjourn. 

The meeting was adjourned at 2:45 p.m. 

These minutes approved on the 24th day of January 2023. 

MINUTES
Prosper Town Council Special Meeting

Prosper Town Hall – Executive Conference Room
250 W. First Street, Prosper, Texas

Saturday, January 7, 2023

Page 6

Item 6.



Page 2 of 2

APPROVED:     

David F. Bristol, Mayor

ATTEST: 

Michelle Lewis Sirianni, Town Secretary

Page 7

Item 6.



Page 1 of 2

Prosper is a place where everyone matters. 

Call to Order/ Roll Call. 

The meeting was called to order at 5:00 p.m.  

Council Members Present: 
Mayor David F. Bristol
Mayor Pro-Tem Jeff Hodges
Deputy Mayor Pro-Tem Craig Andres
Councilmember Marcus E. Ray
Councilmember Amy Bartley
Councilmember Chris Kern
Councilmember Charles Cotten

Staff Members Present: 
Michelle Lewis Sirianni, Town Secretary
Terry Welch, Town Attorney
Robyn Battle, Executive Director of Community Services
Bob Scott, Executive Director of Administrative Services
Chuck Ewings, Executive Director of Development and Infrastructure Services
Hulon Webb, Engineering Director
Leigh Johnson, IT Director
Todd Rice, Communications Manager
Doug Kowalski, Police Chief

Items for Individual Consideration

1. Social Media Training (RB/MR) 

Mr. Rylander with Strategies 360 presented tips and messaging essentials for
public officials on various social media platforms.  

Adjourn. 

The meeting was adjourned at 5:59 p.m. 

These minutes approved on the 24th day of January 2023. 

APPROVED:     

David F. Bristol, Mayor

MINUTES
Prosper Town Council Work Session
Prosper Town Hall – Council Chambers

250 W. First Street, Prosper, Texas
Tuesday, January 10, 2023

Page 8

Item 7.



Page 2 of 2

ATTEST: 

Michelle Lewis Sirianni, Town Secretary

Page 9

Item 7.



Page 1 of 5

Prosper is a place where everyone matters. 

Call to Order/ Roll Call. 

The meeting was called to order at 6:15 p.m. 

Council Members Present: 
Mayor David F. Bristol
Mayor Pro-Tem Jeff Hodges
Deputy Mayor Pro-Tem Craig Andres
Councilmember Marcus E. Ray
Councilmember Amy Bartley
Councilmember Chris Kern
Councilmember Charles Cotton

Staff Members Present: 
Ron K. Patterson, Interim Town Manager
Terry Welch, Town Attorney
Michelle Lewis Sirianni, Town Secretary
Robyn Battle, Executive Director of Community Services
Bob Scott, Executive Director of Administrative Services
Chuck Ewings, Executive Director of Development and Infrastructure Services
Hulon Webb, Engineering Director
Leigh Johnson, IT Director
Mary Ann Moon, Economic Development Director
David Soto, Planning Manager
Todd Rice, Communications Manager
Stuart Blasingame, Fire Chief
Bryan Ausenbaugh, Fire Marshal
Doug Kowalski, Police Chief

Invocation, Pledge of Allegiance and Pledge to the Texas Flag. 
Mike Martin with Hope Fellowship led the invocation. The Pledge of Allegiance and the Pledge
to the Texas Flag were recited. 

Announcements of recent and upcoming events. 
Councilmember Kern made the following announcements: 

Residents are still able to drop off their live Christmas tree through January 13 at the drop-off site
located at Tucker Pak, 1454 E. First Street. Service is open to all Prosper residents and
businesses free of charge. 

A reminder that Town offices will be closed Monday, January 16 for the Martin Luther King Jr. 
Holiday. There will be no trash service delays due to the holiday.  

Join Mayor Bristol and Prosper ISD Superintendent Dr. Holly Ferguson for the State of the
Community hosted by the Prosper Chamber of Commerce and presented by Children’s Health

MINUTES
Prosper Town Council Meeting

Council Chambers
Prosper Town Hall

250 W. First Street, Prosper, Texas
Tuesday, January 10, 2023

Page 10

Item 8.



Page 2 of 5

on Tuesday, January 24 from 11:30 a.m. to 1:00 p.m. for a year-end recap and what exciting
things are ahead in 2023. Citizens may register for the event at prosperchamber. com.   

Residents may check out all the exciting Winter programs being offered at the Library that are
beginning Saturday, January 21. Programs are available for all ages. View the Winter Program
on the Library page of the Town’s website by clicking on the link at the top of the page.   

CONSENT AGENDA: 
Items placed on the Consent Agenda are considered routine in nature and non-controversial.  The
Consent Agenda can be acted upon in one motion.  Items may be removed from the Consent
Agenda by the request of Council Members or staff. 

1. Consider and act upon the minutes of the December 13, 2022, Town Council
Work Session meeting. (MLS) 

2. Consider and act upon the minutes of the December 13, 2022, Town Council
meeting. (MLS) 

3. Consider and act upon approving Change Order Number 01 for CSP No. 
2022-05-B, EDA Award No. 08-79-05522 to Archer Western Construction, related
to construction services for the Lower Pressure Plane (LPP) Pump Station and
LPP Water Line Phase 2 project; and authorizing the Interim Town Manager to
execute Change Order Number 01 for same. (HW) 

4. Consider and act upon authorizing the Interim Town Manager to execute a
one-year renewal of two Consultant Services Agreements between Avenu
Analytics/MuniServices, LLC, and the Town of Prosper, Texas, related to sales
tax consulting for the Town’s two Special Purpose Districts Investment
Advisory services. (RBS) 

5. Consider and act upon a Façade Plan for a Residence/Extended Stay Hotel
on Lot 16, 2.8± acres, located on the north side of U.S Highway 380, east of FM
1385. This property is zoned Planned Development- 94 (PD-94). (D22-0086) (DS) 

6. Consider and act upon appointing Bob Scott as the Interim Town Manager
until such time as a new Town Manager begins employment with the Town; 
terminate the service provider agreement with Purefoy & Patterson, LLC, 
effective January 10, 2023; and to ratify any actions taken by Mr. Scott as Interim
Town Manager prior to the date of appointment. (TW) 

7. Conduct a public hearing and consider and act upon a request to rezone
13.3± acres from Single Family-15 (SF-15) to Planned Development-Retail (PD-
R), generally to allow for an office/retail development, located on the east side
of Preston Road, north of St. Peter Lane.  (Z21-0003). This is a companion case
to CA21-0001. (Request to be tabled) (DS) 

8. Conduct a public hearing and consider and act upon a request to amend the
Future Land Use Plan from Residential Low Density to Retail and Neighborhood
Services, generally located on the east side of Preston Road, north of St. Peter
Lane. (CA21-0001) This is a companion case to Z21-0003. (Request to be tabled) 
DS) 

9. Consider and act upon whether to direct staff to submit a written notice of
appeals on behalf of the Town Council to the Development Services Department, 
pursuant to Chapter 4, Section 1.5(C)(7) and 1.6(B)(7) of the Town’s Zoning

Page 11

Item 8.



Page 3 of 5

Ordinance, regarding action taken by the Planning & Zoning Commission on any
Site Plans and Preliminary Site Plans, including Broadway Retail Phase 2, 
Westside Lots 15 & 16, Victory at Frontier Lot 7, Legacy Intuitive Health, Rock
Creek Church, and Prosper Fire Station #4. (DS) 

Mayor Pro-Tem Hodges made a motion to approve consent agenda items 1 through
9. Deputy Mayor Pro-Tem Andres seconded that motion, and the motion was
unanimously approved. 

Mayor Bristol presented a plaque of appreciation to Interim Town Manager, Ron Patterson for
his services as Interim Town Manager to the Town.  

CITIZEN COMMENTS

No comments were made. 

Items for Individual Consideration: 

10. Receive an update regarding the Guaranteed Maximum Price (GMP) for the Fire
Station No. 4 project. (SB) 

Chief Blasingame provided an update of the construction costs for the Fire Station No. 
4 project. Due to the increase in costs, staff is seeking direction on whether to move
forward with the project by finding alternate funding sources, delay the project
timeframe or bring back for consideration in January 2024.  

The Town Council discussed the possible options and timeline of each, how the costs
were associated with the current and next year fiscal year budget(s), projected costs
if delayed, and Capital Dedicated Fund projects.  

The consensus of the Town Council was to delay the project in order to factor the
project in with the fiscal year 2023-2024 budget process; the GMP process to occur in
late July or August in order to begin construction in October 2023 with the station
opening in January of 2025. The Town Council also expressed their desire to separate
out the gas line relocation as a CIP project versus as part of the overall construction
project for the Fire Station. 

11. Consider and act upon Resolution 2023-01 adopting the Town of Prosper 2023
Legislative Agenda. (RB) 

Ms. Battle stated the agenda is comprised into two sections. The Legislative
Philosophy explains the overall purpose and guiding principles of the document. The
Legislative Priorities section establishes the Town’s position on key legislative issues. 
A draft Legislative Agenda was presented to the Legislative Subcommittee comprised
of the Mayor and the Deputy Mayor Pro-Tem for discussion on October 26, 2022, and
again during a meeting with the Town’s Legislative Consultant on December 21, 2022.  
The Legislative Subcommittee recommends adoption of the proposed 2023
Legislative Agenda. 

The Legislative Agenda is to be used as a communication tool with the Town’s
legislative delegation and others to clearly explain the Town’s position on critical
issues.  It is intended to provide guidance to the Town’s legislators on how they can
best represent Town of Prosper residents and stakeholders in the upcoming legislative
session. Staff recommends approval as presented. 

Page 12

Item 8.



Page 4 of 5

Deputy Mayor Pro-Tem Andres made a motion to approve Resolution 2023-01
adopting the Town of Prosper 2023 Legislative Agenda. Mayor Pro-Tem Hodges
seconded that motion, and the motion was unanimously approved. 

Possibly direct Town staff to schedule topic(s) for discussion at a future meeting.  

Councilmember Cotten requested for staff to bring back the RFP evaluation matrix for
discussion. 

EXECUTIVE SESSION: 
Recess into Closed Session in compliance with Section 551.001 et seq. Texas Government Code, 
as authorized by the Texas Open Meetings Act, to deliberate regarding: 

Section 551.087 – To discuss and consider economic development incentives and all
matters incident and related thereto. 

Section 551.072 – To discuss and consider purchase, exchange, lease or value of real
property for municipal purposes and all matters incident and related thereto. 

Section 551.074 – To discuss and consider personnel matters, including Town
Manager search and selection process, and all matters incident and related thereto. 

Section 551.071– To discuss possible litigation regarding U.S. 380 siting decisions, 
including alternate routes and environmental studies matters, and all matters incident
and related thereto. 

The Town Council recessed into Executive Session at 7:28 p.m. 

Reconvene in Regular Session and take any action necessary as a result of the Closed
Session. 

The Town Council reconvened into Regular Session at 8:20 p.m. 

Mayor Pro-Tem Hodges made a motion to authorize the Mayor on behalf of the Town to execute
an employment agreement between the Town of Prosper and a new Town Manager. 
Councilmember Bartley seconded that motion, and the motion was unanimously approved. 

Mayor Pro-Tem Hodges made a motion to authorize the Interim Town Manager to execute a
Tower Site Lease Agreement with Anthemnet Inc. for property located in Lakewood Preserve
Park subject to the terms discussed in Closed Session. Councilmember Cotten seconded that
motion, and the motion was unanimously approved. 

Adjourn. 

The meeting was adjourned at 8:22 p.m. 

These minutes approved on the 24th day of January 2023. 

APPROVED:     

David F. Bristol, Mayor

Page 13

Item 8.



Page 5 of 5

ATTEST: 

Michelle Lewis Sirianni, Town Secretary

Page 14

Item 8.



ENGINEERING SERVICES

Prosper is a place where everyone matters. 

To:  Mayor and Town Council

From:  Hulon T. Webb, Jr., P.E., Director of Engineering Services

Through: Bob Scott, Interim Town Manager
Chuck Ewings, Executive Director of Development and Infrastructure
Services

Re:  Bid Award Teel/US 380 Intersection Improvements

Town Council Meeting – January 24, 2023

Agenda Item: 
Consider and act upon awarding CSP No. 2023-05-B to DDM Construction Corporation, related
to construction services for the Teel/US 380 Intersection Improvements project; and authorizing
the Interim Town Manager to execute a construction agreement for same. 

Description of Agenda Item: 
On December 16, 2022, at 3:00 PM, four (4) Competitive Sealed Proposals were received for the
Teel/US 380 Intersection Improvements project. The project consists of all work needed for the
widening of the intersection of Teel Parkway at US 380 as well as the construction of
approximately 1000 LF of the northbound lanes of Teel Parkway from US 380. The project was
advertised using the Competitive Sealed Proposal Construction alternative procurement method
to allow the Town to award the project to the contractor that offers the best value proposal based
on the following criteria:  

Qualifications and Experience (30%)  
o Outline contractor and subcontractor experience with similar projects.  
o Outline qualifications of key personnel assigned to this project.  
o Provide references.  

Project Timeline (20%)  
Cost Proposal (50%)  

The verified proposal totals ranged between $ 1,125,098.00 and $1,827,685.50.  The Engineer's
Estimate was $829,587.00. The proposal final completion times ranged from 115 calendar days
to 180 calendar days. DDM Construction Corporation was the firm that ranked the highest after
consideration of Costs, Time, and Qualifications with a cost of $ 1,125,098.00, and a project
timeline of 115 calendar days. DDM Construction Corporation successfully completed the East
Fifth Street, North Street and South Lane project.  Staff also checked the references provided and
received positive feedback. 

Page 15

Item 9.



The Competitive Sealed Proposal Construction alternative procurement method allows for
negotiations as part of the process to make sure that the best value is achieved. Staff worked with
DDM Construction Corporation to reduce project costs through the modification of sod and
hydromulch, decreasing the amount of concrete pavement by removing the construction of the
future inside northbound third lane, and replacing the proposed permanent dead-end barricades
with temporary barricades. These combined efforts have resulted in an overall reduction to their
original cost proposal by $130,666.00.  

Budget Impact: 
The cost for the construction of this project is $994,432.00 and reflects the $130,666.00 reduction
to the original cost proposal.  The original FY 2022-2023 Capital Improvement Program included
670,000 for the Teel/US 380 Intersection Improvements project. At the December 13, 2022, 

Town Council meeting, the Town Council approved the allocation of $ 200,000 in Capital
Dedicated Funds to this project. Cost savings from the property acquisition, in the amount of
156,187, to be reallocated from Account No. 750-6410-10-00-2013-ST to Account No. 750-

6610-10-00-2013-ST, to increase the overall budget to $1,026,187. 

Legal Obligations and Review: 
Terrence Welch of Brown & Hofmeister, L.L.P., has approved the standard construction
agreement as to form and legality.  

Attached Documents: 
1. Location Map
2. Bid Tabulation Summary
3. Construction Agreement

Town Staff Recommendation: 
Town staff recommends that the Town Council award CSP No. 2023-05-B to DDM Construction
Corporation, related to construction services for the Teel/US 380 Intersection Improvements
project; and authorizing the Interim Town Manager to execute a construction agreement for same. 

Proposed Motion: 
I move to award CSP No. CSP No. 2023-05-B to DDM Construction Corporation, related to
construction services for the Teel/US 380 Intersection Improvements project; and authorizing the
Interim Town Manager to execute a construction agreement for same. 

Page 16

Item 9.



LOCATION MAP

2013- ST Teel Parkway / US 380 Intersection Improvements

Teel Parkway

US 380

Page 17



Solicitation Number
Solicitation Title
Close Date

Responding Supplier City State Response Submitted Response Total
DDM Construction Corporation Addison TX 12/ 16/ 2022 12:23:58 PM (CT)$ 1,125,098.00
GRod Construction, LLC Aurora TX 12/ 16/ 2022 12:50:48 PM (CT)$ 1,310,730.35
Rebcon, Inc. Dallas TX 12/ 16/ 2022 10:45:49 AM (CT)$ 1,827,686.50
XIT Paving and Construction, Inc. Waxahachie TX 12/ 16/ 2022 01:44:37 PM (CT)$ 1,311,004.00

Certified By:            Jay Carter, NIGP-CPP, CPPB, C.P.M. Date: 12/16/2022
Purchasing Manager
Town of Prosper, Texas

All bids/proposals submitted for the designated project are reflected on this tabulation sheet. However, the listing of the bid/proposal on this tabulation sheet shall not be construed as a comment
on the responsiveness of such bid/proposal or as any indication that the agency accepts such bid/proposal as being responsive. The agency will make a determination as to the responsiveness of
the vendor responses submitted based upon compliance with all applicable laws, purchasing guidelines and project documents, including but not limited to the project specifications and contract
documents.  The agency will notify the successful vendor upon award of the contract and, as according to the law, all bid/proposal responses received will be available for inspection at that time. 

TOWN OF PROSPER
BID TABULATION SUMMARY

Proposal No. 2025-05-B
Teel (US 380 Intersection Improvements) 2013-ST
12/16/2022 @ 2:00PM

2022-44-B Addendum 1 - Page 1
Page 18

Item 9.



Page 19

Item 9.



Page 20

Item 9.



Page 21

Item 9.



Page 22

Item 9.



Page 23

Item 9.



Page 24

Item 9.



Page 25

Item 9.



Page 26

Item 9.



Page 27

Item 9.



Page 28

Item 9.



Page 29

Item 9.



Page 30

Item 9.



Page 31

Item 9.



Page 1 of 1

To: Mayor and Town Council

From:  Doug Kowalski, Chief of Police

Through: Bob Scott, Interim Town Manager

Re:  Flock Group, Inc. Services Agreement

Town Council Meeting – January 10, 2023

Agenda Item:  
Consider and act upon approving a Service Agreement with Flock Group, Inc. for the purchase of
software and hardware situational awareness solution for automatic license plates, video, and
audio detection; and authorizing the Interim Town Manager to execute documents for same.  

Description of Agenda Item: 
Flock Group, Inc. offers a software and hardware situational awareness solution for automatic
license plates, video and audio detection through their technology platform.  Access to this system
dramatically enhances the Prosper Police Department’s ability to identify and apprehend
offenders; both from a proactive and investigative prospective. 

Budget Impact:  
Subscription term: 24 months.  FY23: $ 144,900 professional services, one-time purchases, 
hardware and software products.  FY24:  $125,500 recurring costs.   
Total contract amount: $270,400. Funding: Police Operations # 100-6140-20-01

Legal Obligations and Review: 
Terrence Welch of Brown & Hofmeister, L.L.P., has approved the attached documents as to form
and legality.  

Attached Documents: 
1. Service Agreement

Town Staff Recommendation: 
Town staff recommend approval of Service Agreement with Flock Group, Inc. for the purchase of
software and hardware situational awareness solution for automatic license plates, video, and
audio detection; and authorizing the Interim Town Manager to execute documents for same. 

Proposed Motion:  
Motion to approve a Service Agreement with Flock Group, Inc. for the purchase of software and
hardware situational awareness solution for automatic license plates, video, and audio detection; 
and authorizing the Interim Town Manager to execute documents for same. 

Prosper is a place where everyone matters. 

POLICE DEPARTMENT

Page 32

Item 10.



FLOCK GROUP INC.  

SERVICES AGREEMENT

ORDER FORM

This Order Form together with the Terms (as defined herein) describe the relationship between Flock Group Inc. 

Flock”) and the customer identified below (“ Agency”) ( each of Flock and Customer, a ” Party”). This order form

Order Form”) hereby incorporates and includes the “ GOVERNMENT AGENCY AGREEMENT” attached ( the “Terms”) 

which describe and set forth the general legal terms governing the relationship (collectively, the " Agreement" ). The

Terms contain, among other things, warranty disclaimers, liability limitations and use limitations . 

The Agreement will become effective when this Order Form is executed by both Parties (the “ Effective Date”). 

Agency: TX - Prosper PD

Legal Entity Name: \FSLegalEntityName{ r}\ 
Contact Name: Scott Brewer

Address: 
101 S Main St
Prosper, Texas 75078

Phone: ( 972) 347-9002
E-Mail: sbrewer@prospertx. gov

Expected Payment Method:  
FSExpectedPaymentMethod1\ 

Billing Contact: \ FSBillingContact1\ 
if different than above) 

Initial Term: 24 months
Renewal Term: 24 months

Billing Term: Annual payment due Net 30 per terms
and conditions

DocuSign Envelope ID: A7C6D5C1- 8D6D- 4DA5- A185-50B600B27DFA

Page 33

Item 10.



Professional Services and One- Time Purchases

Name Price/Usage Fee QTY Subtotal
Professional Services - Standard Implementation Fee $ 350.00 34.00 $ 11,900.00

Professional Services - Advanced Implementation

Fee $
750.00 10.00 $ 7,500.00

Hardware and Software Products
Annual recurring amounts over subscription term

Name Price/Usage Fee QTY Subtotal
Flock Safety Advanced Search $ 3,500.00 1.00 $ 3,500.00

Falcon $ 2,500.00 44.00 $ 110,000.00

Falcon Flex $ 3,000.00 4.00 $ 12,000.00

Subtotal Year 1: $ 144,900.00

Subscription Term: 24 Months

Annual Recurring Total: $ 125,500.00

Estimated Sales Tax: $ 0.00

Total Contract Amount: $ 270,400.00

DocuSign Envelope ID: A7C6D5C1- 8D6D- 4DA5- A185-50B600B27DFA

Page 34

Item 10.



I have reviewed and agree to the Customer Implementation Guide on Schedule B at the end of this
agreement. 

FSInitials1\ 

By executing this Order Form, Agency represents and warrants that it has read and agrees all of the terms
and conditions contained in the Terms attached. The Parties have executed this Agreement as of the dates set forth
below. 

FLOCK GROUP, INC. Agency: TX - Prosper PD

By: 
FSSignature2\ 

By: 
FSSignature1\ 

Name: 
FSFullname2\ 

Name: 
FSFullname1\

Title: 
FSTitle2\ 

Title: 
Interim Town ManagerFSTitle1\ 

Date: 
FSDateSigned2\ 

Date: 
FSDateSigned1\ 

DocuSign Envelope ID: A7C6D5C1- 8D6D- 4DA5- A185-50B600B27DFA

Mark Smith

12/ 28/ 2022

General Counsel

Robert B. Scott

Interim Town Manager

Page 35

Item 10.



GOVERNMENT AGENCY AGREEMENT

This Government Agency Agreement (this “Agreement”) is entered into by and between Flock Group, Inc. with a
place of business at 1170 Howell Mill Rd NW Suite 210, Atlanta, GA 30318 (“ Flock”) and the police department or
government agency identified in the signature block of the Order Form (“ Agency”) ( each a “ Party,” and together, 
the “ Parties”). 

RECITALS

WHEREAS, Flock offers a software and hardware situational awareness solution for automatic license plates, video
and audio detection through Flock’s technology platform (the “ Flock Service”), and upon detection, the Flock
Services are capable of capturing audio, video, image, and recording data and can provide notifications to Agency
upon the instructions of Non-Agency End User (as defined below) (“ Notifications”); 

WHEREAS, Agency desires access to the Flock Service on existing cameras, provided by Agency, or Flock
provided Flock Hardware (as defined below) in order to create, view, search and archive Footage and receive
Notifications, including those from Non-Agency End Users of the Flock Service (where there is an investigative or
bona fide lawful purpose) such as schools, neighborhood homeowners associations, businesses, and individual users; 

WHEREAS, Flock deletes all Footage on a rolling thirty (30) day basis, excluding Wing Replay which is deleted
after seven (7) days. Agency is responsible for extracting, downloading and archiving Footage from the Flock
System on its own storage devices for auditing for prosecutorial/administrative purposes; and

WHEREAS, Flock desires to provide Agency the Flock Service and any access thereto, subject to the terms and
conditions of this Agreement, solely for the awareness, prevention, and prosecution of crime, bona fide
investigations by police departments, and archiving for evidence gathering (“ Permitted Purpose”).     

AGREEMENT

NOW, THEREFORE, Flock and Agency agree that this Agreement, and any addenda attached hereto or referenced
herein, constitute the complete and exclusive statement of the Agreement of the Parties with respect to the subject
matter of this Agreement, and replace and supersede all prior agreements, term sheets, purchase orders, 
correspondence, oral or written communications and negotiations by and between the Parties. 

1. DEFINITIONS

Certain capitalized terms, not otherwise defined herein, have the meanings set forth or cross -referenced in this

Section 1. 

1.1 “Advanced Search” means the provision of Services, via the web interface using Flock’ s software applications, 

which utilize advanced evidence delivery capabilities including convoy analysis, multi -geo search, visual search, 

cradlepoint integration for automatic vehicle location, and common plate analysis. 

1.2 “Agency Data” means the data, media and content provided by Agency through the Services. For the avoidance

of doubt, the Agency Data will include the Footage.  

1.3 “ Agency Generated Data” means the messages, text, illustrations, files, images, graphics, photos, comments, 

sounds, music, videos, information, content, ratings, reviews, data, questions, suggestions, other information or

materials posted, uploaded, displayed, published, distributed, transmitted, broadcasted, or otherwise made available

on or submitted through the Wing Suite. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: A7C6D5C1- 8D6D- 4DA5- A185-50B600B27DFA

Page 36

Item 10.



1.4. “Agency Hardware” means the third-party camera owned or provided by Agency and any other physical

elements that interact with the Embedded Software and the Web Interface to provide the Services.  

1.5. “Aggregated Data” means information that relates to a group or category of individuals, from which any

potential individuals’ personal identifying information has been permanently “ anonymized” by commercially

available standards to irreversibly alter data in such a way that a data subject (i.e., individual person or impersonal

entity) can no longer be identified directly or indirectly.  

1.6 “Authorized End User(s)” means any individual employees, agents, or contractors of Agency accessing or using

the Services through the Web Interface, under the rights granted to Agency pursuant to this Agreement. 

1.7 “Deployment Plan” means the strategic geographic mapping of the location(s) and implementation of Flock

Hardware, and/or other relevant Services required under this Agreement. 

1.8 “Documentation” means text and/or graphical documentation, whether in electronic or printed format, that

describe the features, functions and operation of the Services which are provided by Flock to Agency in accordance

with the terms of this Agreement. 

1.9 “Embedded Software” means the software and/or firmware embedded or preinstalled on the Flock Hardware or

Agency Hardware.  

1.10 “Falcon Flex” means an infrastructure- free, location-flexible license plate reader camera that enables the

Agency to self-install. 

1.11 “Flock Hardware” means the Flock cameras or device, pole, clamps, solar panel, installation components, and

any other physical elements that interact with the Embedded Software and the Web Interface to provide the Flock

Services.  

1.12 “Flock IP” means the Services, the Documentation, the Embedded Software, the Installation Services, and any

and all intellectual property therein or otherwise provided to Agency and/or its Authorized End Users in connection

with the foregoing.  

1.13 “Flock Safety Falcon™” means an infrastructure-free license plate reader camera that utilizes Vehicle

Fingerprint™ technology to capture vehicular attributes.  

1.14 “Flock Safety Raven™” means an audio detection device that provides real-time alerting to law enforcement

based on programmed audio events such as gunshots, breaking glass, and street racing.  

1.15 “Flock Safety Sparrow™” means an infrastructure- free license plate reader camera for residential roadways

that utilizes Vehicle Fingerprint™ technology to capture vehicular attributes.  

DocuSign Envelope ID: A7C6D5C1- 8D6D- 4DA5- A185-50B600B27DFA

Page 37

Item 10.



1.17 “Footage” means still images, video, audio and other data captured by the Flock Hardware or Agency

Hardware in the course of and provided via the Services.  

1.18 “ Hotlist(s)” means a digital file containing alphanumeric license plate related information pertaining to

vehicles of interest, which may include stolen vehicles, stolen vehicle license plates, vehicles owned or associated

with wanted or missing person(s), vehicles suspected of being involved with criminal or terrorist activities, and other

legitimate law enforcement purposes. Hotlist also includes, but is not limited to, national data (i.e. NCIC) for similar

categories, license plates associated with AMBER Alerts or Missing Persons/Vulnerable Adult Alerts, and includes

manually entered license plate information associated with crimes that have occurred in any local jurisdiction. 

1.19 “ Implementation Fee(s)” means the monetary fees associated with the Installation Services, as defined below. 

1.20  “ Installation Services” means the services provided by Flock for installation of Agency Hardware and/or

Flock Hardware, including any applicable installation of Embedded Software on Agency Hardware. 

1.21 “Non-Agency End User(s)” means any individual, entity, or derivative therefrom, authorized to use the

Services through the Web Interface, under the rights granted to pursuant to the terms (or to those materially similar) 

of this Agreement. 

1.22 “ Services” or “Flock Services” means the provision, via the Web Interface, of Flock’ s software applications for

automatic license plate detection, alerts, audio detection, searching image records, video and sharing Footage.  

1.23 “Support Services” means Monitoring Services, as defined in Section 2.10 below.  

1.24 “ Usage Fee” means the subscription fees to be paid by the Agency for ongoing access to Services. 

1.25 “ Web Interface” means the website(s) or application(s) through which Agency and its Authorized End Users

can access the Services, in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. 

1.26 “Wing Suite” means the Flock interface which provides real-time access to the Flock Services, location of

Flock Hardware, Agency Hardware, third-party cameras, live-stream video, Wing Livestream, Wing LPR, Wing

Replay, alerts and other integrations.    

1.27 “Wing Livestream” means real-time video integration with third-party cameras via the Flock interface. 

1.28 “Wing LPR” means software integration with third-party cameras utilizing Flock’ s Vehicle Fingerprint

Technology™ for license plate capture. 

1.29 “Wing Replay” means enhanced situational awareness encompassing Footage retention, replay ability, and

downloadable content from Hot Lists integrated from third-party cameras.  

DocuSign Envelope ID: A7C6D5C1- 8D6D- 4DA5- A185-50B600B27DFA

Page 38

Item 10.



1.30 “Vehicle Fingerprint™” means the unique vehicular attributes captured through Services such as: type, make, 

color, state registration, missing/covered plates, bumper stickers, decals, roof racks, and bike racks.   

2. SERVICES AND SUPPORT

2.1 Provision of Access. Subject to the terms of this Agreement, Flock hereby grants to Agency a non -exclusive, 

non-transferable right to access the features and functions of the Services via the Web Interface during the Term, 

solely for the Authorized End Users. The Footage will be available for Agency’ s designated administrator, listed on

the Order Form, and any Authorized End Users to access and download via the Web Interface for thirty (30) days.  

Authorized End Users will be required to sign up for an account and select a password and username (“ User ID”). 

Flock will also provide Agency with the Documentation to be used in accessing and using the Services. Agency

shall be responsible for all acts and omissions of Authorized End Users, and any act or omission by an Authorized

End User which, if undertaken by Agency, would constitute a breach of this Agreement, shall be deemed a breach of

this Agreement by Agency. Agency shall undertake reasonable efforts to make all Authorized End Users aware of

the provisions of this Agreement as applicable to such Authorized End User’ s use of the Services and shall cause

Authorized End Users to comply with such provisions. Flock may use the services of one or more third parties to

deliver any part of the Services, (such as using a third party to host the Web Interface for cloud storage or a cell

phone provider for wireless cellular coverage) which makes the Services available to Agency and Authorized End

Users. Warranties provided by said third party service providers are the agency’ s sole and exclusive remedy and

Flock’ s sole and exclusive liability with regard to such third -party services, including without limitation hosting the

Web Interface. Agency agrees to comply with any acceptable use policies and other terms of any third-party service

provider that are provided or otherwise made available to Agency from time to time.  

2.2 Embedded Software License. Subject to all terms of this Agreement, Flock grants Agency a limited, non -

exclusive, non-transferable, non-sublicensable (except to the Authorized End Users), revocable right to use the

Embedded Software as installed on the Flock Hardware or Agency Hardware; in each case, solely as necessary for

Agency to use the Services. 

2.3 Documentation License. Subject to the terms of this Agreement, Flock hereby grants to Agency a non-

exclusive, non-transferable right and license to use the Documentation during the Term in connection with its use of

the Services as contemplated herein, and under Section 2.5 below. 

2.4 Wing Suite License. Subject to all terms of this Agreement, Flock grants Agency a limited, non -exclusive, non-

transferable, non-sublicensable (except to the Authorized End Users), revocable right to use the Wing Suite software

and interface. 

2.5 Usage Restrictions.  

DocuSign Envelope ID: A7C6D5C1- 8D6D- 4DA5- A185-50B600B27DFA

Page 39

Item 10.



2.5.1 Flock IP. The permitted purpose for usage of the Flock Hardware, Agency Hardware, 

Documentation, Services, support, and Flock IP are solely to facilitate gathering evidence that could be used in a

lawful criminal investigation by the appropriate government agency (“ Permitted Purpose”). Agency will not, and

will not permit any Authorized End Users to, (i) copy or duplicate any of the Flock IP; (ii) decompile, disassemble, 

reverse engineer, or otherwise attempt to obtain or perceive the source code from which any software component of

any of the Flock IP is compiled or interpreted, or apply any other process or procedure to derive the source code of

any software included in the Flock IP; (iii) attempt to modify, alter, tamper with or repair any of the Flock IP, or

attempt to create any derivative product from any of the foregoing; (iv) interfere or attempt to interfere in any

manner with the functionality or proper working of any of the Flock IP; (v) remove, obscure, or alter any notice of

any intellectual property or proprietary right appearing on or contained within any of the Services or Flock IP; (vi) 

use the Services, support, Flock Hardware, Documentation, or the Flock IP for anything other than the Permitted

Purpose; or (vii) assign, sublicense, sell, resell, lease, rent, or otherwise transfer, convey, pledge as security, or

otherwise encumber, Agency’ s rights under Sections 2.1, 2.2, 2.3, or 2.4. 

2.5.2. Flock Hardware. Agency understands that all Flock Hardware is owned exclusively by Flock, and

that title to any Flock Hardware does not pass to Agency upon execution of this Agreement. Except for Falcon Flex

products, which are designed for self-installation, Agency is not permitted to remove, reposition, re -install, tamper

with, alter, adjust or otherwise take possession or control of Flock Hardware. Notwithstanding the notice and cure

period set for in Section 6.3, Agency agrees and understands that in the event Agency is found to engage in any of

the restricted actions of this Section 2.5.2, all warranties herein shall be null and void, and this Agreement shall be

subject to immediate termination (without opportunity to cure) for material breach by Agency.  

2.6 Retained Rights; Ownership.  As between the Parties, subject to the rights granted in this Agreement, Flock

and its licensors retain all right, title and interest in and to the Flock IP and its components, and Agency

acknowledges that it neither owns nor acquires any additional rights in and to the foregoing not expressly granted by

this Agreement. Agency further acknowledges that Flock retains the right to use the foregoing for any purpose in

Flock’ s sole discretion. There are no implied rights.  

2.7 Suspension. 

2.7.1 Service Suspension. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, Flock may temporarily

suspend Agency’ s and any Authorized End User’ s access to any portion or all of the Flock IP or Flock Service if

Flock reasonably determines that (a) there is a threat or attack on any of the Flock IP by Agency; (b) Agency’ s or

any Authorized End User’ s use of the Flock IP disrupts or poses a security risk to the Flock IP or any other customer

or vendor of Flock; (c) Agency or any Authorized End User is/are using the Flock IP for fraudulent or illegal

activities; (d) Agency has violated any term of this provision, including, but not limited to, utilizing the Services for

DocuSign Envelope ID: A7C6D5C1- 8D6D- 4DA5- A185-50B600B27DFA

Page 40

Item 10.



anything other than the Permitted Purpose; or (e) any unauthorized access to Flock Services through Agency’ s

account  (“ Service Suspension”). Agency shall not be entitled to any remedy for the Service Suspension period, 

including any reimbursement, tolling, or credit. 

2.7.2 Service Interruption.  Services may be interrupted in the event that: (a) Flock’ s provision of the Services to

Agency or any Authorized End User is prohibited by applicable law; (b) any third -party services required for

Services are interrupted; ( c) if Flock reasonably believe Services are being used for malicious, unlawful, or

otherwise unauthorized use; ( d) there is a threat or attack on any of the Flock IP by a third party; or (e) scheduled or

emergency maintenance (“ Service Interruption”). Flock will make commercially reasonable efforts to provide

written notice of any Service Interruption to Agency and to provide updates regarding resumption of access to Flock

Services. Flock will use commercially reasonable efforts to resume providing access to the Services as soon as

reasonably possible after the event giving rise to the Service Interruption is cured. Flock will have no liability for

any damage, liabilities, losses ( including any loss of data or profits), or any other consequences that Agency or any

Authorized End User may incur as a result of a Service Interruption. To the extent that the Service Interruption is not

caused by Agency’ s direct actions or by the actions of parties associated with the Agency, the expiration of the Term

will be tolled by the duration of the Service Interruption (for any continuous suspension lasting at least one full day) 

prorated for the proportion of cameras on the Agency’ s account that have been impacted. For example, in the event

of a Service Interruption lasting five (5) continuous days, Agency will receive a credit for five (5) free days at the

end of the Term. 

2.8 Installation Services.  

2.8.1 Designated Locations. For installation of Flock Hardware, excluding Falcon Flex products, prior to

performing the physical installation of the Flock Hardware, Flock shall advise Agency on the location and

positioning of the Flock Hardware for optimal license plate image capture, as conditions and location allow. Flock

may consider input from Agency regarding location, position and angle of the Flock Hardware (“ Designated

Location”) and collaborate with Agency to design the Deployment Plan confirming the Designated Locations. Flock

shall have final discretion on location of Flock Hardware. Flock shall have no liability to Agency resulting from any

poor performance, functionality or Footage resulting from or otherwise relating to the Designated Locations or delay

in installation due to Agency’ s delay in confirming Designated Locations, in ordering and/or having the Designated

Location ready for installation including having all electrical work preinstalled and permits ready, if necessary. After

installation, any subsequent changes to the Deployment Plan (“ Reinstalls”) will incur a charge for Flock’ s then-

current list price for Reinstalls, as listed in the then-current Reinstall policy (available at

https://www.flocksafety.com/reinstall-fee-schedule) and any equipment fees. For clarity, Agency will receive prior

notice and provide approval for any such fees. These changes include but are not limited to re -positioning, adjusting

of the mounting, re-angling, removing foliage, replacement, changes to heights of poles, regardless of whether the

need for Reinstalls related to vandalism, weather, theft, lack of criminal activity in view, and the like. Flock shall

have full discretion on decision to reinstall Flock Hardware. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: A7C6D5C1- 8D6D- 4DA5- A185-50B600B27DFA

Page 41

Item 10.



2.8.2 Agency Installation Obligations. Agency agrees to allow Flock and its agents reasonable access in and near

the Designated Locations at all reasonable times upon reasonable notice for the purpose of performing the

installation work. Although Flock Hardware is designed to utilize solar power , certain Designated Locations may

require a reliable source of 120V or 240V AC power. In the event adequate solar power is not available, Agency is

solely responsible for costs associated with providing a reliable source of 120V or 240V AC power to Flock

Hardware. Flock will provide solar options to supply power at each Designated Location. If Agency refuses

recommended solar options, Agency waives any reimbursement, tolling, or credit for any suspension period of Flock

Services due to low solar power. Additionally, Agency is solely responsible for (i) any permits or associated costs, 

and managing the permitting process of installation of cameras or AC power; (ii) any federal, state, or local taxes

including property, license, privilege, sales, use, excise, gross receipts, or other similar taxes which may now or

hereafter become applicable to, measured by or imposed upon or with respect to the installation of the Flock

Hardware, its use (excluding tax exempt entities), or (iii) any other supplementary cost for services performed in

connection with installation of the Flock Hardware, including but not limited to contractor licensing, engineered

drawings, rental of specialized equipment, or vehicles, third -party personnel (i.e. Traffic Control Officers, 

Electricians, State DOT-approved poles, etc., if necessary), such costs to be approved by the Agency (“ Agency

Installation Obligations”). In the event that a Designated Location for Flock Hardware requires permits, Flock may

provide the Agency with a temporary alternate location for installation pending the permitting process. Once the

required permits are obtained, Flock will relocate the Flock Hardware from the temporary alternate location to the

permitted location at no additional cost. Without being obligated or taking any responsibility for the foregoing, 

Flock may pay and invoice related costs to Agency if Agency did not address them prior to the execution of this

Agreement or a third party requires Flock to pay. Agency represents and warrants that it has, or shall lawfully

obtain, all necessary right title and authority and hereby authorizes Flock to install the Flock Hardware at the

Designated Locations and to make any necessary inspections or tests in connection with such installation.  

2.8.3 Flock’ s Obligations. Installation of Flock Hardware shall be installed in a workmanlike manner in accordance

with Flock’s standard installation procedures, and the installation will be completed within a reasonable time from

the time that the Designated Locations are confirmed. Upon removal of Flock Hardware, Flock shall restore the

location to its original condition, ordinary wear and tear excepted. Following the initial installation of the Flock

Hardware and any subsequent Reinstalls or maintenance operations, Flock’ s obligation to perform installation work

shall cease; however, for the sole purpose of validating installation, Flock will continue to monitor the performance

of Flock Hardware for the length of the Term and will receive access to the Footage for a period of seven (7) 

business days after the initial installation for quality control and provide any necessary maintenance. Labor may be

provided by Flock or a third-party. Flock is not obligated to install, reinstall, or provide physical maintenance to

Agency Hardware. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, Agency understands that Flock will not provide

installation services for Falcon Flex products.  

2.8.4 Ownership of Hardware. Flock Hardware shall remain the personal property of Flock and will be removed

upon the natural expiration of this Agreement at no additional cost to Agency. Agency shall not perform any acts

which would interfere with the retention of title of the Flock Hardware by Flock. Should Agency default on any

DocuSign Envelope ID: A7C6D5C1- 8D6D- 4DA5- A185-50B600B27DFA

Page 42

Item 10.



payment of the Flock Services, Flock may remove Flock Hardware at Flock’ s discretion. Such removal, if made by

Flock, shall not be deemed a waiver of Flock’s rights to any damages Flock may sustain as a result of Agency’ s

default and Flock shall have the right to enforce any other legal remedy or right.  

2.9 Hazardous Conditions. Unless otherwise stated in the Agreement, Flock’s price for its services under this

Agreement does not contemplate work in any areas that contain hazardous materials, or other hazardous conditions, 

including, without limit, asbestos, lead, toxic or flammable substances.  In the event any such hazardous materials

are discovered in the designated locations in which Flock is to perform services under this Agreement, Flock shall

have the right to cease work immediately in the area affected until such materials are removed or rendered harmless.   

2.10 Support Services. Subject to the payment of fees, Flock shall monitor the performance and functionality of

Flock Services and may, from time to time, advise Agency on changes to the Flock Services, Installation Services, 

or the Designated Locations which may improve the performance or functionality of the Services or may improve

the quality of the Footage. The work, its timing, and the fees payable relating to such work shall be agreed by the

Parties prior to any alterations to or changes of the Services or the Designated Locations (“ Monitoring Services”). 

Flock will use commercially reasonable efforts to respond to requests for support. Flock will provide Agency with

reasonable technical and on-site support and maintenance services (“ On-Site Services”) in-person or by email

at support@flocksafety.com, at no additional cost.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, Agency is solely

responsible for installation of Falcon Flex products. Agency further understands and agrees that Flock will not

provide monitoring services or on-site services for Falcon Flex. 

2.11 Special Terms. From time to time, Flock may offer certain special terms related to guarantees, service and

support which are indicated in the proposal and on the Order Form and will become part of this Agreement, upon

Agency’ s prior written consent (“ Special Terms”). To the extent that any terms of this Agreement are inconsistent

or conflict with the Special Terms, the Special Terms shall control.  

2.12 Upgrades to Platform. Flock may, in its sole discretion, make any upgrades to system or platform that it

deems necessary or useful to (i) maintain or enhance (a) the quality or delivery of Flock’s products or services to its

agencies, (b) the competitive strength of, or market for, Flock’s products or services, (c) such platform or system’ s

cost efficiency or performance, or (ii) to comply with applicable law. Parties understand that such upgrades are

necessary from time to time and will not materially change any terms or conditions within this Agreement. 

3. RESTRICTIONS AND RESPONSIBILITIES

3.1 Agency Obligations. Flock will assist Agency Authorized End Users in the creation of a User ID. Agency

agrees to provide Flock with accurate, complete, and updated registration information.  Agency may not select as its

User ID a name that Agency does not have the right to use, or another person’ s name with the intent to impersonate

that person.  Agency may not transfer its account to anyone else without prior written permission of Flock. Agency

DocuSign Envelope ID: A7C6D5C1- 8D6D- 4DA5- A185-50B600B27DFA

Page 43

Item 10.

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
mailto:hello@flocksafety.com



will not share its account or password with anyone and must protect the security of its account and password. Unless

otherwise stated and defined in this Agreement, Agency may not designate Authorized End Users for persons who

are not officers, employees, or agents of Agency. Authorized End Users shall only use Agency-issued email

addresses for the creation of their User ID. Agency is responsible for any activity associated with its account. 

Agency shall be responsible for obtaining and maintaining any equipment and ancillary services needed to connect

to, access or otherwise use the Services. Agency will, at its own expense, provide assistance to Flock, including, but

not limited to, by means of access to, and use of, Agency facilities, as well as by means of assistance from Agency

personnel to the limited extent any of the foregoing may be reasonably necessary to enable Flock to perform its

obligations hereunder, including, without limitation, any obligations with respect to Support Services or any

Installation Services. 

3.2 Agency Representations and Warranties. Agency represents, covenants, and warrants that Agency will use

the Services only in compliance with this Agreement and all applicable laws and regulations, including but not

limited to any laws relating to the recording or sharing of video, photo, or audio content.  Although Flock has no

obligation to monitor Agency ’ s use of the Services, Flock may do so and may prohibit any use of the Services it

believes may be (or alleged to be) in violation of the foregoing. 

4. CONFIDENTIALITY; AGENCY DATA

4.1 Confidentiality. To the extent allowable by applicable FOIA and state -specific Public Records Acts, each Party

the “ Receiving Party”) understands that the other Party (the “ Disclosing Party”) has disclosed or may disclose

business, technical or financial information relating to the Disclosing Party’ s business (hereinafter referred to as

Proprietary Information” of the Disclosing Party).  Proprietary Information of Flock includes non -public

information regarding features, functionality and performance of the Services.  Proprietary Information of Agency

includes non-public data provided by Agency to Flock or collected by Flock via the Flock Hardware or Agency

Hardware,  to enable the provision of the Services, which includes but is not limited to geolocation information and

environmental data collected by sensors .  The Receiving Party agrees: ( i) to take the same security precautions to

protect against disclosure or unauthorized use of such Proprietary Information that the Party takes with its own

proprietary information, but in no event will a Party apply less than reasonable precautions to protect such

Proprietary Information, and (ii) not to use (except in performance of the Services or as otherwise permitted herein) 

or divulge to any third person any such Proprietary Information.  Flock’s use of the Proprietary Information may

include processing the Proprietary Information to send Agency alerts, or to analyze the data collected to identify

motion or other events.  The Disclosing Party agrees that the foregoing shall not apply with respect to any

information that the Receiving Party can document (a) is or becomes generally available to the public, or (b) was in

its possession or known by it prior to receipt from the Disclosing Party, or (c) was rightfully disclosed to it without

restriction by a third party, or (d) was independently developed without use of any Proprietary Information of the

Disclosing Party.  Nothing in this Agreement will prevent the Receiving Party from disclosing the Proprietary

Information pursuant to any judicial or governmental order, provided that the Receiving Party gives the Disclosing

DocuSign Envelope ID: A7C6D5C1- 8D6D- 4DA5- A185-50B600B27DFA

Page 44

Item 10.



Party reasonable prior notice of such disclosure to contest such order.  For clarity, Flock may access, use, preserve

and/or disclose the Footage to law enforcement authorities, government officials, and/or third parties, if legally

required to do so or if Flock has a good faith belief that such access, use, preservation or disclosure is reasonably

necessary to: (a) comply with a legal process or request; (b) enforce this Agreement, including investigation of any

potential violation thereof; (c) detect, prevent or otherwise address security, fraud or technical issues; or (d) protect

the rights, property or safety of Flock, its users, a third party, or the public as required or permitted by law, including

respond to an emergency situation. Flock may store deleted Footage in order to comply with certain legal

obligations, but such retained Footage will not be retrievable without a valid court order. 

4.2 Agency Data. As between Flock and Agency, all right, title and interest in the Agency Data, belong to and are

retained solely by Agency. Agency hereby grants to Flock a limited, non-exclusive, royalty-free, worldwide license

to (i) use the Agency Data and perform all acts with respect to the Agency Data as may be necessary for Flock to

provide the Flock Services to Agency, including without limitation the Support Services set forth in Section 2.10

above, and a non-exclusive, perpetual, irrevocable, worldwide, royalty-free, fully paid license to use, reproduce, 

modify, display, and distribute the Agency Data as a part of the Aggregated Data,  (ii) disclose the Agency Data

both inclusive of any Footage) to enable law enforcement monitoring for elected law enforcement Hotlists as well

as provide Footage search access to law enforcement for investigative purposes only, and (iii) and obtain

Aggregated Data as set forth below in Section 4.5. As between Agency and Non -Agency End Users that have

prescribed access of Footage to Agency, each of Agency and Non-Agency End Users will share all right, title and

interest in the Non-Agency End User Data. This Agreement does not by itself make any Non-Agency End User Data

the sole property or the Proprietary Information of Agency. Flock will automatically delete Footage older than thirty

30) days.  Agency has a thirty (30) day window to view, save and/or transmit Footage to the relevant government

agency prior to its deletion. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Flock automatically deletes Wing Replay after seven (7) 

days, during which time Agency may view, save and/or transmit such data to the relevant government agency prior

to deletion. Flock does not own and shall not sell Agency Data. 

4.3 Agency Generated Data in Wing Suite. Parties understand that Flock does not own any right, title, or interest

to third-party video integrated into the Wing Suite. Flock may provide Agency with the opportunity to post, upload, 

display, publish, distribute, transmit, broadcast, or otherwise make available on or submit through the Wing Suite, 

messages, text, illustrations, files, images, graphics, photos, comments, sounds, music, videos, information, content, 

ratings, reviews, data, questions, suggestions, or other information or materials produced by Agency. Agency shall

retain whatever legally cognizable right, title, and interest that Agency has in Agency Generated Data. Agency

understands and acknowledges that Flock has no obligation to monitor or enforce Agency’ s intellectual property

rights to Agency Generated Data.  To the extent legally permissible, Agency grants Flock a non-exclusive, 

perpetual, irrevocable, worldwide, royalty-free, fully paid license to use, reproduce, modify, display, and distribute

the Agency Generated Data for the sole purpose of providing Flock Services. Flock does not own and shall not sell

Agency Generated Data.  

DocuSign Envelope ID: A7C6D5C1- 8D6D- 4DA5- A185-50B600B27DFA

Page 45

Item 10.



4.4 Feedback. If Agency provides any suggestions, ideas, enhancement requests, feedback, recommendations or

other information relating to the subject matter hereunder, Agency hereby assigns (and will cause its agents and

representatives to assign) to Flock all right, title and interest (including intellectual property rights) with respect to or

resulting from any of the foregoing. 

4.5 Aggregated Data. Flock shall have the right to collect, analyze, and anonymize Agency Data and Agency

Generated Data to create Aggregated Data to use and perform the Services and related systems and technologies, 

including the training of machine learning algorithms. Agency hereby grants Flock a non-exclusive, worldwide, 

perpetual, royalty-free right (during and after the Term hereof) to use and distribute such Aggregated Data to

improve and enhance the Services and for other development, diagnostic and corrective purposes, other Flock

offerings, and crime prevention efforts. Parties understand that the aforementioned license is required for continuity

of Services. No rights or licenses are granted except as expressly set forth herein. Flock does not sell Aggregated

Data. 

5. PAYMENT OF FEES

5.1.1 Software Product Fees. For Order Forms listing Wing Suite, Advanced Search and other software-only

products, Agency will pay Flock the fees for the Initial Term (as described on the Order Form attached hereto) on or

before the 30th day from the date of invoice. For any Renewal Terms, Agency shall pay invoice on or before the 30th

day from the date of renewal invoice.   

5.1.2 Hardware Product Fees. For Order Forms listing Falcon, Sparrow, Raven and Falcon Flex products, Agency

will pay Flock fifty percent (50%) of the fees for the Initial Term as set forth on the Order Form on or before the 30 th

day from date of invoice. Upon commencement of installation, Flock will issue an invoice for twenty-five percent

25%) of total fees, and Agency shall pay on or before 30th day following date of invoice. Upon completion of

installation, Flock will issue an invoice for the remaining balance and Agency shall pay on or before 30th day

following date of final invoice.  Flock is not obligated to commence the Installation Services unless and until the

first payment has been made and shall have no liability resulting from any delay related thereto. For any Renewal

Terms, Agency shall pay the total invoice on or before the 30th day from the date of renewal invoice.  

5.2 Notice of Changes to Fees. Flock reserves the right to change the fees or applicable charges and to institute new

charges and fees on subsequent terms by providing sixty (60) days’ notice prior to the end of such Initial Term or

Renewal Term (as applicable) to Agency (which may be sent by email).    

5.3 Invoicing, Late Fees; Taxes. Flock may choose to bill through an invoice, in which case, full payment for

invoices must be received by Flock thirty (30) days after the receipt of invoice.  If Agency is a non-tax-exempt

entity, Agency shall be responsible for all taxes associated with Services other than U.S. taxes based on Flock’s net

income. If Agency believes that Flock has billed Agency incorrectly, Agency must contact Flock no later than sixty

60) days after the closing date on the first billing statement in which the error or problem appeared, in order to

DocuSign Envelope ID: A7C6D5C1- 8D6D- 4DA5- A185-50B600B27DFA

Page 46

Item 10.



receive an adjustment or credit. Agency acknowledges and agrees that a failure to contact Flock within this sixty

60) day period will serve as a waiver of any claim Agency may have had as a result of such billing error.  

6. TERM AND TERMINATION

6.1 Term. The initial term of this Agreement shall be for the period of time set forth on the Order Form and shall

commence at the time outlined in this section below (the “ Term”). Following the Term, unless otherwise indicated

on the Order Form, this Agreement will automatically renew for successive renewal terms of the greater of one year

or the length set forth on the Order Form (each, a “ Renewal Term”) unless either Party gives the other Party notice

of non-renewal at least thirty (30) days prior to the end of the then -current term. 

a. For Wing Suite products: the Term shall commence upon execution of this Agreement and continue for one

1) year, after which, the Term may be extended by mutual consent of the Parties, unless terminated by either Party. 

b. For Falcon and Sparrow products: the Term shall commence upon first installation and validation of Flock

Hardware.  

c. For Raven products: the Term shall commence upon first installation and validation of Flock Hardware.  

d. For Falcon Flex products: the Term shall commence upon execution of this Agreement.  

e. For Advanced Search products: the Term shall commence upon execution of this Agreement.  

6.2 Termination for Convenience. At any time during the agreed upon Term, either Party may terminate this

Agreement for convenience. Termination for convenience of the Agreement by the Agency will be effective

immediately.  Termination for convenience by Agency will result in a one-time removal fee of $500 per Flock

Hardware. Termination for convenience by Flock will not result in any removal fees. Upon termination for

convenience, a refund will be provided for Flock Hardware, prorated for any fees for the remaining Term length set

forth previously. Wing Suite products and Advanced Search are not subject to refund for early termination. Flock

will provide advanced written notice and remove all Flock Hardware at Flock’ s own convenience, within a

commercially reasonable period of time upon termination. Agency’ s termination of this Agreement for Flock’ s

material breach of this Agreement shall not be considered a termination for convenience for the purposes of

this Section 6.2. 

6.3 Termination. Notwithstanding the termination provisions in Section 2.5.2, in the event of any material breach of

this Agreement, the non-breaching Party may terminate this Agreement prior to the end of the Term by giving thirty

30) days prior written notice to the breaching Party; provided, however, that this Agreement will not terminate if

the breaching Party has cured the breach prior to the expiration of such thirty (30) day period.  Either Party may

terminate this Agreement, without notice, (i) upon the institution by or against the other Party of insolvency, 

receivership or bankruptcy proceedings, ( ii) upon the other Party's making an assignment for the benefit of creditors, 

or (iii) upon the other Party's dissolution or ceasing to do business. Upon termination for Flock’ s material breach, 

Flock will refund to Agency a pro-rata portion of the pre-paid fees for Services not received due to such termination. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: A7C6D5C1- 8D6D- 4DA5- A185-50B600B27DFA

Page 47

Item 10.



6.4 No-Fee Term. Flock will provide Agency with complimentary access to Hotlist alerts, as further described in

Section 4.2 (“No-Fee Term”). In the event a Non-Agency End User grants Agency access to Footage and/or

notifications from a Non-Agency End User, Agency will have access to Non-Agency End User Footage and/or

notifications until deletion, subject to a thirty (30) day retention policy for all products except Wing Replay, which

is subject to a seven (7) day retention policy. Flock may, in their sole discretion, provide access or immediately

terminate the No-Fee Term.  The No-Fee Term will survive the Term of this Agreement. Flock, in its sole discretion, 

can determine to impose a price per No-Fee Term upon thirty (30) days’ notice to Agency. Agency may terminate

any No-Fee Term or access to future No-Fee Terms upon thirty (30) days’ notice. 

6.5 Survival. The following Sections will survive termination:  2.5,  2.6,  3,  4,  5,  6.4,  7.3,  7.4,  8.1,  8.2,  8.3,  

8.4,  9.1 and 9.6. 

7. REMEDY; WARRANTY AND DISCLAIMER

7.1 Remedy. Upon a malfunction or failure of Flock Hardware or Embedded Software (a “ Defect”), Agency must

notify Flock’ s technical support as described in Section 2.10 above.  If Flock is unable to correct the Defect, Flock

shall, or shall instruct one of its contractors to repair or replace the Flock Hardware or Embedded Software suffering

from the Defect.  Flock reserves the right in their sole discretion to refuse or delay replacement or its choice of

remedy for a Defect until after it has inspected and tested the affected Flock Hardware provided that such inspection

and test shall occur within a commercially reasonable time, but no longer than seven (7) business days after Agency

notifies the Flock of a known Defect. In the event of a Defect, Flock will repair or replace the defective Flock

Hardware at no additional cost to Agency. Absent a Defect, in the event that Flock Hardware is lost, stolen, or

damaged, Agency may request that Flock replace the Flock Hardware at a fee according to the then -current Reinstall

policy (https://www.flocksafety.com/reinstall-fee-schedule). Agency shall not be required to replace subsequently

lost, damaged or stolen Flock Hardware, however, Agency understands and agrees that functionality, including

Footage, will be materially affected due to such subsequently lost, damaged or stolen Flock Hardware and that Flock

will have no liability to Agency regarding such affected functionality nor shall the Usage Fee or Implementation

Fees owed be impacted.  Flock is under no obligation to replace or repair Flock Hardware or Agency Hardware.  

7.2 Exclusions. Flock will not provide the remedy described in Section 7.1 if Agency has misused the Flock

Hardware, Agency Hardware, or Service in any manner. 

7.3 Warranty. Flock shall use reasonable efforts consistent with prevailing industry standards to maintain the

Services in a manner which minimizes errors and interruptions in the Services and shall perform the Installation

Services in a professional and workmanlike manner. Services may be temporarily unavailable for scheduled

maintenance or for unscheduled emergency maintenance, either by Flock or by third -party providers, or because of

DocuSign Envelope ID: A7C6D5C1- 8D6D- 4DA5- A185-50B600B27DFA

Page 48

Item 10.



other causes beyond Flock’ s reasonable control, but Flock shall use reasonable efforts to provide advance notice in

writing or by e-mail of any scheduled service disruption.   

7.4 Disclaimer. THE REMEDY DESCRIBED IN SECTION 7.1 ABOVE IS AGENCY’ S SOLE REMEDY, AND

FLOCK’ S SOLE LIABILITY, WITH RESPECT TO DEFECTIVE EMBEDDED SOFTWARE.  FLOCK DOES

NOT WARRANT THAT THE SERVICES WILL BE UNINTERRUPTED OR ERROR FREE; NOR DOES IT

MAKE ANY WARRANTY AS TO THE RESULTS THAT MAY BE OBTAINED FROM USE OF THE

SERVICES.  EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY SET FORTH IN THIS SECTION, THE SERVICES ARE PROVIDED

AS IS” AND FLOCK DISCLAIMS ALL WARRANTIES, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING, BUT NOT

LIMITED TO, IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY AND FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR

PURPOSE AND NON-INFRINGEMENT.  THIS DISCLAIMER OF SECTION 7.4 ONLY APPLIES TO THE

EXTENT ALLOWED BY THE GOVERNING LAW OF THE STATE MENTIONED IN SECTION 9.6. 

7.5 Insurance. Flock will maintain commercial general liability policies with policy limits reasonably

commensurate with the magnitude of Flock’ s business risk. Certificates of Insurance can be provided upon request.   

7.6 Force Majeure. Parties are not responsible or liable for any delays or failures in performance from any cause

beyond their control, including, but not limited to acts of God, changes to law or regulations, embargoes, war, 

terrorist acts, acts or omissions of third-Party technology providers, riots, fires, earthquakes, floods, power

blackouts, strikes, supply chain shortages of equipment or supplies, weather conditions or acts of hackers, internet

service providers or any other third Party acts or omissions. Force Majeure includes the novel coronavirus Covid -19

pandemic, and the potential spread of variants, which is ongoing as of the date of the execution of this Agreement. 

8. LIMITATION OF LIABILITY; NO FEE TERM; INDEMNITY

8.1 Limitation of Liability.  NOTWITHSTANDING ANYTHING TO THE CONTRARY, FLOCK AND ITS

SUPPLIERS (INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO ALL HARDWARE AND TECHNOLOGY SUPPLIERS), 

OFFICERS, AFFILIATES, REPRESENTATIVES, CONTRACTORS AND EMPLOYEES SHALL NOT BE

RESPONSIBLE OR LIABLE WITH RESPECT TO ANY SUBJECT MATTER OF THIS AGREEMENT OR

TERMS AND CONDITIONS RELATED THERETO UNDER ANY CONTRACT, NEGLIGENCE, STRICT

LIABILITY, PRODUCT LIABILITY, OR OTHER THEORY: (A) FOR ERROR OR INTERRUPTION OF USE

OR FOR LOSS OR INACCURACY, INCOMPLETENESS OR CORRUPTION OF DATA OR FOOTAGE OR

COST OF PROCUREMENT OF SUBSTITUTE GOODS, SERVICES OR TECHNOLOGY OR LOSS OF

BUSINESS; (B) FOR ANY INDIRECT, EXEMPLARY, INCIDENTAL, SPECIAL OR CONSEQUENTIAL

DAMAGES; (C) FOR ANY MATTER BEYOND FLOCK’ S ACTUAL KNOWLEDGE OR REASONABLE

CONTROL INCLUDING REPEAT CRIMINAL ACTIVITY OR INABILITY TO CAPTURE FOOTAGE OR

IDENTIFY AND/OR CORRELATE A LICENSE PLATE WITH THE FBI DATABASE; (D) FOR ANY PUBLIC

DISCLOSURE OF PROPRIETARY INFORMATION MADE IN GOOD FAITH; (E) FOR CRIME

PREVENTION; OR (F) FOR ANY AMOUNTS THAT, TOGETHER WITH AMOUNTS ASSOCIATED WITH

DocuSign Envelope ID: A7C6D5C1- 8D6D- 4DA5- A185-50B600B27DFA

Page 49

Item 10.



ALL OTHER CLAIMS, EXCEED THE FEES PAID AND/OR PAYABLE BY AGENCY TO FLOCK FOR THE

SERVICES UNDER THIS AGREEMENT IN THE TWELVE (12) MONTHS PRIOR TO THE ACT OR

OMISSION THAT GAVE RISE TO THE LIABILITY, IN EACH CASE, WHETHER OR NOT FLOCK HAS

BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES. THIS LIMITATION OF LIABILITY OF

SECTION 8 ONLY APPLIES TO THE EXTENT ALLOWED BY THE GOVERNING LAW OF THE STATE

MENTIONED IN SECTION 9.6. 

8.2 Additional No-Fee Term Requirements.  IN NO EVENT SHALL FLOCK’ S AGGREGATE LIABILITY, IF

ANY, ARISING OUT OF OR IN ANY WAY RELATED TO THE COMPLIMENTARY NO -FEE TERM AS

DESCRIBED IN SECTION 6.4 EXCEED $100, WITHOUT REGARD TO WHETHER SUCH CLAIM IS BASED

IN CONTRACT, TORT (INCLUDING NEGLIGENCE), PRODUCT LIABILITY OR OTHERWISE.  Parties

acknowledge and agree that the essential purpose of this Section 8.2 is to allocate the risks under the No-Fee Term

described in Section 6.4 and limit potential liability given the aforementioned complimentary service, which would

have been substantially higher if Flock were to assume any further liability other than as set forth herein.  Flock has

relied on these limitations in determining whether to provide the complementary No -Fee Term. The limitations set

forth in this Section 8.2 shall not apply to claims or damages resulting from Flock’ s other obligations under this

Agreement. 

8.3 Responsibility. Each Party to this Agreement shall assume the responsibility and liability for the acts and

omissions of its own employees, deputies, officers, or agents, in connection with the performance of their official

duties under this Agreement. Each Party to this Agreement shall be liable (if at all) only for the torts of its own

officers, agents, or employees.  

9. INDEMNIFICATION

Agency hereby agrees to indemnify and hold harmless Flock against any damages, losses, liabilities, settlements and

expenses in connection with any claim or action that arises from an alleged violation of Section 3.1, a breach of this

Agreement, Agency’ s Installation Obligations, Agency’ s sharing of any data in connection with the Flock system, 

Flock employees or agent or Non-Agency End Users, or otherwise from Agency’ s use of the Services, Flock

Hardware, Agency Hardware and any Embedded Software, including any claim that such actions violate any

applicable law or third Party right.  Although Flock has no obligation to monitor Agency’ s use of the Services, Flock

may do so and may prohibit any use of the Services it believes may be (or alleged to be) in violation of Section 3.1

or this Agreement. 

10. MISCELLANEOUS

10.1 Compliance With Laws. The Agency agrees to comply with all applicable local, state and federal laws, 

regulations, policies and ordinances and their associated record retention schedules, including responding to any

DocuSign Envelope ID: A7C6D5C1- 8D6D- 4DA5- A185-50B600B27DFA

Page 50

Item 10.



subpoena request(s). In the event Flock is legally compelled to comply with a judicial order, subpoena, or

government mandate, to disclose Agency Data or Agency Generated Data, Flock will provide Agency with notice.  

10.2 Severability. If any provision of this Agreement is found to be unenforceable or invalid, that provision will be

limited or eliminated to the minimum extent necessary so that this Agreement will otherwise remain in full force and

effect. 

10.3 Assignment. This Agreement is not assignable, transferable or sublicensable by either Party, without prior

consent. Notwithstanding the foregoing, either Party may assign this Agreement, without the other Party's consent, 

i) to any parent, subsidiary, or affiliate entity, or (ii) to any purchaser of all or substantially all of such Party's assets

or to any successor by way of merger, consolidation or similar transaction.  

10.4 Entire Agreement. This Agreement, together with the Order Form(s), the then -current Reinstall policy

https://www.flocksafety.com/reinstall-fee-schedule), Deployment Plan(s), and any attached addenda are the

complete and exclusive statement of the mutual understanding of the Parties and supersedes and cancels all previous

written and oral agreements, communications and other understandings relating to the subject matter of this

Agreement, and that all waivers and modifications must be in a writing signed by both Parties, except as otherwise

provided herein. None of Agency’ s purchase orders, authorizations or similar documents will alter the terms of this

Agreement, and any such conflicting terms are expressly rejected. In the event of any conflict of terms found in this

Agreement or any other terms and conditions, the terms of this Agreement shall prevail. 

10.5 Relationship. No agency, partnership, joint venture, or employment is created as a result of this Agreement

and Agency does not have any authority of any kind to bind Flock in any respect whatsoever. Flock shall at all times

be and act as an independent contractor.   

10.6 Governing Law; Venue. This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State in which the Agency is

located. The Parties hereto agree that venue would be proper in the chosen courts of the State of which the Agency

is located. The Parties agree that the United Nations Convention for the International Sale of Goods is excluded in

its entirety from this Agreement.  

10.7 Publicity. Upon prior consent from Agency, Flock has the right to reference and use Agency’ s name and

trademarks and disclose the nature of the Services provided hereunder in each case in business and development and

marketing efforts, including without limitation on Flock’ s website.  

10.8 Export. Agency may not remove or export from the United States or allow the export or re -export of the Flock

IP or anything related thereto, or any direct product thereof in violation of any restrictions, laws or regulations of the

United States Department of Commerce, the United States Department of Treasury Office of Foreign Assets

Control, or any other United States or foreign agency or authority.  As defined in Federal Acquisition Regulation

FAR”), section 2.101, the Services, the Flock Hardware and Documentation are “ commercial items” and

DocuSign Envelope ID: A7C6D5C1- 8D6D- 4DA5- A185-50B600B27DFA

Page 51

Item 10.



according to the Department of Defense Federal Acquisition Regulation (“ DFAR”) section 252.2277014(a)(1) and

are deemed to be “ commercial computer software” and “ commercial computer software documentation.” Flock is

compliant with FAR Section 889 and does not contract or do business with, use any equipment, system, or service

that uses the enumerated banned Chinese telecommunication companies, equipment or services as a substantial or

essential component of any system, or as critical technology as part of any Flock system. Consistent with DFAR

section 227.7202 and FAR section 12.212, any use, modification, reproduction, release, performance, display, or

disclosure of such commercial software or commercial software documentation by the U.S. Government will be

governed solely by the terms of this Agreement and will be prohibited except to the extent expressly permitted by

the terms of this Agreement. 

10.9 Headings. The headings are merely for organization and should not be construed as adding meaning to the

Agreement or interpreting the associated sections. 

10.10 Authority. Each of the below signers of this Agreement represent that they understand this Agreement and

have the authority to sign on behalf of and bind the Parties they are representing.   

10.11 Notices. All notices under this Agreement will be in writing and will be deemed to have been duly given

when received, if personally delivered; when receipt is electronically confirmed, if transmitted by email; the day

after it is sent, if sent for next day delivery by recognized overnight delivery service; and upon receipt, if sent by

certified or registered mail, return receipt requested.   

FLOCK NOTICES ADDRESS: 

1170 HOWELL MILL ROAD, NW SUITE 210
ATLANTA, GA 30318
ATTN: LEGAL DEPARTMENT
EMAIL: legal@flocksafety.com

AGENCY NOTICES ADDRESS: 

ADDRESS:  
FlockAgencyNoticeAddress1/ 

ATTN:  /FlockAgencyNoticeAttention1/ 
EMAIL: /FlockAgencyNoticeEmail1/ 

DocuSign Envelope ID: A7C6D5C1- 8D6D- 4DA5- A185-50B600B27DFA

Page 52

Item 10.



Page 1 of 2

To:  Mayor and Town Council

From:  Jay Carter, Purchasing Manager

Through: Bob Scott, Interim Town Manager
Chris Landrum, Finance Director

Re:  New Fleet Vehicle Purchases

Town Council Meeting – January 24, 2023

Agenda Item: 
Consider approving the purchase of a 2023 Chevrolet Silverado 1500 for Construction Inspection, 
a 2023 Chevrolet Silverado 1500 for Right of Way, and a 2023 Ford Maverick for Code
Enforcement from Enterprise Fleet Management utilizing The Interlocal Purchasing System
TIPS); and authorizing the Interim Town Manager to execute the same. 

Description of Agenda Item: 
These vehicles were approved in the FY 2022-2023 budget for Construction Inspection, Right of
Way and Code Enforcement to support newly authorized positions in these departments and are
new additions to the fleet. These vehicles will be purchased from Enterprise Fleet utilizing The
Interlocal Purchasing System (TIPS). 

Local governments are authorized by the Interlocal Cooperation Act, V.T.C.A. Government Code, 
Chapter 791, to enter into joint contracts and agreements for the performance of governmental
functions and services, including administrative functions normally associated with the operation
of government (such as purchasing necessary materials and equipment). 

The Town of Prosper previously entered into an interlocal agreement with TIPS. Participation in
the cooperative purchasing program allows our local government to purchase goods and services
through the cooperative program, while satisfying all competitive bidding requirements. 

Budget Impact: 
These items were approved in the FY 2022-2023 budget and will be funded from account number
200-6160-50-98 for Construction Inspection for $36,359.00, account number 200-6160-50-98 for
Right of Way for 36,359.00, and account number 100-6160-40-02 for Code Enforcement.  

Attached Documents: 
1. Quote for Construction Inspection
2. Quote for Right of Way
3. Quote for Code Enforcement

Prosper is a place where everyone matters. 

FINANCE

Page 53

Item 11.



Page 2 of 2

Town Staff Recommendation: 
Town staff recommends approving the purchases of these vehicles from Enterprise Fleet
Management utilizing The Interlocal Purchasing System (TIPS); and authorizing the Interim Town
Manager to execute the same. 

Proposed Motion: 
I move to approve the purchase of these vehicles from Enterprise Fleet Management utilizing The
Interlocal Purchasing System (TIPS); and authorizing the Interim Town Manager to execute the
same. 

Page 54

Item 11.



Page 55

Item 11.



Page 56

Item 11.



Page 57

Item 11.



Page 58

Item 11.



Page 59

Item 11.



Page 60

Item 11.



Page 61

Item 11.



Page 62

Item 11.



Page 63

Item 11.



Page 64

Item 11.



Page 65

Item 11.



Page 66

Item 11.



Page 67

Item 11.



Page 68

Item 11.



Page 69

Item 11.



Page 70

Item 11.



Page 71

Item 11.



Page 72

Item 11.



Page 73

Item 11.



Page 74

Item 11.



FINANCE DEPARTMENT

Prosper is a place where everyone matters. 

To:  Mayor and Town Council

From:  Bob Scott, Interim Town Manager

Re:  Atmos Franchise Agreement Renewal

Town Council Meeting – January 24, 2023

Agenda Item: 
Consider and act upon an ordinance granting a non-exclusive gas franchise to Atmos Energy
Corporation. 

Description of Agenda Item: 
The ordinance grants Atmos Energy Corporation (Atmos Energy) continued use of the Town’s
public rights-of-ways for the construction, maintenance and operation of pipelines and equipment
for the transportation, delivery, sale, and distribution of gas in, out of, and through the Town of
Prosper. The ordinance extends the term of the franchise to December 31, 2043, and requires
Atmos Energy pay a franchise fee of five percent ( 5%) on gross revenues as outlined in the
ordinance. In addition, if Atmos Energy should agree to a new municipal franchise ordinance, or
renew an existing municipal franchise ordinance, with another municipality in Atmos Energy’s
Mid-Tex Division, that results in a franchise fee greater than the amount due to the Town under
this ordinance, then the franchise fee to be paid by Atmos Energy to the Town, at the election of
the Town, may be increased to the amount of the other municipal franchise ordinance.  

Budget Impact: 
The Town has budgeted $255,000 for the current fiscal year for gas franchise fees. 

Legal Obligations and Review: 
Town Attorney, Terrence Welch of Brown & Hofmeister, L.L.P., has reviewed the ordinance as to
form and legality.  

Attached Documents: 
1. Ordinance

Town Staff Recommendation: 
Town staff recommends that the Town Council approve an ordinance granting a non-exclusive
gas franchise to Atmos Energy Corporation. 

Proposed Motion: 
I move to approve an ordinance granting a non-exclusive gas franchise to Atmos Energy
Corporation. 

Page 75

Item 12.



Page 1

TOWN OF PROSPER, TEXAS ORDINANCE NO. 2023-___ 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF PROSPER, 
TEXAS, GRANTING TO ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION, A TEXAS AND
VIRGINIA CORPORATION, ITS SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS, A
FRANCHISE TO CONSTRUCT, MAINTAIN, AND OPERATE PIPELINES AND
EQUIPMENT IN THE TOWN OF PROSPER, TEXAS, FOR THE
TRANSPORTATION, DELIVERY, SALE, AND DISTRIBUTION OF GAS IN, 
OUT OF, AND THROUGH SAID TOWN FOR ALL PURPOSES; PROVIDING
FOR THE PAYMENT OF A FEE OR CHARGE FOR THE USE OF THE PUBLIC
RIGHTS-OF-WAYS; AND PROVIDING THAT SUCH FEE SHALL BE IN LIEU
OF OTHER FEES AND CHARGES, EXCEPTING AD VALOREM TAXES; AND
REPEALING ALL PREVIOUS GAS FRANCHISE ORDINANCES. 

WHEREAS, the Town of Prosper and Atmos Energy Corporation have agreed to the
terms of this Franchise Agreement; and

WHEREAS, this Franchise Agreement is consistent with other such Franchise
Agreements between Texas municipalities and Atmos Energy Corporation. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF
PROSPER, TEXAS: 

SECTION 1. GRANT OF AUTHORITY

The Town of Prosper, Texas, hereinafter called “ Town,” hereby grants to Atmos Energy
Corporation, Mid-Tex Division, hereinafter called " Atmos Energy," its successors and assigns, 
consent to use and occupy the present and future streets, alleys, highways, public utility
easements, public ways and other public places (“ Public Rights-of-Way”), for the purpose of
laying, maintaining, constructing, protecting, operating, and replacing therein and thereon
pipelines and all other appurtenant equipment (the “System”) to deliver, transport, and distribute
gas in, out of, and through Town for persons, firms, and corporations, including all the general
public, and to sell gas to persons, firms, and corporations, including all the general public, within
the Town corporate limits, as such limits may be amended from time to time during the term of
this franchise, said consent being granted for a term ending December 31, 2043. 

SECTION 2. CONSTRUCTION, MAINTENANCE, OPERATION & RELOCATION
OF ATMOS ENERGY FACILITIES

A. Atmos Energy shall lay, maintain, construct, operate, and replace its pipes, mains, 
laterals, and other equipment to minimize interference with traffic, place or cause to be
placed appropriate barriers to mark excavations or obstructions, and restore to
approximate original condition all Public Rights-of-Way that it may disturb.  In
determining the location of the facilities of the Town and other users of Public Right-of-
Way within Town, Town shall endeavor to minimize interference with then existing
facilities of Atmos Energy and shall endeavor to require other users of Public Rights-of-
Way to minimize interference with existing facilities of Atmos Energy.  In the event of a
conflict between the location of the proposed facilities of Atmos Energy and the location
of the existing facilities of Town or other users of Public Rights-of-Way within Public
Rights-of-Way that cannot otherwise be resolved, Town or an authorized agent of Town

Page 76

Item 12.



Page 2

shall resolve the conflict and determine the location of the respective facilities within the
Public Rights-of-Way.   

Atmos Energy or contractors working on behalf of Atmos Energy shall not be required to
pay for street cutting, street excavation or other special permits related to excavations in
Public Rights-of-Way in connection with Atmos Energy’s operations in Public Rights-of-
Way. Town shall provide Atmos Energy with its annual capital improvements plan as
well as any updates or changes as soon as the plan, update, or change becomes
available.  Town shall notify Atmos Energy as soon as reasonably possible of any
projects that will affect Atmos Energy’s facilities located in the Public Rights-of-Way.  
When required by Town to remove or relocate its mains, laterals, and/or other facilities
lying within Public Rights-of-Way, Atmos Energy shall do so as soon as practically
possible with respect to the scope of the project.  In no event shall Atmos Energy be
required to remove or relocate its facilities in less than thirty ( 30) days from the time
notice is given to Atmos Energy by Town; however, Atmos Energy shall promptly
endeavor to remove or relocate such facilities.  

B. If Town, in constructing its sewers, drainage, water lines, streets, or utilities, should
request that Atmos Energy remove or relocate its mains, laterals, and other facilities
lying within Public Rights-of-Way, Atmos Energy shall do so at its own expense for
facilities that are in conflict, unless such work is for the primary purpose of beautification.  
Atmos Energy shall not be required to relocate facilities to a depth of greater than four
4) feet unless prior agreement is obtained from Atmos Energy. 

When Atmos Energy is required by Town to remove or relocate its mains, laterals, and
other facilities lying within Public Rights-of-Way to accommodate a request by Town, 
and costs of utility removals or relocations are eligible under federal, state, county, local
or other programs for reimbursement of costs and expenses incurred by Atmos Energy
as a result of such removal or relocation, and such reimbursement is required to be
handled through Town, Atmos Energy costs and expenses shall be included in any
application by Town for reimbursement if Atmos Energy submits its cost and expense
documentation to Town prior to the filing of the application. Town shall provide
reasonable written notice to Atmos Energy of the deadline for Atmos Energy to submit
documentation of the costs and expenses of such relocation to Town.   

If Atmos Energy is required by Town to remove or relocate its mains, laterals, or other
facilities lying within Public Rights-of-Way for any reason other than the construction or
reconstruction of sewers, drainage, water lines, streets or utilities by Town, Atmos
Energy shall be entitled to reimbursement from Town or others of the cost and expense
of such removal or relocation.   

C. When Atmos Energy is required to remove or relocate its mains, laterals or other
facilities to accommodate construction by Town without reimbursement from Town, 
Atmos Energy shall have the right to seek recovery of relocation costs as provided for in
applicable state and/or federal law.  Nothing herein shall be construed to prohibit, alter, 
or modify in any way the right of Atmos Energy to seek or recover a surcharge from
customers for the cost of relocation pursuant to applicable state and/or federal law. 
Town shall not oppose recovery of relocation costs when Atmos Energy is required by
Town to perform relocation.  Town shall not require that Atmos Energy document
request for reimbursement as a pre-condition to recovery of such relocation costs. 

Page 77

Item 12.



Page 3

D. If Town abandons any Public Rights-of-Way in which Atmos Energy has facilities, such
abandonment shall be conditioned on Atmos Energy’s right to maintain its use of the
former Public Right-of-Way and on the obligation of the party to whom the Public Right-
of-Way is abandoned to reimburse Atmos Energy for all removal or relocation expenses
if Atmos Energy agrees to the removal or relocation of its facilities following
abandonment of the Public Right-of-Way.  If the party to whom the Public Right-of-Way
is abandoned requests Atmos Energy to remove or relocate its facilities and Atmos
Energy agrees to such removal or relocation, such removal or relocation shall be done
within a reasonable time at the expense of the party requesting the removal or
relocation.  If relocation cannot practically be made to another Public Right-of-Way, the
expense of any Right-of-Way acquisition shall be considered a relocation expense to be
reimbursed by the party requesting the relocation. 

SECTION 3. INDEMNITY & INSURANCE

In the event of injury to any person or damage to any property by reason of Atmos
Energy’s construction, operation, maintenance, or replacement of Atmos Energy’s pipeline
system within Public Rights-of-Way, Atmos Energy shall indemnify and keep harmless Town
from any and all liability in connection therewith, except to the extent such injury or damage is
attributable to the fault of the Town, including, without limitation, the Town’s negligent or
intentional acts or omissions.  Atmos Energy’s insurance of its obligations and risks undertaken
pursuant to this franchise may be in the form of self-insurance to the extent permitted by
applicable law, under an Atmos Energy plan of self-insurance maintained in accordance with
sound accounting and risk-management practices. 

SECTION 4.  NON-EXCLUSIVE FRANCHISE

The rights, privileges, and franchises granted by this ordinance are not to be considered
exclusive, and Town hereby expressly reserves the right to grant, at any time, like privileges, 
rights, and franchises as it may see fit to any other person or corporation for the purpose of
transporting, delivering, distributing, or selling gas to and for Town and the inhabitants thereof.   

SECTION 5.  PAYMENTS TO TOWN

A. Atmos Energy, its successors and assigns, agrees to pay and Town agrees to accept, 
on or before the 1st day of March, 2023, and on or before the same day of each
succeeding year during the term of this franchise the last payment being made on the 1st
day of March, 2043, a sum of money which shall be equivalent to five percent (5%) of
the Gross Revenues, as defined in 5.B. below, received by Atmos Energy during the
preceding calendar year. 

B. " Gross Revenues" shall mean:  

1)   all revenues received by Atmos Energy from the sale of gas to all classes of
customers (excluding gas sold to another gas utility in the Town for resale to its
customers within Town) within the Town; 

2) all revenues received by Atmos Energy from the transportation of gas through
the System

of Atmos Energy within the Town to customers located within the Town
excluding any gas transported to another gas utility in Town for resale to its

Page 78

Item 12.



Page 4

customers within Town);  

3) the value of gas transported by Atmos Energy for Transport Customers through
the System of Atmos Energy within the Town (" Third Party Sales")(excluding the
value of any gas transported to another gas utility in Town for resale to its
customers within Town), with the value of such gas to be established by utilizing
Atmos Energy’s monthly Weighted Average Cost of Gas charged to industrial
customers in the Mid-Tex division, as reasonably near the time as the
transportation service is performed; and

4) “ Gross Revenues” shall also include the following “ miscellaneous
charges”: charges to connect, disconnect, or reconnect gas and charges to
handle returned checks from consumers within the Town. 

5) “ Gross Revenues” shall not include: 

a) revenues billed but not ultimately collected or received by Atmos
Energy; 

b) contributions in aid of construction; 
c) the revenue of any affiliate or subsidiary of Atmos Energy; 
d) sales tax and franchise fees paid to the Town;  
e) interest or investment income earned by Atmos Energy; and
f) monies received from the lease or sale of real or personal

property, provided, however, this exclusion does not apply to the
lease of facilities within the Town's Right-of-Way. 

C. The initial payment for the rights and privileges herein provided shall be for the privilege
period January 1 through December 31, 2023, and each succeeding payment shall be
for the privilege period of the calendar year in which the payment is made. 

It is also expressly agreed that the aforesaid payments shall be in lieu of any and all
other and additional occupation taxes, easement, franchise taxes or charges (whether
levied as an ad valorem, special, or other character of tax or charge), municipal license, 
permit, and inspection fees, bonds, street taxes, and street or alley rentals or charges, 
and all other and additional municipal taxes, charges, levies, fees, and rentals of
whatsoever kind and character that Town may now impose or hereafter levy and collect
from Atmos Energy or Atmos Energy’s agents, excepting only the usual general or
special ad valorem taxes that Town is authorized to levy and impose upon real and
personal property.  If the Town does not have the legal power to agree that the payment
of the foregoing sums of money shall be in lieu of taxes, licenses, fees, street or alley
rentals or charges, easement or franchise taxes or charges aforesaid, then Town agrees
that it will apply so much of said sums of money paid as may be necessary to satisfy
Atmos Energy’s obligations, if any, to pay any such taxes, licenses, charges, fees, 
rentals, easement or franchise taxes or charges aforesaid. 

D. Effect of Other Municipal Franchise Ordinance Fees Accepted and Paid by Atmos
Energy

If Atmos Energy should at any time after the effective date of this Ordinance agree to a
new municipal franchise ordinance, or renew an existing municipal franchise ordinance, 
with another municipality in Atmos Energy’s Mid-Tex Division, which municipal franchise

Page 79

Item 12.



Page 5

ordinance determines the franchise fee owed to that municipality for the use of its public
Rights-of-Way in a manner that, if applied to Town, would result in a franchise fee
greater than the amount otherwise due Town under this Ordinance, then the franchise
fee to be paid by Atmos Energy to Town pursuant to this Ordinance may, at the election
of Town, be increased so that the amount due and to be paid is equal to the amount that
would be due and payable to Town were the franchise fee provisions of that other
franchise ordinance applied to Town.  Town acknowledges that the exercise of this right
is conditioned upon Town’s acceptance of all terms and conditions of the other municipal
franchise in toto.  Town may request waiver of certain terms and Atmos Energy may
grant, in its sole reasonable discretion, such waiver. 

E. Atmos Energy Franchise Fee Recovery Tariff

1) Atmos Energy may file with Town a tariff or tariff amendment(s) to provide for the
recovery of the franchise fees under this agreement. 

2) Town agrees that ( i) as regulatory authority, it will adopt and approve the
ordinance, rates or tariff which provide for 100% recovery of such franchise fees
as part of Atmos Energy’s rates; ( ii) if Town intervenes in any regulatory
proceeding before a federal or state agency in which the recovery of Atmos
Energy’s franchise fees is an issue, Town will take an affirmative position
supporting 100% recovery of such franchise fees by Atmos Energy and; ( iii) in
the event of an appeal of any such regulatory proceeding in which Town has
intervened, Town will take an affirmative position in any such appeals in support
of the 100% recovery of such franchise fees by Atmos Energy. 

3) Town agrees that it will take no action, nor cause any other person or entity to
take any action, to prohibit the recovery of such franchise fees by Atmos Energy. 

F. Lease of Facilities Within Town’s Rights-of-Way.  Atmos Energy shall have the right to
lease, license or otherwise grant to a party other than Atmos Energy the use of its
facilities within Town’s public rights-of-way provided: (i) Atmos Energy first notifies Town
of the name of the lessee, licensee or user; the type of service(s) intended to be
provided through the facilities; and the name and telephone number of a contact person
associated with such lessee, licensee or user and (ii) Atmos Energy makes the franchise
fee payment due on the revenues from such lease pursuant to Section 5 of this
Ordinance.  This authority to Lease Facilities within Town’s Rights-of-Way shall not
affect any such lessee, licensee or user’s obligation, if any, to pay franchise fees. 

G.  Town shall within thirty ( 30) days of final approval, give Atmos Energy notice of
annexations and disannexations of territory by Town, which notice shall include a map
and addresses, if known.  Upon receipt of said notice, Atmos Energy shall promptly
initiate a process to reclassify affected customers into Town limits no later than sixty
60) days after receipt of notice from Town.  The annexed areas added to Town limits

will be included in future franchise fee payments in accordance with the sales tax
effective date of the annexation if notice was timely received from Town.  Upon request
from Town, Atmos Energy will provide documentation to verify that affected customers
were appropriately reclassified and included for purposes of calculating franchise fee
payments.  In no event shall the Atmos Energy be required to add premises for the
purposes of calculating franchise payment prior to the earliest date that the same
premises are added for purposes of collecting sales tax. 

Page 80

Item 12.



Page 6

SECTION 6.  ACCEPTANCE OF FRANCHISE

In order to accept this franchise, Atmos Energy must file with the Town Secretary its
written acceptance of this franchise ordinance within sixty (60) days after its final passage and
approval by Town.  If such written acceptance of this franchise ordinance is not filed by Atmos
Energy, the franchise ordinance shall be rendered null and void. 

When this franchise ordinance becomes effective, all previous ordinances of Town
granting franchises for gas delivery purposes that were held by Atmos Energy shall be
automatically canceled and annulled, and shall be of no further force and effect. 

SECTION 7.  PARAGRAPH HEADINGS. CONSTRUCTION

The paragraph headings contained in this ordinance are for convenience only and shall
in no way enlarge or limit the scope or meaning of the various and several paragraphs hereof.  
Both parties have participated in the preparation of this ordinance and this ordinance shall not
be construed either more or less strongly against or for either party. 

SECTION 8.  EFFECTIVE DATE

If Atmos Energy accepts this ordinance, it becomes effective as of January 24, 2023. 

DULY PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF
PROSPER, TEXAS, ON THIS 24TH DAY OF JANUARY, 2023. 

APPROVED: 

David F. Bristol, Mayor

ATTEST:  

Michelle Lewis Sirianni, Town Secretary

APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGALITY: 

Terrence S. Welch, Town Attorney

Page 81

Item 12.



Page 7

STATE OF TEXAS   § 

TOWN OF PROSPER  § 

I, David F. Bristol, Mayor of the Town of Prosper, Texas, do hereby certify that the above
and foregoing is a true and correct copy of an ordinance passed by the Town Council of the
Town of Prosper, Texas, at a regular session, held on the 24th day of January, 2023, as it
appears of record in the official Minutes of the Town of Prosper, Texas. 

WITNESS MY HAND AND SEAL OF SAID TOWN, this the ___ day of
2023. 

Michelle Lewis Sirianni, Town Secretary
Town of Prosper, Texas

Page 82

Item 12.



Page 1 of 2

To:  Mayor and Town Council

From:  David Soto, Planning Manager

Through: Bob Scott, Interim Town Manager
Chuck Ewings, Executive Director of Development and Infrastructure
Services

Re:  Zoning 207 E. Broadway

Town Council Meeting – January 24, 2023

Agenda Item: 
Conduct a public hearing and consider and act upon a request to rezone 0.1± acres from Single
Family-15 (SF-15) to Downtown Office (DTO), on Lots 10A & 11B, located on the north side of
Broadway Street, east of Coleman Street. (Z22-0017). 

Description of Agenda Item: 
The zoning and land use of the surrounding properties are as follows: 

Zoning Current Land Use
Future Land

Use Plan

Subject
Property

Single Family-15
Single Family

Residence
Old Town Office

North Single Family-15
Single Family

Residence
Old Town Office

East Downtown Office - DTO Office Old Town Office

South Single Family-15
Single Family
Residential

Old Town Office

West Single Family-15 Vacant Land Old Town Office

Requested Zoning – The purpose of this request is to rezone the property to the Downtown Office
District to allow for development of an office building in the future.  The existing house will not be
removed.  At the time of an application for “straight” zoning, the applicant is not required to submit

Prosper is a place where everyone matters. 

PLANNING

Page 83

Item 13.



Page 2 of 2

an exhibit depicting how the property will be specifically developed or elevations of the proposed
building.  Prior to development, the developer will be required to submit a Site Plan for review and
approval by the Planning & Zoning Commission.  The applicant has been advised of the standards
necessary for development. 

Future Land Use Plan – The Future Land Use Plan recommends Downtown Office ( DTO) 
District.  The proposed zoning request conforms to the Future Land Use Plan. 

Thoroughfare Plan – This property currently has direct access to Broadway Street. 

Parks Master Plan – The Parks Master Plan does not indicate a park is needed on the subject
property. However, an 8ft hike and bike trail is being proposed along Broadway Street in the
downtown area. That project is not currently in Engineering’ s 5-year plan. However, when that
does take place, this property will be impacted by such development. 

Legal Obligations and Review: 
Notification was provided to neighboring property owners as required by State Law.  To date, 
Town staff has not received any Public Hearing Notice Reply Forms. 

Attachments: 
1. Aerial and Zoning Maps
2. Exhibit A

Planning & Zoning Recommendation:  
At their November 15, 2022, meeting, the Planning & Zoning Commission recommended the
Town Council approved the request, by a vote of 5-0.  

Town Staff Recommendation: 
Staff has observed the site and its surrounding environment. Staff understands that there are
numerous non-residential uses and residential uses within the surrounding area. Furthermore, it
is recommended per the Comprehensive Plan for downtown office uses. The zoning request
would be consistent with the uses in the surrounding area. As a result, staff recommends approval
of this zoning request.  

Proposed Motion: 
I move to approve/deny a request to rezone 0.1± acres from Single Family-15 ( SF-15) to
Downtown Office (DTO), on Lots 10A & 11B, located on the north side of Broadway Street, east
of Coleman Street.   (Z22-0017). 

Page 84

Item 13.



0 250500125
Feet

CHURCHCOLEMANBROADWAYN
MAIN STS MAIN

STSPARVINSTE THIRD
ST

E FIFTH ST

W SIXTH STE FIFTH ST

N PARVIN STW

FIFTH ST W

THIRD ST E

SIXTH ST

DALLASNORTHTOLLWAYPRESTONRDUS HIGHWAY

380 FRONTIER

PKWYFM
1385PROSPER TRL

CUSTER RDCOIT RDLOVERS

LNFM423BROADWAY
STLEGACY DRFIRST ST MAHARD PKWYSHAWNEE TRLPARVINR

D COLEMANFISHTRAP

RDTEEL

PKWYRIC H

LA

ND BLVD PRAIRIEDRIVE GEE

RD HAYS RDLACIM ABLVD¯ Straight Zoning

Z22-0017

207 E



0 250500125
Feet

C

DTO

DTO

DTR

DTR

DTO

DTO

DTSF

S-3

DTO

PD- 80
DTO

DTO

DTSF

SF-15

DTSF

C

R

DTO

PD- 45
DTO

SF- 15

DTO

DTO

DTSF

SF-15

C

DTR

DTR

DTO

CHURCHCOLEMANBROADWAY

N

MAINSTS MAIN STSPARVINSTE

THIRD
ST E

FIFTH ST W

SIXTH ST EFIFTH
ST N

PARVIN
STW FIFTH

ST W THIRD

STE SIXTH

ST DALLASNORTHTOLLWAYPRESTONRDUS

HIGHWAY 380

FRONTIER PKWY

FM1385PROSPER
TRL CUSTER

RDCOIT RDLOVERS LN

FM423BROADWAYSTLEGACY
DRFIRST ST MAHARD PKWYSHAWNEE TRLPARVIN R

D

COLEMANFISHTRAP RDTEEL

PKWYRIC

HL

A ND

BLVD PRAIRIEDRIVE GEE RD

HAYS RDLACIM ABLVD¯ Straight Zoning Z22-

0017 207

E Broadway





Page 1 of 4

To:  Mayor and Town Council

From:  David Soto, Planning Manager

Through: Bob Scott, Interim Town Manager
Chuck Ewings, Executive Director of Development and Infrastructure
Services

Re:  Specific Use Permit – Wireless Communications and Support Structure

Town Council Meeting – January 24, 2023

Agenda Item: 
Conduct a Public Hearing and consider and act upon a request for a Specific Use Permit for a
new Wireless Communications and Support Structure, on .2± acre, located on the north side of
Prosper Trail, west of Legacy Drive.  (S22-0011) 

Description of Agenda Item: 
The zoning and land use of the surrounding properties are as follows: 

Zoning Current Land Use Future Land Use Plan

Subject
Property

Agricultural Residential-Developed
Retail & Neighborhood

Services

North
Planned Development- 

110
Legacy Storage Center

Retail & Neighborhood
Services

East Agricultural Residential- Developed
Retail & Neighborhood

Services

South Agricultural Residential- Developed
Retail & Neighborhood

Services

West Agricultural Residential Developed
Medium Density

Residential

Prosper is a place where everyone matters. 

PLANNING

Page 88

Item 14.



Page 2 of 4

Requested Zoning – The purpose of this request is to allow construction of a new 105’ Wireless
Communications and Support Structure. The Specific Use Permit shows four ( 4) Wireless
Communication antennas that would be placed on the structured and their associated 50’ by 50’ 
ground lease area. These antennas would be screened and not visible to the surrounding area.  
The ground equipment is in an area currently screened with an 8’ Masonry screening wall.  

In 2020, The Town has completed a survey on areas of opportunities for wireless communication
and support structures. The goal for this survey was to provide developers areas that were well
suited for such use and was to provide a comprehensive plan of communication towers for the
Town of Prosper.  These areas are potentially schools sites, parks or town properties. Regarding
this specific request, this area is not one of those areas of opportunities. The applicant has
provided information on why this area should be given consideration of a new Wireless
Communications and Support Structure.  

Below is the exhibit of the proposed tower. 

Page 89

Item 14.



Page 3 of 4

The Zoning Ordinance contains the following four (4) criteria to be considered in determining the
validity of a SUP request.  

Page 90

Item 14.



Page 4 of 4

1. Is the use harmonious and compatible with its surrounding existing uses or proposed uses? 
2. Are the activities requested by the applicant normally associated with the requested use? 
3. Is the nature of the use reasonable? 
4. Has any impact on the surrounding area been mitigated? 

Staff believes the applicant has satisfied the criteria and recommends approval of the request. 

Future Land Use Plan – The Future Land Use Plan recommends Retail & Neighborhood
Services.   

Thoroughfare Plan – This property currently has direct access to Legacy Drive. 

Parks Master Plan – The Parks Master Plan does not indicate a park is needed on the subject
property.  

Legal Obligations and Review: 
Notification was provided as required by the Zoning Ordinance and state law.  To date, staff has
received one letter of support.    

Attachments: 
1. Aerial and Zoning Maps
2. Exhibits. 
3. Letter of intent
4. Reply Form
5. Area of Opportunities Map

Planning & Zoning Recommendation:  
At their December 6, 2022, meeting, the Planning & Zoning Commission recommended the Town
Council approved the request, by a vote of 7-0 subject that the elevations match the Town
standards to include the Town Logo and Town color scheme. Since then the applicant has revised
to include the town logo and town color scheme.  

Town Staff Recommendation: 
Town staff recommends approval of a request for a Specific Use Permit for a new Wireless
Communications and Support Structure, on .2± acre, located on the north side of Prosper Trail, 
west of Legacy Drive.  (S22-0011) 

Proposed Motion: 
I move to approve/deny a request for a Specific Use Permit for a new Wireless Communications
and Support Structure, on .2± acre, located on the north side of Prosper Trail, west of Legacy
Drive.  (S22-0011) 

Page 91

Item 14.



Page 92

Item 14.



Page 93

Item 14.



624. 0'

624.0'

626. 0'

626. 0' 627.
0'

628.0'617.0'618.0'618. 0'618.0'

619.0'

619.0'621.

0'621.

0'622.0'

623. 0'624.

0'626.0'619. 1' 619. 8' 617. 0'

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
J.H.	DURRETT SURVEY, A-350DURRETT SURVEY, A-350

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
EXHIBIT A



PROSPER STAR

ANTEHMNET - TEXAS AREA

PDMHL11/23/

2022DATE: CHECKED BY:

DRAWN BY:SHEETLEGACY

DR

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
EXHIBIT A











11710 FM 2661
Tyler, Texas 75709

November 23, 2022

Site Name:   Prosper Star

Project:  New Site Build
Site Address:   1185 N Legacy Dr

Prosper, Texas 75078
Tower Type:   Stealth Silo
Jurisdiction:  City of Prosper, Texas

Re:  Specific Use Permit for a Stealth Telecommunications Tower

Letter of Intent

Anthemnet, Inc is requesting a Specific Use Permit (SUP) for construction of a 105’ stealth water
tank telecommunications tower with ground equipment located within a 50’ x 50’ masonry fenced
compound. The proposed tower and compound will be located on property owned by 1185 Legacy, 

LLC off of County Road 6/Legacy Drive near the intersection of Legacy Dr. and W Prosper Trail. 
This property is zoned “ Agriculture”.  

Verizon’ s requested antenna centerline is 100’ which is essential to communicate with the other
towers and antennas in the area. The 100’ antenna centerline is also shown in the coverage maps
provided, and, by lowering the height, the overall coverage would diminish and would not provide
enough service to meet Verizon’ s coverage objectives. The tower will accommodate three additional
future wireless carriers, for a total of four carriers. 

The proposed tower will be designed to withstand high wind gusts, specific structural calculations
will be provided with the Tower Design during the permitting process. With regard to the fall zone, 

the tower will also be designed to counteract failure by causing the top portion of the structure to
break off cleanly and fall within a certain distance, leaving the lower half of the structure standing. 

This will ensure a smaller fall zone and therefore, minimize damage to surrounding structures.  

The entire subject property on which the tower will be located is described as 6.618 acres in the J.H. 
Durrett Survey, Abstract No 350, Denton County, Texas. The tower and compound will be located
approximately 600 ft from the nearest public roadway within a 50’ x50’ lease area containing 0.0574
acres. 

Please feel free to contact me with any questions.  

Sincerely, 

Lisa Smith
Lisa Smith
C.A. Bass, LLC
903)596-8464

Lisa.smith@cabass.net

Page 100

Item 14.



1

David Soto

From: David Tittle < davidnnn@att. net>

Sent: Tuesday, November 29, 2022 11:12 AM

To: David Soto

Subject:[* EXTERNAL*] - Zoning Case: S22- 0011 Anthemnet Stealth Water Tank

Telecommunications Tower

This is an email from an EXTERNAL source. DO NOT click links or open attachments without positive

sender verification of purpose. Never enter USERNAME, PASSWORD or sensitive information on linked pages

from this email. *****  

Dear Mr. Soto, 

I want to formally express my support for the Zoning Case: S22-0011 -Anthemnet Stealth Water Tank

Telecommunications Tower. 

David & Charlotte Tittle

1185 Legacy Dr. 

Prosper, Tx. 75078

Page 101

Item 14.



US 380

FIRST ST

COIT RDCUSTER

RDFM 1385 COLEMAN

STLEGACY DRDALLASPKWYTEELPKWYPROSPER
RD GEE

RDFRONTIERPKWY

0
1 20.5Miles Wireless Communication

Exhibit Legend Existing & Proposed StadiumLig

hts Existing Wireless Com munication & Support StructureProposed

Wire lessCom mu nication & S

upport S tructure ISD

Ex istin

gS

chool ISD Future School

Site Town Property

Town Facility Existing Water

Tow er Proposed WaterTower1/2 MileCoverage

1 Mile Coverage Upd atedMarch29, 2 021 This mapisproduced for informationalpurposes onlyandis intendedto
onlydepict public

properties that



Page 1 of 4

To:  Mayor and Town Council

From:  David Soto, Planning Manager

Through: Bob Scott, Interim Town Manager
Chuck Ewings, Executive Director of Development and Infrastructure
Services

Re:  Specific Use Permit Amendment– Legacy

Town Council Meeting – January 24, 2023

Agenda Item: 
Conduct a Public Hearing and consider and act upon a request to amend a Specific Use Permit-
19 (S-19) for a Child Care Center, Licensed on 2.3± acres, located on the north side of Prairie
Drive, west of Legacy Drive. (S22-0010)  

History:  

Specific Use Permit-19 for Alpha Montessori was approved by the Town Council on February 28, 
2017. An amendment was approved by Town Council on November 13, 2018.   

Description of Agenda Item: 
The zoning and land use of the surrounding properties are as follows: 

Zoning Current Land Use Future Land Use Plan

Subject
Property

Planned Development-
65 & Specific Use

Permit-19
Vacant

Medium Density
Residential

North
Planned Development-

65
Vacant & Residential-

Developed
Medium Density

Residential

East
Planned Development-

65
Vacant & Residential-

Developed
Medium Density

Residential

South
Planned Development-

65
Prosper Center Offices

Medium Density
Residential

Prosper is a place where everyone matters. 

PLANNING

Page 103

Item 15.



Page 2 of 4

West
Planned Development-

65
Residential Developed

Medium Density
Residential

Requested Zoning – The purpose of the amendment is to increase the number of students from
186 to 196 students. In addition, the square footage of the daycare was previously approved at
10,273sqft and the applicant is now proposing 13,917sqft. Per zoning ordinance, any increase in
building square footage from its size at the time the original SUP was granted by greater than ten
percent requires a new Specific Use Permit. As shown on revised Exhibit B, with the modification, 
the proposed number of parking spaces do meet the zoning ordinance.  

Page 104

Item 15.



Page 3 of 4

The applicant will enter a development agreement regarding the building materials. 

Page 105

Item 15.



Page 4 of 4

The Zoning Ordinance contains the following four (4) criteria to be considered in determining the
validity of a SUP request.  

1. Is the use harmonious and compatible with its surrounding existing uses or proposed uses? 
2. Are the activities requested by the applicant normally associated with the requested use? 
3. Is the nature of the use reasonable? 
4. Has any impact on the surrounding area been mitigated? 

Staff believes the applicant has satisfied the criteria and recommends approval of the request. 

Future Land Use Plan – The Future Land Use Plan recommends Medium Density Residential. 

Thoroughfare Plan – This property currently has direct access to Legacy Drive and Westwood
Drive. 

Parks Master Plan – The Parks Master Plan does not indicate a park is needed on the subject
property.  

Legal Obligations and Review: 
Notification was provided to neighboring property owners as required by State Law.  To date, 
Town staff has not received any Public Hearing Notice Reply Forms. 

Attachments: 
1. Aerial and Zoning Maps
2. Exhibits

Planning & Zoning Recommendation:  
At their December 6, 2022, meeting, the Planning & Zoning Commission recommended the Town
Council approved the request, by a vote of 7-0.  

Town Staff Recommendation: 
Town staff recommends approval of a request to amend a Specific Use Permit-19 (S-19) for a
Child Care Center, Licensed on 2.3± acres, located on the north side of Prairie Drive, west of
Legacy Drive.  

Proposed Motion: 
I move to approve/deny a request to amend a Specific Use Permit-19 (S-19) for a Child Care
Center, Licensed on 2.3± acres, located on the north side of Prairie Drive, west of Legacy Drive.  

Page 106

Item 15.



Page 107

Item 15.



Page 108

Item 15.



DRAINAGE EASEMENT

DOC. NO. 2016- 132795

P.R.D.C.T.

EASEMENT PROPERTY

PART A)

C.C. FILE NO. 2015- 95282

R.P.R.D.C.T.

LEGACY

DRIVE

60' R.O.W.

49.4'

L3

L2L4L1

IRSC

IRSC

5/8" IRFC

KHA"

SPEARGRASS LN

SCARLET

DR24'

FAUE24' FAUE

PROP. 15'

W.E.

PROP. 

STREET EASEMENT LOT 9, BLOCKA, 

PROSPER CENTER 940S

LEGACY DRIVE OWNER: ORL

III LLC LAND

USE: MEDICAL FUTURE LAND USE PLAN: MEDIUM

DENSITY RESIDENTIAL LOT 1R, BLOCK A, PROSPER

CITY CENTER SRKMR REAL ESTATE HOLDINGS

2 LLC LAND

USE: VACANT FUTURE LAND USE PLAN: MEDIUM

DENSITY RESIDENTIAL LOT 6, BLOCKA, 

PROSPER CENTER OWNER: TOWN

OF PROSPER ZONING: 

PD-65 LAND

USE: VACANT FUTURE LAND USE PLAN: MEDIUM

DENSITY RESIDENTIAL HILLS AT LEGACY

PHASE 1

BLOCK AOWNER: MERITAGE HOMES OF

TEXAS LLC ZONING: 

PD-65 LAND USE: SINGLE

FAMILY RESIDENTIAL

PROP. 10'

W.E.PROP. 

25' LANDSCAPE/

PEDESTRIAN

ACCESS EASEMENT PARKS AT LEGACY, 

PHASE IV OWNER: PROSPER PARTNERS

L.P.ZONING: 

PD-65 LAND

USE: RESIDENTIAL FUTURE LAND USE PLAN: MEDIUM

DENSITY RESIDENTIAL

BLOCK L

BLOCK K

LOT 8

BLOCK K

LOT 9

BLOCK K

LOT 10

BLOCK K

LOT 11

BLOCK K

LOT 5

BLOCK K

LOT 6

BLOCK K

LOT 7

BLOCK J

LOT 45

BLOCK J

LOT 44

BLOCK J

LOT 43

BLOCK J

LOT 42

BLOCK J

LOT
41

WESTWOODDRIVEWO
ODVALEDRI

V E ZILKERPARKWAYP.

O. B.N=7,133,

130. 9472 E=2,475,246. 9046P.

O.B.GROSS AREA: 2.746 ACRES (119, 625

S.F.)NET AREA: 2.297 ACRES (100, 063

S.F.)

LEGAL DESCRIPTION BEING A TRACT OF LAND SITUATED IN THE L. NETHERLY

SURVEY, ABSTRACT NO. 962, TOWN OF PROSPER, DENTON COUNTY, TEXAS, AND BEING

A PORTION OF LOT 1, BLOCK A OF BLOCK A, LOT 1, AND BLOCK D, LOT

1, PROSPER CENTER, ACCORDING TO THE REVISED CONVEYANCE

PLAT THEREOF RECORDED IN DOCUMENT NO. 2015- 242 OF THE PLAT RECORDS

OF DENTON COUNTY, TEXAS, AND VOLUME 2015, PAGE 344 OF THE PLAT

RECORDS OF COLLIN COUNTY, TEXAS, AND BEING MORE PARTICULARLY

DESCRIBED

AS FOLLOWS: COMMENCING AT A 5/8 INCH IRON ROD WITH PLASTIC CAP

STAMPED “ KHA” FOUND FOR THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF A CALLED 2.923 ACRE

TRACT OF LAND DEDICATED TO THE TOWN OF PROSPER, AS RECORDED

IN DOCUMENT NO. 2016- 241 OF THE PLAT RECORDS OF DENTON COUNTY, 

TEXAS, COMMON TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF A CALLED 4.494 ACRE TRACT

OF LAND DEDICATED TO THE TOWN OF PROSPER, AS RECORDED IN

SAID REVISED CONVEYANCE PLAT, SAME BEING IN THE CENTERLINE OF LEGACY

DRIVE, A VARIABLE WIDTH RIGHT-

OF-WAY; THENCE NORTH 49° 22' 13” WEST, DEPARTING THE CENTERLINE

OF SAID LEGACY DRIVE, ALONG THE SOUTHWESTERLY LINE OF SAID 4.

494 ACRE TRACT AND CROSSING SAID LEGACY DRIVE, A DISTANCE OF 70.00

FEET TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF SAID 4.494 ACRE TRACT, BEING

ON THE NORTHWESTERLY RIGHT- OF-WAY LINE OF SAID LEGACY DRIVE, AND

ON THE SOUTHEASTERLY LINE OF SAID

LOT 1;THENCE ALONG THE NORTHWESTERLY RIGHT- OF-WAY LINE OF

SAID LEGACY DRIVE AND THE SOUTHEASTERLY LINE OF SAID LOT 1, 

THE

FOLLOWING COURSES: NORTH 40° 36' 14” EAST, 162.89 FEET TO A POINT

FOR CORNER; NORTH 44° 24' 25” EAST, 150.77 FEET TO A POINT

FOR CORNER; NORTH 40° 36' 14” EAST, 155.89 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING

OF THE HEREIN

DESCRIBED TRACT; THENCE NORTH 49° 23' 46" WEST, DEPARTING

THE NORTHWESTERLY RIGHT- OF-WAY LINE OF SAID LEGACY DRIVE AND THE

SOUTHEASTERLY LINE OF SAID LOT1, AND CROSSING SAID LOT1, A DISTANCE OF 375.00 FEET

TO A5/8 INCH IRON ROD WITH PLASTIC CAP STAMPED “ KHA” SET

FOR CORNER; THENCE NORTH 40° 36'14" EAST, CONTINUING ACROSS SAID LOT1, 

A DISTANCE OF 275. 00 FEET TO A 5/8 INCH IRON ROD WITH PLASTIC CAP

STAMPED “ KHA”SET

FOR CORNER; THENCE SOUTH 49° 23'46" EAST, CONTINUING ACROSS SAID LOT1, 

A DISTANCE OF 375. 00 FEET TO A 5/8 INCH IRON ROD WITH PLASTIC CAP

STAMPED “ KHA” SET FOR CORNER ON THE NORTHWESTERLY RIGHT- OF- WAY LINE

OF SAID LEGACY DRIVE AND THE SOUTHEASTERLY LINE OF SAID

LOT 1;THENCE SOUTH 40° 36'14" WEST, ALONG THE NORTHWESTERLY RIGHT-

OF-WAY LINE OF SAID LEGACY DRIVE AND THE SOUTHEASTERLY LINE OF SAID LOT

1, A DISTANCE OF 275. 00 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING

AND CONTAINING 2.367 ACRES (103,125 SQUARE FEET) OF LAND, MORE

OR

LESS.ENGINEER TRIANGLE

ENGINEERING LLC 1333 McDERMOTT ROAD

STE 200 ALLEN, 

TEXAS 75013 CONTACT:

KARTAVYA PATEL TEL:  (214) 

609-

9271 SURVEYOR KIMLEY HORN & 

ASSOCIATES, INC.5750 GENESIS COURT, 

STE 200 FRISCO, 

TEXAS 75034 CONTCT: 

SYLVIANA GUNAWAN TEL: (972) 

335- 3580 FAX: (972) 

335-

3779

LEGEND 1

OWNER / APPLICANT SRKMR REAL ESTATE HOLDINGS

2 LLC 1333 McDERMOTT ROAD

STE 200 ALLEN, 

TEXAS 75013 CONTACT:

KARTAVYA PATEL TEL:  (214) 

609-9271 BOUNDARY

LINE

DATA LINE S 40° 36' 14" W275.

00'

L1 L2

BEARING

LENGTH

L3 L4 N 49° 23' 46" W

435. 00' N 40° 36' 14" E

275. 00' S 49° 23' 46" E

435.00'

FEMA NOTE 1.ACCORDING TO MAP NO. 48085C0230J, DATED JUNE

2, 2009 OF THE NATIONAL FLOOD INSURANCE

PROGRAM MAP,FLOOD INSURANCE RATE MAP OF COLLIN

COUNTY, TEXAS, AND MAP NO. 48121C0430G, DATED APRIL 18, 2011

OF THE NATIONAL FLOOD INSURANCE PROGRAM

MAP, FLOOD INSURANCE RATE MAP OF DENTON

COUNTY, TEXAS, FEDERAL EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT

AGENCY, FEDERAL INSURANCE ADMINISTRATION, THIS PROPERTY

IS LOCATED WITHIN ZONE X (UNSHADED) AND IS NOT WITHIN

A SPECIAL FLOOD

HAZARD AREA.2.NO 100-YEAR FLOODPLAIN EXISTS ON

THE PROPERTY LITTLE WONDERS MONTESSORI
SITE DEVELOPMENT2.746 ACRES IN THE L. NETHERLY SURVEY ABSTRACT

NO. 962 TOWN OF PROSPER, DENTON

COUNTY, 

TEXAS

T

E TE TX PE

FIRM # 11525 T: 469. 331. 8566 F: 469. 359. 6709 E: kpatel@triangle-

engr. com W: triangle- engr. com O: 1782 W. McDermott Drive, Allen, 

TX 75013 Planning Civil Engineering

Construction Management EXHIBIT "A": SUP CASE NO. 

S22-0010 PROSPER

CENTER ADDITION BLOCK A, 

LOT 1R2.746 ACRES (119, 625

S.F.)L. 

NETHERLY SURVEY ABSTRACT

NO. 962 TOWN

OF PROSPER DENTON

COUNTY, TEXAS
VICINITY MAP N.

T.

S

FRISCO

PROSPER

380

COUNTYLINEROADDALLAS
NORTHTOLLWAYFISHTRAP1STTEELPKWYLEGACYPR

A

I

R

I E

SITE LEGEND LEGEND L.

B F.

A.U.

EW.E

LANDSCAPE BUFFER

FIRE LANE

ACCESS &WATER

EASEMENT UTILITY

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
W

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
0

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
S

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
N

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
E

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
S C A L E : 1" = 60' 

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
60

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
120

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
N

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
W

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
E

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
S

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
EXISTING BOUNDARY

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
BOUNDARY LINE

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
EXISTING CURB & GUTTER

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
EXISTING CONTOURS

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
340'

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
620

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
IRSC

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
IRFC

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
P.O.B

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
5/8" IRON ROD W/"KHA" CAP SET

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
P.O.C

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
IRON ROD WITH CAP FOUND

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
POINT OF BEGINNING

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
POINT OF COMMENCING

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
365'

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
250'

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
70'

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
NO.

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
DATE

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
1

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
2

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
10/17/22

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
10/31/22

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
1st SUP SUBMITTAL

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
2nd SUP SUBMITTAL

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
DESCRIPTION

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
BY

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
KP

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
KP

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
DESIGN

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
KP

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
DRAWN

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
EB

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
DATE

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
10/17/22

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
SCALE

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
1":60'

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
PROJECT NO.

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
105-22

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
SHEET NO.



DRAINAGE

EASEMENTDOC. NO. 2016-132795P.R.D.

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
0

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
W

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
S

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
N

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
E

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
S C A L E : 1" = 60' 

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
60

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
120

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
N

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
W

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
E

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
S

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
EXISTING BOUNDARY

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
EXISTING ASPHALT PVMT.EDGE

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
EXISTING WATER MAIN

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
EXISTING SANITARY SEWER

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
EXISTING CLEANOUT

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
EXISTING POWER POLE  EXISTING

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
STORM SEWER

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
EXISTING FIRE HYDRANT

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
PROP. FIRE HYDRANT

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
BOUNDARY LINE

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
PROPOSED CURB

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
EXISTING CURB

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
PROPOSED HANDICAP SIGN

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
PROPOSED HANDICAP LOGO

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
PROPOSED WATER METER

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
PROP.BACK FLOW PREVENTOR

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
PROP.CONCRETE WHEEL STOP

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
PROP.SANITARY SEWER MANHOLE

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
PROP.MONUMENT/POLE SIGN

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
EXISTING CONTOURS

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
PROPOSED CLEAN OUTS

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
PROP. SEWER LINE

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
X

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
8" WTR

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
PROP. WATER LINE

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
PP

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
 8" SEWER

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
EX. 24" RCP

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
C.O.

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
X

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
X

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
FH

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
WM

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
SSMH

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
807

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
SSMH

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
FH

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
SS MH

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
250'

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
365'

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
70'

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
NO.

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
DATE

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
1

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
10/17/22

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
2

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
10/31/22

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
1st SUP SUBMITTAL

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
2nd SUP SUBMITTAL

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
DESCRIPTION

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
BY

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
KP

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
KP

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
T

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
S

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
T

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
A

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
E

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
O

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
F

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
KARTAVYA S. PATEL

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
P

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
R

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
T

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
E

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
O

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
X

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
F

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
E

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
97534

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
A

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
10/31/2022

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
S

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
L

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
S

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
S

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
I

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
C

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
I

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
O

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
E

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
N

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
N

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
S

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
A

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
E

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
D

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
L

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
R

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
E

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
E

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
N

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
N

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
E

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
G

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
I

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
DESIGN

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
KP

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
DRAWN

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
EB

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
DATE

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
10/17/22

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
SCALE

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
1":60'

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
PROJECT NO.

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
105-22

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
SHEET NO.



FIN. FL. LVL.

0'-0"

MAXIMUM HEIGHT

TRUSS BEARING HT

10'-10"

28'-0"

CANOPY SOFFIT

10'-2-3/4"

TOP OF PARAPET

15'-8"

ROOF HEIGHT

25'-11"

FIN. FL. LVL.

0'-0"

MAXIMUM HEIGHT
28'-0"

TOP OF PARAPET

15'-8"

CANOPY SOFFIT

10'-2-3/4"

TOP OF PARAPET

15'-8"

MAXIMUM HEIGHT
28'-0"

FIN. FL. LVL.

0'-0"

FIN. FL. LVL.

0'-0"

MAXIMUM HEIGHT

TOP OF PARAPET

15'-8"

CANOPY SOFFIT

10'-2-3/4"

TRUSS BEARING HT

10'-10"

FIN. FL. LVL.

0'-0"

28'-0"
ROOF HEIGHT

25'-11"

FIN. FL. LVL.

0'-0"

MAXIMUM HEIGHT
28'-0"

CANOPY SOFFIT

10'-2-3/4"

ROOF HEIGHT
25'-11"   

ARCHITECT

RASHMI C INCORPORATED

CONTACT: RASHMINDER CHANDEL

PH. NO. ( 817) 891- 7918

EMAIL: rashmi@rashmic. com

CIVIL ENGINEER

TRIANGLE ENGINEERING LLC.

CONTACT: KARTAVYA ( KEVIN) PATEL

PH. NO. ( 469) 213- 1707

EMAIL: KPATEL@TRIANGLE- ENGR. COM

A

T

TS

XETEFO

SARASHMIN D ERC
H

ANDEL204 78REGISTERED
ARC

H

I

TECT10/ 12 2 0 2 2

LITTLE WONDERS MONTESSORI

PROSPER CENTER ADDITION

BLOCK A, LOT 1R1, 2.297ACRES (100,063S.F.)

L. NETHERLY SURVEY, ABSTRACT NO. 962

TOWN OF PROSPER

DENTON COUNTY, TEXAS

DATE PREPARED: 10/ 12/ 2022

CASE # -----

OWNER/ APPLICANT

SRKMR REAL ESTATE HOLDINGS 2LLC

1333 McDERMOTT ROAD STE 200

ALLEN, TEXAS 75013

CONTACT: KARTAVYA PATEL

TEL:  ( 214) 609-9271

SURVEYOR

KIMLEY HORN & ASSOCIATES, INC.

5750 GENESIS COURT, STE 200

FRISCO, TEXAS 75034

CONTCT: SYLVIANA GUNAWAN

TEL: ( 972) 335-3580

FAX: (972) 335-3779

Page 111

Item 15.

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
04

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
04

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
01

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
02

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
06

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
1

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
FP-1

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
03

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
%%USOUTH ELEVATION

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
03

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
SCALE:

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
1/8"=1'-0"

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
03

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
02

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
01

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
01

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
2

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
02

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
02

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
04

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
06

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
01

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
05

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
02

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
TOTAL SOUTH FACADE AREA= 2,632 SF

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
02

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
TOTAL STOREFRONT/ DOOR AREA= 332 SF

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
TOTAL NET AREA= 2,300 SF

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
2

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
09

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
01

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
2

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
FP-1

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
BRICK  =  1,196 SF (52%%%)

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
03

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
STONE  =   874 SF (38%%%)

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
08

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
02

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
%%UWEST ELEVATION

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
FIBER CEMENT PANEL  = 230 SF (10%%%)

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
06

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
01

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
SCALE:

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
06

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
07

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
1/8"=1'-0"

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
02

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
09

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
02

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
01

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
04

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
08

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
02

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
02

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
TOTAL WEST FACADE AREA= 2,513 SF

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
06

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
TOTAL STOREFRONT/ DOOR AREA= 274 SF

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
2

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
TOTAL NET AREA= 2,239 SF

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
09

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
BRICK  =  1,096 SF (49%%%)

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
02

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
07

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
STONE  =   918 SF (41%%%)

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
FIBER CEMENT PANEL  =  225 SF (10%%%)

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
03

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
06

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
02

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
2

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
3

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
FP-1

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
2

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
01

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
01

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
06

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
%%UNORTH ELEVATION

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
08

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
02

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
06

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
SCALE:

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
01

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
07

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
07

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
03

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
1/8"=1'-0"

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
04

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
09

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
03

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
2

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
2

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
06

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
01

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
01

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
04

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
07

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
06

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
08

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
03

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
09

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
02

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
2

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
03

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
01

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
04

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
04

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
07

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
08

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
TOTAL NORTH FACADE AREA= 2,831 SF

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
02

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
TOTAL STOREFRONT/ DOOR AREA= 280 SF

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
TOTAL NET AREA= 2,551 SF

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
03

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
03

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
03

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
BRICK  =  1,104 SF (44%%%)

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
STONE  =  1,344 SF (52%%%)

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
03

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
FIBER CEMENT PANEL  = 103 SF (4%%%)

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
02

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
06

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
04

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
4

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
FP-1

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
02

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
%%UEAST ELEVATION

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
06

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
2

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
SCALE:

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
2

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
05

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
06

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
08

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
1/8"=1'-0"

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
01

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
02

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
07

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
KING SIZE ACME BRICK DOVEGRAY

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
02

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
01

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
BUILDING MATERIAL LEGEND

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
06

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
KING SIZE ACME BRICK MUSHROOM BROWN

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
03

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
08

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
CORONADO STONE VENEER TEXAS RUBBLE- TEXAS CREAM

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
04

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
09

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
08

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
07

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
NICHIHA FIBER CEMENT ACCENT WALL PANEL LATURA-"V" GROOVE, WHITE, AWP-1818

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
2

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
05

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
01

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
STANDARD NOTES: 1. THIS FACADE PLAN IS FOR CONCEPTUAL PURPOSES THIS FACADE PLAN IS FOR CONCEPTUAL PURPOSES ONLY. ALL BUILDING PLANS REQUIRE REVIEW AND APPROVAL FROM THE BUIKDING INSPECTIONS DIVISION. 

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
2

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
BRONZE ALUMINUM STOREFRONT EQUAL TO KAWNEER- TRIFAB-451

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
06

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
03

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
06

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
DOUBLE PANE, LOW-E, PRE-FINISHED, VINYL FRAME WINDOWS

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
07

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
01

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
INSULATED HOLLOW METAL PAINTED DOOR SHERWIN WILLIAMS- SW-7069 IRON ORE

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
08

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
2

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
CAST STONE WATERTABLE BY CONTINENTAL COLOR: 1100 WHITE STONE

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
09

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
07

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
02

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
GAF TIMBERLINE UHD ASPHALT ROOF SHINGLES COLOR: PEWTER GRAY

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
01

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
02

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
04

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
2

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
03

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
07

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
04

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
01

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
5

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
FP-1

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
%%UDUMPSTER PLAN

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
3/ FP-1

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
2

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
2

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
04

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
SCALE:

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
03

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
1/8"=1'-0"

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
01

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
03

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
08

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
08

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
02

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
9/FP-1

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
01

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
6

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
2

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
FP-1

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
2/ FP-1

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
%%UDUMPSTER ELEV

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
SCALE:

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
1

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
07

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
08

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
1/8"=1'-0"

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
TOTAL EAST FACADE AREA= 2,410 SF

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
03

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
TOTAL STOREFRONT/ DOOR AREA= 126 SF

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
TOTAL NET AREA= 2,284 SF

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
02

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
METAL GATE PAINT TO MATCH

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
BRICK  = 671 SF (29%%%)

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
STONE  =  1,498 SF (66%%%)

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
07

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
FIBER CEMENT PANEL  =  115 SF (5%%%)

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
7

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
FP-1

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
%%UDUMPSTER ELEV

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
SCALE:

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
SCREENED RTU LOCATION

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
1/8"=1'-0"

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
07

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
8

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
FP-1

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
%%UKEY PLAN

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
SCALE:

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
1/16"=1'-0"

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
9

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
FP-1

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
%%UCROSS SECTION FOR RTU SCREENING

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
SCALE:

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
TRUE

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
NORTH

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
1/16"=1'-0"

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
PLAN

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
RTU SHALL BE HIDDEN

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
NORTH

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
4-FP-1

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
1/FP-1

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
 #

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
1

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
REVISION DATE

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
2

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
10/28/2022

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
11/14/2022

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
CITY COMMENTS

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
REVISION DESCRIPTION

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
ARCH REQUESTED REV.

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
CASE #S22-0010

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
SHEET NO.

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
FP-1



EASEMENT PROPERTY( PART A)

C. C. FILE

NO. 2015- 95282R. P. R.

D. C.

T.LEGACYDRIVEWESTWOODDRIVEL3L2L410824'FAUE24' FAUEPROPOSEDDAYCARE13,268

S.
F.

15' 

L.

B.

15' 

L.

B.
15' L.

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
N

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
W

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
E

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
S

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
EX.WATER

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
SSMH

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
FH

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
SS MH

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
NO.

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
1

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
DATE

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
10/14/22

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
2

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
10/31/22

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
1ST SITE PLAN SUBMITTAL

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
CITY COMMENTS

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
DESCRIPTION

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
BY

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
DESIGN

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
CT

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
DRAWN

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
CT

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
DATE

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
10/14/22

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
SCALE

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
PROJECT NO.

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
087-16

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
SHEET NO.



Page 1 of 1

To:  Mayor and Town Council

From:  Chris Landrum, Finance Director

Through: Bob Scott, Interim Town Manager

Re:  Town Council Meeting – January 24, 2023

Agenda Item: 
Consider and act upon a resolution expressing official intent to reimburse costs of Town capital
improvement program projects that may be funded with proceeds of bonds or other obligations, if
those costs are paid prior to the issuance of such bonds or other obligations. 

Description of Agenda Item: 
The attached resolution allows the Town to pay for the projects listed in the Fiscal Year 2022-
2023 CIP, including costs associated with the construction of street improvements ($11,158,033), 
park improvements ($ 800,000), and water and wastewater infrastructure ($ 12,025,000), and the
related infrastructure improvements.  The resolution provides for up to $24,000,000 in capital
project expenditures and debt issuance costs.  At the January 10, 2023, Town Council meeting, 
Council voted to delay construction of Fire Station #4 to FY 2024 therefore those funds are not
included in this resolution. 

Budget Impact: 
The reimbursement resolution itself has no budget impact; repayment of the expenditures will be
included in the debt service portion of the tax rate after the bonds are issued.  Initial funding for
the work will come from the Capital Projects Fund. 

Legal Obligations and Review: 
Terrence Welch with Brown & Hofmeister, L.L.P., has reviewed and approved the attached
resolution as to form and legality. 

Attached Documents: 
1. Resolution
2. Fiscal Year 2022-2023 CIP

Town Staff Recommendation: 
Town staff recommends the Town Council approve the reimbursement resolution. 

Recommended Motion:  
I move to approve the resolution expressing official intent to reimburse costs of Town capital
improvement program projects that may be funded with proceeds of bonds or other obligations, if
those costs are paid prior to the issuance of such bonds or other obligations. 

Prosper is a place where everyone matters. 

FINANCE DEPARTMENT

Page 113

Item 16.



Resolution No. 2023-___; Page 1

TOWN OF PROSPER, TEXAS RESOLUTION NO. 23-XX

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF PROSPER, 
TEXAS, EXPRESSING OFFICIAL INTENT TO REIMBURSE COSTS OF TOWN
FISCAL YEAR 2022-2023 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM PROJECTS; 
AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, the Town of Prosper, Texas ( the " Issuer"), is a duly created governmental
entity of the State of Texas; and

WHEREAS, the Issuer expects to pay, or have paid on its behalf, expenditures in
connection with the design, planning, acquisition and construction of portions of its Fiscal Year
2022-2023 capital improvement program projects, including costs associated with the
construction of street improvements, park improvements, water and wastewater infrastructure, 
and other related infrastructure improvements ( collectively, the "Project") prior to the issuance of
tax-exempt obligations, tax-credit obligations and/or obligations for which a prior expression of
intent to finance or refinance is required by Federal or state law (collectively and individually, the
Obligations") to finance the Project; and

WHEREAS, the Issuer finds, considers, and declares that the reimbursement for the
payment of such expenditures will be appropriate and consistent with the lawful objectives of the
Issuer and, as such, chooses to declare its intention to reimburse itself for such payments at such
time as it issues Obligations to finance the Project; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF
PROSPER, TEXAS, THAT:   

SECTION 1

The findings set forth above are incorporated into the body of this Resolution as if fully set
forth herein. 

SECTION 2

The Issuer reasonably expects to incur debt, as one or more series of Obligations, with an
aggregate maximum principal amount equal to $24,000,000 for the purpose of paying the costs
of the Project. 

SECTION 3

All costs to be reimbursed pursuant hereto will be capital expenditures.  No Obligations
will be issued by the Issuer in furtherance of this Statement after a date which is later than 18
months after the later of (1) the date the expenditures are paid, or (2) the date on which the
property, with respect to which such expenditures were made, is placed in service. 

SECTION 4

The foregoing notwithstanding, no Obligation will be issued pursuant to this Statement
more than three years after the date any expenditure which is to be reimbursed is paid. 

Page 114

Item 16.



Resolution No. 2023-XX, Page 2

SECTION 5

The foregoing Sections 2 and 3 notwithstanding, all costs to be reimbursed with qualified
tax credit obligations shall not be paid prior to the date hereof and no tax credit obligations shall
be issued after 18 months of the date the original expenditure is made.   

SECTION 6

To evidence the adoption of this Resolution on this, the 24th day of January, 2023, by the
Town Council of the Issuer, the signatures of the Mayor and Town Secretary are set forth below. 

DULY PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF
PROSPER, TEXAS, THIS 24TH DAY OF JANUARY, 2023. 

David F. Bristol, Mayor
ATTEST: 

Michelle Lewis Sirianni, Town Secretary

APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGALITY: 

Terrence S. Welch, Town Attorney

Page 115

Item 16.



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES

Prosper is a place where everyone matters. 

To:  Mayor and Town Council

From:  Brady Cudd, Building Official

Through: Bob Scott, Interim Town Manager
Charles Ewings, Executive Director of Development and Infrastructure
Services

Re:  International Codes Ordinance Updates

Town Council Meeting – January 24, 2023

Agenda Item: 
Conduct a public hearing and consider and act upon ordinances adopting the following
International Codes with local amendments: 

A. 2021 Existing Building Code; 
B. 2021 Building Code; 
C. 2021 Residential Code; 
D. 2021 Plumbing Code; 
E. 2021 Mechanical Code; 
F. 2021 Fuel Gas Code; 
G. 2021 Energy Conservation Code; 
H. 2021 Property Maintenance Code;  
I. 2021 Fire Code; and
J. 2020 National Electric Code, 

and repealing all prior versions of said International Codes, to the extent referenced in each
applicable ordinance. The foregoing codes are contained in Chapter 3, “Building Regulations,” of
the Town’s Code of Ordinances, as amended. 

Description of Agenda Item: 
The International Building Code ( IBC) family of codes and National Electric Code are updated
every three years.  Typically, communities adopt the latest codes approximately every six years
and the Town of Prosper currently is under the 2015 IBC.  There are two primary reasons staff
recommends updating the building codes.  First, utilizing dated codes may have a negative impact
on the Town’s Insurance Services Office (ISO) rating effecting property owner insurance rates.  
Second, most of Prosper’s peer cities in the area have adopted the 2021 IBC family of codes and
this action will provide consistency for builders and contractors working in the area.  If approved, 
the updated codes would not be implemented for new permits until April 1, 2023, to provide a
transition period for current projects.   

Existing Building Code
This ordinance updates the Town’s Existing Building Code from the 2015 International Existing
Building Code (IEBC) to the 2021 IEBC. The IEBC code was first adopted on December 11, 2018, 

Page 116

Item 17.



and plays a lesser role at this time as Prosper is still in a build-out phase. This code will become
more important over time as its purpose is to “provide flexibility to permit the use of alternative
approaches to achieve compliance with minimum requirements to provide a reasonable level of
safety, health, property protection and general welfare insofar as they are affected by the repair, 
alteration, change of occupancy, addition and relocation of existing buildings.” 

Building Code
This ordinance updates the Town’s Building Code from the 2015 IBC to the 2021 IBC. Important
changes include provisions for: 

An updated occupant load factor for business areas from 100 to 150. This will reduce the
calculated occupant load for many businesses, thus reducing requirements for plumbing
facilities amongst other (Table 1004.5) 
Extensive updates to the fastener table for conventional light -frame wood construction
adding staples and generally tightening fastener installation patterns (Table 2304.10.2) 
Additional requirements for an air space behind stucco installations given our climate
designation (2510.6) 
Accessory storage spaces of any size are now permitted to be classified as part of the
occupancy to which they are accessory
Significant modifications to the requirements for I -1 (assisted living facilities, generally) 
and I-2 (nursing homes, generally) over 2-code cycles to address a market trend of adding
domestic cooking facilities to common areas in these settings. 

Residential Code
This ordinance updates the Town’s Residential Code from the 2015 IRC (International Residential
Code) to the 2021 IRC. Important changes and updates include: 

Figure R301.2(2) changes Prosper from 115 MPH Vult windspeed to 105 MPH
R301.3 increases story height to 13’7” for prescriptive designs and Table R602.3(6) was
added showing required lumber dimensions for 11’ and 12’ bearing walls
R314.3 requires an additional smoke detector exterior to bedrooms in certain instances
Table R602.3(1) has been edited to show fastener requirements for staples and to require
additional fasteners in some instances
R324 adds requirements for solar panels including a requirement that panels must not be
directly below a required Emergency Escape and Rescue Opening (i.e.- no panels on a
first-floor roof below a second-floor bedroom window if that window is a required
emergency escape window) 
R703.7.3.2 adds requirements for an air barrier behind stucco installations per our climate
designation
Removal of Residential Green Building Program. The requirements of this ordinance, 
originally adopted as ordinance 09-98, are in many instances outdated given the
requirements of newer building codes. Additionally, this program requires the builder to
belong to the Dallas Homebuilders Association and to hire a program verifier from a list
promogulated by the Dallas Homebuilders Association. The requirement for new homes
to have rain gutters has been retained as an amendment to the IRC.  

Plumbing Code
This ordinance updates the Town’s Plumbing Code from the 2015 IPC ( International Plumbing
Code) to the 2021 IPC. Important changes include provisions for: 

Vacuum testing of DWV plumbing as an alternative test procedure.  
Limiting the developed length of hot water piping to 100’ from heat source
Removal of requirement for tubs to have an overflow

Mechanical Code
This ordinance updates the Town’s Mechanical Code from the 2015 IMC ( International
Mechanical Code) to the 2021 IMC. Important changes include provisions for: 

Page 117

Item 17.



A minimum of 3’ clearance from dryer duct terminations to building openings (504.4.1) 
Continuous operation of the required exhaust system at manicure and pedicure stations
when the space is occupied (502.20.1) 

International Fuel Gas Code
This ordinance updates the Town’s Fuel Gas Code from the 2015 IFGC (International Fuel Gas
Code) to the 2021 IFGC. Important changes include provisions for: 

Using Schedule 10 steel pipe
Using arc-resistant CSST
Provides clarification that gas shut offs are allowed behind moveable appliances such as
dryers and refrigerators
Removal of a provision that was previously added to the 2018 IFGC that allowed
commercial cooking appliances for domestic cooking if approved by a registered design
professional

Energy Conservation Code
This ordinance updates the Town’s Energy Conservation Code from the 2015 IECC (International
Energy Conservation Code) to the 2021 IECC. Important changes to the residential section
include provisions for: 

Further lowering of required U-factors for windows and doors required for prescriptive
compliance
Further increasing the required R-value for ceiling insulation and duct insulation to meet
prescriptive requirements
Amendments mirror NCTCOG amendments and allow for alternative compliance pathway
via Energy Star Certification while also addressing issues that are specific to our location

Property Maintenance Code
This ordinance updates the International Property Maintenance Code from the current 2015 IPMC
International Property Maintenance Code) to the 2021 IPMC. The IPMC is a model code that

regulates the maintenance requirements for existing buildings and houses. The intent is to
maintain a minimum level of public health, safety, and welfare. Staff wants to ensure the Town
strives to keep current with adopted codes. Key points of the ordinance update include:  

Elevate and promote uniformity and consistent application of codes.  
Minimum requirements for maintaining sanitary and safe structures
A clearer approach to code compliance
Prevent the decline or blighting effects on neighborhoods
Further ensure the quality of life is preserved in the Town

Specifically, the 2021 IPMC changes include specific requirements for maintaining fences and
retaining walls, disallowing portable containers to be on a property over 45 days, and strikes the
requirement for cross-lot drainage to be reviewed and approved by the Town. 

Fire Code
The International Fire Code (IFC) is updated every three years. Typically, communities adopt
the updated codes approximately every six years and the Town of Prosper currently is under the
2015 IFC.  There are two primary reasons staff recommends updating the fire codes.  First, 
utilizing dated codes may likely have a negative impact on the Town’s Insurance Services Office
ISO) rating impacting homeowner insurance rates.  Second, most of Prosper’s peer cities in the

area have adopted the 2021 IFC and this action will provide consistency for contractors working
in the area.  If approved, the updated codes would not be implemented for new permits until April
1, 2023, to provide a transition period for current projects.   

Page 118

Item 17.



National Electric Code
This ordinance updates the Town’s Electrical Code from the 2017 NEC (National Electrical Code) 
to the 2020 NEC. The 2020 NEC is currently the adopted Electrical Code for the State of Texas.   
Important changes include provisions for: 

Emergency disconnects in a readily accessible location on the exterior for all new one- 
and two-family dwellings
Whole-house surge protection for all new one- and two-family dwellings
GFCI protection for receptacles over 20 amps in all locations that require GFCI protection. 
In practice in a residential setting, this will mean the circuit for the clothes dryer will now
be GFCI protection
Additional receptacles will be required on kitchen islands larger than 9 square feet for all
new one- and two-family dwellings

Budget Impact: 
There is no budgetary impact affiliated with these items. 

Legal Obligations and Review: 
Terrence Welch of Brown & Hofmeister, L.L.P., has approved the attached documents as to
form and legality.  

Attachments: 
1. International Existing Building Code Ordinance
2. International Building Code Ordinance
3. International Residential Code Ordinance
4. International Plumbing Code Ordinance
5. International Mechanical Code Ordinance
6. International Fuel Gas Code Ordinance
7. International Energy Conservation Code Ordinance
8. International Property Maintenance Code Ordinance
9. International Fire Code Ordinance
10.  National Electric Code Ordinance

Town Staff Recommendation: 
Town Staff recommends adopting ordinances respectively approving the 2021 versions of the
following International Codes: Existing Building Code; Building Code; Residential Code; Plumbing
Code; Mechanical Code; Fuel Gas Code; Energy Conservation Code; Property Maintenance
Code; Fire Code; and the 2020 National Electric Code, and all local amendments to the foregoing
codes. 
Proposed Motion: 
I move to adopt ordinances respectively approving the 2021 versions of the following International
Codes: Existing Building Code; Building Code; Residential Code; Plumbing Code; Mechanical
Code; Fuel Gas Code; Energy Conservation Code; Property Maintenance Code; Fire Code; and
the 2020 National Electric Code, and all local amendments to the foregoing codes. 

Page 119

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 1

TOWN OF PROSPER, TEXAS ORDINANCE NO. 2023-__ 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF PROSPER, TEXAS, REPEALING
ARTICLE 3.20, “ EXISTING BUILDING CODE,” OF CHAPTER 3, “ BUILDING
REGULATIONS,” OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE TOWN OF
PROSPER, TEXAS, AND REPLACING IT WITH A NEW ARTICLE 3.20, 
EXISTING BUILDING CODE”; ADOPTING THE 2021 EDITION OF THE

INTERNATIONAL EXISTING BUILDING CODE, SAVE AND EXCEPT THE
DELETIONS AND AMENDMENTS SET FORTH HEREIN; REGULATING THE
CONSTRUCTION, INSTALLATION, MOVEMENT, ENLARGEMENT, 
REPLACEMENT, REPAIR, ALTERATION, USE AND OCCUPANCY, 
REMOVAL, AND DEMOLITION OF EVERY EXISTING BUILDING OR
STRUCTURE OR ANY APPURTENANCES CONNECTED OR ATTACHED TO
EXISTING BUILDINGS OR STRUCTURES WITHIN THE TOWN OF PROSPER; 
PROVIDING FOR A PENALTY FOR THE VIOLATION OF THIS ORDINANCE; 
PROVIDING FOR REPEALING, SAVINGS, AND SEVERABILITY CLAUSES; 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE OF THIS ORDINANCE AND
PROVIDING FOR THE PUBLICATION OF THE CAPTION HEREOF. 

WHEREAS, the Town Council of the Town of Prosper, Texas ( the “ Town Council”), has
investigated and determined that it would be advantageous and beneficial to the citizens of Prosper to
repeal the existing Article 3.20, “Existing Building Code,” of the Code of Ordinances and replace it with a
new Article 3.20, “Existing Building Code”; and, 

WHEREAS, the Town Council has also investigated and determined that it would be advantageous
and beneficial to the citizens of Prosper to adopt the 2021 Edition of the Existing Building Code, save and
except the amendments and deletions set forth below. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF
PROSPER, TEXAS, THAT: 

SECTION 1

The findings set forth above are incorporated into the body of this Ordinance as if fully set
forth herein. 

SECTION 2

Existing Article 3.20, “Existing Building Code,” of the Code of Ordinances of the Town of
Prosper Texas, is hereby repealed in its entirety and replace with a new Article 3.20, “Existing
Building Code,” to read as follows: 

ARTICLE 3.20 EXISTING BUILDING CODE

Sec. 3.20.001 Code Adopted; amendments

The International Existing Building Code, 2021 Edition, copyrighted by the International Code
Council, Inc., save and except the deletions and amendments set forth in Exhibit “A,” attached
hereto and incorporated herein for all purposes, is hereby adopted as the Existing Building Code
for the Town, regulating the construction, installation, movement, enlargement, replacement, 

Page 120

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 2

repair, alteration, use and occupancy, removal, and demolition of every existing building or
structure or any appurtenances connected or attached to existing buildings or structures within
the Town ( the “ 2021 International Existing Building Code”). The 2021 International Existing
Building Code is made a part of this Article as if fully set forth herein. A copy of the International
Existing Building Code, 2021 Edition, copyrighted by the International Code Council, Inc., is on
file in the office of the Town Secretary of Prosper being marked and so designated as the 2021
International Existing Building Code.” 

SECTION 3

Should any section, subsection, sentence, clause, or phrase of this Ordinance be declared
unconstitutional or invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, it is expressly provided that any
and all remaining portions of this Ordinance shall remain in full force and effect.  The Town hereby
declares that it would have passed this Ordinance, and each section, subsection, sentence, 
clause, or phrase thereof, irrespective of the fact that any one or more sections, subsections, 
sentences, clauses, and phrases be declared unconstitutional or invalid. 

SECTION 4

All provisions of any ordinance in conflict with this Ordinance are hereby repealed to the
extent they are in conflict; but such repeal shall not abate any pending prosecution from being
commenced for any violation if occurring prior to the repeal of the Ordinance.  Any remaining
portions of said ordinances shall remain in full force and effect. 

SECTION 5

Any person, firm, corporation, or business entity violating this Ordinance shall be deemed
guilty of a misdemeanor, and upon conviction thereof shall be subject to a fine not to exceed the
sum of Two Thousand Dollars ($2,000.00), and each and every day such violation shall continue
shall constitute a separate offense.  

SECTION 6

This Ordinance shall become effective on April 1, 2023, after its adoption and publication
as required by law.  

DULY PASSED, APPROVED, AND ADOPTED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE
TOWN OF PROSPER, TEXAS, ON THIS 24TH DAY OF JANUARY, 2023. 

David F. Bristol, Mayor
ATTEST: 

Michelle Lewis Sirianni, Town Secretary

Page 121

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 3

APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGALITY: 

Terrence S. Welch, Town Attorney

Page 122

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 4

Exhibit A
Town of Prosper Amendments to the

2021 International Existing Building Code
The following additions, deletions, and amendments to the 2021 International Existing

Building Code are hereby approved and adopted. 

Section 101.1; change to read as follows: 

101.1 Title.  These regulations shall be known as the Existing Building Code of the Town of Prosper
hereinafter referred to as “this code.” 

Section 102.4; change to read as follows: 

A] 102.4 Referenced codes and standards. The codes, when specifically adopted, and standards
referenced in this code shall be considered part of the requirements of this code to the prescribed extent
of each such reference and as further regulated in Sections 102.4.1 and 102.4.2. {No change to rest of
section.} 

Section 103.1; change to read as follows: 

103.1 Creation of agency. The BUILDING INSPECTION DIVISION OF THE TOWN OF PROSPER is
hereby created, and the official in charge thereof shall be known as the code official. The function of the
agency shall be the implementation, administration and enforcement of the provisions of this code. 

Section 202; amend definition of Existing Building as follows: 

A] EXISTING BUILDING. A building erected prior to the date of adoption of the appropriate code, or
one for which a legal building permit has been issued and final inspection approved. 

Section 202; amend definition of Existing Structure as follows: 

EXISTING STRUCTURE. A structure erected prior to the date of adoption of the appropriate code, or
one for which a legal building permit has been issued and final inspection approved. 

Section 306.1; add exceptions to read as follows: 

Exceptions:  
1. Components of projects regulated by and registered with Architectural Barriers Division of

Texas Department of Licensing and Regulation shall be deemed to be in compliance with the
requirements of this chapter. 

2. If the cost of the project is less than $ 50K, it must comply with ICC A117.1, or it shall be
reviewed and inspected to the Texas Accessibility Standards by a Registered Accessibility
Specialist. 

Page 123

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 5

Section 306.2; add exception to read as follows: 

Exception:  Projects subject to the Texas Accessibility Standards as adopted by the Texas
Department of Licensing and Regulation are exempt from this section. Projects with a valuation of
less than $50,000.00 (which are subject to the Texas Accessibility Standards) may be accepted
as equivalent to this section where reviewed and inspected to the Texas Accessibility Standards
by a Texas Department of Licensing and Regulation Registered Accessibility Specialist when a
plan review report and a compliant inspection report are provided to the building code official. 

Section 401.3 Flood Hazard Areas; delete this section. 

Section 405.2.6 Flood Hazard Areas; delete this section. 

Section 406.1; change to read as follows: 

406.1 Material. Existing electrical wiring and equipment undergoing repair shall be allowed to be repaired
or replaced with like material, in accordance with the requirements of NFPA 70. 

Section 502.3 Flood Hazard Areas; delete this section. 

Section 503.2 Flood hazard areas; delete this section. 

Section 504.1.3; delete this section: 

Section 507.3 Flood Hazard Areas; delete this section. 

Section 701.3 Flood Hazard Areas; delete this section. 

Section 702.7; add a code reference to read as follows: 

702.7 Materials and methods. All new work shall comply with the materials and methods requirements
in the International Building Code, International Energy Conservation Code, International Mechanical
Code, National Electrical Code, and International Plumbing Code, as applicable, that specify material
standards, detail of installation and connection, joints, penetrations, and continuity of any element, 
component, or system in the building. 

Section 803.1; add sentence to read as follows: 

For the purpose of fire sprinkler protection and fire alarm requirements included in this section, the work
area shall be extended to include at least the entire tenant space or spaces bounded by walls capable of
resisting the passage of smoke containing the subject work area, and if the work area includes a corridor, 
hallway, or other exit access, then such corridor, hallway, or other exit access shall be protected in its
entirety on that particular floor level. 

Page 124

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 6

Section 803.3; change section to read as follows: 

803.3 Standpipes. Refer to Section 1103.6 of the Fire Code for retroactive standpipe requirements. 

Section 804.2; delete Exception #1. 

Section 804.4.1.2; change to read as follows: 

804.4.1.2 Fire Escapes required. For other than Group I-2, where more than one exit is required, an
existing fire escape complying with section 805.3.1.2.1 shall be accepted as providing one of the required
means of egress. 

Section 804.4.1.2.1; change to read as follows: 

804.4.1.2.1 Fire Escape access and details.  Fire escapes shall comply with all of the following
requirements: 

1. Occupants shall have unobstructed access to the fire escape without having to pass through
a room subject to locking. 

2. Access to a fire escape shall be through a door. 
3. Openings within 10 feet ( 3048 mm) of fire escape stairways shall be protected by fire

assemblies having minimum ¾ hour fire-resistance ratings. 
Exception: Opening protection shall not be required in buildings equipped throughout
with an approved automatic sprinkler system. 

4. In all buildings of Group E occupancy up to and including the 12th grade, buildings of Group I
occupancy, rooming boarding houses, and childcare centers, ladders of any type are
prohibited on fire escapes used as a required means of egress. 

Section 904.1; add sentence to read as follows: 

For the purpose of fire sprinkler protection and fire alarm requirements included in this section, the work
area shall be extended to include at least the entire tenant space or spaces bounded by walls containing
the subject work area, and if the work area includes a corridor, hallway, or other exit access, then such
corridor, hallway, or other exit access shall be protected in its entirety on that particular floor level. 

Section 904.1.1; change to read as follows: 

904.1.1 High-rise buildings. An automatic sprinkler system shall be provided in work areas of high-rise
buildings.  

Page 125

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 7

Section 1011.2.1: change to read as follows: 

1011.2.1 Fire sprinkler system. Where a change in occupancy classification occurs or where there is
a change of occupancy within a space where there is a different fire protection system threshold
requirement in Chapter 9 of the International Building Code that requires an automatic fire sprinkler
system to be provided based on the new occupancy in accordance with Chapter 9 of the International
Building Code. The installation of the automatic sprinkler system shall be required within the area of the
change of occupancy and areas of the building not separated horizontally and vertically from the change
of occupancy by one of the following:   

1. Fire barrier, as required by Section 707 of the IBC. 
2. Fire wall, as required by Section 706 of the IBC. 

Exceptions:  { existing text remains} 

Section 1103.3 Flood Hazard Areas; delete this section. 

Section 1201.4 Flood Hazard Areas; delete this section. 

Section 1301.3.3 Compliance with Flood Hazard Provisions; delete this section. 

Section 1402.6 Flood Hazard Areas; delete this section. 

Section 1509; delete Section 1509.1 through 1509.5 and add Section 1509.1 to read as follows: 

1509.1 When required.  An approved water supply for fire protection, either temporary or permanent, 
shall be made available as soon as combustible material arrives on the site.  The water supply design
and the timing of the water supply installation relative to building construction shall comply with the
adopted Fire Code. 

END

Page 126

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 1

TOWN OF PROSPER, TEXAS ORDINANCE NO. 2023-__ 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF PROSPER, TEXAS, REPEALING
ARTICLE 3.04, " BUILDING CODE," OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE
TOWN OF PROSPER AND REPLACING IT WITH A NEW ARTICLE 3.04, 
BUILDING CODE"; ADOPTING THE 2021 EDITION OF THE INTERNATIONAL

BUILDING CODE, SAVE AND EXCEPT THE DELETIONS AND AMENDMENTS
SET FORTH HEREIN; REGULATING THE CONSTRUCTION, ALTERATION, 
MOVEMENT, ENLARGEMENT, REPLACEMENT, REPAIR, EQUIPMENT, USE
AND OCCUPANCY, LOCATION, MAINTENANCE, REMOVAL, AND
DEMOLITION OF EVERY BUILDING OR STRUCTURE OR ANY
APPURTENANCES CONNECTED OR ATTACHED TO BUILDINGS OR
STRUCTURES WITHIN THE TOWN OF PROSPER; PROVIDING FOR A
PENALTY FOR THE VIOLATION OF THIS ORDINANCE; PROVIDING FOR
REPEALING, SAVINGS, AND SEVERABILITY CLAUSES; PROVIDING FOR
AN EFFECTIVE DATE OF THIS ORDINANCE AND PROVIDING FOR THE
PUBLICATION OF THE CAPTION HEREOF. 

WHEREAS, the Town Council of the Town of Prosper, Texas (the "Town Council"), has
investigated and determined that it would be advantageous and beneficial to the citizens of
Prosper to repeal the existing Article 3.04, "Building Code," of the Code of Ordinances and replace
it with a new Article 3.04, "Building Code"; and, 

WHEREAS, the Town Council has also investigated and determined that it would be
advantageous and beneficial to the citizens of Prosper to adopt the 2021 Edition of the
International Building Code, save and except the amendments and deletions set forth below. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF
PROSPER, TEXAS, THAT: 

SECTION 1

The findings set forth above are incorporated into the body of this Ordinance as if fully set
forth herein. 

SECTION 2

Existing Article 3.04, "Building Code," of the Code of Ordinances of the Town of Prosper
Texas, is hereby repealed in its entirety and replace with a new Article 3.04, "Building Code," to
read as follows: 

ARTICLE 3.04 BUILDING CODE

Sec. 3.04.001 Code Adopted; amendments

The International Building Code, 2021 Edition, copyrighted by the International Code Council, 
Inc., save and except the deletions and amendments set forth in Exhibit "A," attached hereto and
incorporated herein for all purposes, is hereby adopted as the Building Code for the Town, 
regulating the construction, alteration, movement, enlargement, replacement, repair, equipment, 
use and occupancy, location, maintenance, removal, and demolition of every building or structure

Page 127

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 2

or any appurtenances connected or attached to buildings or structures within the Town (the "2021
International Building Code"). The 2021 International Building Code is made a part of this Article
as if fully set forth herein. A copy of the International Building Code, 2021 Edition, copyrighted by
the International Code Council, Inc., is on file in the office of the Town Secretary of Prosper being
marked and so designated as the 2021 International Building Code." 

SECTION 3

Should any section, subsection, sentence, clause, or phrase of this Ordinance be declared
unconstitutional or invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, it is expressly provided that any
and all remaining portions of this Ordinance shall remain in full force and effect.  The Town hereby
declares that it would have passed this Ordinance, and each section, subsection, sentence, 
clause, or phrase thereof, irrespective of the fact that any one or more sections, subsections, 
sentences, clauses, and phrases be declared unconstitutional or invalid. 

SECTION 4

All provisions of any ordinance in conflict with this Ordinance are hereby repealed to the
extent they are in conflict; but such repeal shall not abate any pending prosecution from being
commenced for any violation if occurring prior to the repeal of the Ordinance.  Any remaining
portions of said ordinances shall remain in full force and effect. 

SECTION 5

Any person, firm, corporation, or business entity violating this Ordinance shall be deemed
guilty of a misdemeanor, and upon conviction thereof shall be subject to a fine not to exceed the
sum of Two Thousand Dollars ($2,000.00), and each and every day such violation shall continue
shall constitute a separate offense.  

SECTION 6

This Ordinance shall become effective on April 1, 2023, after its adoption and publication
as required by law.  

DULY PASSED, APPROVED, AND ADOPTED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE
TOWN OF PROSPER, TEXAS, ON THIS 24TH DAY OF JANUARY, 2023. 

David F. Bristol, Mayor
ATTEST: 

Michelle Lewis Sirianni, Town Secretary

Page 128

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 3

APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGALITY: 

Terrence S. Welch, Town Attorney

Page 129

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 4

Exhibit A
Town of Prosper Amendments to the

2021 International Building Code
The following additions, deletions, and amendments to the 2021 International Building

Code are hereby approved and adopted. 

Section 101.1; change to read as follows: 

101.1 Title.  These regulations shall be known as the Building Code of the Town of Prosper, hereinafter
referred to as “this code.” 

Section 101.4; change to read as follows: 

101.4 Referenced codes.  The other codes listed in Sections 101.4.1 through 101.4.8 and referenced
elsewhere in this code, when specifically adopted, shall be considered part of the requirements of this code
to the prescribed extent of each such reference.  Whenever amendments have been adopted to the
referenced codes and standards, each reference to said code and standard shall be considered to
reference the amendments as well.  Any reference to NFPA 70 or the Electrical Code shall mean the
Electrical Code as adopted. 

Section 101.4.8; add the following: 

101.4.8 Electrical. The provisions of the Electrical Code shall apply to the installation of electrical systems, 
including alterations, repairs, replacement, equipment, appliances, fixtures, fittings and appurtenances
thereto. 

Sections 103 and 103.1; amend to read as follows: 

BUILDING INSPECTION DIVISION OF THE TOWN OF PROSPER

103.1 Creation of enforcement agency. The BUILDING INSPECTION DIVISION OF THE TOWN OF
PROSPER is hereby created and the official in charge thereof shall be known as the Building Official. 

Section 105.2 Work exempt from permit; under sub-title entitled “ Building” change to read as
follows: 

Building: 

1. Oil derricks
2. Retaining walls that are not over 4 feet (1219 mm) in height measured from the bottom of the footing

to the top of the wall, unless supporting a surcharge or impounding Class I, II or IIIA liquids. 
3. Water tanks supported directly on grade if the capacity is not greater than 5,000 gallon (18925 L) and

the ratio of height to diameter or width is not greater than 2:1. 
4. Painting, papering, tiling, carpeting, cabinets, counter tops and similar finish work. 
5. Temporary motion picture, television and theater stage sets and scenery. 
6. Prefabricated swimming pools accessory to a Group R-3 occupancy that are less than 24 inches (610

mm) deep, are not greater than 5,000 gallons (18925 L) and are installed entirely above ground. 
7. Swings and other playground equipment accessory to detached one- and two-family dwellings. 
8. Window awnings in Group R-3 and U occupancies, supported by an exterior wall that do not project

more than 54 inches (1372 mm) from the exterior wall and do not require additional support. 

Page 130

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 5

9. Nonfixed and movable fixtures, cases, racks, counters, and partitions not over 5 feet 9 inches (1753
mm) in height. 

Section 107.1; change to read as follows: 

107.1 General.  Submittal documents consisting of construction documents, statement of special
inspections, geotechnical report and other data shall be submitted in two or more sets, or in a digital format
where allowed by the building official, with each permit application.  The construction documents shall be
prepared by a registered design professional where required by the statutes of the jurisdiction in which the
project is to be constructed.  Foundation plans shall be submitted with each application.  Foundation plans
shall be designed by an engineer licensed by the State of Texas and shall bear said engineer’ s seal.  
Structural framing plans shall be submitted with each new construction or addition application.  Structural
framing plans shall be designed by a registered design professional licensed by the State of Texas and
shall bear said design professional’s seal. 

The remaining exception remains unchanged.} 

Section 109.2; change to read as follows: 

109.2 Schedule of permit fees.  On buildings, structures, electrical, gas, mechanical, and plumbing
systems or alterations requiring a permit, a fee for each permit shall be paid as required, in accordance
with the Town of Prosper Fee Schedule as adopted by the Town Council. 

Section 109.4; change to read as follows: 

109.4 Work commencing before permit issuance.  Any person who commences any work requiring a
permit on a building, structure, electrical, gas, mechanical, or plumbing system before obtaining the
necessary permit(s) shall be subject to a penalty of 100% of the usual permit fee in addition to the required
permit fees. 

Section 109.6; change to read as follows: 

109.6 Refunds.  The Building Official is authorized to establish a refund policy. 

1. The full amount of any fee paid hereunder that was erroneously paid or collected. 
2. Not more than eighty percent ( 80%) of the permit fee paid when no work has been done under a

permit issued in accordance with this Code. 
3. The Code Official shall not authorize the refunding of any fee paid except upon written application

filed by the original permittee not later than 180 days after the date of fee payment. 

Page 131

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 6

Section 109; add Section 109.7 to read as follows: 

109.7 Re-inspection Fee. A fee as established by city council resolution may be charged when: 

1. The inspection called for is not ready when the inspector arrives; 
2. No building address or permit card is clearly posted; 
3. Town approved plans are not on the job site available to the inspector; 
4. The building is locked or work otherwise not available for inspection when called; 
5. The job site disapproved twice for the same item; 
6. Failure to maintain erosion control, trash control or tree protection. 

Any re-inspection fees assessed shall be paid before any more inspections are made on that job site.  

Section 110.3.1; change to read as follows: 

110.3.1 Footing and foundation inspection.  Footing and foundation inspections shall be made after
excavations for footings are complete and any required reinforcing steel is in place.  For concrete
foundations, any required forms shall be in place prior to inspection.  Materials for the foundation shall be
on the job, except where concrete is ready mixed in accordance with ASTM C 94, the concrete need not
be on the job.  A registered design professional, or their designated representative, shall perform a pre -
pour inspection and provide the Building Official with a signed and sealed document stating that the footing
and foundation has been inspected and approved.  This inspection shall take place prior to requesting a
footing and foundation inspection from the Building Official. 

Section 110.3.2; change to read as follows: 

110.3.2 Concrete slab and under-floor inspection.  Concrete slab and under-floor inspections shall be
made after in-slab and under-floor reinforcing steel and building service equipment, conduit, piping
accessories, and other ancillary equipment items are in place, but before any concrete is placed or floor
sheathing installed, including the subfloor.  A registered design professional, or their designated
representative, shall perform a pre-pour inspection and provide the Building Official with a signed and
sealed document stating that the slab and under-floor foundation has been inspected and approved.  This
inspection shall take place prior to requesting a concrete slab and under -floor foundation inspection from
the Building Official. 

Section 110.3.4; change to read as follows: 

110.3.4 Frame inspection.  Framing inspections shall be made after the roof deck or sheathing, all framing, 
fire-blocking, and bracing are in place and pipes, chimneys, and vents to be concealed are complete and
the rough electrical, plumbing, heating wires, pipes, and ducts are approved.  A registered design
professional, or their designated representative, shall perform a structural framing inspection and provide
the Building Official with a signed and sealed document stating that the structure’ s framing has been
inspected and approved.  This inspection shall take place prior to requesting a framing inspection from the
Building Official. 

Section 110.3.6; Lath, gypsum board and gypsum panel product inspection; Delete exception

Page 132

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 7

Section 202; amend definition of Ambulatory Care Facility as follows:  

AMBULATORY CARE FACILITY. Buildings or portions thereof used to provide medical, surgical, 
psychiatric, nursing or similar care on a less than 24-hour basis to persons who are rendered incapable of
self-preservation by the services provided. This group may include but not be limited to the following: 

Dialysis centers
Sedation dentistry
Surgery centers
Colonic centers
Psychiatric centers

Section 202; add definition of Assisting Living Facilities to read as follows: 

ASSISTED LIVING FACILITIES.  A building or part thereof housing persons, on a 24-hour basis, who
because of age, mental disability or other reasons, live in a supervised residential environment which
provides personal care services. The occupants are capable of responding to an emergency situation
without physical assistance from staff. 

Section 202; amend definition of High-Rise Building to read as follows: 

HIGH-RISE BUILDING.  A building with an occupied floor located more than fifty-five feet (55’) (16,764 mm) 
above the lowest level of fire department vehicle access. 

Section 202; amend definition of SPECIAL INSPECTOR to read as follows: 

SPECIAL INSPECTOR. A qualified person employed or retained by an approved agency who shall prove
to the satisfaction of the registered design professional in responsible charge and the Building Official as
having the competence necessary to inspect a particular type of construction requiring special inspection.  

Section 304.1; add the following to the list of occupancies: 

Fire stations
Police stations with detention facilities for 5 or less

Section 307.1.1; add the following sentence to Exception 4: 

4. Cleaning establishments… { Text unchanged} … with Section 707 or 1-hour horizontal assemblies
constructed in accordance with Section 711 or both. See also IFC Chapter 21, Dry Cleaning Plant
provisions. 

Section 403.1, Exception 3; change to read as follows: 

3. The open-air portion of a building [ remainder unchanged]  

Section 403.3, Automatic Sprinkler System. Delete exception.  

Page 133

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 8

Section 403.3.2; change to read as follows: 

F] 403.3.2 Water supply to required fire pumps. In buildings that are more than 120 feet ( 36.5 m) in
building height, required fire pumps shall be supplied by connections to no fewer than two water mains
located in different streets. Separate supply piping shall be provided between each connection to the water
main and the pumps. Each connection and the supply piping between the connection and the pumps shall
be sized to supply the flow and pressure required for the pumps to operate. 

Exception: { No change to exception} 

Section 403.5.4; change to read as follows: 

403.5.4 Smokeproof enclosures.  Every required interior exit stairway serving floors more than 55 feet
55’) (16,764 mm) above the lowest level of fire department vehicle access shall be a smokeproof

enclosure in accordance with Sections 909.20 and 1023.11. 

Section 404.10; change to read as follows: 

404.10 Exit Stairways in an atrium. Where an atrium contains an exit access stairway all the following
shall be met: 

Remainder Unchanged} 

Section 423.5.1; change to read as follows: 

423.5.1 Required occupant capacity.  The required occupant capacity of the storm shelter shall include
all of the buildings on the site and shall be the total occupant load of the classrooms, vocational rooms
and offices in the Group E occupancy. 

Exceptions: 

1. Where a new building is being added on an existing Group E site, and where the new building
is not of sufficient size to accommodate the required occupant capacity of the storm shelter for
all of the buildings on the site, the storm shelter shall at a minimum accommodate the required
occupant capacity for the new building. 

2. Where approved by the building official, the required occupant capacity of the shelter shall be
permitted to be reduced by the occupant capacity of any existing storm shelters on the site. 

3. Where approved by the building official, the actual number of occupants for whom each
occupied space, floor or building is designed, although less than those determined by occupant
load calculation, shall be permitted to be used in the determination of the required design
occupant capacity for the storm shelter.  

Section 502.1; change to read as follows: 

502.1 Address identification.  New and existing buildings shall be provided with approved address
identification as given in the Town of Prosper adopted International Fire Code. 

Table 506.2; delete footnote i from table

Page 134

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 9

Section 708.4.2; change to read as follows: 

708.4.2 Fireblocks and draftstops in combustible construction. {Body of text unchanged} 

Exceptions:  

1. Buildings equipped with an automatic sprinkler system installed throughout in accordance with
Section 903.3.1.1, or in accordance with Section 903.3.1.2 provided that sprinkler protection is
provided in the space between the top of the fire partition and the underside of the floor or roof
sheathing, deck or slab above as required for systems complying with Section 903.3.1.1 . Portions
of buildings containing concealed spaces filled with noncombustible insulation as permitted for
sprinkler omission shall not apply to this exception for draftstopping.  { Remainder unchanged} 

Section 718.3; change to read as follows: 

718.3 Draftstopping in floors. {Body of text unchanged} 

Exceptions: Buildings equipped throughout with an automatic sprinkler system in accordance with
Section 903.3.1.1. and provided that in combustible construction, sprinkler protection is provided in
the floor space. 

Section 718.4; change to read as follows: 

718.4 Draftstopping in attics. {Body of text unchanged} 

Exceptions: Buildings equipped throughout with an automatic sprinkler system in accordance with
Section 903.3.1.1 and provided that in combustible construction, sprinkler protection is provided in
the attic space. 

Section 903.1.1; change to read as follows: 

903.1.1 Alternative protection.  Alternative automatic fire- extinguishing systems complying with Section
904 shall be permitted in addition to automatic sprinkler protection where recognized by the applicable
standard or as approved by the Fire code official. 

Section 903.1.2 is hereby added to read as follows: 

903.1.2 Residential systems. Unless specifically allowed by this Code or the International Building Code, 
residential sprinkler systems installed in accordance with NFPA 13D or NFPA 13R shall not be recognized
for the purposes of modifications, exceptions, or reductions, commonly referred to as "trade -offs," permitted
by other requirements of this Code or the International Building Code. 

Residential sprinkler systems installed in accordance with NFPA 13R shall include attic sprinkler protection
to be recognized for the purposes of such trade-offs permitted by other requirements of this Code, or for
modifications permitted under Chapter 5 of the International Building Code. When such trade-offs are taken, 
an NFPA 13 sprinkler system shall be required.  

One- and two-family dwellings, mobile homes, and townhomes shall not be governed by this ordinance. 
Refer to Town Ordinance No. 04-98 for fire sprinkler requirements. 

Page 135

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 10

Section 903.1.3 is hereby added to read as follows: 

Section 903.1.3 Spray booths and rooms. New and existing spray booths and spray rooms shall be
protected by an approved automatic fire extinguishing system in accordance with Chapter 9. 

Section 903.2; add a paragraph to read as follows and delete the Exception for telecommunications
buildings: 

Automatic Sprinklers shall not be installed in elevator machine rooms, elevator machine spaces, and
elevator hoistways, other than pits where such sprinklers would not necessitate shunt trip requirements
under any circumstances. Storage shall not be allowed within the elevator machine room. Signage shall be
provided at the entry doors to the elevator machine room indicating “ ELEVATOR MACHINERY – NO
STORAGE ALLOWED”, consistent with Section 511 in the International Fire Code. 

Section 903.2.4.2 is amended to read as follows:  

903.2.4.2 Group F-1 distilled spirits. An automatic sprinkler system shall be provided throughout a Group
F-1 fire area used for the manufacture of distilled spirits involving more than 120 gallons of distilled spirits

16% alcohol) in the fire area at any one time. 

Section 903.2.8; add the following exception: 

Exception: R-3 occupancies with a gross square foot area of less than 5,500 HVAC space. 

Section 903.2.8.5 is hereby added to read as follows: 

903.2.8.5 Storage rooms. Within Group R occupancies, storage areas that are leased or rented shall
comply with Section 903.2.9.5 and 903.2.9.5.1. 

Section 903.2.9.3; change to read as follows:  

903.2.9.3 Group S-1 distilled spirits or wine. An automatic sprinkler system shall be provided throughout
a Group S-1 fire area used for the bulk storage of distilled spirits or wine involving more than 120 gallons
of distilled spirits or wine (>16% alcohol) in the fire area at any one time. 

Section 903.2.9.4; delete Exception to 903.2.9.4

Section 903.2.9.5 and 903.2.9.5.1 are hereby added to read as follows:  

903.2.9.5 Self-service storage facility. An approved automatic sprinkler system shall be installed
throughout all self-service storage facilities.  

903.2.9.5.1 Vertical storage limits. A screen shall be installed at eighteen inches (18”) below the level of
the sprinkler heads to restrict storage above that level. This screen shall be a mesh of not less than one
inch (1”) nor greater than six inches (6”) in size. The screen and its supports shall be installed such that all
elements are at least eighteen inches ( 18”) below any sprinkler heads, measured from the level of the
sprinkler deflector. 

Page 136

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 11

Section 903.2.11.3; change to read as follows: 

903.2.11.3 Buildings 35 feet or more in height.  An automatic sprinkler system shall be installed
throughout buildings with a floor level having an occupant load of thirty (30) or more that is located thirty -
five feet (35’) (10,668 mm) or more above the lowest level of fire department vehicle access. 

Exception: Open parking structures in compliance with Section 406.5. 

Section 903.2.11.7; add the following: 

903.2.11.7 High-Piled Combustible Storage.  For any building with a clear height exceeding 12 feet (4572
mm), see Chapter 32 of the Fire Code to determine if those provisions apply. 

Section 903.2.11.8; add the following: 

903.2.11.8 Spray Booths and Rooms.  New and existing spray booths and spraying rooms shall be
protected by an approved automatic sprinkler system and/or an approved automatic fire- extinguishing
system in accordance with Chapter 9 and Section 2404 in the International Fire Code. 

Section 903.2.11.9; add the following: 

903.2.11.9 Buildings over 5,000 square feet.  An automatic sprinkler system shall be installed throughout
all commercial buildings with a building area (floor area gross) over 5,000 square feet.  For the purpose of
this provision, firewalls shall not define separate buildings. 

Exception:  Open parking garages in compliance with Section 406.5 of the International Building Code, 
when all of the following conditions apply: 

1. The structure is freestanding. 
2. The structure does not contain any mixed uses, accessory uses, storage rooms, electrical rooms, 

elevators, or spaces used or occupied for anything other than motor vehicle parking. 
3. The structure does not exceed three (3) stories. 
4. An approved fire apparatus access road is provided around the entire perimeter of the structure. 

Section 903.3.1.1.1; change to read as follows: 

903.3.1.1.1 Exempt Locations.  When approved by the fire code official, automatic sprinklers shall not be
required in the following rooms or areas where such ...{ text unchanged}… because it is damp, of fire-
resistance- rated construction or contains electrical equipment. 

1. Any room where the application of water, or flame and water, constitutes a serious life or fire hazard. 
2. Any room or space where sprinklers are considered undesirable because of the nature of the

contents, when approved by the fire code official. 
3. Generator and transformer rooms, under the direct control of a public utility, separated from the

remainder of the building by walls and floor/ceiling or roof/ceiling assemblies having a fire -
resistance rating of not less than 2 hours. 

4. Elevator machine rooms, machinery spaces, and hoistways, other than pits where such sprinklers
would not necessitate shunt trip requirements under any circumstances .  

Page 137

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 12

Section 903.3.1.1.3 is hereby added to read as follows: 

Section 903.3.1.1.3 Residential systems. In Group R occupancies, an NFPA fire sprinkler system
installed in accordance with 903.3.1.1 shall be required where the building is designed to exceed the
maximum allowable factors of Tables 504.3, 504.4, or 506.2 of the 2021 International Building Code for the
occupancy classification and construction type. For the purposes of this provision, fire walls shall not define
separate buildings. 

Section 903.3.1.2; change to read as follows: 

903.3.1.2 NFPA 13R sprinkler systems. Automatic sprinkler systems in Group R occupancies shall be
permitted to be installed throughout in accordance with NFPA 13R where the Group R occupancy meets
all of the following conditions: 

1.  Four stories or less above grade plane. 
2. The floor level of the highest story is 35 feet ( 10668 mm) or less above the lowest level of fire

department vehicle access. 
3. The floor level of the lowest story is 35 feet ( 10668 mm) or less below the lowest level of fire

department vehicle access. 

The number of stories of Group R occupancies construction in accordance with Sections 510.2 and 510.4
shall be measured from grade plane. 

Section 903.3.1.2.1 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

903.3.1.2.1 Balconies and decks. Sprinkler protection shall be provided for exterior balconies, decks and
ground floor patios of dwelling units and sleeping units. 

Section 903.3.1.2.2; change to read as follows: 

903.3.1.2.2 Corridors and balconies.  Sprinkler protection shall be provided in all corridors and for all
balconies.  

Page 138

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 13

Section 903.3.1.2.3; delete section and replace as follows: 

Section 903.3.1.2.3 Attached Garages and Attics.  Sprinkler protection is required in attached garages, 
and in the following attic spaces: 

1. Attics that are used or intended for living purposes or storage shall be protected by an
automatic sprinkler system. 

2. Where fuel-fired equipment is installed in an unsprinklered attic, not fewer than one quick -
response intermediate temperature sprinkler shall be installed above the equipment. 

3.  Attic spaces of buildings that are two or more stories in height above grade plane or above the
lowest level of fire department vehicle access. 

4. Group R-4, Condition 2 occupancy attics not required by Item 1 or 3 to have sprinklers shall
comply with one of the following: 

4.1. Provide automatic sprinkler system protection. 
4.2. Provide a heat detection system throughout the attic that is arranged to activate the

building fire alarm system. 
4.3. Construct the attic using noncombustible materials. 
4.4. Construct the attic using fire-retardant- treated wood complying with Section 2303.2 of

the International Building Code. 
4.5. Fill the attic with noncombustible insulation. 

Section 903.3.1.3; change to read as follows: 

903.3.1.3 NFPA 13D Sprinkler systems. Where allowed, automatic sprinkler systems installed in one & 
two-family dwellings; Group R-3; Group R-4, Condition 1; and townhouses shall be permitted to be installed
throughout in accordance with NFPA 13D, or in accordance with state law. 

Section 903.3.1.4 is hereby added to read as follows: 

903.3.1.4 Freeze protection. Freeze protection systems for automatic fire sprinkler systems shall be in

accordance with the requirements of the applicable referenced NFPA standard and this section. 

903.3.1.4.1 Attics. Only dry-pipe, pre-action, or listed antifreeze automatic fire sprinkler systems shall

be allowed to protect attic spaces. 

Exception: Wet-pipe fire sprinkler systems shall be allowed to protect non-ventilated attic spaces

where: 

1. The attic sprinklers are supplied by a separate floor control valve assembly to allow ease of

draining the attic system without impairing sprinklers throughout the rest of the building, and

2. Adequate heat shall be provided for freeze protection as per the applicable referenced NFPA

standard, and

3. The attic space is a part of the building’s thermal, or heat, envelope, such that insulation is

provided at the roof deck, rather than at the ceiling level. 

903.3.1.4.2 Heat trace/insulation. Heat trace/insulation shall only be allowed where approved by the

Fire code official for small sections of large diameter water-filled pipe. 

903.3.1.4.3 Water-filled piping. Water-filled piping shall not be permitted to be installed in areas

where the temperature is less than 40°F (4°C) unless approved by the fire code official. 

Page 139

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 14

Section 903.1.5 shall be added to read as follows: 

Section 903.1.5 Additional installation requirements. Automatic sprinkler and standpipe systems shall

be installed with the following: 

1. Underground piping serving the sprinkler, standpipe, or remote FDC shall have a 10 ft. separation

from all other utilities and placed in a separate trench. 

2. Underground piping serving the sprinkler, standpipe, or remote FDC shall be provided with metallic

detector tracer tape or wire. 

3. All inspectors’ test, ball-drips, and main-drains shall be piped directly to the outside of the building. 

Section 903.3.5; add a second paragraph to read as follows: 

Water supply as required for such systems shall be provided in conformance with the supply requirements
of the respective standards; however, every water-based fire protection system shall be designed with a
10-psi safety factor.  Reference Section 507.4 for additional design requirements. 

Section 903.4; add a second paragraph after the exceptions to read as follows: 

Sprinkler and standpipe system water- flow detectors shall be provided for each floor tap to the sprinkler
system and shall cause an alarm upon detection of water flow for more than 45 seconds.  All control valves
in the sprinkler and standpipe systems except for fire department hose connection valves shall be
electrically supervised to initiate a supervisory signal at the central station upon tampering. 

Section 903.4.2; add second paragraph to read as follows: 

The alarm device required on the exterior of the building shall be a weatherproof horn/strobe notification
appliance with a minimum 75 candela strobe rating, installed as close as practicable to the fire department
connection.   

Section 905.2; change to read as follows: 

905.2 Installation Standard. Standpipe systems shall be installed in accordance with this section and
NFPA 14.  Manual dry standpipe systems shall be supervised with a minimum of 10 psig and a maximum
of 40 psig air pressure with a high/low alarm. 

Section 905.2.1 is hereby added to read as follows: 

Section 905.2.1 Automatic supply. Where standpipes are required, an automatic supply shall be provided
for the following occupancies/buildings: 

1. Buildings defined as high-rise
2. Building four or more stories

Exception: Unattached open parking garages
3. H Occupancies
4. High-piled storage permitted occupancies
5. Hazardous materials permitted occupancies

Page 140

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 15

The fire code official is authorized to require an automatic supply for occupancies/buildings not listed when
the access to is limited or the hazard being protected requires such protection. 

Sections 905.3.9 and 905.3.9.1 are hereby added to read as follows: 

905.3.9. Building Area. In buildings exceeding 10,000 square feet in area per story, Class I automatic wet
or manual wet standpipes shall be provided where any portion of the building’s interior area is more than
200 feet of travel, vertically and horizontally, from the nearest point of fire department vehicle access.  

Exceptions: 
1. Automatic dry and semi-automatic dry standpipes are allowed as provided for in NFPA 14, where

approved by the fire code official. 
2. R-2 occupancies of four stories or less in height having no interior corridors.  

905.3.9.1 Distance from fire lane. Class I standpipes shall be required in all occupancies in which the
distance from a single accessible point for Fire Department ingress to any area within the structure exceeds
250 feet along the route a fire hose is laid as measured from the fire lane as a single route. 

Section 905.4; change Items 1, 3, and 5, and add Item 7 to read as follows: 

1. In every required exit stairway, a hose connection shall be provided for each story above and below
grade plane.  Hose connections shall be located at an intermediate landing between stories, unless
otherwise approved by the fire code official. 

Exception: { No change} 
2. { No change} 
3. In every exit passageway, at the entrance from the exit passageway to other areas of a building. 

Exception:  Where floor areas adjacent to an exit passageway are reachable from an exit
stairway hose connection by a {remainder of text unchanged}  

4. { No change} 
5. Where the roof has a slope less than 4 units vertical in 12 units horizontal (33.3-percent slope), each

standpipe shall be provided with a two-way hose connection located to serve the roof or at the
highest landing of an exit stairway with stair access to the roof provided in accordance with Section
1011.12.  

6. { No change} 
7. When required by this Chapter, standpipe connections shall be placed adjacent to all required exits

to the structure and at two hundred feet ( 200’) intervals along major corridors thereafter, or as
otherwise approved by the fire code official.    

Section 905.8; change to read as follows: 

905.8 Dry standpipes. Dry standpipes shall not be installed. 

Exception: Where subject to freezing and in accordance with NFPA 14. Additionally, manual dry standpipe
systems shall be supervised with a minimum of 10 psi and a maximum of 40 psi air pressure with a high/low
Supervisory alarm. 

Page 141

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 16

Section 905.9; add a second paragraph after the exceptions to read as follows: 

Sprinkler and standpipe system water-flow detectors shall be provided for each floor tap to the sprinkler
system and shall cause an alarm upon detection of water flow for more than 45 seconds.  All control valves
in the sprinkler and standpipe systems except for fire department hose connection valves shall be
electrically supervised to initiate a supervisory signal at the central station upon tampering. 

Section 906.1; delete Exception 3. 

Section 907.1; add Section 907.1.4 to read as follows: 

907.1.4 Design Standards.  All alarm systems new or replacement shall utilize addressable devices. 

Riser rooms shall be equipped with an annunciator panel if the main fire alarm control panel is not located
in the riser room. 

Annunciator panel shall be provided at the main entrance to all single occupant buildings. 

Exception: Existing systems need not comply unless the total building remodel or expansion initiated after
the effective date of this code, as adopted, exceeds 30% of the building. When cumulative building
remodels or expansion exceeds 50% of the building, must comply within 18 months of permit application. 
This exception does not prohibit the need for new fire alarm devices on an existing system to be
addressable. 

Section 907.2.1; change to read as follows: 

907.2.1 Group A.  A manual fire alarm system that activates the occupant notification system in accordance
with Section 907.5 shall be installed in Group A occupancies having an occupant load of 300 or more
persons, or where the occupant load is more than 100 persons above or below the lowest level of exit
discharge. Group A occupancies not separated from one another in accordance with Section 707.3.10 of
the International Building Code shall be considered as a single occupancy for the purposes of applying this
section.  Portions of Group E occupancies occupied for assembly purposes shall be provided with a fire
alarm system as required for the Group E occupancy.  

Exception: { No change} 

Activation of fire alarm notification appliances shall: 
1. Cause illumination of the means of egress with light of not less than 1 foot-candle (11 lux) at the

walking surface level, and
2.  Stop any conflicting or confusing sounds and visual distractions. 

Section 907.2.3; change to read as follows: 

907.2.3 Group E. A manual fire alarm system that initiates the occupant notification signal utilizing an
emergency voice/alarm communication system meeting the requirements of Section 907.5.2.2 and installed
in accordance with Section 907.6 shall be installed in Group E educational occupancies. When automatic
sprinkler systems or smoke detectors are installed, such systems or detectors shall be connected to the
building fire alarm system. An approved smoke detection system shall be installed in Group E Day Care
occupancies. Unless separated by a minimum of 100' open space, all buildings, whether portable buildings
or the main building, will be considered one building for alarm occupant load consideration and
interconnection of alarm systems.  

Page 142

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 17

Exceptions: 
1. A manual fire alarm system is not required in Group E educational and daycare occupancies with

an occupant load of less than 50 when provided with an approved automatic sprinkler system. 
1.1 Residential In-Home daycare with not more than 12 children may use interconnected

single station detectors in all habitable rooms. (For care of more than five children 2
1/2 or fewer years of age, see Section 907.2.6.)  

No change to the remainder of exceptions.} 

Section 907.2.6.4 is added to read as follows: 

907.2.6.4 Group I-4. An automatic smoke detection system shall be installed in egress corridors in Group
I-4 facilities. The system shall be activated in accordance with Section 907.4.   

907.2.6.4.1 Manual fire alarm box. A manual fire alarm box shall be provided in a constantly attended
location. 

907.2.6.4.2 Occupant notification. Occupant notification shall be required as per Section 907.5.3

Section 907.2.10; change to read as follows: 

907.2.10 Group S. A manual fire alarm system that activates the occupant notification system in
accordance with Section 907.5 shall be installed in Group S public- and self-storage occupancies for interior
corridors and interior common areas. Visible notification appliances are not required within storage units.  

Exception: {No change} 

Section 907.2.13, Exception 3; change to read as follows: 

3. Open air portions of buildings with an occupancy in Group A-5 in accordance with Section 303.1 of the
International Building Code; however, this exception does not apply to accessory uses including but
not limited to sky boxes, restaurants, and similarly enclosed areas. 

Section 907.2.24 is hereby added to read as follows: 

907.2.24 Self-service storage facilities. An approved fire alarm system shall be installed throughout all
self-service storage facilities. This shall include visual, audible, heat, and smoke detection. 

Section 907.4.2; add Section 907.4.2.7 to read as follows: 

907.4.2.7 Type. Manual alarm initiating devices shall be an approved double action type. 

Section 907.5.2.4 is hereby added to read as follows: 

907.5.2.4 Audible and Visible Alarm. Upon manually silencing an alarm the visible signal shall continue
to operate while the audible alarm silences.  Alarms must not be silenceable on waterflow alarms.   

Page 143

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 18

907.5.3 is hereby added to read as follows: 

907.5.3 Occupant notification. Occupant notification in accordance with this section and 907.5 shall be
required for all new construction, or existing construction complying with the International Building Code, 
for renovations to existing buildings, tenant spaces, changes in occupancy, replacement, or modification of
the existing fire alarm system, or as required by the fire code official, for all buildings or spaces provided
with an approved automatic sprinkler system. 

Section 907.6.1; add Section 907.6.1.1 to read as follows: 

907.6.1.1 Wiring Installation. All fire alarm systems shall be installed in such a manner that a failure of
any single initiating device or single open in an initiating circuit conductor will not interfere with the normal
operation of other such devices. All signaling line circuits (SLC) shall be installed in such a way that a single
open will not interfere with the operation of any addressable devices ( Class A). Outgoing and return SLC
conductors shall be installed in accordance with NFPA 72 requirements for Class A circuits and shall have
a minimum of four feet separation horizontal and one foot vertical between supply and return circuit
conductors. The initiating device circuit ( IDC) from an addressable input ( monitor) module may be wired
Class B, provided the distance from the addressable module to the initiating device is ten feet or less.  

All fire alarm wire jackets shall be RED.  A contrasting color stripe may be incorporated for circuit
identification provided the base color of the fire alarm wire jacket is RED. 

Section 907.6.3; delete all four Exceptions. 

Section 907.6.3.1.1; add to read as follows: 

Section 907.6.3.1.1 Graphical annunciation. Graphical annunciation of initiating devices shall be
provided for large, complex floor plans where required by the fire code official or other sections of this code. 

Section 907.6.3.2; add to read as follows:  

907.6.3.2 Communication requirements. All alarm systems, new or replacement, shall transmit alarm, 
supervisory and trouble signals descriptively to the approved central station, remote supervisory station, or
proprietary supervising station as defined in NFPA 72, with the correct device designation and location of
addressable device identification. Alarms shall not be permitted to be transmitted as a General Alarm or
Zone condition. 

Section 907.6.6; add sentence at end of paragraph to read as follows: 

See 907.6.3 for the required information transmitted to the supervising station. 

Page 144

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 19

907.6.7 Waterflow Notification is hereby added to read as follows: 

907.6.7 Waterflow Notification. When required by Section 903.4.2, an exterior audible and visible
notification device shall be provided on the exterior of the building and shall be located above the Fire
Department Connection. The notification device shall operate on a waterflow alarm only, shall be non-
silenceable, and shall continue to operate after the panel is silenced on the condition the alarm was a water
flow alarm only. The notification device shall be wired from the fire alarm control panel as a dedicated
latching circuit. The minimum candela rating for the notification device shall be 75 (cd) candela.  

Where FDC is remote the horn strobe will be located on a permanently mounted pole behind the Remote
FDC.  All conduit and fire alarm wiring shall be burial rated. An isolator module shall be located at each
point the underground wiring runs above and below grade level. 

Section 907.9 Fire Extinguishing Systems shall be added to read as follows:  

907.9 Fire extinguishing systems. Automatic fire-extinguishing systems shall be connected to the building
fire alarm system where a fire alarm system is required by another section of this code or is otherwise
installed. 

Section 907.10 is hereby added to read as follows: 

907.10 Interconnection. Fire alarm systems installed in multi-building developments which share a
common address shall be provided with a separate fire alarm system for each building and shall be
independently monitored.  Buildings shall not be permitted to be interconnected, unless required by the fire
code official. 

Section 907.11 is hereby added to read as follows:  

907.11 Password protection prohibited.  No fire alarm system shall be protected by a password or pin
number that would hinder immediate silencing capabilities by the fire department. 

Section 907.12 is hereby added to read as follows:  

907.12 Occupant reset.  Once an alarm is initiated and fire department is contacted, no person shall
silence or reset an alarm prior to fire department arrival. 

Section 910.2; change Exception 2 and 3 to read as follows:  

910.2 Where required. Smoke and heat vents or a mechanical smoke removal system shall be installed
as required by Sections 910.2.1, 910.2.2, and 910.3.2. 

2.  Only manual smoke and heat removal shall be required in areas of buildings equipped with early
suppression fast-response ( ESFR) sprinklers. Automatic smoke and heat removal is prohibited. 

3. Only manual smoke and heat removal shall be required in areas of buildings equipped with control
mode special application sprinklers with a response time index of 50(m*S)1/2 or less that are listed
to control a fire in stored commodities with 12 or fewer sprinklers.  Automatic smoke and heat
removal is prohibited. 

Page 145

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 20

Section 910.2.3; add to read as follows: 

910.2.3 Group H. Buildings and portions thereof used as a Group H occupancy as follows:  

1. In occupancies classified as Group H-2 or H-3, any of which are more than 15,000 square feet
1394 m2) in single floor area. 

Exception: Buildings of noncombustible construction containing only noncombustible materials. 

2. In areas of buildings in Group H used for storing Class 2, 3, and 4 liquid and solid oxidizers, Class 1
and unclassified detonable organic peroxides, Class 3 and 4 unstable (reactive) materials, or Class
2 or 3 water-reactive materials as required for a high-hazard commodity classification.  

Exception: Buildings of noncombustible construction containing only noncombustible materials. 

Section 910.3.4 is hereby changed and added to read as follows: 

910.3.4 Vent Operation. Smoke and heat vents shall be capable of being operated by approved automatic
and manual means. Automatic operation of smoke and heat vents shall conform to the provis ions of
Sections 910.3.2.1 through 910.3.2.3. 

910.3.4.1 Sprinklered buildings. Where installed in buildings equipped with an approved automatic
sprinkler system, smoke and heat vents shall be designed to operate automatically. The automatic
operating mechanism of the smoke and heat vents shall operate at a temperature rating of at least
100 degrees F (approximately 38 degrees Celsius) greater than the temperature rating of the sprinklers
installed. 

Exception: Manual-only systems per Section 910.2. 

910.3.4.2 Non-sprinklered Buildings. Where installed in buildings not equipped with an approved
automatic sprinkler system, smoke and heat vents shall operate automatically by actuation of a heat -
responsive device rated at between 100°F (56°C) and 220°F (122°C) above ambient. 

Exception: Listed gravity-operated drop out vents. 

Section 910.4.3.1; change to read as follows: 

910.4.3.1 Makeup Air.  Makeup air openings shall be provided within 6 feet (1829 mm) of the floor level. 
Operation of makeup air openings shall be automatic. The minimum gross area of makeup air inlets shall
be 8 square feet per 1,000 cubic feet per minute (0.74 m2 per 0.4719 m3/s) of smoke exhaust. 

Section 910.4.4; change to read as follows: 

910.4.4 Activation. The mechanical smoke removal system shall be activated automatically by the

automatic sprinkler system or by an approved fire detection system. Individual manual controls shall also

be provided as approved by the AHJ. 

Exception:  Manual only systems per Section 910.2. 

Page 146

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 21

Section 912.2.1; change to read as follows: 

912.2.1 Visible location. Where an approved fire lane is provided on site in order to provide fire department

vehicle access to a building or structure, the fire department connection shall be located such that it is

adjacent thereto, along, and faces the fire lane.  

When a remote FDC is provided it shall be located on the opposite side of the fire lane from the serviced

building for all F, H, I, R, & S occupancies outside the collapse zone of the building and located 10 ft. 

adjacent to a fire hydrant along the same side of the fire lane. 

Vehicle impact protection shall be provided for all remote FDC’s in accordance with Section 312 of the

International Fire Code. 

FDCs shall be fully recognizable from the street, fire apparatus access road or nearest point of fire

department vehicle access or as otherwise approved by the fire code official. 

Sections 912.2.1.1 through 912.2.1.3; add to and read as follows: 

912.2.1.1 Building mounted FDCs. Building mounted FDCs shall be located on a minimum 10-foot

unobstructed path and no greater than 30 feet from back of curb. 

912.2.1.2 Remote FDC. Remote FDC’s are required on buildings greater than 30 feet in height as

measured from the lowest point of fire department access, unless otherwise approved by the fire code

official. Remote FDCs shall be located on the opposite side of the fire lane from the serviced building. 

Remote FDCs shall be set back between 2 feet to 6 feet from the back of curb and provided with vehicle

impact protection in accordance with Section 312. 

Section 912.2.1.3 FDC identification. New and existing fire department connections shall be identified in

accordance with the PFR-FMO Sign Specification Guide. Additionally for remote FDCs, the barrel shall be

painted traffic red and provided with a 2-inch, white - 3M diamond-grade reflective tape stripe around the

upper half of the barrel. 

Section 912.2.3; add Section 912.2.3 to read as follows: 

912.2.3 Hydrant Distance. An approved fire hydrant shall be located within 50 feet of the fire department
connection as the fire hose lays along an unobstructed path.  

Section 912.2.4; add Section 912.2.4 to read as follows: 

Section 912.2.4 High Rise Buildings. A second redundant FDC shall be provided for all high-rise

buildings, unless approved by the fire code official. 

Page 147

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 22

Section 912.3; change to read as follows: 

912.3 Fire hose threads.  AII fire department connections shall be 5- inch Storz with a 30-degree down

elbow with a chained locking Knox cap. 

Section 912.4 is hereby amended to add the following text to the end of the current text: 

Section 912.4 Access. A minimum clear and unobstructed pathway of 10 feet shall be provided to access

the fire department connection. 

Section 912.4.1 is hereby amended to add the following text to the end of the current text:   

Knox locking caps shall be provided and a key shall be furnished to the Fire Department for new

installations. 

Section 912.5; change to read as follows: 

912.5 Signs. Signs shall be provided on all fire department connections serving automatic sprinklers, 

standpipes, or fire pump connections. Where the fire department connection does not serve the entire

building, a sign shall be provided indicating the portions of the building served. All signs shall comply with

the PFR-FMO Sign Specification Guide. 

Section 913.2.1; add Section 913.2.1.1 and exception to read as follows: 

913.2.1.1 Fire Pump Room Access. When located on the ground level at an exterior wall, the fire pump
room shall be provided with an exterior fire department access door that is not less than 3 ft. in width and
6 ft. – 8 in. in height, regardless of any interior doors that are provided.  A key box shall be provided at this
door, as required by IFC Section 506.1. 

Exception:  When it is necessary to locate the fire pump room on other levels or not at an exterior
wall, the corridor leading to the fire pump room access from the exterior of the building shall be
provided with equivalent fire resistance as that required for the pump room, or as approved by the
fire code official.  Access keys shall be provided in the key box as required by IFC Section 506.1. 

Section 916.9; change to read as follows: 

916.9 Signage. Signs shall be provided adjacent to gas detection system alarm signaling devices that
advice occupants of the nature of the signals and actions to take in a response to the signal.  Signs shall
comply with the PFR-FMO Sign Specification Guide. 

Page 148

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 23

Section 1009.1 is hereby amended by adding Exception 3 to read as follows:  

3.  Buildings regulated under State Law and built- in accordance with State registered plans, including any
variances or waivers granted by the State, shall be deemed to be in compliance with the requirements of
Section 1009 and Chapter 11.  

Section 1009.8 Two-way communication; add Exception #7 to read as follows: 

Exceptions: 
1.  through 6. {No change.} 
7. Buildings regulated under State Law and built-in accordance with State registered plans, including
variances or waivers granted by the State, shall be deemed to be in compliance with the requirements of
Section 1009 and Chapter 11. 

Section 1010.2.5 Bolt Locks; amend exceptions 3 and 4 as follows: 

Exceptions: 
3. Where a pair of doors serves an occupant load of less than 50 persons in a Group B, F, M or S
occupancy. (remainder unchanged) 
4. Where a pair of doors serves a Group A, B, F, M or S occupancy (remainder unchanged) 

Section 1010.2.12, Items 5 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

5. {first paragraph remains unchanged}. If a building fire alarm system in not provided, approved smoke
detection devices shall be provided on both access and egress sides of the door. Activation of the smoke
detection devices shall automatically unlock the electric lock.  

Section 1015.8 Window Openings, Paragraph Number 1 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

1. Operable windows where the top of the sill of the opening is located more than 55 (16,764 mm) 
above the finished grade or other surface below and that are provided with window fall
prevention devices that comply with ASTM F 2006. 

Section 1020.2 Construction; add new exception 6 as follows: 

6. In unsprinklered group B occupancies, corridor walls and ceilings need not be of fire -resistive
construction within a single tenant space when the space is equipped with approved automatic smoke -
detection within the corridor. The actuation of any detector must activate self-annunciating alarms audible
in all areas within the corridor. Smoke detectors must be connected to an approved automatic fire alarm
system where such system is provided.  

Section 1030.1.1.1 Spaces under grandstands and bleachers; delete this section. 

Page 149

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 24

Section 1612.3; change to read as follows: 

1612.3 Establishment of flood hazard areas. To establish flood hazard areas, the applicable governing
authority shall adopt a flood hazard map and supporting data. The flood hazard map shall include, at a
minimum, areas of special flood hazard as identified by the Federal Emergency Management Agency in an
engineering report entitled " The Flood Insurance Study for The Town of Prosper'' as amended or revised
with the accompanying Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) and Flood Boundary and Floodway Map (FBFM) 
and related supporting data along with any revisions thereto. The adopted flood hazard map and supporting
data are hereby adopted by reference and declared to be part of this Section. 

Section 1809.5.1; Frost Protection at required exits; delete this section

Section 2902.1; add a second paragraph to read as follows: 

In other than E Occupancies, the minimum number of fixtures in Table 2902.1 may be lowered, if requested
in writing, by the applicant stating reasons for a reduced number and approved by the Building Official.  

Table 2902.1; add footnote g to read as follows:  

g. Drinking fountains are not required in M Occupancies with an occupant load of 100 or less, B
Occupancies with an occupant load of 25 or less, and for dining and/or drinking establishments.  

Add Section 2902.1.4 to read as follows:  

2902.1.4 Additional fixtures for food preparation facilities. In addition to the fixtures required in this
Chapter, all food service facilities shall be provided with additional fixtures set out in this section.  

2902.1.4.1 Hand washing lavatory. At least one hand washing lavatory shall be provided for use by
employees that is accessible from food preparation, food dispensing and ware washing areas. Additional
hand washing lavatories may be required based on convenience of use by employees.  

2902.1.4.2 Service sink. In new or remodeled food service establishments, at least one service sink or one
floor sink shall be provided so that it is conveniently located for the cleaning of mops or similar wet floor
cleaning tool and for the disposal of mop water and similar liquid waste. The location of the service sink(s) 
and/or mop sink(s) shall be approved by the Town of Prosper’s Health Department.  

Section 3002.1 Hoistway Enclosure Protection required. Add exceptions as follows:  

Exceptions: 
1. Elevators completely located within atriums shall not require hoistway enclosure protection. 
2. Elevators in open or enclosed parking garages that serve only the parking garage, shall not

require hoistway enclosure protection. 

Section 3005.4 Machine rooms, control rooms, machinery spaces and control spaces; Delete
exceptions and add two new exceptions to as follows:  

Exceptions: 
1. Elevator machine rooms, control rooms, machinery spaces and control spaces completely located within
atriums shall not require enclosure protection.  

Page 150

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 25

2. Elevator machine rooms, control rooms, machinery spaces and control spaces in open or enclosed
parking garages that serve only the parking garage, shall not require enclosure protection. 

Section 3005.5: Add a new subsection to Section 3005.5.1 as follows: 

3005.5.1 Fire Protection in Machine rooms, control rooms, machinery spaces and control spaces. 

3005.5.1.1 Automatic sprinkler system. The building shall be equipped throughout with an automatic
sprinkler system in accordance with Section 903.3.1.1, except as otherwise permitted by Section
903.3.1.1.1 and as prohibited by Section 3005.5.1.1.1. 

3005.5.1.1.1 Prohibited locations. Automatic sprinklers shall not be installed in machine rooms, elevator
machinery spaces, control rooms, control spaces and elevator hoistways. 

3005.5.1.1.2 Sprinkler system monitoring. The sprinkler system shall have a sprinkler control valve
supervisory switch and water- flow initiating device provided for each floor that is monitored by the building’s
fire alarm system. 

3005.5.1.2 Water protection. An approved method to prevent water from infiltrating into the hoistway
enclosure from the operation of the automatic sprinkler system outside the elevator lobby shall be provided. 

3005.5.1.3 Omission of Shunt trip. Means for elevator shutdown in accordance with Section 3005.5 shall
not be installed. 

Section 3005.7; add Section 3005.7 as follows: 

3005.7 Storage. Storage shall not be allowed within the elevator machine room, control room, machinery
spaces and or control spaces. Provide approved signage at each entry to the above listed locations stating: 
No Storage Allowed.” 

Section 3006.2, Hoistway opening protection required; Revise text as follows: 

5. The building is a high rise and the elevator hoistway is more than 55 feet (16 764 mm) in height. The
height of the hoistway shall be measured from the lowest floor at or above grade to the highest floors served
by the hoistway. 

End

Page 151

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 1

TOWN OF PROSPER, TEXAS ORDINANCE NO. 2023-__ 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF PROSPER, TEXAS, REPEALING
ARTICLE 3.18 “ RESIDENTIAL GREEN BUILDING PROGRAM,” OF CHAPTER
3, “ BUILDING REGULATIONS,” OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE
TOWN OF PROSPER, TEXAS, IN ITS ENTIRETY; REPEALING ARTICLE 3.05, 
RESIDENTIAL BUILDING CODE,” OF CHAPTER 3, “ BUILDING

REGULATIONS,” OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE TOWN OF
PROSPER AND REPLACING IT WITH A NEW ARTICLE 3.05, “ RESIDENTIAL
BUILDING CODE”; ADOPTING THE 2021 EDITION OF THE INTERNATIONAL
RESIDENTIAL CODE, SAVE AND EXCEPT THE DELETIONS AND
AMENDMENTS SET FORTH HEREIN; REGULATING THE CONSTRUCTION, 
ALTERATION, MOVEMENT, ENLARGEMENT, REPLACEMENT, REPAIR, 
EQUIPMENT, USE AND OCCUPANCY, LOCATION, REMOVAL, AND
DEMOLITION OF DETACHED ONE- AND TWO-FAMILY DWELLINGS AND
MULITPLE SINGLE-FAMILY DWELLINGS (TOWNHOUSES) NOT MORE THAN
THREE ( 3) STORIES IN HEIGHT WITH A SEPARATE MEANS OF EGRESS
AND RELATED ACCESSORY STRUCTURES LOCATED WITHIN THE TOWN
OF PROSPER; PROVIDING FOR A PENALTY FOR THE VIOLATION OF THIS
ORDINANCE; PROVIDING FOR REPEALING, SAVINGS, AND SEVERABILITY
CLAUSES; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE OF THIS ORDINANCE
AND PROVIDING FOR THE PUBLICATION OF THE CAPTION HEREOF. 

WHEREAS, the Town Council of the Town of Prosper, Texas ( the “Town Council”), has
investigated and determined that it would be advantageous and beneficial to the citizens of
Prosper to repeal the existing Article 3.05, “Residential Building Code,” of the Code of Ordinances
and replace it with a new Article 3.05, “Residential Building Code”; and, 

WHEREAS, the Town Council has also investigated and determined that it would be
advantageous and beneficial to the citizens of Prosper to adopt the 2021 Edition of the
International Residential Code, save and except the amendments and deletions set forth below. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF
PROSPER, TEXAS, THAT: 

SECTION 1

The findings set forth above are incorporated into the body of this Ordinance as if fully set
forth herein. 

SECTION 2

From and after the effective date of this Ordinance, Article 3.18, “ Residential Green
Building Program,” of Chapter 3, “Building Regulations,” of the Code of Ordinances of the Town
of Prosper, Texas, is hereby repealed in its entirety. 

Page 152

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 2

SECTION 3

Existing Article 3.05, “Residential Building Code,” of the Code of Ordinances of the Town
of Prosper Texas, is hereby repealed in its entirety and replace with a new Article 3.05, 
Residential Building Code,” to read as follows: 

ARTICLE 3.05 RESIDENTIAL BUILDING CODE

Sec. 3.05.001 Code Adopted; amendments

The International Residential Code, 2021 Edition, copyrighted by the International Code Council, 
Inc., including Appendix AG and Appendix AK, save and except the deletions and amendments
set forth in Exhibit “A,” attached hereto and incorporated herein for all purposes, is hereby adopted
as the Residential Building Code for the Town, regulating the construction, alteration, movement, 
enlargement, replacement, repair, equipment, use and occupancy, location, removal, and
demolition of detached one- and two-family dwellings and multiple single-family dwellings
townhouses) not more than three (3) stories in height with a separate means of egress and relate

accessory structures within the Town ( the “ 2021 International Residential Code”). The 2021
International Residential Code is made a part of this Article as if fully set forth herein. A copy of
the International Residential Code, 2021 Edition, copyrighted by the International Code Council, 
Inc., is on file in the office of the Town Secretary of Prosper being marked and so designated as
the 2021 International Residential Code.” 

SECTION 4

Should any section, subsection, sentence, clause, or phrase of this Ordinance be declared
unconstitutional or invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, it is expressly provided that any
and all remaining portions of this Ordinance shall remain in full force and effect.  The Town hereby
declares that it would have passed this Ordinance, and each section, subsection, sentence, 
clause, or phrase thereof, irrespective of the fact that any one or more sections, subsections, 
sentences, clauses, and phrases be declared unconstitutional or invalid. 

SECTION 5

All provisions of any ordinance in conflict with this Ordinance are hereby repealed to the
extent they are in conflict; but such repeal shall not abate any pending prosecution from being
commenced for any violation if occurring prior to the repeal of the Ordinance.  Any remaining
portions of said ordinances shall remain in full force and effect. 

SECTION 6

Any person, firm, corporation, or business entity violating this Ordinance shall be deemed
guilty of a misdemeanor, and upon conviction thereof shall be subject to a fine not to exceed the
sum of Two Thousand Dollars ($2,000.00), and each and every day such violation shall continue
shall constitute a separate offense.  

SECTION 7

This Ordinance shall become effective on April 1, 2023, after its adoption and publication
as required by law.  

Page 153

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 3

DULY PASSED, APPROVED, AND ADOPTED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE
TOWN OF PROSPER, TEXAS, ON THIS 24TH DAY OF JANUARY, 2023. 

David F. Bristol, Mayor
ATTEST: 

Michelle Lewis Sirianni, Town Secretary

APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGALITY: 

Terrence S. Welch, Town Attorney

Page 154

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 4

Exhibit A
Town of Prosper Amendments to the
2021 International Residential Code

The following additions, deletions, and amendments to the 2021 International Residential
Code are hereby approved and adopted. 

Section R101.1; change to read as follows: 

R101.1 Title.  These provisions shall be known as the Residential Code for One- and Two-family Dwellings
of the Town of Prosper, and shall be cited as such and will be referred to herein as “this code.”  

Section R102.4; change to read as follows: 

R102.4 Referenced codes and standards.  The codes, when specifically adopted, and standards
referenced in this code shall be considered part of the requirements of this code to the prescribed extent of
each such reference and as further regulated in Sections R102.4.1 and R102.4.2.  Whenever amendments
have been adopted to the referenced codes and standards, each reference to said code and standard shall
be considered to reference the amendments as well.  Any reference made to NFPA 70 or the Electrical
Code shall mean the Electrical Code as adopted.   

Section R103 and R103.1; change to read as follows: 

BUILDING INSPECTION DIVISION OF THE TOWN OF PROSPER

R103.1 Creation of enforcement agency. The BUILDING INSPECTION DIVISION OF THE TOWN OF
PROSPER is hereby created and the official in charge thereof shall be known as the building official. 

Section R104.10.1 Flood Hazard areas; delete this section. 

Section R105.2; change to read as follows: 

R105.2 Work exempt from permit.  Exemption from permit requirements of this code shall not be deemed
to grant authorization for any work to be done in any manner in violation of the provisions of this Code or
any other laws or ordinances of this jurisdiction.  Permits shall not be required for the following: 

Building: 
1. Retaining walls that are not over four feet (4’) (1,219 mm) in height measured from the bottom of

the footing to the top of the wall, unless supporting a surcharge. 
2. Water tanks supported directly upon grade if the capacity does not exceed 5,000 gallons ( 18,927

L) and the ratio of the height to diameter or width does not exceed 2 to 1. 
3. Paining, papering, tiling, carpeting, cabinets, counter tops, and similar finish work. 
4. Prefabricated swimming pools that are less than twenty- four inches (24” (610 mm) in depth. 
5. Swings and other playground equipment. 
6. Window awnings supported by an exterior wall which do not project more than fifty-four inches

54”) {1,372 mm) from the exterior wall and do not require additional support. 
7. Decks not exceeding 200 square feet (18.58 m2) in area, that are not more than thirty inches (30”) 

762 mm) above grade at any point, are not attached to a dwelling, and do not serve the exit door
required by Section R311.4. 

remainder of text unchanged}. 

Page 155

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 5

Section R105.3.1.1& R106.1.4; delete these sections. 

Section R106.1; change to read as follows: 

R106.1 Submittal documents. Submittal documents consisting of construction documents, and other
data shall be submitted in two ( 2) or more sets with each application for a permit. The construction
documents shall be prepared by a registered design professional where required by the statutes of the
jurisdiction in which the project is to be constructed. Where special conditions exist, the Building Official is
authorized to require additional construction documents to be prepared by a registered design
professional. Foundation plans shall be submitted with each application. Foundation plans shall be
designed by an engineer licensed by the State of Texas and shall bear said engineer's seal. Structural
framing plans shall be submitted with each new construction or addition application. Structural framing
plans shall be designed by a registered design professional licensed by the State of Texas and shall bear
said design professional’ s seal. 

Exception: The Building Official is authorized to waive the submission of construction documents
and other data not required to be prepared by a registered design professional if it is found that
the nature of the work applied for is such that reviewing of construction documents is not
necessary to obtain compliance with this Code. 

Section R108.5; change to read as follows: 

R108.5 Refunds.  The Building Official is authorized to establish a refund policy. 

1. The full amount of any fee paid hereunder that was erroneously paid or collected. 
2. Not more than eighty percent ( 80%) of the permit fee paid when no work has been done under a

permit issued in accordance with this Code. 
3. Not more than eighty percent (80%) of the plan review fee paid when an application for a permit for

which a plan review fee has been paid is withdrawn or canceled before any plan review effort has
been expanded. 

The Building Official shall not authorize the refunding of any fee paid except upon written application filed
by the original permittee not later than 180 days after the date of fee payment. 

Section R108.6; change to read as follows: 

R108.6 Work commencing before permit issuance. Any person who commences any work requiring a
permit on a building, structure, electrical, gas, mechanical, or plumbing system prior to obtaining the
necessary permits shall be subject to a fee of 100% of the usual permit fee, in addition to the required
permit fees. 

Page 156

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 6

Section R108.7; added R108.7 to read as follows: 

R108.7 Re-inspection fee.  A fee as established by Town Council may be charged when: 

1. The inspection called for is not ready when the inspector arrives; 
2. No building address or permit card is clearly posted; 
3. The building is locked or otherwise not available for inspection when called; 
4. The job site is disapproved twice for the same item; and/or, 
5. Failure to maintain erosion control, trash control, or tree protection. 

Any re-inspection fees assessed shall be paid before any additional inspections are conducted on said job
site. 

Section R109.1.1; change to read as follows: 

R109.1.1 Foundation inspection. Inspection of the foundation shall be made after poles or piers are set
or trenches or basement areas are excavated, any required forms erected, and any required reinforcing
steel is in place and supported prior to the placing of concrete. The foundation inspection shall include
excavations for thickened slabs intended for the support of bearing walls, partitions, structural supports, 
or equipment and special requirements for wood foundations . A registered design professional, or their
designated representative, shall perform a pre-pour inspection and provide the Building Official with a
signed and sealed document stating that the foundation has been inspected and approved. This inspection
shall take place prior to requesting a foundation inspection from the Building Official. 

Section R109.1.4; change to read as follows: 

R109.1.4 Frame and masonry inspection. Inspection of framing and masonry construction shall be
made after the roof, masonry, all framing, firestopping, draftstopping, and bracing are in place and after
the plumbing, mechanical, and electrical rough inspections are approved. A registered design professional, 
or their designated representative, shall perform a structural framing inspection and provide the Building
Official with a signed and sealed document stating that the structure' s vertical and lateral load-resistance
framing design has been inspected and approved.  This inspection shall take place prior to requesting
a framing inspection from the Building Official. 

Section R110 (R110.1 through R110.5); delete the section. 

Section R112 is amended by removing Sections R112.1, R112.2, R112.3, and R112.4 and replacing
them with the following: 

R112 BOARD OF APPEALS. Any person shall have the right to appeal a decision of the Building Official
to the Board of Appeals as established by ordinance. The board shall be governed by the Town of
Prosper' s enabling ordinance. 

Page 157

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 7

Section 113.4; change to read as follows:  

113.4 Violation penalties. Any person who shall violate a provision of this code or shall fail to comply with
any of the requirements thereof or who shall erect, install, alter or repair plumbing work in violation of the
approved construction documents or directive of the code official, or of a permit or certificate issued under
the provisions of this code, shall be guilty of a misdemeanor and upon conviction may be fined up to the
maximum amount allowed by Texas law. Each day that a violation continues after due notice has been
served shall be deemed a separate offense. 

Section R115; add section to read as follows. 

R115 Site Maintenance.  Provisions for sanitation and construction debris shall be provided for all
construction sites. 

R115.1 Facilities required. Each permitted construction project in Prosper shall be provided with at least
one (1) temporary portable toilet facility for use by employees and subcontractors. Builders or contractors
with multiple permits in a subdivision shall provide one portable toilet for a maximum five permits. Portable
toilet facilities shall be located in the rear portion of lots where alley access is available. Portable toilet
facilities shall not be placed in street or alley right-of- ways. The builder or permit holder shall be responsible
for ensuring that toilet facilities are maintained in a sanitary condition. The code official may, at their
discretion, require that additional toilet facilities be provided if these requirements prove to be insufficient.  

R115.2 Trash receptacles. Each permitted construction project in Prosper shall be provided with
receptacles of a sufficient size and number to contain jobsite trash and debris, including, but not limited to, 
food wrappers and containers from workers lunches. The builder or permit holder shall be responsible for
ensuring that trash receptacles are utilized by all employees and subcontractors, and that all trash is
removed at intervals adequate to maintain a clean job site. In addition to the required receptacles, each lot
shall be provided with screen fencing to prevent windblown trash and debris from adjacent lots. Other
methods of construction debris containment may be approved if compliance can be demonstrated and
maintained. 

Section R202; change and add definition as follows: 

TOWNHOUSE UNIT.  A single-family dwelling unit separated by property lines in a townhouse that extends
from foundation to roof and that has a yard or public way on not less than two sides. 

Table R301.2 (1); fill in as follows:  

Delete remainder of table Manual J Design Criteria and footnote N

GROUND
SNOW
LOAD

WIND DESIGN SEISMIC
DESIGN

CATEGORYf

A

SUBJECT TO
DAMAGE FROM

WINTER
DESIGN

TEMPe
ICE BARRIER

UNDER-

LAYMENT

h

FLOOD HAZARDSg AIR

FREEZING INDEXi MEAN ANNUAL
TEMPj

SPEEDd MPH) Topographic
Effectsk

Special
Wind RegionL

Windborne Debris
Zonem
Weathering

a Frost Line
Depthb

Termitec 5
lb/

ft220

FNo



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 8

Section R302.1; add exception #6 to read as follows: 

Exceptions: {previous exceptions unchanged} 

6. Open non-combustible carport structures may be constructed when also approved within
adopted ordinances. 

Section R302.3; add Exception #3 to read as follows: 

Exceptions:   

1. {existing text unchanged} 
2. {existing text unchanged} 
3. Two-family dwelling units that are also divided by a property line through the structure shall be

separated as required for townhouses. 

Section R302.2.6; delete exception # 6: 

Section R313.2 One and Two Family Dwellings; change to read as follows:.  

Section R313.2 One- and two-family dwellings automatic fire systems. Automatic fire protection
required: Automatic fire protection systems in accordance with NFPA 13D or NFPA 13R shall be
provided in all one- and two-family dwellings with a conditioned floor area of 5,500 square feet (511

m2) or greater, dwellings three  (3) stories or greater, or dwellings with roof heights exceeding thirty-
five feet (35'). 

In the event that an addition or alteration increases the conditioned floor area from less than 5,500
square feet to equal to or greater than 5,500 square feet, the number of stories from less than three
3) stories to equal to or greater than three ( 3) stories, or the roof height from thirty-five feet (35') or

less to greater than thirty five feet ( 35') in height, the entire dwelling shall be retrofitted with an
automatic fire protection system in accordance with NFPA 130 or NFPA 13R. 

Where requirements in this section conflict with requirements found in the Fire Code or the Code of
Ordinances adopted by the Town of Prosper, the most stringent requirements shall apply. 

Section R322 Flood Resistant Construction is amended to delete this section in its entirety. 

Section R401.2; amended by adding a new paragraph following the existing paragraph to read as
follows.  

Section R401.2. Requirements. {existing text unchanged} … 

Every foundation and/or footing, or any size addition to an existing post-tension foundation, regulated by
this code shall be designed and sealed by a Texas- registered engineer.  

Page 159

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 9

Section R602.6.1; change to read as follows: 

R602.6.1 Drilling and notching of top plate. When piping or ductwork is placed in or partly in an exterior
wall or interior load-bearing wall, necessitating cutting, drilling or notching of the top plate by more than 50
percent of its width, a galvanized metal tie not less than 0.054 inch thick (1.37 mm) (16 Ga) and 5 inches
127 mm) wide shall be fastened across and to the plate at each side of the opening with not less than eight

10d ( 0.148 inch diameter) having a minimum length of 1 ½ inches ( 38 mm) at each side or equivalent.  
Fasteners will be offset to prevent splitting of the top plate material. The metal tie must extend a minimum
of 6 inches past the opening.  See Figure R602.6.1. {remainder unchanged} 

Figure R602.6.1; delete the figure and insert the following figure:  

Add section R703.8.4.1.2 Veneer Ties for Wall Studs; to read as follows: 

R703.8.4.1.2 Veneer Ties for Wall Studs. In stud framed exterior walls, all ties may be anchored to studs
as follows: 

1. When studs are 16 in (407 mm) o.c., stud ties shall be spaced no further apart than 24 in (737 mm) 
vertically starting approximately 12 in (381 mm) from the foundation; or

2. When studs are 24 in (610 mm) o.c., stud ties shall be spaced no further apart than 16 in (483 mm) 
vertically starting approximately 8 in (254 mm) from the foundation. 

Section R903.4; change to read as follows: 

R903.4 Roof drainage.  Where roofs are sloped to drain over roof edges, a gutter system shall be installed
to prevent erosion of soil adjacent to building and structure foundati ons.  Gutters shall be made of a
noncombustible material.  Where roofs are designed to drain to low points and not over roof edges, roof
drains shall be installed at each low point of the roof.   

Page 160

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___- Page 10

Chapter 11 [RE] – Energy Efficiency is deleted in its entirety and replaced to read as follows:  

Chapter 11 ENERGY EFFICIENCY

N1101.1 Scope.  This Chapter regulates the energy efficiency for the design and construction of buildings
regulated by this Code. 

N1101.2 Compliance.  Compliance shall be demonstrated by meeting the requirements of the residential
provisions of the 2021 International Energy Conservation Code. 

Section M1305.1.2; change to read as follows:  

M1305.1.2 Appliances in attics.  Attics containing appliances shall be provided . . . { bulk of paragraph
unchanged} . . . side of the appliance.  The clear access opening dimensions shall be a minimum of
20 inches by 30 inches (508 mm by 762 mm), and large enough to allow removal of the largest appliance. 
As a minimum, for access to the attic space, provide one of the following: 

1. A permanent stair. 
2. A pull-down stair with a minimum 300 lb (136 kg) capacity. 
3. An access door from an upper floor level. 

Exceptions: { remaining text unchanged} 

Section M1411.3; change to read as follows:  

M1411.3 Condensate disposal. Condensate from all cooling coils or evaporators shall be conveyed from
the drain pan outlet to a sanitary sewer through a trap, by means of a direct or indirect drain. {remaining
text unchanged} 

Section M1411.3.1, Items 3 and 4; add text to read as follows:  

M1411.3.1 Auxiliary and secondary drain systems. {bulk of paragraph unchanged} 

1. { text unchanged} 
2. { text unchanged} 
3. An auxiliary drain pan… { bulk of text unchanged}… with Item 1 of this section. A water level

detection device may be installed only with prior approval of the building official. 
4. A water level detection device… {bulk of text unchanged}… overflow rim of such pan. A water level

detection device may be installed only with prior approval of the building official. 

Section M1411.3.1.1; add text to read as follows:  

M1411.3.1.1 Water- level monitoring devices. On down-flow units …{bulk of text unchanged}… installed
in the drain line. A water level detection device may be installed only with prior approval of the building
official. 

Page 161

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___- Page 11

M1503.6 Makeup Air Required; change and add exception as follows:  

M1503.6 Makeup air required. Where one or more gas, liquid or solid fuel-burning appliance that is neither
direct-vent nor uses a mechanical draft venting system is located within a dwelling unit’s air barrier, each
exhaust system capable of exhausting in excess of 400 cubic feet per minute ( 0.19 m3/s) shall be
mechanically or passively provided with makeup air at a rate approximate to the difference between exhaust
air rate and 400 cubic feet per minute.  Such makeup air systems shall be equipped with not fewer than
one damper complying with Section M1503.6.2. 

Exception: Makeup air is not required for exhaust systems installed for the exclusive purpose of space
cooling and intended to be operated only when windows or other air inlets are open . Where all appliances
in the house are of sealed combustion, power-vent, unvented, or electric, the exhaust hood system shall
be permitted to exhaust up to 600 cubic feet per minute (0.28 m3/s) without providing makeup air. Exhaust
hood systems capable of exhausting in excess of 600 cubic feet per minute (0.28 m3/s) shall be provided
with a makeup air at a rate approximately to the difference between the exhaust air rate and 600 cubic feet
per minute.  

Section M2005.2; change to read as follows:  

M2005.2 Prohibited locations.  Fuel-fired water heaters shall not be installed in a room used as a storage
closet.  Water heaters located in a bedroom or bathroom shall be installed in a sealed enclosure so that
combustion air will not be taken from the living space.  Access to such enclosure may be from the bedroom
or bathroom when through a solid door, weather- stripped in accordance with the exterior door air leakage
requirements of the International Energy Conservation Code and equipped with an approved self -closing
device.  Installation of direct-vent water heaters within an enclosure is not required. 

Section G2408.3 (305.5) Private Garages; delete this section in its entirety.  

Section G2415.2 (404.2 ) CSST; add a second paragraph to read as follows:  

Both ends of each section of medium pressure gas piping shall identify its operating gas pressure with an
approved tag.  The tags are to be composed of aluminum or stainless steel and the following wording shall
be stamped into the tag: 

WARNING:  1/2 to 5 psi gas pressure - Do Not Remove” 

Section G2415.12 (404.12) and G2415.12.1 (404.12.1); change to read as follows:  

G2415.12 (404.12) Minimum burial depth. Underground piping systems shall be installed a minimum
depth of 18 inches (457 mm) below grade. 

G2415.12.1 (404.12.1) Individual Outdoor Appliances; Delete in its entirety

Page 162

Item 17.

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
https://codes.iccsafe.org/premium/document/linkit/IRC2018_Pt05_Ch15_SecM1503.6.2/994/11681451/text-id-11681524



Ordinance No. 2023-___- Page 12

Section G2417.1 (406.1); change to read as follows:  

G2417.1 ( 406.1) General.  Prior to acceptance and initial operation, all piping installations shall be
inspected and pressure tested to determine that the materials, design, fabrication, and installation practices
comply with the requirements of this code.  The permit holder shall make the applicable tests prescribed in
Sections 2417.1.1 through 2417.1.5 to determine compliance with the provisions of this code.  The permit
holder shall give reasonable advance notice to the building official when the piping system is ready for
testing.  The equipment, material, power and labor necessary for the inspections and test shall be furnished
by the permit holder and the permit holder shall be responsible for determining that the work will withstand
the test pressure prescribed in the following tests. 

Section G2417.4; change to read as follows:  

G2417.4 (406.4) Test pressure measurement.  Test pressure shall be measured with a monometer or
with a pressure-measuring device designed and calibrated to read, record, or indicate a pressure loss
caused by leakage during the pressure test period.  The source of pressure shall be isolated before the
pressure tests are made.   

Section G2417.4.1; change to read as follows:  

G2417.4.1 (406.4.1) Test pressure.  The test pressure to be used shall be no less than 3 psig (20 kPa
gauge), or at the discretion of the Building Official, the piping and valves may be tested at a pressure of at
least six (6) inches (152 mm) of mercury, measured with a manometer or slope gauge.  For tests requiring
a pressure of 3 psig, diaphragm gauges shall utilize a dial with a minimum diameter of three and one half
inches (3 ½”), a set hand, 1/10 pound incrementation and pressure range not to exceed 6 psi for tests
requiring a pressure of 3 psig.  For tests requiring a pressure of 10 psig, diaphragm gauges shall utilize a
dial with a minimum diameter of three and one-half inches ( 3 ½”), a set hand, a minimum of 2/10 pound
incrementation and a pressure range not to exceed 20 psi.  For welded piping, and for piping carrying gas
at pressures in excess of fourteen ( 14) inches water column pressure ( 3.48 kPa) ( 1/2 psi) and less than
200 inches of water column pressure ( 52.2 kPa) (7.5 psi), the test pressure shall not be less than ten (10) 
pounds per square inch (69.6 kPa).  For piping carrying gas at a pressure that exceeds 200 inches of water
column ( 52.2 kPa) (7.5 psi), the test pressure shall be not less than one and one -half times the proposed
maximum working pressure. 

Diaphragm gauges used for testing must display a current calibration and be in good working condition.  
The appropriate test must be applied to the diaphragm gauge used for testing. 

Section G2417.4.2; change to read as follows:  

G2417.4.2 (406.4.2) Test duration.  The test duration shall be held for a length of time satisfactory to the
Building Official, but shall in no case be for less than fifteen (15) minutes.  For welded piping, and for piping
carrying gas at pressures in excess of fourteen ( 14) inches water column pressure ( 3.48 kPa), the test
duration shall be held for a length of time satisfactory to the Building Official , but in no case for less than
thirty (30) minutes.  

Page 163

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___- Page 13

Section G2420.1 (406.1); add Section G2420.1.4 to read as follows:   

G2420.1.4 Valves in CSST installations.  Shutoff valves installed with corrugated stainless steel (CSST) 
piping systems shall be supported with an approved termination fitting, or equivalent support, suitable for
the size of the valves, of adequate strength and quality, and located at intervals so as to prevent or damp
out excessive vibration but in no case greater than 12-inches from the center of the valve.  Supports shall
be installed so as not to interfere with the free expansion and contraction of the system's piping, fittings, 
and valves between anchors.  All valves and supports shall be designed and installed so they will not be
disengaged by movement of the supporting piping. 

Section G2420.5.1 (409.5.1); add text to read as follows:  

G2420.5.1 ( 409.5.1) Located within the same room. The shutoff valve… { bulk of paragraph
unchanged}… in accordance with the appliance manufacturer’s instructions. A secondary shutoff valve
must be installed within 3 feet (914 mm) of the firebox if appliance shutoff is located in the firebox. 

Section G2421.1 (410.1); add text and Exception to read as follows:  

G2421.1 ( 410.1) Pressure regulators. A line pressure regulator shall be … { bulk of paragraph
unchanged}… approved for outdoor installation. Access to regulators shall comply with the requirements
for access to appliances as specified in Section M1305. 

Exception:  A passageway or level service space is not required when the regulator is capable of being
serviced and removed through the required attic opening. 

Section G2422.1.2.3 ( 411.1.3.3) Prohibited locations and penetrations; delete Exception 1 and
Exception 4.  

Section G2448.1.1 (624.1.1); change to read as follows:  

G2448.1.1 (624.1.1) Installation requirements.  The requirements for water heaters relative to access, 
sizing, relief valves, drain pans and scald protection shall be in accordance with this code.   

Section P2603; add to read as follows: 

P2603.3 Protection against corrosion. Metallic piping, except for cast iron, ductile iron and galvanized
steel, shall not be placed in direct contact with steel framing members, concrete or cinder walls and floors
or other masonry. Metallic piping shall not be placed in direct contact with corrosive soil. Where sheathing
is used to prevent direct contact, the sheathing shall have a thickness of not less than 0.008 inch (8 mil) 
0.203 mm) and the sheathing shall be made of approved material. Where sheathing protects piping that

penetrates concrete or masonry walls or floors, the sheathing shall be installed in a manner that allows
movement of the piping within the sheathing. 

Page 164

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___- Page 14

Section P2603.5.1 Sewer Depth; change to read as follows: 

P2603.5.1 Sewer depth.  Building sewers that connect to private sewage disposal systems shall be a
minimum of 12 inches ( 304 mm) below finished grade at the point of septic tank connection.  Building
sewers shall be a minimum of 12 inches (304 mm) below grade.  

Section P2801.6.1; change to read as follows: 

Section P2801.6.1 Pan size and drain. The pan shall be not less than 1 1/2 inches (38 mm) in depth and
shall be of sufficient size and shape to receive all dripping or condensate from the tank or water heater. 
The pan shall be drained by an indirect waste pipe having a diameter of not less than 3/4 inch (19 mm). 
Piping for safety pan drains shall be of those materials listed in Table P2906.5. 
Multiple pan drains may terminate to a single discharge piping system when approved by the administrative
authority, permitted and installed per manufacturer’ s installation instructions and installed with those
instructions. {existing text unchanged} 

Section P2804.6.1; change to read as follows: 

Section P2804.6.1 Requirements for discharge piping. The discharge piping serving a pressure relief
valve, temperature relief valve or combination thereof shall: 

1. Not be directly connected to the drainage system. 
2. Discharge through an air gap. 
3. Not be smaller than the diameter of the outlet of the valve served and shall discharge full size to

the air gap. 
4. Serve a single relief device and shall not connect to piping serving any other relief device or

equipment. 
Exception: Multiple relief devices may be installed to a single T & P discharge piping
system when approved by the administrative authority and permitted by the manufactures
installation instructions and installed with those instructions. 

5. Discharge to an approved location or to the outdoors. 

remainder unchanged] 

Section P2902.5.3; change to read as follows:  

P2902.5.3 Lawn irrigation systems. The potable water supply to lawn irrigation systems shall be protected
against backflow by an atmospheric- type vacuum breaker, a pressure- type vacuum breaker, a double-
check assembly or a reduced pressure principle backflow preventer. A valve shall not be installed
downstream from an atmospheric vacuum breaker. Where chemicals are introduced into the system, the
potable water supply shall be protected against backflow by a reduced pressure principle backflow
preventer. 

Page 165

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___- Page 15

Section P3003.9; delete Exception and change to read as follows: 

P3003.9.2 Solvent cementing. Joint surfaces shall be clean and free from moisture. A purple primer that
conforms to ASTM F 656 shall be applied. Solvent cement not purple in color and conforming to ASTM D
2564, CSA B137.3, CSA B181.2 or CSA B182.1 shall be applied to all joint surfaces. The joint shall be
made while the cement is wet and shall be in accordance with ASTM D 2855. Solvent cement joints shall
be permitted above or below ground. 

Section P3111 Combination waste and vent systems; delete this section in its entirety.  

Section P3112.2 Vent Connection; delete and replace with the following:  

P3112.2 Installation.  Traps for island sinks and similar equipment shall be roughed in above the floor and
may be vented by extending the vent as high as possible, but not less than the drainboard height and then
returning it downward and connecting it to the horizontal sink drain immediately downstream from the
vertical fixture drain.  The return vent shall be connected to the horizontal drain through a wye -branch fitting
and shall, in addition, be provided with a foot vent taken off the vertical fixture vent by means of a wye-
branch immediately below the floor and extending to the nearest partition and then through the roof to the
open air or may be connected to other vents at a point not less than six (6) inches (152 mm) above the
flood level rim of the fixtures served.  Drainage fittings shall be used on all parts of the vent below the floor
level and a minimum slope of one-quarter ( 1/4) inch per foot ( 20.9 mm/m) back to the drain shall be
maintained.  The return bend used under the drain-board shall be a one (1) piece fitting or an assembly of
a forty-five (45) degree (0.79 radius), a ninety (90) degree (1.6 radius) and a forty-five (45) degree (0.79
radius) elbow in the order named.  Pipe sizing shall be as elsewhere required in this Code.  The island sink
drain, upstream of the return vent, shall serve no other fixtures.  An accessible cleanout shall be installed
in the vertical portion of the foot vent. 

Chapters 34 – 43 of the 2021 International Residential Code are amended by deleting these chapters in
their entirety and replacing with the 2020 National Electrical Code as adopted and amended by the Town
of Prosper. 

END

Page 166

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 1

TOWN OF PROSPER, TEXAS ORDINANCE NO. 2023-__ 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF PROSPER, TEXAS, REPEALING
ARTICLE 3.07, “ PLUMBING,” OF CHAPTER 3, “ BUILDING REGULATIONS,” 
OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE TOWN OF PROSPER, TEXAS, AND
REPLACING IT WITH A NEW ARTICLE 3.07, “ PLUMBING CODE”; ADOPTING
THE 2021 EDITION OF THE INTERNATIONAL PLUMBING CODE, SAVE AND
EXCEPT THE DELETIONS AND AMENDMENTS SET FORTH HEREIN; 
REGULATING THE ERECTION, INSTALLATION, ALTERATION, REPAIR, 
RELOCATION, REPLACEMENT, ADDITION TO, USE OR MAINTENANCE OF
PLUMBING SYSTEMS WITHIN THE TOWN OF PROSPER; PROVIDING FOR A
PENALTY FOR THE VIOLATION OF THIS ORDINANCE; PROVIDING FOR
REPEALING, SAVINGS, AND SEVERABILITY CLAUSES; PROVIDING FOR
AN EFFECTIVE DATE OF THIS ORDINANCE AND PROVIDING FOR THE
PUBLICATION OF THE CAPTION HEREOF. 

WHEREAS, the Town Council of the Town of Prosper, Texas (the “Town Council”), has
investigated and determined that it would be advantageous and beneficial to the citizens of
Prosper to repeal the existing Article 3.07, “Plumbing,” of the Code of Ordinances and replace it
with a new Article 3.07, “Plumbing”; and, 

WHEREAS, the Town Council has also investigated and determined that it would be
advantageous and beneficial to the citizens of Prosper to adopt the 2021 Edition of the
International Plumbing Code, save and except the amendments and deletions set forth below. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF
PROSPER, TEXAS, THAT: 

SECTION 1

The findings set forth above are incorporated into the body of this Ordinance as if fully set
forth herein. 

SECTION 2

Existing Article 3.07, “Plumbing,” of the Code of Ordinances of the Town of Prosper Texas, 
is hereby repealed in its entirety and replace with a new Article 3.07, “Plumbing Code,” to read as
follows: 

ARTICLE 3.07 PLUMBING CODE

Sec. 3.07.001 Code Adopted; amendments

The International Plumbing Code, 2021 Edition, copyrighted by the International Code Council, 
Inc., save and except the deletions and amendments set forth in Exhibit “A,” attached hereto and
incorporated herein for all purposes, is hereby adopted as the Plumbing Code for the Town, 
regulating the erection, installation, alteration, repair, relocation, replacement, addition to, use or
maintenance of plumbing systems within the Town (the “2021 International Plumbing Code”). The
2021 International Plumbing Code is made a part of this Article as if fully set forth herein. A copy
of the International Plumbing Code, 2021 Edition, copyrighted by the International Code Council, 

Page 167

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 2

Inc., is on file in the office of the Town Secretary of Prosper being marked and so designated as
the 2021 International Plumbing Code.” 

SECTION 3

Should any section, subsection, sentence, clause, or phrase of this Ordinance be declared
unconstitutional or invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, it is expressly provided that any
and all remaining portions of this Ordinance shall remain in full force and effect.  The Town hereby
declares that it would have passed this Ordinance, and each section, subsection, sentence, 
clause, or phrase thereof, irrespective of the fact that any one or more sections, subsections, 
sentences, clauses, and phrases be declared unconstitutional or invalid. 

SECTION 4

All provisions of any ordinance in conflict with this Ordinance are hereby repealed to the
extent they are in conflict; but such repeal shall not abate any pending prosecution from being
commenced for any violation if occurring prior to the repeal of the Ordinance.  Any remaining
portions of said ordinances shall remain in full force and effect. 

SECTION 5

Any person, firm, corporation, or business entity violating this Ordinance shall be deemed
guilty of a misdemeanor, and upon conviction thereof shall be subject to a fine not to exceed the
sum of Two Thousand Dollars ($2,000.00), and each and every day such violation shall continue
shall constitute a separate offense.  

SECTION 6

This Ordinance shall become effective on April 1, 2023, after its adoption and publication
as required by law.  

DULY PASSED, APPROVED, AND ADOPTED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE
TOWN OF PROSPER, TEXAS, ON THIS 24TH DAY OF JANUARY, 2023. 

David F. Bristol, Mayor
ATTEST: 

Michelle Lewis Sirianni, Town Secretary

APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGALITY: 

Terrence S. Welch, Town Attorney

Page 168

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 3

Exhibit A
Town of Prosper Amendments to the

2021 International Plumbing Code
The following additions, deletions, and amendments to the 2021 International Plumbing

Code are hereby approved and adopted. 

Table of Contents, Chapter 7, Section 713; change to read as follows:  

713 Engineered Drainage Design . . . .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7-12

Section 101.1; change to read as follows:  

101.1 Title. These regulations shall be known as the Plumbing Code of the Town of Prosper hereinafter
referred to as “this code.” 

Section 102.8; change to read as follows:  

102.8 Referenced codes and standards.  The codes and standards referenced in this code shall be those
that are listed in Chapter 15 and such codes, when specifically adopted, and standards shall be considered
as part of the requirements of this code to the prescribed extent of each such reference.  Where the
differences occur between provisions of this code and the referenced standards, the provisions of this code
shall be the minimum requirements.  Whenever amendments have been adopted to the referenced codes
and standards, each reference to said code and standard shall be considered to reference the adopted
amendments. Any reference to NFPA 70 shall mean the National Electrical Code as adopted.  

Section 103.1; change to read as follows:  

103.1 Creation of agency. The BUILDING INSPECTION DIVISION OF THE TOWN OF PROSPER
is hereby created and the official in charge thereof shall be known as the code official. The function of the
agency shall be the implementation, administration and enforcement of the provisions of this code. 

Section 109.5; change to read as follows:  

109.5 Refunds.  The Code Official shall authorize the refunding of fees as follows: 
1. The full amount of any fee paid hereunder that was erroneously paid or collected. 
2. Not more than eighty percent ( 80%) of the permit fee paid when no work has been done under a

permit issued in accordance with this Code. 
3. Not more than eighty percent (80%) of the plan review fee paid when an application for a permit

for which a plan review fee has been paid is withdrawn or canceled before any plan review effort
has been expended. 

The Code Official shall not authorize the refunding of any fee paid except upon written application filed by
the original permittee not later than 180 days after the date of fee payment. 

Page 169

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 4

Section 114.1; change to read as follows:  

114.1 Application for appeal. Any person shall have the right to appeal a decision of the Code Official to
the Board of Appeals, as established by ordinance The Board shall be governed by the Town of Prosper’s
enabling ordinance. 

Section 115.4; change to read as follows:  

115.4 Violation penalties. Any person who shall violate a provision of this code or shall fail to comply with
any of the requirements thereof or who shall erect, install, alter or repair plumbing work in violation of the
approved construction documents or directive of the code official, or of a permit or certificate issued under
the provisions of this code, shall be guilty of a misdemeanor and upon conviction may be fined up to the
maximum amount allowed by Texas law. Each day that a violation continues after due notice has been
served shall be deemed a separate offense. 

Section 202; the definition “ SERVICE SINK” is added to read as follows:  

SERVICE SINK.  A type of sink suitable for janitorial and building maintenance purposes.  
Service sinks include mop sinks/basins, utility tubs/sinks, and janitor sinks. 

Section 305; change to read as follows:  

305.1 Protection against contact. Metallic piping, except for cast iron, ductile iron and galvanized steel, 
shall not be placed in direct contact with steel framing members, concrete or cinder walls and floors or other
masonry. Metallic piping shall not be placed in direct contact with corrosive soil. Where sheathing is used
to prevent direct contact, the sheathing shall have a thickness of not less than 0.008 inch (8 mil) ( 0.203
mm) and the sheathing shall be made of approved material. Where sheathing protects piping that
penetrates concrete or masonry walls or floors, the sheathing shall be installed in a manner that allows
movement of the piping within the sheathing. 

Section 305.4.1; changed to read as follows: 

305.4.1 Sewer depth.  Building sewers shall be a minimum of 12 inches (304 mm) below grade.  

Section 314.2.1; changed to read as follows: 

314.2.1 Condensate disposal. Condensate from all cooling coils and evaporators shall be conveyed from
the drain pan outlet to the sanitary sewer. Such piping shall maintain a horizontal slope in the direction of
discharge of not less than one-eighth unit vertical in 12 units horizontal ( 1-percent slope). Condensate shall
not discharge into a street, alley, rooftop, sidewalk or other areas so as to cause a nuisance. 

Page 170

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 5

Section 314.2.1.1; changed to read as follows: 

314.2.1.1 Condensate discharge. Condensate drains shall not directly connect to any plumbing drain, 
waste or vent pipe. Condensate drains shall not discharge into a plumbing fixture other than a floor sink, 
floor drain, trench drain, mop sink, hub drain, standpipe, utility sink or laundry sink. Condensate drain
connections to a lavatory wye branch tailpiece or to a bathtub overflow pipe shall not be considered as
discharging to a plumbing fixture. Except where discharging to grade outdoors, the point of discharge of
condensate drains shall be located within the same occupancy, tenant space or dwelling unit as the source
of the condensate. 

Section 413.4; change to read as follows:   

413.4 Required location for floor drains.  Floor drains shall be installed in the following areas:  
1. In public laundries and in the central washing facilities of multiple family dwellings, the rooms

containing automatic clothes washers shall be provided with floor drains located to readily drain the
entire floor area.  Such drains shall have a minimum outlet of not less than 3 inches ( 76 mm) in
diameter. 

2. Commercial kitchens.  All areas used for the preparation of food products for sale or consumption
by the public shall be provided with an approved quantity of floor drains.  Floors shall be sloped to
facilitate drainage to the required drains.  Floor sinks shall not be used to meet this requirement.  

3. Public restrooms.  

Section 502.6; add to read as follows:   

502.6 Water heaters installed above ground or floor. When the attic, roof, mezzanine or platform in
which a water heater is installed is more than eight (8) feet above the ground or floor level, it shall be made
accessible by a stairway or permanent ladder with a minimum three hundred (300) pound capacity fastened
to the building or an access door from an upper floor level. 

Exception: Where a max ten (10) gallon water heater (or larger with prior approval) is capable of
being accessed through a lay-in ceiling and a water heater is installed on a platform not more than ten (10) 
feet above the ground or floor level and may be reached with a portable ladder. 

Page 171

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 6

Section 504.6; change to read as follows:   

504.6 Requirements for discharge piping. The discharge piping serving a pressure relief valve, 
temperature relief valve or combination thereof shall: 

1. Not be directly connected to the drainage system. 
2. Discharge through an air gap. 
3. Not be smaller than the diameter of the outlet of the valve served and shall discharge full size to the
air gap. 
4. Serve a single relief device and shall not connect to piping serving any other relief device or
equipment. 
5. Discharge to an indirect waste receptor or to the outdoors. 
6. Discharge in a manner that does not cause personal injury or structural damage. 
7. Discharge to a termination point that is readily observable by the building occupants. 
8. Not be trapped. 
9. Be installed so as to flow by gravity. 
10. Terminate not more than 6 inches (152 mm) above and not less than two times the discharge pipe
diameter above the floor or flood level rim of the waste receptor. 
11. Not have a threaded connection at the end of such piping. 
12. Not have valves or tee fittings. 
13. Be constructed of those materials listed in Section 605.4 or materials tested, rated and approved
for such use in accordance with ASME A112.4.1. 
14. Be one nominal size larger than the size of the relief valve outlet, where the relief valve discharge
piping is installed with insert fittings. The outlet end of such tubing shall be fastened in place. 

Section 608.17.5; change to read as follows:   

608.17.5 Connections to lawn irrigation systems.  
The potable water supply to lawn irrigation systems shall be protected against backflow by an atmospheric -
type vacuum breaker, a pressure- type vacuum breaker, a double-check assembly or a reduced pressure
principal backflow preventer. A valve shall not be installed downstream from an atmospheric vacuum
breaker. Where chemicals are introduced into the system, the potable water supply shall be protected
against backflow by a reduced pressure principal backflow preventer.  

Section 710.1; changed to read as follows:  

710.1 Maximum fixture unit load. The maximum number of drainage fixture units connected to a given
size of building sewer, building drain or horizontal branch of the building drain shall be determined using
Table 710.1(1). The maximum number of drainage fixture units connected to a given size of horizontal
branch or vertical soil or waste stack shall be determined using Table 710.1(2).  No building sewer, including
cleanouts, shall be less than 4 inch pipe diameter. 

Section 712.4.3; add Section 712.4.3 to read as follows:   

712.4.3 Dual Pump System.  All sumps shall be automatically discharged and, when in any “public use” 
occupancy where the sump serves more than 10 fixture units, shall be provided with dual pumps or ejectors
arranged to function independently in case of overload or mechanical failure.  For storm drainage sumps
and pumping systems, see Section 1113.  

Page 172

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 7

Section 903.1.1; change to read as follows:   

903.1.1 Roof extension unprotected.  Open vent pipes that extend through a roof shall terminate not less
than six (6) inches (152 mm) above the roof.  

Section 1003.2; change to read as follows:   

1003.2 Approval. The size, type and location of each interceptor and of each separator shall be designed
and installed in accordance with the manufacturer’ s instructions and the requirements of this section based
on the anticipated conditions of use. Wastes that do not require treatment or separation shall not be
discharged into any interceptor or separator.  In no case shall a grease interceptor be under 1000 gallons
minimum size, located inside buildings, or located in heavy or vehicular traffic without written permission
from the Town’s Health Division. 

Section 1101.2; change to read as follows:   

1101.2 Disposal.  Rainwater from roofs and storm water from paved areas, yards, courts, and courtyards
shall drain to an approved place of disposal. Rainwater and stormwater shall be designed to flow away
from building foundations. Where roofs are designed to drain over roof edges, a gutter system shall be
required to prevent soil erosion around foundations as required and shall conform to Section 1106. 

END

Page 173

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 1

TOWN OF PROSPER, TEXAS ORDINANCE NO. 2023-__ 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF PROSPER, TEXAS, REPEALING
ARTICLE 3.09, “ MECHANICAL CODE,” OF CHAPTER 3, “ BUILDING
REGULATIONS,” OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE TOWN OF
PROSPER, TEXAS, AND REPLACING IT WITH A NEW ARTICLE 3.09, 
MECHANICAL CODE”; ADOPTING THE 2021 EDITION OF THE

INTERNATIONAL MECHANICAL CODE, SAVE AND EXCEPT THE
DELETIONS AND AMENDMENTS SET FORTH HEREIN; REGULATING THE
DESIGN, INSTALLATION, MAINTENANCE, ADDITION, ALTERATION, AND
INSPECTION OF MECHANCIAL SYSTEMS THAT ARE PERMANENTLY
INSTALLED AND UTILIZED TO PROVIDE CONTROL OF ENVIRONMENTAL
CONDITIONS AND RELATED PROCESSES WITHIN BUILDINGS LOCATED IN
THE TOWN OF PROSPER; PROVIDING FOR A PENALTY FOR THE
VIOLATION OF THIS ORDINANCE; PROVIDING FOR REPEALING, SAVINGS, 
AND SEVERABILITY CLAUSES; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE OF
THIS ORDINANCE AND PROVIDING FOR THE PUBLICATION OF THE
CAPTION HEREOF. 

WHEREAS, the Town Council of the Town of Prosper, Texas (the “Town Council”), has
investigated and determined that it would be advantageous and beneficial to the citizens of
Prosper to repeal the existing Article 3.09, “Mechanical Code,” of the Code of Ordinances and
replace it with a new Article 3.09, “Mechanical Code”; and, 

WHEREAS, the Town Council has also investigated and determined that it would be
advantageous and beneficial to the citizens of Prosper to adopt the 2021 Edition of the
International Mechanical Code, save and except the amendments and deletions set forth below. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF
PROSPER, TEXAS, THAT: 

SECTION 1

The findings set forth above are incorporated into the body of this Ordinance as if fully set
forth herein. 

SECTION 2

Existing Article 3.09, “ Mechanical Code,” of the Code of Ordinances of the Town of
Prosper Texas, is hereby repealed in its entirety and replace with a new Article 3.09, “Mechanical
Code,” to read as follows: 

ARTICLE 3.09 MECHANICAL CODE

Sec. 3.09.001 Code Adopted; amendments

The International Mechanical Code, 2021 Edition, copyrighted by the International Code Council, 
Inc., save and except the deletions and amendments set forth in Exhibit “A,” attached hereto and
incorporated herein for all purposes, is hereby adopted as the Mechanical Code for the Town, 

Page 174

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 2

regulating the design, installation, maintenance, addition, alteration, and inspection of mechanical
systems that are permanently installed and utilized to provide control of environmental conditions
and related processes within the Town ( the “ 2021 International Mechanical Code”). The 2021
International Mechanical Code is made a part of this Article as if fully set forth herein. A copy of
the International Mechanical Code, 2021 Edition, copyrighted by the International Code Council, 
Inc., is on file in the office of the Town Secretary of Prosper being marked and so designated as
the 2021 International Mechanical Code.” 

SECTION 3

Should any section, subsection, sentence, clause, or phrase of this Ordinance be declared
unconstitutional or invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, it is expressly provided that any
and all remaining portions of this Ordinance shall remain in full force and effect.  The Town hereby
declares that it would have passed this Ordinance, and each section, subsection, sentence, 
clause, or phrase thereof, irrespective of the fact that any one or more sections, subsections, 
sentences, clauses, and phrases be declared unconstitutional or invalid. 

SECTION 4

All provisions of any ordinance in conflict with this Ordinance are hereby repealed to the
extent they are in conflict; but such repeal shall not abate any pending prosecution from being
commenced for any violation if occurring prior to the repeal of the Ordinance.  Any remaining
portions of said ordinances shall remain in full force and effect. 

SECTION 5

Any person, firm, corporation, or business entity violating this Ordinance shall be deemed
guilty of a misdemeanor, and upon conviction thereof shall be subject to a fine not to exceed the
sum of Two Thousand Dollars ($2,000.00), and each and every day such violation shall continue
shall constitute a separate offense.  

SECTION 6

This Ordinance shall become effective on April 1, 2023, after its adoption and publication
as required by law.  

DULY PASSED, APPROVED, AND ADOPTED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE
TOWN OF PROSPER, TEXAS, ON THIS 24TH DAY OF JANUARY, 2023. 

David F. Bristol, Mayor
ATTEST: 

Michelle Lewis Sirianni, Town Secretary

Page 175

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 3

APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGALITY: 

Terrence S. Welch, Town Attorney

Page 176

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 4

Exhibit A
Town of Prosper Amendments to the
2021 International Mechanical Code

The following additions, deletions, and amendments to the 2021 International Mechanical
Code are hereby approved and adopted. 

Section 101.1; change to read as follows: 

101.1 Title. These regulations shall be known as the Mechanical Code of the Town of Prosper, 
hereinafter referred to as “this code.” 

Section 102.8; change to read as follows: 

102.8 Referenced Codes and Standards.  The codes and standards referenced herein shall be those that
are listed in Chapter 15 and such codes, when specifically adopted, and standards shall be considered part
of the requirements of this code to the prescribed extent of each such reference.  Where differences occur
between provisions of this code and the referenced standards, the provis ions of this code shall apply. 
Whenever amendments have been adopted to the referenced codes and standards, each reference to said
code and standard shall be considered to reference the adopted amendments. Any reference to NFPA 70
shall mean the National Electrical Code as adopted.  

Section 103.1; change to read as follows: 

103.1 Creation of agency. The BUILDING INSPECTION DIVISION OF THE TOWN OF PROSPER is
hereby created and the official in charge thereof shall be known as the Code Official. The function of the
agency shall be the implementation, administration and enforcement of the provisions of this code. 

Section 109.6; change to read as follows: 

109.6 Refunds.  The Code Official shall authorize the refunding of fees as follows: 
1. The full amount of any fee paid hereunder that was erroneously paid or collected. 
2. Not more than eighty percent (80%) of the permit fee paid when no work has been done under a

permit issued in accordance with this Code. 
3. Not more than eighty percent (80%) of the plan review fee paid when an application for a permit

for which a plan review fee has been paid is withdrawn or canceled before any plan review effort
has been expended. 

The Code Official shall not authorize the refunding of any fee paid except upon written application filed by
the original permittee not later than 180 days after the date of fee payment. 

Section 114.1; change to read as follows: 

114.1 Application for appeal.  Any person shall have the right to appeal a decision of the Code Official to
the Board of Appeals, as established by ordinance.  The Board shall be governed by the Town of Prosper ’s
enabling ordinance. 

Page 177

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 5

Section 115.4; change to read as follows: 

115.4 Violation penalties. Persons who shall violate a provision of this code or shall fail to comply with
any of the requirements thereof or who shall erect, install, alter or repair mechanical work in violation of the
approved construction documents or directive of the Code Official, or of a permit or certificate issued under
the provisions of this code, shall be guilty of a misdemeanor and upon conviction may be fined up to the
maximum amount allowed by Texas law.  Each day that a violation continues after due notice has been
served shall be deemed a separate offense. 

Section 306.3; change to read as follows: 

306.3 Appliances in attics. Attics containing appliances shall be provided with an opening and
unobstructed passageway large enough to allow removal of the largest appliance. The passageway shall
be not less than 30 inches ( 762 mm) high and 22 inches ( 559 mm) wide and not more than 20 feet  (6096
mm) in length measured along the centerline of the passageway from the opening to the appliance. The
passageway shall have continuous unobstructed solid flooring not less than 24 inches (610 mm) wide. The
passageway shall be rated as a floor as determined by the Code Official.  A level service space not less
than 30 inches ( 762 mm) deep and 30 inches ( 762 mm) wide shall be present at the front or service side
of the appliance. The clear access opening dimensions shall be not less than 20 inches by 30 inches (508
mm by 762 mm), and large enough to allow removal of the largest appliance.  At a minimum, access to the
attic space shall be provided by one of the following: 

1. Permanent stairs or ladder fastened to the building; 
2. A pull down stair with a minimum 300 lb. (136 kg) capacity; 
3. An access door from an upper floor level; or
4. An access panel may be used in lieu of items 1, 2, and 3 with prior approval of the Code Official

due to building conditions. 

Exceptions: 
1. The passageway and level service space are not required where the appliance is capable of
being serviced and removed through the required opening. 
2. Where the passageway is unobstructed and not less than 6 feet (1829 mm) high and 22 inches
559 mm) wide for its entire length, the passageway shall be not greater than 50 feet (15 250 mm) 

in length. 

Section 306.5; change to read as follows: 

306.5 Equipment and Appliances on Roofs or Elevated Structures. Where equipment requiring access
or appliances are located on an elevated structure or the roof of a building such that personnel will have to
climb higher than 16 feet (4877 mm) above grade to access, an interior or exterior means of access shall
be provided. Exterior ladders providing roof access need not extend closer than 12 feet (2438 mm) to the
finish grade or floor level below and shall extend to the equipment and appliances’ level service space.  
Such access shall . . . {bulk of section to read the same} . . . on roofs having a slope greater than four units
vertical in 12 units horizontal ( 33-percent slope). ... { remainder of text unchanged}. 

Section 306.5.1; change to read as follows: 

306.5.1 Sloped Roofs.  Where appliances, equipment, fans or other components that require service are
installed on a roof having a slope of three units vertical in 12 units horizontal ( 25-percent slope) or greater
and having an edge more than 30 inches (762 mm) above grade at such edge, a catwalk at least 16 inches
in width with substantial cleats spaced not more than 16 inches apart shall be provided from the roof access

Page 178

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 6

to a level platform at the appliance.  The level platform shall be provided on each side of the appliance to
which access is required for service, repair or maintenance. The platform shall be not less than 30 inches
762 mm) in any dimension and shall be provided with guards. The guards shall extend not less than 42

inches ( 1067 mm) above the platform, shall be constructed so as to prevent the passage of a 21 -inch-
diameter ( 533 mm) sphere and shall comply with the loading requirements for guards specified in the
International Building Code…{remainder of text unchanged}. 

END

Page 179

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 1

TOWN OF PROSPER, TEXAS ORDINANCE NO. 2023-__ 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF PROSPER, TEXAS, REPEALING
ARTICLE 3.10, " FUEL GAS CODE," OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE
TOWN OF PROSPER AND REPLACING IT WITH A NEW ARTICLE 3.10, "FUEL
GAS CODE"; ADOPTING THE 2021 EDITION OF THE INTERNATIONAL FUEL
GAS CODE, SAVE AND EXCEPT THE DELETIONS AND AMENDMENTS SET
FORTH HEREIN; REGULATING THE DESIGN, INSTALLATION, 
MAINTENANCE, ADDITION, ALTERATION, AND INSPECTION OF FUEL GAS
PIPING, FUEL GAS UTILIZATION EQUIPMENT, AND RELATED
ACCESSORIES LOCATED WITHIN THE TOWN OF PROSPER; PROVIDING
FOR A PENALTY FOR THE VIOLATION OF THIS ORDINANCE; PROVIDING
FOR REPEALING, SAVINGS, AND SEVERABILITY CLAUSES; PROVIDING
FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE OF THIS ORDINANCE AND PROVIDING FOR THE
PUBLICATION OF THE CAPTION HEREOF. 

WHEREAS, the Town Council of the Town of Prosper, Texas (the "Town Council"), has
investigated and determined that it would be advantageous and beneficial to the citizens of
Prosper to repeal the existing Article 3.10, "Fuel Gas Code," of the Code of Ordinances and
replace it with a new Article 3.10, "Fuel Gas Code"; and, 

WHEREAS, the Town Council has also investigated and determined that it would be
advantageous and beneficial to the citizens of Prosper to adopt the 2021 Edition of the
International Fuel Gas Code, save and except the amendments and deletions set forth below. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF
PROSPER, TEXAS, THAT: 

SECTION 1

The findings set forth above are incorporated into the body of this Ordinance as if fully set
forth herein. 

SECTION 2

Existing Article 3.10, "Fuel Gas Code," of the Code of Ordinances of the Town of Prosper
Texas, is hereby repealed in its entirety and replace with a new Article 3.10, "Fuel Gas Code," to
read as follows: 

ARTICLE 3.10 FUEL GAS CODE

Sec. 3.10.001 Code Adopted; amendments

The International Fuel Gas Code, 2021 Edition, copyrighted by the International Code Council, 
Inc., save and except the deletions and amendments set forth in Exhibit "A," attached hereto and
incorporated herein for all purposes, is hereby adopted as the Fuel Gas Code for the Town, 
regulating the design, installation, maintenance, addition, alteration, and inspection of fuel gas
systems, fuel gas utilization equipment, and related accessories within the Town ( the " 2021
International Fuel Gas Code"). The 2021 International Fuel Gas Code is made a part of this Article
as if fully set forth herein. A copy of the International Fuel Gas Code, 2021 Edition, copyrighted
by the International Code Council, Inc., is on file in the office of the Town Secretary of Prosper

Page 180

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 2

being marked and so designated as the 2021 International Fuel Gas Code." 

SECTION 3

Should any section, subsection, sentence, clause, or phrase of this Ordinance be declared
unconstitutional or invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, it is expressly provided that any
and all remaining portions of this Ordinance shall remain in full force and effect.  The Town hereby
declares that it would have passed this Ordinance, and each section, subsection, sentence, 
clause, or phrase thereof, irrespective of the fact that any one or more sections, subsections, 
sentences, clauses, and phrases be declared unconstitutional or invalid. 

SECTION 4

All provisions of any ordinance in conflict with this Ordinance are hereby repealed to the
extent they are in conflict; but such repeal shall not abate any pending prosecution from being
commenced for any violation if occurring prior to the repeal of the Ordinance.  Any remaining
portions of said ordinances shall remain in full force and effect. 

SECTION 5

Any person, firm, corporation, or business entity violating this Ordinance shall be deemed
guilty of a misdemeanor, and upon conviction thereof shall be subject to a fine not to exceed the
sum of Two Thousand Dollars ($2,000.00), and each and every day such violation shall continue
shall constitute a separate offense.  

SECTION 6

This Ordinance shall become effective on April 1, 2023, after its adoption and publication
as required by law.  

DULY PASSED, APPROVED, AND ADOPTED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE
TOWN OF PROSPER, TEXAS, ON THIS 24TH DAY OF JANUARY, 2023. 

David F. Bristol, Mayor
ATTEST: 

Michelle Lewis Sirianni, Town Secretary

APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGALITY: 

Terrence S. Welch, Town Attorney

Page 181

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 3

Exhibit A

Town of Prosper Amendments to the
2021 International Fuel Gas Code

The following additions, deletions, and amendments to the 2021 International Fuel Gas
Code are hereby approved and adopted. 

Section 101.1; change to read as follows: 

101.1 Title. These regulations shall be known as the Fuel Gas Code of the Town of Prosper, hereinafter
referred to as “this code.” 

Section 102.8; change to read as follows: 

102.8 Referenced codes and standards.  The codes and standards referenced in this code shall be those
that are listed in Chapter 8 and such codes, when specifically adopted, and standards shall be considered
part of the requirements of this code to the prescribed extent of each such reference.  Where differences
occur between provisions of this code and the referenced standards, the provisions of this code shall apply.  
Whenever amendments have been adopted to the referenced codes and standards, each reference to said
code and standard shall be considered to reference the amendments as well. Any reference to NFPA 70
or the National Electrical Code shall mean the Electrical Code as adopted.  

Section 109.6; change to read as follows:  

109.6 Refunds.  The Code Official shall authorize the refunding of fees as follows: 
1. The full amount of any fee paid hereunder that was erroneously paid or collected. 
2. Not more than eighty percent (80%) of the permit fee paid when no work has been done under a

permit issued in accordance with this Code. 
3. Not more than eighty percent ( 80%) of the plan review fee paid when an application for a permit

for which a plan review fee has been paid is withdrawn or canceled before any plan review effort
has been expended. 

The Code Official shall not authorize the refunding of any fee paid except upon written application filed by
the original permittee not later than 180 days after the date of fee payment. 

Section 114.1; change to read as follows: 

114.1 Application for appeal.  Any person shall have the right to appeal a decision of the Code Official to
the Board of Appeals, as established by ordinance.  The Board shall be governed by the Town of Prosper’ s
enabling ordinance. 

Section 115.4; change to read as follows: 

115.4 Violation penalties. Persons who shall violate a provision of this code, fail to comply with any of the
requirements thereof or erect, install, alter or repair work in violation of the approved construction
documents or directive of the code official, or of a permit or certificate issued under the provisions of this
code, shall be guilty of a misdemeanor and upon conviction may be fined up to the maximum amount
allowed by Texas law. Each day that a violation continues after due notice has been served shall be deemed
a separate offense. 

Page 182

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 4

Section 306.3; change to read as follows:   

M] 306.3 Appliances in attics.  Attics containing appliances shall be provided with an opening and
unobstructed passageway large enough to allow removal of the largest appliance. The passageway shall
be not less than 30 inches (762 mm) high and 22 inches (559 mm) wide and not more than 20 feet (6096
mm) in length measured along the centerline of the passageway from the opening to the appliance. The
passageway shall have continuous solid flooring not less than 24 inches (610 mm) wide. A level service
space not less than 30 inches (762 mm) deep and 30 inches (762 mm) wide shall be present at the front or
service side of the appliance. The clear access opening dimensions shall be not less than 20 inches by 30
inches (508 mm by 762 mm) and large enough to allow removal of the largest appliance.  A walkway to an
appliance shall be rated as a floor as approved by the Code Official.  At a minimum, for access to the attic
space, provide one (1) of the following: 

1. A permanent stair; 
2. A pull down stair with a minimum 300 lb (136 kg) capacity; 
3. An access door from an upper floor level; or, 
4. An access panel may be used in lieu of items 1, 2, and 3 with prior approval of the Code Official

due to building conditions. 

Exceptions: 
1. The passageway and level service space are not required where the appliance is capable of being

serviced and removed through the required opening. 
2. Where the passageway is not less than 6 feet (1829 mm) high for its entire length, the passageway

shall be not greater than 50 feet (15 250 mm) in length. 

Section 306.5; change to read as follows:   

M] 306.5 Equipment and Appliances on Roofs or Elevated Structures. Where equipment requiring
access or appliances are located on an elevated structure or the roof of a building such that personnel will
have to climb higher than 16 feet (4877 mm) above grade to access, an interior or exterior means of access
shall be provided. Exterior ladders providing roof access need not extend closer than 12 feet (2438 mm) to
the finish grade or floor level below and shall extend to the equipment and appliances' level service space.  
Such access shall . . . {bulk of section to read the same} . . . on roofs having a slope greater than four units
vertical in 12 units horizontal (33-percent slope). ... {remainder of text unchanged}. 

Section 306.5.1; change to read as follows: 

M] 306.5.1 Sloped roofs.  Where appliances, equipment, fans or other components that require service
are installed on a roof having a slope of 3 units vertical in 12 units horizontal (25 -percent slope) or greater
and having an edge more than 30 inches (762 mm) above grade at such edge, a catwalk at least 16 inches
in width with substantial cleats spaced not more than 16 inches apart shall be provided from the roof access
to a level platform at the appliance.  The level platform shall be provided on each side of the appliance to
which access is required for service, repair or maintenance. The platform shall be not less than 30 inches
762 mm) in any dimension and shall be provided with guards. The guards shall extend not less than 42

inches ( 1067 mm) above the platform, shall be const ructed so as to prevent the passage of a 21-inch-
diameter ( 533 mm) sphere and shall comply with the loading requirements for guards specified in the
International Building Code.  

Page 183

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 5

Section 401.5; add a second paragraph to read as follows: 

Both ends of each section of medium pressure gas piping shall identify its operating gas pressure with an
approved tag. The tags are to be composed of aluminum or stainless steel and the following wording shall
be stamped into the tag: 

WARNING
1/2 to 5 psi gas pressure
Do Not Remove" 

Section 404.12; change to read as follows: 

404.12 Minimum burial depth.  Underground piping systems shall be installed a minimum depth of 18
inches (458 mm) top of pipe below grade. 

404.12.1 Delete in its entirety.  

Section 406.4; change to read as follows: 

406.4 Test pressure measurement.  Test pressure shall be measured with a monometer or with a
pressure- measuring device designed and calibrated to read, record, or indicate a pressure loss caused by
leakage during the pressure test period.  The source of pressure shall be isolated before the pressure tests
are made.  Mechanical gauges used to measure test pressures shall have a range such that the highest
end of the scale is not greater than five times the test pressure. Spring type gauges do not meet the
requirement of a calibrated gauge.  

Section 406.4.1; change to read as follows: 

406.4.1 Test pressure.  The test pressure to be used shall be no less than 3 psig ( 20 kPa gauge), or at
the discretion of the Code Official, the piping and valves may be tested at a pressure of at least six (6) 
inches (152 mm) of mercury, measured with a manometer or slope gauge.  For tests requiring a pressure
of 3 psig, diaphragm gauges shall utilize a dial with a minimum diameter of three and one half inches ( 3

a set hand, 1/10 pound incrementation and pressure range not to exceed 15 psi for tests requiring a
pressure of 3 psig.  For tests requiring a pressure of 10 psig, diaphragm gauges shall utilize a dial with a
minimum diameter of three and one-half inches (3 ½”), a set hand, a minimum of 2/10 pound incrementation
and a pressure range not to exceed 50 psi.  For welded piping, and for piping carrying gas at pressures in
excess of fourteen ( 14) inches water column pressure ( 3.48 kPa) ( 1/2 psi) and less than 200 inches of
water column pressure (52.2 kPa) (7.5 psi), the test pressure shall not be less than ten (10) pounds per
square inch (69.6 kPa).  For piping carrying gas at a pressure that exceeds 200 inches of water column
52.2 kPa) (7.5 psi), the test pressure shall be not less than one and one-half times the proposed maximum

working pressure. 

Diaphragm gauges used for testing must display a current calibration and be in good working condition.  
The appropriate test must be applied to the diaphragm gauge used for testing.    

Page 184

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 6

Section 409.1; add Section 409.1.4 to read as follows: 

409.1.4 Valves in CSST installations.  Shutoff valves installed with corrugated stainless steel (CSST) 
piping systems shall be supported with an approved termination fitting, or equivalent support, suitable for
the size of the valves, of adequate strength and quality, and located at intervals so as to prevent or damp
out excessive vibration but in no case greater than 12-inches from the center of the valve.  Supports shall
be installed so as not to interfere with the free expansion and contraction of the system's piping, fittings, 
and valves between anchors.  All valves and supports shall be designed and installed so they will not be
disengaged by movement of the supporting piping.  

Section 410.1; add a second paragraph and exception to read as follows: 

Access to regulators shall comply with the requirements for access to appliances as specified in Section
306. 

Exception:  A passageway or level service space is not required when the regulator is capable of being
serviced and removed through the required attic opening. 

END

Page 185

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 1

TOWN OF PROSPER, TEXAS ORDINANCE NO. 2023-__ 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF PROSPER, TEXAS, REPEALING
ARTICLE 3.08, “ ENERGY CONSERVATION,” OF CHAPTER 3, “ BUILDING
REGULATIONS,” OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE TOWN OF
PROSPER, TEXAS, AND REPLACING IT WITH A NEW ARTICLE 3.08, 
ENERGY CONSERVATION”; ADOPTING THE 2021 EDITION OF THE

INTERNATIONAL ENERGY CONSERVATION CODE, SAVE AND EXCEPT THE
DELETIONS AND AMENDMENTS SET FORTH HEREIN; REGULATING THE
DESIGN OF BUILDING ENVELOPES FOR ADEQUATE THERMAL
RESISTANCE AND LOW AIR LEAKAGE AND THE DESIGN AND SELECTION
OF MECHANICAL, ELECTRICAL, SERVICE WATER-HEATING, AND
ILLUMINATION SYSTEMS AND EQUIPMENT WHICH WILL ENABLE
EFFECTIVE USE OF ENERGY IN NEW BUILDING CONSTRUCTION WITHIN
THE TOWN OF PROSPER; PROVIDING FOR A PENALTY FOR THE
VIOLATION OF THIS ORDINANCE; PROVIDING FOR REPEALING, SAVINGS, 
AND SEVERABILITY CLAUSES; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE OF
THIS ORDINANCE AND PROVIDING FOR THE PUBLICATION OF THE
CAPTION HEREOF. 

WHEREAS, the Town Council of the Town of Prosper, Texas ( the “Town Council”), has
investigated and determined that it would be advantageous and beneficial to the citizens of
Prosper to repeal the existing Article 3.08, “ Energy Conservation Code,” of the Code of
Ordinances and replace it with a new Article 3.08, “Energy Conservation Code “; and, 

WHEREAS, the Town Council has also investigated and determined that it would be
advantageous and beneficial to the citizens of Prosper to adopt the 2021 Edition of the Energy
Conservation Code, save and except the amendments and deletions set forth below. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF
PROSPER, TEXAS, THAT: 

SECTION 1

The findings set forth above are incorporated into the body of this Ordinance as if fully set
forth herein. 

SECTION 2

Existing Article 3.08, “Energy Conservation Code,” of the Code of Ordinances of the Town
of Prosper Texas, is hereby repealed in its entirety and replace with a new Article 3.08, “Energy
Conservation Code,” to read as follows: 

ARTICLE 3.08 ENERGY CONSERVATION CODE

Sec. 3.08.001 Code Adopted; amendments

The International Energy Conservation Code, 2021 Edition, copyrighted by the International Code
Council, Inc., save and except the deletions and amendments set forth in Exhibit “ A,” attached

Page 186

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 2

hereto and incorporated herein for all purposes, is hereby adopted as the Energy Conservation
Code for the Town, regulating the design of building envelopes for adequate thermal resistance
and low air leakage and the design and selection of mechanical, electrical, service water-heating, 
and illumination systems and equipment which will enable effective use of energy in new building
construction within the Town ( the “ 2021 International Energy Conservation Code”). The 2021
International Energy Conservation Code is made a part of this Article as if fully set forth herein. A
copy of the International Energy Conservation Code, 2021 Edition, copyrighted by the
International Code Council, Inc., is on file in the office of the Town Secretary of Prosper being
marked and so designated as the 2021 International Energy Conservation Code.” 

SECTION 3

Should any section, subsection, sentence, clause, or phrase of this Ordinance be declared
unconstitutional or invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, it is expressly provided that any
and all remaining portions of this Ordinance shall remain in full force and effect.  The Town hereby
declares that it would have passed this Ordinance, and each section, subsection, sentence, 
clause, or phrase thereof, irrespective of the fact that any one or more sections, subsections, 
sentences, clauses, and phrases be declared unconstitutional or invalid. 

SECTION 4

All provisions of any ordinance in conflict with this Ordinance are hereby repealed to the
extent they are in conflict; but such repeal shall not abate any pending prosecution from being
commenced for any violation if occurring prior to the repeal of the Ordinance.  Any remaining
portions of said ordinances shall remain in full force and effect. 

SECTION 5

Any person, firm, corporation, or business entity violating this Ordinance shall be deemed
guilty of a misdemeanor, and upon conviction thereof shall be subject to a fine not to exceed the
sum of Two Thousand Dollars ($2,000.00), and each and every day such violation shall continue
shall constitute a separate offense.  

SECTION 6

This Ordinance shall become effective on April 1, 2023, after its adoption and publication
as required by law.  

DULY PASSED, APPROVED, AND ADOPTED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE
TOWN OF PROSPER, TEXAS, ON THIS 24TH DAY OF JANUARY, 2023. 

David F. Bristol, Mayor
ATTEST: 

Michelle Lewis Sirianni, Town Secretary

Page 187

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 3

APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGALITY: 

Terrence S. Welch, Town Attorney

Page 188

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 4

Exhibit A
Town of Prosper Amendments to the

2021 International Energy Conservation Code
The following additions, deletions, and amendments to the 2021 International Energy

Conservation Code are hereby approved and adopted. 

Section C101.1; change to read as follows: 

C101.1 Title. This code shall be known as the Energy Conservation Code of the Town of Prosper and shall
be cited as such. It is referred to herein as “this code.” 

Section C102.1.2; change to read as follows: 

C102.1.2 Alternative compliance.  A building certified by a national, state, or local accredited energy
efficiency program and determined by the Energy Systems Laboratory to be in compliance with the energy
efficiency requirements of this section may, at the option of the Code Official, be considered in compliance.  
The United States Environmental Protection Agency's Energy Star Program certification of energy code
equivalency shall be considered in compliance. 

Section C104.2; change to read as follows: 

C104.2 Schedule of permit fees.  The fee schedule for all Energy Conservation Code work shall be as
indicated in the Town of Prosper Fee Schedule as adopted by the Town Council. 

Section C104.3; change to read as follows: 

C104.3 Work commencing before permit issuance.  Any person who commences any work before
obtaining the necessary permits shall be subject to a penalty of 100% of the usual permit fee in addition to
the required permit fees. 

Section C104.5; change to read as follows: 

C104.5 Refunds.  The Code Official shall authorize the refunding of fees as follows: 
1. The full amount of any fee paid hereunder that was erroneously paid or collected.  Not more than

eight percent (80%) of the permit fee paid when no work has been done under a permit issued in
accordance with this Code. 

2. Not more than eight percent (80%) of the plan review fee paid when an application for a permit for
which a plan review fee has been paid is withdrawn or cancelled before any plan review effort has
been expended. 

3. The Code Official shall not authorize the refunding of any fee paid except upon written application
filed by the original permittee not later than 180 days after the date of fee payment. 

The Code Official shall not authorize the refunding of any fee paid except upon written application filed by
the original permittee not later than 180 days after the date of fee payment. 

Page 189

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 5

Section C109.4; change to read as follows: 

C109.4 Failure to comply.  Any person who shall continue any work after having been served with a stop
work order, except such work as that person is directed to perform to remove a violation or unsafe condition, 
shall be guilty of a misdemeanor and, upon conviction, may be fined up to the maximum amount allowed
by Texas law.  Each day that a violation continues after due notice has been served shall be deemed a
separate offense. 

Sections C110.1 through C110.3; Sections C110.1 through C110.3 is amended to be removed and
replaced with Section C110.1 Board of Appeals. 

C110.1 Board of Appeals.  Any person shall have the right to appeal a decision of the Code Official to the
Board of Appeals, as established by ordinance.  The board shall be governed by the Town of Prosper’s
enabling ordinance. 

Section C402.2; C402.2 is amended by adding the Section C402.2.8 Insulation installed in walls. 

C402.2.8 Insulation installed in walls.  To ensure that insulation remains in place, insulation installed in
walls shall be totally enclosed on all sides consisting of framing lumber, gypsum, sheathing, wood structural
panel sheathing, netting, or other equivalent material approved by the Code Official. 

Section C402.5.2; change to read as follows: 

C402.5.2 Dwelling and sleeping unit enclosure testing. The building thermal envelope shall be tested in
accordance with ASTM E779. ANSI/RESNET/ ICC 380, ASTM E1827 or an equivalent method approved
by the code official. The measured air leakage shall not exceed 0.30 cfm/ft2 (1.5 Us m2) of the testing unit
enclosure area at a pressure differential of 0.2 inch water gauge (50 Pa). Where multiple dwelling units or
sleeping units or other occupiable conditioned spaces are contained within one building thermal envelope, 
each unit shall be considered an individual testing unit, and the building air leakage shall be the weighted
average of all testing unit results, weighted by each testing unit's enclosure area. Units shall be tested
separately with an unguarded blower door test as follows: 
1. Where buildings have fewer than eight testing units, each testing unit shall be tested. 
2. For buildings with eight or more testing units, the greater of seven units or 20 percent of the testing
units in the building shall be tested, including a top floor unit, a ground floor unit, a middle floor unit, and a
unit with the largest testing unit enclosure area. For each tested unit that exceeds the maximum air leakage
rate, an additional two three units shall be tested, including a mixture of testing unit types and locations. 

Section R101.1: change to read as follows: 

R101.1 Title. This code shall be known as the Energy Conservation Code of the Town of Prosper, and shall
be cited as such. It is referred to herein as “this code.” 

Page 190

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 6

Section R102.1.2; change to read as follows: 

R102.1.2 (N1101.4.1) Alternative compliance.  A building certified by a national, state, or local accredited
energy efficiency program and determined by the Energy Systems Laboratory to be in compliance with the
energy efficiency requirements of this section may, at the option of the Code Official, be considered in
compliance.  The United States Environmental Protection Agency's Energy Star Program certification of
energy code equivalency shall be considered in compliance.  Regardless of the program or the path to
compliance, each 1- and 2-family dwelling shall be tested for air and duct leakage as prescribed in Section
R402.4.1.2 (N1102.4.1.2) and R403.3.3 (N1103.3.3) respectively. 

Section 105.2 Required Inspections; Changed numbering and to read as follows: 

R105.2.1 Footing and foundation inspection. 
Inspections associated with footings and foundations shall verify compliance with the code as to R-value, 
location, thickness, depth of burial and protection of insulation as required by the code and approved plans
and specifications. 

R105.2.2 Framing and Air Barrier rough-in inspection. 
Inspections at framing and rough- in shall be made before application of interior finish insulation and shall
verify compliance with the code as to: air leakage controls as required by the code; and approved plans
and specifications. 

R105.2.3 Insulation and Fenestration rough-in inspection. 
Inspections at framing and rough-in shall be made before application of interior finish and shall verify
compliance with the code as to: types of insulation and corresponding R-values and their correct location
and proper installation; fenestration properties such as U-factor and SHGC and proper installation. 

R105.2.4 Plumbing rough-in inspection. 
Inspections at plumbing rough- in shall verify compliance as required by the code and approved plans and
specifications as to types of insulation and corresponding R-values and protection and required controls. 

R105.2.5 Mechanical rough-in inspection. 
Inspections at mechanical rough-in shall verify compliance as required by the code and approved plans
and specifications as to installed HVAC equipment type and size, required controls, system insulation and
corresponding R-value, system air leakage control, programmable thermostats, dampers, whole-house
ventilation, and minimum fan efficiency. 

Exception: Systems serving multiple dwelling units shall be inspected in accordance with Section
C105.2.4. 

R105.2.6 Final inspection. 
The building shall have a final inspection and shall not be occupied until approved. The final inspection
shall include verification of the installation of all required building systems, equipment and controls and their
proper operation and the required number of high-efficacy lamps and fixtures.  All buildings and dwelling
units shall be tested for air leakage in accordance with Chapter 4. 

Section R104.2; change to read as follows:  

R104.2 Schedule of permit fees.  The fees schedule for all Energy Conservation Code work shall be as
indicated in the Town of Prosper Fee Schedule as adopted by the Town Council. 

Page 191

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 7

Section R104.3; change to read as follows:  

R104.3 Work commencing before permit issuance.  Any person who commences any work prior to
obtaining the necessary permits shall be subject to a penalty of 100% of the usual permit fee in addition to
the required permit fees. 

Section R104.5; change to read as follows:  

R104.5 Refunds.  The Code Official shall authorize the refunding of fees as follows: 
1. The full amount of any fee paid hereunder that was erroneously paid or collected.  Not more than

eight percent (80%) of the permit fee paid when no work has been done under a permit issued in
accordance with this Code. 

2. Not more than eight percent (80%) of the plan review fee paid when an application for a permit for
which a plan review fee has been paid is withdrawn or cancelled before any plan review effort has
been expended. 

3. The Code Official shall not authorize the refunding of any fee paid except upon written application
filed by the original permittee not later than 180 days after the date of fee payment. 

The Code Official shall not authorize the refunding of any fee paid except upon written application filed by
the original permittee not later than 180 days after the date of fee payment. 

Section R109.4; change to read as follows:  

R109.4 Failure to comply.  Any person who shall continue any work after having been served with a stop
work order, except such work as that person is directed to perform to remove a violation or unsafe condition, 
shall be guilty of a misdemeanor and, upon conviction, may be fined up to the maximum amount allowed
by Texas law.  Each day that a violation continues after due notice has been served shall be deemed a
separate offence. 

Sections R110.1 through R110.3; Sections R110.1 through R110.3 is amended to be removed and
replaced with Section C110.1 Board of Appeals. 

R110.1 Board of Appeals.  Any person shall have the right to appeal a decision of the Code Official to the
Board of Appeals, as established by ordinance.  The board shall be governed by the Town of Prosper’s
enabling ordinance. 

Section R202 (N1101.6) Definitions; add the following definition: 

PROJECTION FACTOR.  The ratio of the horizontal depth of the overhang, eave or permanently attached
shading device, divided by the distance measured vertically from the bottom of the fenestration glazing to
the underside of the overhang, eave or permanently attached shading device.   

Section R202 (N1101.6) Definitions; add the following definition: 

DYNAMIC GLAZING. Any fenestration product that has the fully reversible ability to change it performance
properties, including U-factor, solar heat gain coefficient (SHGC), or visible transmittance (VT). 

Page 192

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 8

Section R401.2.5 Additional Energy efficiency; delete in its entirety. 

Table 402.1.2 Maximum Assembly/Climate Zone items:  amend table as follows: 

Climate Zone Fenestration
U-Factorf

Ceiling
U-Factor

2 . 40 0.29

3 0.32 0.29

Table 402.1.3 Insulation/Climate Zone items:  amend table as follows: 

Climate Zone Fenestration
U-Factorb, i

Ceiling
R-Value

Wood Frame
Wall R-Value

Slab R-Value
Depth

2 . 40 42 13 or 0 + 10 0

3 0.32 42 19 or 13+3ci, 
0+15

0

Section R402.4.1.2 Testing; add the following paragraph to the end. 

Mandatory testing shall only be performed by individuals that are certified to perform air infiltration testing
by national or state organizations as approved by the Code Official.  The certified individual(s) shall be an
independent third-party entity, and may not be employed or have any financial interest in the company that
constructs the structure. 

Section R403.3.5 Duct Testing; add the following paragraph to the end. 

Mandatory testing shall only be performed by individuals that are certified to perform air infiltration testing
by national or state organizations as approved by the Code Official.  The certified individual(s) shall be an
independent third-party entity, and may not be employed or have any financial interest in the company that
constructs the structure. 

Section R402.4.1 Building thermal envelope; add section R402.4.1.4 to read as follows: 

R402.4.1.4. Sampling options for R2 multifamily dwelling units.  For buildings with eight or more testing
units that must be tested as required by R402.4.1.2 or R402.4.1.3, the greater of seven units or 20 percent
of the testing units in the building shall be tested, including a top floor unit, a ground floor unit, a middle
floor unit, and a unit with the largest testing unit enclosure area. For each tested unit that exceeds the
maximum air leakage rate, an additional three units shall be tested, including a mixture of testing unit types
and locations.  Where buildings have fewer than eight testing units, each testing unit shall be tested. 

Page 193

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 9

Section R402.4.6; change to read as follows: 

R402.4.6. Electrical and communication outlet boxes ( air-sealed boxes). Electrical and communication
outlet boxes installed in the building thermal envelope shall be sealed to limit air leakage between
conditioned and unconditioned spaces.  

Section R403.3 Ducts; add section R403.3.8 to read as follows: 

R403.3.8. Sampling options for R2 multifamily dwelling units.  For buildings with eight or more testing units
that must be tested as required by R403.3.5, the greater of seven units or 20 percent of the testing units in
the building shall be tested, including a top floor unit, a ground floor unit, a middle floor unit, and a unit with
the largest testing unit floor area. For each tested unit that exceeds the maximum duct leakage rate, an
additional three units shall be tested, including a mixture of testing unit types and locations.  Where buildings
have fewer than eight testing units, each testing unit shall be tested. 

Section R403.6 Mechanical Ventilation; add section R403.6.4 to read as follows

R403.6.4. Sampling options for R2 multifamily dwelling units.  For buildings with eight or more testing units
that must be tested as required by R403.6.3, the greater of seven units or 20 percent of the testing units in
the building shall be tested, including a top floor unit, a ground floor unit, a middle floor unit, and a unit with
the largest testing unit floor area. For each tested unit that does not meet the minimum ventilation rate, an
additional three units shall be tested, including a mixture of testing unit types and locations.  Where buildings
have fewer than eight testing units, each testing unit shall be tested. 

Section R404.2 Interior Lighting Controls; delete in its entirety. 

Section R405.2; change to read as follows: 

R405.2 Performance-based compliance.  Compliance based on total building performance requires that a
proposed design meets all of the following: 

1. The requirements of the sections indicated with Table R405.2.  
2. The building thermal envelope greater than or equal to levels of efficiency and solar heat gain

coefficients in Table R402.1.1 or R402.1.3 of the 2009 International Energy Conservation Code. 
3. An annual energy cost that is less than or equal to the annual energy cost of the 2021 standard

reference design or 8% less than the annual energy cost of the 2018 standard reference design. 
Energy prices shall be taken from a source approved by the code official, such as the Department
of Energy, Energy Information Administration's State Energy Data System Prices and
Expenditures reports. Code officials shall be permitted to require time -of-use pricing in energy
cost calculations. 

Exception: The energy use based on source energy expressed in Btu or Btu per square foot of
conditioned floor area shall be permitted to be substituted for the energy cost. The source energy
multiplier for electricity shall be 3.16. The source energy multiplier for fuels other than electricity
shall be 1.1. 

Page 194

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___- Page 10

Section R405.5.2 Specific Approval; add the following paragraph to the end. 

Acceptable performance software simulation tools may include, but are not limited to, REM Rate TM, Energy
Gauge® and IC3. Other performance software programs accredited by RESNET BESTEST and having the
ability to provide a report as outlined in R405.4.2 may also be deemed acceptable performance simulation
programs and may be considered by the Code Official. 

TABLE R406.4 (N1106.4) MAXIMUM ENERGY RATING INDEX; amend to read as follows: 

TABLE R406.4 (N1106.4) 1

MAXIMUM ENERGY RATING INDEX

CLIMATE ZONE ENERGY RATING INDEX
2 59
3 59

1 The table is effective from September 1, 2022 to August 31, 2025. 

TABLE R406.4 (N1106.4) 2

MAXIMUM ENERGY RATING INDEX

CLIMATE ZONE ENERGY RATING INDEX
2 57
3 57

2 The table is effective from September 1, 2025 to August 31, 2028. 

TABLE R406.4 (N1106.4) 3

MAXIMUM ENERGY RATING INDEX

CLIMATE ZONE ENERGY RATING INDEX
2 55
3 55

3 This table is effective on or after September 1, 2028. 

Section R408 ADDITIONAL EFFICIENCY PACKAGE OPTIONS; delete in its entirety. 

NOTE : HB 3215 was signed into law by the Governor on June 14, 2021 as part of the 87th Regular

Session Codified in Chapter 388 Texas Building Energy Performance Standards: § 388.003 ( i), (j), and

k).  HB 3215 now allows a Home Energy Rating System Index ( ex. HERS Index) utilizing ANSI/ RESNET/ ICC

Standard 301 (as it existed on January 1, 2021) shall be considered in compliance with State law provided

that: 

o The home includes compliance with the Mandatory requirements of 2018 IECC Section R406.2. 

o The home includes compliance with Building thermal envelope provisions of Table R402.1.2 or

Table R402.1.4 of the 2018 IECC

END

Page 195

Item 17.



1

TOWN OF PROSPER, TEXAS ORDINANCE NO. 2023-___ 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF PROSPER, TEXAS, AMENDING
SECTION 3.11.001, “ ADOPTED,” OF ARTICLE 3.11, “ PROPERTY
MAINTENANCE CODE,” OF CHAPER 3, “BUILDING REGULATIONS,” OF THE
TOWN’ S CODE OF ORDINANCES BY REPEALING SAID SECTION IN ITS
ENTIRETY AND REPLACING IT WITH A NEW SECTION 3.11.001, 
ADOPTED,” OF ARTICLE 3.11, “ PROPERTY MAINTENANCE CODE,” OF

CHAPTER 3, “ BUILDING REGULATIONS,” OF THE TOWN’ S CODE OF
ORDINANCES BY ADOPTING THE 2021 EDITION OF THE INTERNATIONAL
PROPERTY MAINTENANCE CODE, SAVE AND EXCEPT THE AMENDMENTS
SET FORTH HEREIN, SPECIFICALLY ( 1) REGULATING ALL EXISTING
RESIDENTIAL AND NONRESIDENTIAL STRUCTURES AND ALL EXISTING
PREMISES BY ESTABLISHING MINIMUM REQUIREMENTS AND
STANDARDS FOR PREMISES, STRUCTURES, EQUIPMENT, AND
FACILITIES FOR LIGHT, VENTILATION, SPACE, HEATING, SANITATION, 
PROTECTION FROM THE ELEMENTS, LIFE SAFETY, SAFETY FROM FIRE
AND OTHER HAZARDS, AND FOR SAFE AND SANITARY MAINTENANCE; ( 2) 
DELINEATING THE RESPONSIBILITY OF OWNERS, OPERATORS AND
OCCUPANTS; ( 3) ADDRESSING THE OCCUPANCY OF EXISTING
STRUCTURES AND PREMISES; AND ( 4) THE ADMINISTRATION, 
ENFORCEMENT AND PENALTIES WITHIN THE TOWN OF PROSPER, 
TEXAS; PROVIDING FOR A PENALTY FOR THE VIOLATION OF THIS
ORDINANCE; PROVIDING FOR REPEALING, SAVINGS AND SEVERABILITY
CLAUSES; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE; AND PROVIDING FOR
THE PUBLICATION OF THIS ORDINANCE. 

WHEREAS, the Town Council of the Town of Prosper, Texas (“ Town Council”), has
investigated and determined that it would be advantageous and beneficial to the citizens of the
Town of Prosper, Texas (“Prosper”), to repeal the existing property maintenance code contained
in Article 3.11, “Property Maintenance Code,” of Chapter 3, “Building Regulations,” of the Town’s
Code of Ordinances and replace it with an updated version of same; and

WHEREAS, the Town Council has further investigated and determined that it would be
advantageous and beneficial to the citizens of Prosper to adopt the 2021 Edition of the
International Property Maintenance Code, copyrighted by the International Code Council, Inc., 
save and except the amendments set forth in Exhibit “A,” attached hereto and incorporated herein
for all purposes. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF
PROSPER, TEXAS, THAT: 

SECTION 1

The findings set forth above are incorporated into the body of this Ordinance as if fully set
forth herein. 

Page 196

Item 17.



2

SECTION 2

From and after the effective date of this Ordinance, existing Section 3.11.001, “Adopted,” 
of Article 3.11, “Property Maintenance Code,” of Chapter 3, “Building Regulations,” of the Town’s
Code of Ordinances is hereby repealed in its entirety and replaced with a new Section 3.11.001, 
Adopted,” of Article 3.11, “Property Maintenance Code,” of Chapter 3, “Building Regulations,” of

the Town’s Code of Ordinances, to read as follows: 

Sec. 3.11.001. Adopted

The 2021 International Property Maintenance Code. copyrighted by the International Code
Council, Inc., save and except the amendments set forth in Exhibit “ A,” attached hereto and
incorporated herein for all purposes, is hereby adopted as the property maintenance code for the
town, regulating all existing residential and nonresidential structures and all existing premises by
establishing minimum requirements and standards for premises, structures, equipment, and
facilities for light, ventilation, space, heating, sanitation, protection from the elements, life safety, 
safety from fire and other hazards, and for safe and sanitary maintenance within the town ( the
2021 International Property Maintenance Code”‘).  The 2021 International Property Maintenance

Code, save and except the amendments set forth in Exhibit “A,” is made a part of this Ordinance
as if fully set forth herein.  Three (3) copies of the 2021 International Property Maintenance Code, 
copyrighted by the International Code Council, Inc., are on file in the office of the town secretary, 
being marked and designated as the 2021 International Property Maintenance Code.” 

SECTION 3

Any person, firm, corporation, or business entity violating this Ordinance shall be deemed
guilty of a misdemeanor, and upon conviction, therefore, shall be fined a sum not exceeding Two
Thousand Dollars ($2,000.00), and each and every day that such violation continues shall be
considered a separate offense; provided, however, that such penal provision shall not preclude a
suit to enjoin such violation. The Town retains all legal rights and remedies available to it pursuant
to local, state and federal law. 

SECTION 4

All provisions of any ordinance in conflict with this Ordinance are hereby repealed to the
extent they are in conflict; but such repeal shall not abate any pending prosecution for violation of
the repealed ordinance, nor shall the repeal prevent a prosecution from being commenced for
any violation if occurring prior to the repeal of the ordinance. Any remaining portion of conflicting
ordinances shall remain in full force and effect. 

SECTION 5

If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, or phrase of this Ordinance is for any reason
held to be unconstitutional or invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, such decision shall not
affect the validity of the remaining portions of this Ordinance. The Town hereby declares that it
would have passed this Ordinance, and each section, subsection, clause or phrase thereof, 
irrespective of the fact that any one or more sections, subsections, sentences, clauses, and
phrases be declared unconstitutional. 

Page 197

Item 17.



3

SECTION 6

This Ordinance shall become effective after its passage and publication, as required by
law. 

DULY PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF
PROSPER, TEXAS, ON THIS 24th DAY OF JANUARY, 2023. 

APPROVED: 

David F. Bristol, Mayor

ATTEST: 

Michelle Lewis Sirianni, Town Secretary

APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGALITY: 

Terrence S. Welch, Town Attorney

Page 198

Item 17.



EXHIBIT A

Amendments to 2021 International Property Maintenance Code

Preface to Amendments to International Property Maintenance Code.  The governing
regulations are the 2021 International Property Maintenance Code, and the amendments
described below.  In the event of a conflict with the 2021 International Property Maintenance Code
and any of the amendments, the amendment shall control. 

Section 101.1 Title. These regulations shall be known as the Property Maintenance Code of the
Town of Prosper, Texas, hereinafter referred to as “this code”. 

Section 101.3 Intent. This code shall be construed to secure its expressed intent, which is to
ensure public health, safety, and welfare, insofar as they are affected by the continued occupancy
and maintenance of structures and premises.  Existing structures and premises that do not comply
with these provisions shall be altered or repaired to provide a minimum level of health and safety
as required herein. Repairs, alterations, additions to and change of occupancy in existing
buildings shall comply with the Town of Prosper’s Building, Electrical, Mechanical, Plumbing, Fire, 
and Health Codes, as they currently exist or may be amended, and the Town of Prosper Zoning
and Subdivision Ordinances, as they currently exist or may be amended. 

Section 102.3 Application of other Codes.  Repairs, additions or alterations to a structure, or
changes of occupancy, shall be done in accordance with the procedures and provisions of the
Town of Prosper Building, Electrical, Mechanical, Plumbing, Fire, and Health & Sanitation Codes
as they currently exist or may be amended, and the Town of Prosper Zoning and Subdivision
Ordinances, as they currently exist or may be amended.  Nothing in this code shall be construed
to cancel, modify or set aside any provision of the Town of Prosper Zoning and/or Subdivision
Ordinances, as they currently exist or may be amended. Likewise, if there is a conflict between
this code and Section 3.12, “ Vacant and Substandard Structures,” of Chapter 3, “ Building
Regulations,” of the Town of Prosper’s Code of Ordinances; Section 3.12 “ Vacant and
Substandard Structures” of Chapter 3, “Building Regulations,” of the Town of Prosper’s Code of
Ordinances, shall exclusively control. 

Section 102.7 Referenced Codes and Standards.  The codes and standards referenced in this
code shall be the Town of Prosper Zoning and Subdivision Ordinances, as they currently exist or
may be amended, and the Building, Electrical, Mechanical, Plumbing, Fire, and Health & 
Sanitation Codes adopted by the Town of Prosper, as they currently exist or may be amended. 
Where differences occur between provisions of this code and the referenced standards, the most
restrictive code shall apply. 

Section 103.5 Fees.  The fees are established in appendix A of the Code of Ordinances. 

Section 104.1 General.  The code official or his/her designee shall enforce the provisions of this
code. 

Section 106.4 Violation Penalties.  Any owner of record who shall violate a provision of this
code, or fail to comply therewith, or with any of the requirements thereof, shall be prosecuted
within the time limits provided by the Town of Prosper. Each day that a violation continues after
due notice has been serviced shall be deemed a separate offense. 

106.4.1 Citations; Work or Improvements by Prosper; Charges against Owner.  If the

Page 199

Item 17.



owner fails or refuses to comply with the demand for compliance in the notification within the
requirements of such notification, the Town of Prosper may: 

a) issue citations as provided in Section 107, Notices and Orders, as it currently exists or may
be amended; and

b) do work or make improvements required to abate the violation(s), pay for the work done or
improvements made, and charge the expenses to the owner of the property as provided
herein.  The property owner will have twenty (20) days to reimburse the Town of Prosper from
the completion date of such work to abate the violation(s) at property. 

106.4.2 Assessment of Expenses; Lien. 

a) In the event the Owner fails or refuses to pay such expenses charged to the owner, within
twenty (20) days after the abatement work is completed, a lien may be obtained.  The lien and
other expenses incurred by the Town of Prosper may be filed against the property.  Expenses
will include, but not be limited to the following: 
1) Fees for service work to abate violation(s); 
2) Administrative Fee established in appendix A of the Code of Ordinances. 
3) Fees to file lien; 
4) Fees to release lien; 
5) Postage fees; 
6) Courier fees; 
7) Legal fees; and
8) Any other fees charged to the Town of Prosper. 

To obtain a lien, the Town Manager or his/her designee, or the Town of Prosper ’s Code
Enforcement Official, Health Authority, or other authorized Town Official or employee, must file a
statement of the expenses incurred to correct the condition of the real property with the County
Clerk of the County in which the property is located. The statement must also state the name of
the Owner, if known, and the legal description of the property.  The lien attaches upon filing of the
statement with the County Clerk. 

b) The Town of Prosper’s lien shall be a prior lien on such property, second only to tax liens and
liens for street improvements.  The lien amount shall include simple interest, which shall
accrue at the rate of ten percent (10%) per annum on the date the expenses were incurred by
the Town of Prosper.  The Town of Prosper may bring suit for foreclosure to recover the
expenditures and the interest due. 

Section 107.3 Method of Service.  Such notice shall be deemed to be properly served if a
copy thereof is: 

a) Delivered personally to the property Owner and/or to the person responsible for the violation
in writing; 

b) Sent by letter addressed to the property Owner at the property Owner’s address as recorded
in the appraisal district records of the appraisal district in which the property is located or sent
by letter addressed to the person responsible for the violation; or

c) If personal service of the property Owner cannot be obtained, then: 
1) by publication in the Town’s official newspaper at least once; or

Page 200

Item 17.



2) by posting on or near the front door of each building on the property to which the
violation relates; or

3) by posting a notice to a placard attached to the building or stake driven into the ground
on the property to which the violation relates. 

d) If the Town mails a notice to the property owner in accordance with this Section, and the
United States Postal Service returns the notice as “ refused,” “ unclaimed,” or if the address
required by subsection 107.3(2) was used and the notice is returned as “not deliverable as
addressed” (or equivalent marking), the validity of the notice is not affected, and is considered
as delivered. 

Section 109.5 Costs of Emergency Repairs.  Costs incurred in the performance of emergency
work shall be paid by the Town of Proper and may be reimbursed by the property owner.  The
Town of Prosper may seek reimbursement from the property owner for the performance of
emergency work.  The legal counsel of the Town of Prosper may institute appropriate action
against the owner of the premises where the unsafe structure is or was located for the recovery
of such costs. 

Section 111.1 Written Explanation for Appeal.  The Town of Prosper Construction Board of
Appeals will serve as the Board of Appeals.  Any person directly affected by a decision of the
code official or his/her designee or a notice or order issued under this code shall have the right to
appeal to the Construction Board of Appeals, provided that a written explanation for appeal is filed
within twenty ( 20) days after the day the decision, notice or order was served.  A written
explanation for appeal shall be based on a claim that the true intent of this code or the rules legally
adopted there under have been incorrectly interpreted, the provisions of this code do not fully
apply, or the requirements of this code are adequately satisfied by other means. 

Section 202 Definition of “ Easement.”  The definition of an “easement” shall be the definition
of that term as found in the Town of Prosper Subdivision Ordinance as it currently exists or may
be amended. 

Section 302.4 Vegetation & Weeds.  All premises and exterior property shall be maintained free
from vegetation that creates a nuisance and shall meet the requirements as defined in the Town
of Prosper Unsightly Vegetation, Trash, and Debris, Ordinance No. 04-118, as it currently exists
or may be amended.  Vegetation shall exclude regularly cultivated flowers and gardens located
on private property.  Landscape beds shall be maintained as originally planted.  A property owner
may elect to make landscape bed improvements or remove landscape beds at a property, unless
otherwise required.  Trees and shrubs and the like shall be maintained.  Vegetation shall not
encroach into a pedestrian walkway or vehicular traveled way.  Landscape beds not maintained
shall be presumed to be a nuisance, objectionable, unsanitary, and unsightly. 

Upon failure of the property owner having ownership of a property when the violation was initially
observed and requested to abate said violation after service of a notice of violation, the owner
shall be subject to prosecution in accordance with Section 106.4 and as prescribed by the Town
of Prosper.  Upon failure to comply with the notice of violation, any duly authorized employee or
official of the Town of Prosper or agent hired by the Town of Prosper shall be authorized to enter
upon the property in violation and correct the violation thereon.  All costs of such corrections shall
be paid by the owner responsible for the property to the Town of Prosper at the rates and fees
referenced in Section 106.4 until such fee is reimbursed for services rendered. 

Section 302.7 Accessory Structures.  All accessory structures, including detached garages, 

j

Page 201

Item 17.



fences and walls, shall be maintained structurally sound and in good repair.  Fences and retaining
walls that are broken, loose, damaged, missing parts (i.e. pickets, slates, posts, wood rails, brick, 
and panels) shall be repaired, replaced, or removed.  Each structural or decorative member of a
fence or retaining wall shall be free of deterioration and be compatible in size, material, and
appearance with the remainder of the fence or retaining wall.  A fence or retaining wall that has
deteriorated to a condition that is likely to fall or if any portion of the fence is more than 15 degrees
out of vertical alignment shall be repaired, replaced or removed.  Fences or retaining walls shall
not be externally braced in lieu of replacing or repairing steel post, columns, or other structural
members.   

Section 302.7.1 Portable Storage Container(s) and/or unit(s).  It shall be unlawful for any
person, occupant, or owner to place on any public street or Town right-of-way a portable storage
container( s) and/or unit(s) including but not limited to PODS, Mobile Mini, Smart Box, and Mini
Storage Units.  Furthermore, such portable storage container(s) and or unit(s) shall not be placed
on any property for a period longer than Forty-five (45) consecutive days. 

Section 304.7 Roofs and Drainage.  The roof and flashing shall be sound, tight, and not have
defects that admit rain.  Roof drainage shall be adequate to prevent dampness or deterioration in
the walls or interior portion of the structure.  Roof drains, gutters and downspouts shall be
maintained in good repair and free from obstructions. Roof water shall not be discharged in a
manner that creates a public nuisance.  

Section 304.14 Insect Screens.  At all times every door, window and other outside opening
required for ventilation of habitable rooms, food preparation areas, food service areas, or any
areas where products to be included or utilized in food for human consumption are processed, 
manufactured, packaged or stored, shall be supplied with approved tightly fitting screens of not
less than 16 mesh per inch ( 16 mesh per 25 mm), and every swinging door shall have a
self-closing device in good working condition . 

Section 308.2. Disposal of Garbage.  Every occupant of a structure shall dispose of garbage, 
trash and/or any other debris in a clean and sanitary manner by placing such garbage, trash and
other debris into a municipality approved garbage container for disposal or dispose of garbage, 
trash, and other debris at an approved facility. 

Section 308.2.2 Refrigerators & Other Similar Equipment.  Appliances, furniture, and other
similar household equipment and debris shall not be discarded, abandoned or stored in any
manner that may create an attractive nuisance for children or pets or in a manner that may create
a life/safety hazard. 

Section 308.3.1. Garbage Facilities.  The owner of every dwelling or rental dwelling shall supply
all of the following: an approved mechanical food waste grinder in each dwelling unit, unless, 
otherwise provided, and an approved outside, covered garbage container. 

Section 308.4 Residential Bulk Waste.  Every occupant of a residential structure shall place
bulk waste, including but not limited to vegetation, tree limbs, appliances, furniture or any
household goods intended for disposal no earlier than 48 hours prior to the scheduled date for
bulk pick-up.  If required, it shall be the responsibility of the occupant to notify the bulk collection
agency of the need to collect the material. 

Section 309.4 Multiple Occupancy.  The owner of a structure containing two or more dwelling
units, a multiple occupancy, a rooming house or a nonresidential structure shall be responsible

Page 202

Item 17.



for extermination in the public or shared areas of the structure and exterior property.  If infestation
is caused by failure of an occupant to prevent such infestation in the area occupied, the occupant
shall be responsible for the extermination, unless exempt by contractual agreement. 

Section 309.5 Occupant.  The occupant of any structure shall be responsible for the continued
rodent and pest-free condition of the structure, unless exempt by contractual agreement. 

Section 404.7 Food Preparation.  All spaces to be occupied for food preparation purposes shall
contain suitable space and equipment to store, prepare and serve foods in a sanitary manner.  
There shall be adequate facilities and services for the sanitary disposal of food wastes and refuse, 
including facilities for temporary storage.  All spaces to be occupied or utilized for food preparation
purposes shall comply with the Town of Prosper’s Health & Sanitation Code, as it currently exists
or may be amended. 

Section 602.2 Residential Occupancies.  Dwellings shall be provided with heating facilities
capable of maintaining a room temperature of sixty-eight degrees Fahrenheit ( 68°F), or twenty
degrees Celsius (20°C), in all habitable rooms, bathrooms and toilet rooms.  Cooking appliances
shall not be used to provide space heating to meet the requirements of this Section.  Space
heaters shall not be used as a primary source to provide heat for habitable rooms, bathrooms, 
and toilet rooms. 

Section 602.3. Heat Supply.  Every owner and operator of any building who rents, leases or lets
one or more dwelling units, rooming unit, dormitory or guestroom on terms, either expressed or
implied, to furnish heat to the occupants thereof, shall supply heat at all times to maintain a
temperature of not less than sixty-eight degrees Fahrenheit (68°F), or twenty degrees Celsius
20°C), in all habitable rooms, bathrooms, and toilet rooms. 

Section 602.4 Occupiable Work Spaces.  Indoor occupied work spaces shall be supplied with
heat at all times to maintain a temperature of not less than sixty-five degrees Fahrenheit ( 65°F), 
or eighteen degrees Celsius (18°C), during the period the spaces are occupied.  All ‘Exceptions’ 
listed in this Section are included. 

Section 701.2 Responsibility.  The owner of the premises shall provide and maintain such fire
safety facilities and equipment in compliance with these requirements of the Town of Prosper ’s
Fire Code and Building Codes, as they currently exist or may be amended.  A person shall not
occupy as an owner, occupant or permit another person to occupy any premises that do not
comply with the requirements of Chapter 7 of this code. 

Chapter 8 - Referenced Standards.  Unless otherwise noted, the adoption of the 2015
International Property Maintenance Code, with amendments, will refer to the Town of Prosper’s
Zoning and Subdivision Ordinances as they currently exist or may be amended, the Building, Fire, 
Plumbing, Mechanical, Electrical, Health & Sanitation Codes, and any other ordinance or code
adopted by the Town of Prosper, as they currently exist or may be amended.  The Town of
Prosper rescinds reference to the International Zoning Code. 

1

Page 203

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-__, Page 1

TOWN OF PROSPER, TEXAS ORDINANCE NO. 2023- 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF PROSPER, 
TEXAS, REPEALING ARTICLE 5.03, “ FIRE CODE,” OF CHAPTER 5, “ FIRE
PREVENTION AND PROTECTION,” OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE
TOWN OF PROSPER, TEXAS, AND REPLACING IT WITH A NEW ARTICLE
5.03, “ FIRE CODE,” OF CHAPTER 5, “ FIRE PREVENTION AND
PROTECTION,” OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE TOWN OF
PROSPER, TEXAS, WITH THE EXCEPTION OF THE FOLLOWING EXISTING
INTERNATIONAL FIRE CODE SECTIONS CONTAINED THEREIN: SECTIONS
903.2, “ WHERE REQUIRED”; 903.2.7, “ GROUP R”; 903.2.8.3, 903.2.10.3, 
903.2.10.4, 903.2.10.5, AND 903.2.10.6, “ BUILDINGS OVER 5,000 SQUARE
FEET,” WHICH SECTIONS SHALL REMAIN IN FULL FORCE AND EFFECT
AND ARE INCORPORATED INTO THIS ORDINANCE; PRESCRIBING
REGULATIONS GOVERNING CONDITIONS HAZARDOUS TO LIFE AND
PROPERTY FROM FIRE, HAZARDOUS MATERIALS. AND EXPLOSIONS; 
PROVIDING FOR A PENALTY FOR THE VIOLATION OF THIS ORDINANCE; 
PROVIDING FOR REPEALING, SAVINGS, AND SEVERABILITY CLAUSES; 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE; AND PROVIDING FOR THE
PUBLICATION OF THE CAPTION HEREOF. 

WHEREAS, in 2018, the Town Council of the Town of Prosper, Texas (“ Town Council”), 
adopted the International Fire Code, 2015 Edition, copyrighted by the International Code
Commission, Inc., with certain amendments thereto, in Ordinance No. 18-95: and

WHEREAS, the prior provisions of the Fire Code, adopted by Ordinance No. 04-98, 
contained certain provisions related to residential fire suppression, among others, and it is the
intent of the Town Council to retain those same provisions in all subsequent editions, and local
amendments thereto, of the International Fire Code; and

WHEREAS, the Town of Prosper, Texas (“Town”), has investigated and determined that
it would be advantageous and beneficial to the citizens of the Town to repeal existing Article 5.03, 
Fire Code,” of Chapter 5, “Fire Prevention and Protection,” and replace existing Article 5.03 with

a new Article 5.03, while retaining certain provisions contained in said Article 5.03 related to
residential fire suppression; and

WHEREAS, a committee of fire code professionals was assembled by the North Central
Texas Council of Governments to recommend local amendments specific to the needs of North
Central Texas, and in the past, the Town has regularly adopted these recommended amendments
so that most municipalities in the region use the same or similar fire code standards; and

WHEREAS, the Town Council has investigated and determined that it would be in the
public interest to adopt the International Fire Code, 2021 Edition, including the deletions and
amendments set forth below. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF
PROSPER, TEXAS, THAT: 

SECTION 1

The findings set forth above are incorporated into the body of this Ordinance as if fully set
forth herein. 

Page 204

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-__, Page 2

SECTION 2

With the exception of Sections 903.2, “Where Required”; 903.2.7, “Group R”; 903.2.8.3, 
903.2.10.3, “Buildings More Than 35 Feet in Height”; 903.2.10.4, 903.2.10.5, and 903.2.10.6, 
Buildings Over 5,500 Square Feet,” all of which foregoing Fire Code sections presently are in

effect and contained in Section 5.03.002, “ Amendments,” of Chapter 5, “ Fire Prevention and
Protection,” of the Code of Ordinances of the Town of Prosper, Texas, shall remain in full force
and effect and are incorporated into this Ordinance, while the remainder of Article 5.03, “ Fire
Code,” of Chapter 5, “Fire Prevention and Protection,” is hereby repealed in its entirety, except to
the extent noted herein, and the effective date of the repeal referenced in this Section shall not
occur until the effective date of this Ordinance.  Such repeal shall not abate any pending
prosecution and/or lawsuit or prevent any prosecution and/or lawsuit from being commenced for
any violation occurring before the effective date of this Ordinance. 

SECTION 3

From and after the effective date of this Ordinance, existing Article 5.03, “Fire Code,” of
Chapter 5, “Fire Prevention and Protection,” of the Code of Ordinances of the Town of Prosper, 
Texas, is hereby repealed in its entirety and replaced by a new Article 5.03, “Fire Code,” to read
as follows: 

ARTICLE 5.03.  FIRE CODE

Sec. 5.03.001 Adopted. 

The International Fire Code, 2021 Edition, copyrighted by the International Code Council, Inc., 
including all chapters and Appendices A, B, C, D, E, F, G, H, I, J, K, L, M, and N, attached hereto
and incorporated herein for all purposes, is hereby adopted as the Fire Code for the Town of
Prosper. The International Fire Code, 2021 Edition, is made a part of this Ordinance as if fully set
forth herein.  A copy of the International Fire Code, 2021 Edition copyrighted by the International
Code Council, Inc., is on file in the office of the Town Secretary and is marked and designated as
the 2021 International Fire Code. 

Sec. 5.03.002 Amendments. 

The following Sections and Appendices of the International Fire Code, 2021 Edition, are hereby
changed, added, or deleted as follows: 

a) Enforcement

The Fire Chief, the Fire Marshal, or designated department personnel is hereby authorized
and directed to enforce all provisions of the International Fire Code as adopted herein and as
amended. 

b) Definitions

The following words, terms, and phrases, when used in the fire code adopted in this article, 
shall have the meanings ascribed to them in this section, except where the context clearly
indicates a different meaning: 

1) Whenever the word “jurisdiction” is used in the International Fire Code, it shall mean the
corporate limits of the Town of Prosper, Texas. 

Page 205

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-__, Page 3

2) Whenever the words “ code official” are used in the International Fire Code, they shall
mean the Fire Chief, the Fire Marshal, or designated department personnel of the Prosper
Fire Department. 

c) Fire Code Amendments

The following amendments repeal and reenact or add sections of the fire code adopted in this
article for the purpose of consistency with specific past practices and the recommendations of the
North Central Texas Council of Governments: 

2021 Edition. In addition, the following amendments further repeal and reenact or add sections
to the International Fire Code, 2021 Edition, adopted in this article for the purpose of consistency
with specific past practices and the recommendations of the North Central Texas Council of
Governments and surrounding jurisdictions and all sections not expressly amended remain in full
force and effect as adopted. 

Section 101.1 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

101.1 Title. These regulations shall be known as the Fire Code of the Town of Prosper, 
hereinafter referred to as “this Code.” 

Section 102.1 item 3 shall be amended to read as follows: 

3.  Existing structures, facilities, and conditions when required in Chapter 11 or in specific
sections of this code. 

Section 102.4 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

102.4 Application of other codes. The design and construction of new structures shall
comply with this Code, and other codes as applicable, and any alterations, additions, changes
in use, or changes in structures required by this code, which are within the scope of the
International Building Code, shall be made in accordance therewith. 

Section 102.7 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

102.7 Referenced codes and standards. The codes and standards referenced in this Code
shall be those that are listed in Chapter 80 and such codes when specifically adopted, and
standards shall be considered part of the requirements of this Code to the prescribed extent
of each such reference and as further regulated in Sections 102.7.1 and 102.7.2.  

Section 102.7.2 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

102.7.2 Provisions in referenced codes and standards. Where the extent of the reference
to a referenced code or standard includes subject matter that is within the scope of this code
and any adopted amendments, the provisions of this code and any adopted amendments, as
applicable, shall take precedence over the provisions in the referenced code or standard.  

Section 102.7.3 is hereby added to read as follows: 

102.7.3 Design guides. “Design guides” as reference in this code, and as issued by the
Fire Department, are published with the intent and have the effect as provided for in Section
104.1 of this code.  

Page 206

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-__, Page 4

Section 102.7.3 is hereby added to read as follows: 

102.7.3 Specifically referenced editions of codes and standards. The most currently
published editions shall be specifically adopted for referenced NFPA standards. 

Section 103.1 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

103.1 General. The fire code shall be enforced by the Division of Fire Prevention. The Division
of Fire Prevention is hereby established as a division of the Fire Department of the Town of
Prosper and shall be operated under the supervision of the Chief of the Fire Department. 

Section 103.2 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

103.2 Appointment. The Fire Marshal in charge of the Division of Fire Prevention shall be
appointed by the Fire Chief based on proper qualification. 

Section 103.3 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

103.3 Deputies. The Fire Chief or Fire Marshal may detail such members of the Fire
Department as deputies, inspectors, and other technical officers as shall from time to time be
necessary and each member so assigned shall be authorized to enforce the provisions of the
International Fire Code.   

Section 105.3.3 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

105.3.3. Occupancy prohibited before approval. The building or structure shall not be
occupied prior to the fire code official issuing a permit when required and conducting
associated inspections indicating the applicable provisions of this Code have been met. 

Section 105.5 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

105.5 Required operational permits. The fire code official is authorized to issue
operational permits for the operations set forth in Sections 105.5.1 through 105.5.56.  

Section 105.5.29 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

105.5.29 LP-gas. An operational permit is required for: 

1. Storage and use of LP-gas. 

Exception: A permit is not required for individual containers with a 20-pound (9.0 kg) 
water capacity or less serving occupancies in Group R-3. 

2. Operation of cargo tankers that transport LP-gas

Section 105.5 is hereby amended by adding the following new provisions: 

105.5.53 Cooking Tent. An operational permit is required for the operation of a cooking tent.  

105.5.54 Fire Fighter Air Replenishment System. An operational permit is required to
maintain a FARS.  

Section 105.6.24 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

Page 207

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-__, Page 5

105.6.24 Temporary membrane structure and tents. A construction permit is required to
operate an air-supported temporary membrane structure, a temporary special event
structure, a temporary state canopy or a tent having an area of 400 square feet or greater. 

Exception: Tents used exclusively for recreational camping purposes.  

105.6.25 shall be added to read as follows:  

105.6.25 Electronic access control systems. Construction permits are required for the
installation or modification of an electronic access control system, as specified in Section 504
and Chapter 10. A separate construction permit is required for the installation or modification
of a fire alarm system that may be connected to the access control system. Maintenance
performed in accordance with this code is not considered a modification and does not require
a permit. 

105.6.26 shall be added to read as follows:  

105.6.26 Emergency and Standby Power Systems. Construction permits are required for
the installation or modification of an emergency and standby power systems, as specified in
Section 604 and Chapter 12. 

Exception: A permit is not required for portable generators in compliance with Section 1204
for a temporary use. 

107.2 Schedule of Permit and Inspection Fees. A fee for each permit and inspection shall be
paid as required, in accordance with this section.  

107.2.1 Inspection Fees. The following fees shall be assessed as outlined below for the initial
inspection. 

1. Residential fire suppression fee   $ 200

2. Commercial fire sprinkler system fee   $ 300 Per Riser

3. Commercial fire suppression (special hazards) fee $ 300 Per System

4. Standpipe Systems     $ 300 Per Riser

5. Commercial fire alarm system   $ 300 Per Panel

6. Commercial fire alarm system modification  $ 300

7. Emergency responder communications system $ 300

8. Building Access Controlled Doors   $ 100

9. Access Controlled Vehicular Gates   $ 300

10. Fire Pump fee      $ 300

11. Fire Sprinkler Underground Water Line  $ 100

12. Remote FDC Underground Water Line  $ 100

Page 208

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-__, Page 6

13. Fire Lane Repair/Modification/Alteration  $ 100

14. Tent, Membrane Structures    $ 50

15. Re-Inspection Fees      $ 150 Per Hour (1-hour minimum) 

16. Inspection fees for which no fire fee was assessed.  $150 Per Hour (1-hour minimum) 

17. Flammable Liquid Storage Tanks   $ 250

18. LP Gas Stationary Tanks    $ 250

19. LP Portable Container Site (retail sales)  $ 100 Per Site

20. Above Ground Storage Tank Removal  $ 100

21. Repair of Existing Tank    $ 100

22. Underground Storage Tank New   $ 250

23. Underground Storage Tank Removal   $ 150

24. Mechanical Trench Burn    $ 500

25. Standby/Emergency Generator   $ 100 Per Generator

26. After Hour Inspections     $ 150 Per Hour (1-hour minimum)  

27. Fire Hydrant Flow Test    $ 100

28. For use of outside consultants for inspections, actual costs.  

29. Fireworks Display $250 per event plus standby personnel as needed. 

30. Standby personnel for the fireworks display and special events if deemed necessary in
the interest of public safety $ 65 per hour, per staff member ( minimum 4 hours). The
minimum number of personnel shall be set by the Fire Chief or Fire Marshal.  

31. Fee of $100 will be assessed for any inspections in which the contractor does not show
up. 

32. Fee of $100 will be assessed for any inspection that is not cancelled within 24 hours prior
to the scheduled inspection. 

33. Unless stipulated elsewhere in this section, a minimum fee of $100 shall be assessed for
any plan review and/or permits issued. 

107.2.2 Operational and Construction Permit Fee. Permits fees shall be assessed in
accordance with this section, or as outlined in Table 106.1. 

Page 209

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-__, Page 7

1. All operational permits listed in section 105.5 shall be assessed a minimum permit
fee of $ 100 annually, unless otherwise noted in this section.  Maximum of $200
per year per facility. 

2. All construction permits listed in section 105.6 shall be assessed a minimum permit
fee of $100, unless otherwise noted in Section 107.2. 

3. Special Amusement Buildings shall be assessed an operational permit fee of $100
annually. 

107.2.3 Plan review fees: 

1. Plan review required by changes, additions, or revisions to plans $100 per hour (1-hour
minimum)  

2. For use of outside consultants for plan review, actual costs

3. For use of outside consultants for plan review, inspections, or both: actual costs

4. Expedited plan review for projects less than 20,000 square feet shall be assessed a fee
of $500 in addition to any other inspection or permitting fees. Expedited plans shall be at
the discretion of the Fire Marshal or designee on a case-by-case basis. 

107.2.4 Burn permit fees: 

1. Contractors or property owners per occurrence ( one-acre minimum) $ 150.00 deposit
required. If the Fire Department responds, and or extinguishes the fire for failure to comply
with the conditions outlined on the permit, the deposit fee is non-refundable. 

2. Agricultural/ contractor/property owner (over one acre), per occurrence per day $150.00.  

107.4 Work commencing before permit issuance. Any person, firm, partnership, corporation, 
association, or other entity who commences any work, activity or operation regulated by this code
before obtaining the necessary permits and or approval, shall be deemed guilty of a misdemeanor
and, upon conviction thereof, shall be fined in the sum of not more than $2,000.00, and each day
work continues shall constitute a separate and distinct violation. 

107.4.1 All applicable fees shall be doubled for the respective permit and inspection types
regulated by this section in which the installation of the said system has commenced
without the issuance of a permit(s).  

Section 107.7 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

107.7 Inspection fees. An inspection or re-inspection shall not be scheduled until the
applicable fees in Section 107.2 have been paid. 

Section 108.2 is hereby amended by adding a new Section 108.2.1.1 to read as follows: 

108.2.1.1 Pretesting of systems prior to inspection request. It shall be the responsibility
of the permit holder to pre-test all work to be inspected in order ensure that such work was
completed per approved plans, function as designed, and in compliance with applicable
codes, standards, and regulations. The request for an inspection will be prima facia

Page 210

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-__, Page 8

evidence that the systems has been pretested.   

108.2.2.3 shall be added to read as follows:  

108.2.2.3 Inspection fees applicability. The Fire Marshal or his designated representative
shall inspect all buildings, premises, or portions thereof as often as may be necessary. Annual
inspection and one (1) re-inspection shall be made free of charge. If the Fire Marshal or his
designee is required to make follow-up inspections after the initial inspection and re-inspection
to determine whether a violation or violations observed during the previous inspection have
been corrected, a fee shall be charged. The occupant, lessee, or a person making use of the
building or premises shall pay said fee or fees in advance of a re-inspection or within 30 days
of being billed as a condition to continued lawful occupancy of the building or premises. 

Section 108.5 is hereby added to read as follows:  

108.5 Annual Fire Protection and Life Safety System Testing. The annual testing of all fire
sprinkler systems, fire alarm systems, fire extinguishing systems, hood extinguishing systems, 
fire pumps, and any other life safety equipment requiring quarterly, semi-annual, or annual
testing shall be completed by a licensed fire protection systems contractor. Any fire protection
systems contractors working within the Town of Prosper are required to submit all compliant
and deficiencies reports to the Fire Department. The reports will need to be submitted using
the process established by the Fire Department. 

Section 111.1 shall be amended to read as follows: 

111.1 Appeals. Whenever the fire code official shall disapprove an application or refuse to
grant a permit applied for, or when it is claimed that the provisions of the fire prevention code
do not apply or that the true intent and meaning of this code have been misconstrued or
wrongly interpreted, the applicant may appeal from the decision of the code official to the
Construction Board of Appeals within thirty (30) days from the date of the decision appealed. 

Section 112.3.5 shall be added to read as follows:  

112.3.5 Citations. It is the intent of this department to achieve compliance by the traditional
means of inspection, notification, granting of reasonable time to comply, and re-inspection.  
After all reasonable means to gain compliance have failed, or when a condition exists that
causes an immediate and/or extreme threat to life, property, or safety from fire or explosion, 
the Fire Marshal, or his designee who have the discretionary duty to enforce a code or
ordinance may issue a notice to appear ( citation) for the violation. Citations shall be issued
only by qualified personnel as designated by the Fire Marshal. 

Notwithstanding any other provision of this code or of the International Fire Code a citation
may be issued without prior notice and the opportunity to correct the condition or violation. 

Section 112.4 shall be amended to read as follows:  

112.4 Violation penalties. Any person, firm, partnership, corporation, association, or other
entity violating any provision of this article, or any code provision adopted herein shall be
deemed guilty of a misdemeanor and, upon conviction thereof, shall be fined in the sum of not
more than $2,000.00, and each day such violation continues shall constitute a separate and
distinct violation.  

Section 112.4.2 shall be added to read as follows:  

Page 211

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-__, Page 9

112.4.2 Applicability. A person, firm, partnership, corporation, association, or other entity
shall be presumed to be the violator if the person, firm, partnership, corporation, association, 
or other entity is the owner or occupant of the subject property, exercises actual or apparent
control over the subject property, or is listed as the water customer of the town for the subject
property. 

Section 113.4 shall be amended to read as follows:  

113.4 Failure to comply. Any person, firm, partnership, corporation, association, or other
entity who shall continue any work after having been served with a stop-work order, except
any work as that person is directed to perform to remove a violation or unsafe condition, shall
be deemed guilty of a misdemeanor and, upon conviction thereof, shall be fined in a sum of
not more than $2,000.00, and each day such action continues shall constitute a separate and
distinct violation. 

Definitions Section 202 is hereby amended to add certain new definitions to be inserted in the
existing list of definitions in alphabetical order and to amend certain of the current definitions, in
whole or in part, to read as follows: 

Addressable Fire Detection System. Any system capable of providing identification of each
individual alarm-initiating device. The identification shall be in plain English and as descriptive
as possible to specifically identify the location of the device in alarm. The system shall have
the capability of alarm verification. 

Ambulatory Health Care Facility. Buildings or portions thereof are used to provide medical, 
surgical, psychiatric, nursing, or similar care on a less than 24-hour basis to persons who are
rendered incapable of self-preservation. This group may include, but not be limited to the
following: 

Dialysis centers
Sedation dentistry
Surgery center
Colonic centers
Psychiatric centers

Analog or Digital Intelligent Addressable Fire Detection System. Any system capable of
calculating a change in value by directly measurable quantities (voltage, resistance, etc.) at
the sensing point. The physical-digital and/or analog testing may be conducted at the sensing
point or the main control panel. The system shall be capable of compensating for long-term
changes in sensor response while maintaining a constant sensitivity. The compensation shall
have a preset point at which a detector maintenance signal shall be transmitted to the control
panel. The sensor shall remain capable of detecting and transmitting an alarm while in
maintenance alert. 

Atrium. An opening connecting three or more stories… {remaining text unchanged}. 

Defend In Place. A method of emergency response that engages building components and
trained staff to provide occupant safety during an emergency. Emergency response involves
remaining in place, relocating within the building, or both, without evacuating the building.  

Cooking Tent. A tent or multiple tents without sidewalls or drops, with an aggregate area of
no greater than 200 square feet that is used to cover cooking appliances or devices and is

Page 212

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-__, Page 10

not occupied by the public. Cooking tents shall meet NFPA 701.  

Fire Watch. A temporary measure intended to ensure continuous and systematic surveillance
of a building or portion thereof by one or more qualified individuals or standby personnel when
required by the fire code official, for the purposes of identifying and controlling fire hazards, 
detecting early signs of unwanted fire, raising an alarm of fire, and notifying the fire
department. 

Fireworks. Any composition or device for the purpose of producing a visible or an audible
effect for entertainment purposes by combustion, deflagration, detonation, and/or activated
by ignition with a match or other heat-producing device that meets the definition of 1.4G
fireworks or 1.3G fireworks as set forth herein. … { remainder of text unchanged}. 

High-Piled Combustible Storage. Storage of combustible materials in closely packed piles
or combustible materials on pallets, in racks, or on shelves where the top of storage is greater
than 12 feet ( 3658 mm) in height. When required by the fire code official, high-piled
combustible storage also includes certain high-hazard commodities, such as rubber tires, 
Group A plastics, flammable liquids, idle pallets, and similar commodities, where the top of
storage is greater than 6 feet (1829 mm) in height.  

Any building exceeding 5,000 sq. ft. that has a clear height above 14 feet, making it possible
to be used for storage above 12 feet, shall be considered to be high-piled storage. When a
specific product cannot be identified, a fire protection system and life safety features shall be
installed for Class IV commodities, to the maximum pile height.  

High-Rise Building. A building with an occupied floor located more than 55 feet above the
lowest level of fire department vehicle access. 

Repair Garage. A building, structure, or portion thereof used for servicing or repairing motor
vehicles. This occupancy shall also include garages involved in minor repair, modification, 
and servicing of motor vehicles for items such as lube changes, inspections, windshield repair
or replacement, shocks, minor part replacement, and other such minor repairs. 

Self-Service Storage Facility. Real property designed and used for the purpose of renting or
leasing individual storage spaces to customers for the purpose of storing and removing
personal property on a self-service basis. 

Standby Personnel. Qualified fire service personnel, approved by the Fire Chief or Fire
Marshal. When utilized, the number required shall be as directed by the Fire Chief. Charges
for utilization shall be as normally calculated by the jurisdiction. 

Strategic Access Point (SAP). An apparatus access area located along an apparatus
access road designed to improve operational needs and emergency response. 

Upgraded or Replaced Fire Alarm System.  A fire alarm system that is upgraded or replaced
includes, but is not limited to the following: 

Replacing one single board or fire alarm control unit component with a newer model
Installing a new fire alarm control unit in addition to or in place of an existing one
Conversion from a horn system to an emergency voice/alarm communication system
Conversion from a conventional system to one that utilizes addressable or analog devices

Page 213

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-__, Page 11

The following are not considered an upgrade or replacement: 

Firmware updates
Software updates
Replacing boards of the same model with chips utilizing the same or newer firmware

Section 202 is hereby amended by adding the following sentence to the end of the current
definition of “Manual Dry” under the heading “ STANDPIPE, TYPES OF”: 

The system must be supervised as specified in Section 905.2. 

Section 307 shall be amended to read as follows: 

Section 307, Open Burning. All open burning shall first require an approved permit and shall
be conducted in a safe manner approved by the Fire Marshal or designee in full compliance
with the TCEQ Outdoor Burning Rules described in The Texas Administrative Code (TAC), 
Title 30, Part 1, Chapter 111.209 (1), (2), (3), (4) (A), (6), (7) that provide the laws pertaining
to outdoor burning exceptions.   Approved burn days shall be determined by the respective
county. 

Section 307.1.1 shall be amended to read as follows: 

307.1.1 Prohibited Open Burning.  Open burning that is offensive or objectionable because
of smoke emissions or when atmospheric conditions or local circumstances make such fires
hazardous shall be prohibited. 

Exception: {No change.} 

Section 307.2; shall be amended to read as follows: 

307.2 Permit Required.  A permit shall be obtained from the fire code official in accordance
with Section 105.6 prior to kindling a fire for recognized silvicultural or range or wildlife
management practices, prevention or control of disease or pests, or open burning. Application
for such approval shall only be presented by and permits issued to the owner of the land upon
which the fire is to be kindled. 

Examples of state or local law or regulations referenced elsewhere in this section may include
but not be limited to the following: 

1.  Texas Commission on Environmental Quality (TCEQ) guidelines and/or restrictions. 
2.  State, County, or Local temporary or permanent bans on open burning. 
3.  Local written policies as established by the fire code official. 

Section 307.3 shall be amended to read as follows: 

307.3 Extinguishment authority The fire code official is authorized to order the
extinguishment by the permit holder, another person responsible, or the fire department of
open burning that creates or adds to a hazardous or objectionable situation. 

Section 307.4 and 307.4.1 shall be amended to read as follows: 

307.4 Location. The location for open burning shall not be less than 300 feet from any

Page 214

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-__, Page 12

structure, and provisions shall be made to prevent the fire from spreading to within 300 feet
of any structure.  

Exceptions: {No change.} 

307.4.1 Bonfires. A bonfire shall not be conducted within 500 feet, or greater distance as
determined by the fire code official, of a structure or combustible material unless the fire is
contained in a barbecue pit. Conditions that could cause a fire to spread within the required
setback 500 feet of a structure shall be eliminated prior to ignition. 

Section 307.4.3 add exception #2 to read as follows: 

Exceptions: 
1. { No change.} 
2. Where buildings, balconies, and decks are protected by an approved automatic sprinkler

system. 

Sections 307.4.4 and 307.4.5 shall be added to read as follows: 

307.4.4 Permanent Outdoor Firepit.  Permanently installed outdoor fire pits for recreational
fire purposes shall not be installed within 10 feet of a structure or combustible material.   

Exception:  Permanently installed outdoor fireplaces constructed in accordance with the
International Building Code or International Residential Code. 

307.4.5 Trench Burns.  Trench burns shall be conducted in air curtain trenches and in
accordance with Section 307.2. 

Section 307.5 shall be amended to read as follows: 

307.5 Attendance. Open burning, trench burns, bonfires, recreational fires, and use of
portable outdoor fireplaces shall be constantly attended until the… {Remainder of section
unchanged} 

308.1.4 shall be amended to read as follows: 

308.1.4 Open-flame cooking devices. Open-flame cooking devices, charcoal grills, and
other similar devices used for cooking shall not be located or used on combustible balconies, 
decks, or within 10 feet (3048 mm) of any combustible construction. 

Exceptions: 
1. One-and two-family dwellings, except that LP-gas containers are limited to a water

capacity not greater than 50 pounds ( 22.68 kg) [ nominal 20 pounds ( 9.08 kg) LP-gas
capacity with an aggregate LP-gas capacity not to exceed 100 pounds (5 containers). 

2. Where buildings, balconies, and decks are protected by an approved automatic sprinkler
system, except that LP-gas containers are limited to a water capacity not greater than 50
pounds ( 22.68 kg) nominal 20 pounds ( 9.08 kg) LP-gas capacity] with an aggregate LP-
gas capacity not to exceed 40 pounds (2 containers). 

3. { no change} 

Section 308.1.6.2, Exception 3 shall be amended to read as follows: 

3. Torches or flame-producing devices in accordance with Section 308.1.3

Page 215

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-__, Page 13

Section 308.1.6.3 shall be amended to read as follows: 

308.1.6.3 Sky Lanterns. A person shall not release or cause to be released any untethered
unmanned free-floating device containing an open flame or other heat sources, such as but
not limited to a sky lantern. 

Section 311.5 shall be amended to read as follows: 

311.5 Placards. The fire code official is authorized to require marking of any vacant or
abandoned buildings or structures determined to be unsafe to Section 114 of this code relating
to structural or interior hazards, as required by Section 311.5.1 through 311.5.5. 

Section 315.3.1 shall be amended to add the following: 

315.3.1 Ceiling clearances. The fire code official is authorized to require the marking of any
storage area known to be a common area for over stacking. Marking shall be a minimum of a
painted 2” red stripe with a minimum of a painted 1” tall white letters stating, “DO NOT STACK
ABOVE THIS LINE.” 

A new Section 322 entitled Food Booths is hereby adopted to read as follows:  

SECTION 322 FOOD BOOTHS

322.1 General. The requirements of this section shall apply to the installation and use of food
booths and tents not regulated by Chapter 31. 

322.2 Permits. It shall be unlawful to operate a food booth without a permit as outlined in
Section 105.6. 

Exceptions: 
1. When a special event permit is associated with the event, the permit issued by the

Town of Prosper will be acceptable. 
2. When the food booth tent exceeds a total singular area above 400 sq. ft., they shall

comply with the requirements of Chapter 31. 

322.3. Fire Extinguishers. One (1) 2A-10B: C fire extinguisher shall be required for all food
booths. Booths with cooking operations that create grease-laden vapors, including deep fat
fryers, griddles, etc., shall have a Class K fire extinguisher. 

320.4 Location. Food booths utilized for cooking shall have a minimum of 10 feet clearance
on two sides. 

Exception: When allowed by the Fire code official, food booths shall be permitted to be
grouped, not to exceed three ( 3) 10 foot by 10-foot tents/canopies, or as otherwise
permitted in writing. 

322.5 Cooking equipment location. Cooking equipment shall not be located within 10 feet
of combustible materials. Open flame cooking or cooking that produces grease-laden vapor
shall not be performed under the food booth. 

322.6 Acceptable Cooking Sources. The following are the only approved cooking sources
for food booths: 

Page 216

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-__, Page 14

1. Solid fuel, such as wood or charcoal
2. LPG
3. Natural Gas
4. Electricity

322.7 Generators. Fuel tanks shall be of adequate capacity to permit uninterrupted operation
during normal operating hours.  Generators shall be isolated from contact with the public. 
Storage of gasoline is not permitted in or near generators or food booths. 

322.8 Decorations. All decorative material shall be at least 10 feet away from any open flame, 
cooking element, or heat source or be flame resistant. 

322.9 Escape route. All concession stands shall have a minimum of a 3-foot aisle for
emergency escape. 

LPG. All equipment used in conjunction with LPG tanks shall be UL Listed. Tanks shall be
secured to prevent tipping or falling. Only one spare tank will be allowed in a food booth. 
Emptied propane tanks are to be removed from the site immediately after use. Tank shutoff
valves and/or additional shutoff valves shall be accessible and away from the cooking
appliance(s). Propane tanks shall not be within five feet of an ignition source. Propane tanks
shall not be located within 10 feet of a building door or window. 

A new Section 323 entitled EMS Elevator is hereby adopted to read as follows:  

SECTION 323 EMS ELEVATOR

Section 322.1 EMS Elevators. Where elevators are provided in buildings, the elevator, or not
less than one elevator per bank, shall be provided for fire department emergency access to
all floors. A single elevator shall constitute a bank. The elevator car shall be of such size and
arrangement to accommodate an ambulance stretcher 24 inches by 84 inches with not less
than 5-inch radius corners, in the horizontal, open position and shall be identified by the
international symbol for emergency medical services ( star of life). The symbol shall be not
less than 3 inches in height and shall be placed inside on both sides of the hoist way door
frame. 

Section 401.9 shall be added to read as follows:  

401.9 False Alarms and Nuisance Alarms. False alarms and nuisance alarms shall not be
given, signaled, transmitted, or caused or permitted to be given, signaled, or transmitted in
any manner. False alarms as defined by this ordinance and the Texas Penal Code, Section
46.02, shall be enforced according to the corresponding legal procedures. 

Section 401.9.1 shall be added to read as follows: 

Section 401.9.1 Violations. Shall be addressed per ordinance 11-49 or as amended. 

Section 403.4 is hereby amended to read as follows:  

403.4 Group E Occupancies. An approved fire safety and evacuation plan in accordance
with Section 404 shall be prepared and maintained for Group E occupancies and buildings
containing both a Group E occupancy and an atrium. A diagram depicting two evacuation
routes shall be posted in a conspicuous location in each classroom. Group E occupancies

Page 217

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-__, Page 15

shall also comply with Sections 403.4.1 through 403.4.3. 

Section 404.2.2 Fire Safety Plans add Number 4.10 to read as follows:  

4.10 Fire extinguishing system controls. 

Section 405.5 shall be added to read as follows:  

405.5 Time. The Fire code official may require an evacuation drill at any time. Drills shall be
held at unexpected times and under varying conditions to simulate the unusual conditions that
occur in case of fire.  

Exceptions:  
1.  { No change.}  
2.  { No change.}  
3. Notification of teachers/staff having supervision of light- or sound-sensitive

students/occupants, such as those on the autism spectrum, for the protection of those
students/occupants, shall be allowed before conducting a drill.  

Section 501.4 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

501.4 Timing of installation. When fire apparatus access roads or a water supply for fire
protection is required to be installed for any structure or development, they shall be installed, 
tested, and approved before the time of which construction has progressed beyond
completion of the foundation of any structure. 

Section 503.1.1 Buildings and facilities are hereby amended to insert the following language
beginning in a new paragraph situated between the end of the current provision and the
list of exceptions. 

Except for one- or two-family dwellings, the path of measurement shall be along the minimum
of a ten-foot (10') wide unobstructed level pathway around the external walls of the structure
and all barriers. A continuous row of parking between the fire lane and the structure shall be
considered a barrier. Landscaping may also be considered a barrier based upon the location
of type. Where an interior fully enclosed courtyard if provided, the fire code official is
authorized to provide a 10-foot wide, unobstructed straight carriageway from the approved
fire apparatus access road to the courtyard for the purposes of hose lay and rescue.  The
carriageway shall be provided on at least two different sides of the enclosed courtyard from
the approved fire apparatus access road. 

The provisions of this section notwithstanding, fire lanes may be required to be located within
thirty feet (30') of a building if deemed to be reasonably necessary by the fire code official to
enable proper protection of the building.  

Fire lane and access easements shall be provided to serve all buildings through parking areas, 
to service entrances of buildings, loading areas, trash collection areas, and other areas
deemed necessary to be available to fire and emergency vehicles. The fire code official is
authorized to designate additional requirements for fire lanes where the same is reasonably
necessary to provide access for fire and rescue personnel. 

During the platting process, fire lanes shall be identified as a “fire lane easement” and shall
match the site plan. Where fire lanes are provided and a plat is not required, the limits of the
fire lane easement shall be shown on a site plan and placed on permanent file with the Town

Page 218

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-__, Page 16

Planning Department and Fire Department. 

No owner or person in charge of any premise served by a fire lane or access easement shall
abandon, restrict, modify, or close any fire lane or easement without first securing from the
Town of Prosper approval of an amended plat or other acceptable legal instrument showing
the removal of the fire lane easement. 

Section 503.1 is hereby amended to add a new Section 503.1.4 to read as follows: 

503.1.4 Two points of access. A minimum of two points of approved fire apparatus access
shall be provided for each building, structure, and subdivision. The two points of access shall
be a minimum of 140 feet ( 140’) apart as measured edge of pavement to edge of the
pavement. 

Section 503.1 is hereby amended to add a new Section 503.1.5 to read as follows: 

Section 503.1.5 Residential subdivisions. The maximum dead-end cul-de-sac length shall
not exceed six hundred feet (600’) as measured from the centerline of the intersection street
to the center point of the radius. 

Section 503.2.1 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

503.2.1 Dimensions. Fire apparatus access roads shall have an unobstructed width of not
less than 24 feet (7,315 mm), exclusive of shoulders, except for approved security gates in
accordance with Section 503.6, and an unobstructed vertical clearance of not less than 14
feet (4,267 mm). 

Exception: Vertical clearance may be reduced; provided such reduction does not
impair access by fire apparatus and approved signs are installed and maintained
indicating the established vertical clearance when approved. 

Fire lane dimensions established by Appendix D, or other sections of this Code, shall be
superseded by the criteria established by this section.  

The requirements of Section D105 shall remain unchanged.  

Section 503.2.2 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

503.2.2 Authority. The fire code official shall have the authority to require an increase in the
minimum access widths and vertical clearances where they are inadequate for fire or rescue
operations or where necessary to meet the public safety objectives of the jurisdiction. 

Section 503.2.3 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

503.2.3 Surface. Construction of all fire lanes shall be in accordance with the Town of Prosper
Thoroughfare Design Manual and this section. 

Fire lanes shall be constructed of a concrete surface capable of supporting the imposed loads
of a 2-axle, 85,000 lb. fire apparatus. The design shall be based on the geotechnical
investigation of the site but shall meet the stated minimums. 

The fire lane shall be constructed with a minimum 6 in. thick, 3600 PSI concrete with steel
reinforcing of No. 3 bars spaced 24 in. on centers in each direction. 

Page 219

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-__, Page 17

The base course thickness shall be a minimum of 6 in. in thickness and shall consist of lime
or cement stabilization as recommended in the Geotechnical Report. 

Where lime or cement stabilization is not practical, the standard pavement thickness may be
increased by 1 in. and a minimum of 6 in. flexible base course in lieu of treating the sub-grade
with lime or cement. The base course shall consist of a minimum 6 in. flexible base course
over a compacted sub-base to 95% Standard Proctor density, or 6 in. of asphalt base as
approved by the Town. 

Whenever forty percent ( 40%) of existing, non-conforming fire lanes are replaced within a
twelve-month period, the entire fire lane shall be replaced according to current standards. 

All fire lanes shall be maintained and kept in a good state of repair at all times by the owner
and the Town of Prosper shall not be responsible for the maintenance thereof.  It shall further
be the responsibility of the owner to ensure that all fire lane markings required by Section
503.3 be kept so that they are easily distinguishable by the public. 

Alternative fire lane surfaces not included in this section shall not be permitted. 

Section 503.2.4 is hereby amended as follows: 

503.2.4 Turning radius. The required turning radius of a fire apparatus access road shall be
in accordance with this section. 

Any such fire lane shall either connect both ends to a dedicated public street or fire lane or be
provided with an approved turnaround having a minimum outer radius of fifty feet (50’).  

If two or more interconnecting lanes are provided, an interior radius for that connection shall
be required in accordance with the following: 

24-foot fire lane – minimum radius 30 feet
26-foot fire lane – minimum radius 30 feet
30-foot fire lane – minimum radius 20 feet

Intersections of fire lanes, or other fire access roads, of dissimilar width shall utilize the
radius required for the fire lane with the smallest width.  

Fire lane dimensions established by Appendix D, or other sections of this Code, shall be
superseded by the criteria established by this section. 

The requirements of Section D105 shall remain unchanged unless amended. 

Sections 503.2.5.1 and 503.2.5.2 are added to read as follows:  

Section 503.2.5.1 Termination. Dead end fire apparatus access roads shall not terminate
in a continuous drive aisle or where otherwise prohibited by the Fire code official.  

Section 503.2.5.2 Residential Subdivisions. Dead-end fire apparatus access roads within
residential subdivisions shall be provided with an approved turn-around when such roads
provide street frontage or emergency access to lots.    

Section 503.2.7 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

Page 220

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-__, Page 18

503.2.7 Grade. The grade of the fire apparatus access road shall be within the limits
established by the Town's Engineering Design Manuals. In no case shall the grades along a
fire apparatus access road exceed the following: 

Along the Fire Apparatus Access Road – 6% (measured longitudinally)  
Cross Slope – 4% 

Exception. The code official shall have the authority to adjust the grade along the fire lane
when necessary for fire or rescue operations or based upon the hazard being protected
or general topography of the lot. In no case shall the grade exceed nine percent (9%) or
shall the cross slope exceed five percent (5%). Written approval from the Fire code official
shall be required. 

Section 503.2.8 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

503.2.8 Angles of approach and departure. The angles of approach and departure for a fire
apparatus access road shall be within the limits established by the Fire code official. In no
case shall the grades exceed the following: 

1.  Maximum Angle of Approach – 5% 
2.  Maximum Angle of Departure – 5% 

Exception. The code official shall have the authority to adjust the grade along the fire lane
when necessary for fire or rescue operations or based upon the hazard being protected or
general topography of the lot. Written approval from the Fire code official shall be required. 

Section 503.3 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

503.3 Marking. Striping, signs, or other markings, when approved by the fire code official, 
shall be provided for fire apparatus access roads to identify such roads or prohibit the
obstruction thereof. Striping, signs, and other markings shall be maintained in a clean and
legible condition at all times and shall be replaced or repaired when necessary to provide
adequate visibility. 

1. Striping – Fire apparatus access roads shall be continuously marked by painted lines
of red traffic paint six inches ( 6”) in width to show the boundaries of the lane. The
words “NO PARKING FIRE LANE” or “FIRE LANE NO PARKING” shall appear in four-
inch (4”) white letters at 25-foot (25’) intervals on the red border markings along both
sides of the fire lanes. Where a curb is available, the striping shall be on both the
horizontal and vertical faces of the curb. 

The paint shall be Ennis Flint, SB Red All Stripe Low Vos, product code 98A2181 or
equal.  The concrete shall cure for a minimum of seven (7) days before the application
of paint.  Manufactures Documentation shall be required supporting the paint choice
compliant with this mandate or of equal rating. 

2. Signs – Signs shall read “NO PARKING FIRE LANE” or “FIRE LANE NO PARKING” 
and shall be twelve inches (12”) wide and eighteen inches (18”) high. Signs shall be
painted on a white background with letters and borders in red, using not less than two-
inch ( 2”) lettering. Signs shall be permanently affixed to a stationary post and the
bottom of the sign shall be six feet, six inches (6’ 6”) above finished grade. Signs shall
be spaced not more than fifty feet (50’) apart. Signs may be installed on permanent

Page 221

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-__, Page 19

buildings or walls or as approved by the Fire Chief or Fire Marshal. 

Section 503.4 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

503.4 Obstruction of fire apparatus access roads. Fire apparatus access roads shall not
be obstructed in any manner, including the parking of vehicles, whether attended or
unattended for any period of time. Persons in charge of a construction project, such as, but
not limited to, a General Contractor, are responsible to ensure that fire apparatus access
roads are kept clear of vehicles and other obstructions at all times and may be issued a citation
for non-compliance under this section. 

The minimum widths and clearances established in Section 503.2.1 through 503.2.2 and any
area marked as a fire lane as described in Section 503.3 shall be maintained clear at all times. 
The Fire Chief and their designated representatives, are authorized to remove or cause to be
removed any material, vehicle, or object obstructing a fire apparatus access road at the
expense of the owner of such material, vehicle, or object. 

503.4.2 Fire Lane Violations is hereby added to read as follows:  

1. The registered owner of a vehicle parked or standing in a fire apparatus access road shall
be presumed to be the violator and may be held jointly and severally liable for the violation. 

2. A person, firm, partnership, corporation, association, or other entity shall be presumed to
be the violator and may be held jointly and severally liable for the violation , if the person, 
firm, partnership, corporation, association, or other entity is the owner of, custodian of, or
otherwise exercises actual or apparent control over equipment, materials, or other objects
obstructing a fire apparatus access road. 

3. The owner, occupant, or leaseholder of the property or business directly adjacent to the
portion of the fire apparatus access road obstructed shall be presumed to be the violator
and may be held jointly and severally liable. 

Section 503.5 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

503.5 Required gates or barricades. The fire code official is authorized to require the
installation and maintenance of gates or other approved barricades across fire apparatus
access roads, trails or other accessways, not including public streets, alleys, or highways. 
Electric gate operators, where provided, shall be listed in accordance with UL 325. All gates
shall be designed for automatic operation and shall be designed, constructed, and installed
to comply with the requirements of ASTM F2200. Automatic gates shall be designed in
accordance with the PFR-FMO Access Gate Design Guide. 

Section 503.6 is hereby amended to add the following: 

Gates when provided must open fully in either direction or be of a sliding or raised arm type.  
All entry or exit shall be equipped with an approved automated entry system.  All other entry
or exit points along the fire lane must be automated and Knox compatible as approved by the
fire code official, to permit immediate access by fire personnel and equipment in the event of
fire or emergency. Automatic gates shall be designed in accordance with the PFR-FMO
Access Gate Design Guide. 

Section 503.7 is hereby added to read as follows: 

503.7. Preemption device.  

Page 222

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-__, Page 20

When mechanically operated gates or barriers are provided, or required, across a fire
apparatus access road, an approved emergency vehicle traffic preemption device shall be
provided compatible with the fire department’ s apparatus. 

Section 503.8 is hereby added to read as follows: 

503.8 Public Roads.  

Where approved by the Fire code official, public roads may be used to supplement hose lay
measurement requirements where the following conditions are met. 

1. Building set back from road does not exceed 30 feet. 
2. Engineering Master Thoroughfare Plan roadway design speed does not exceed 45

MPH. 
3.  An internal fire lane is also provided.  
4.  No obstructions to the hose lay path from the public way to the structure.   

Section 503.9 is hereby added to read as follows:  

503.9 Measuring of Hose Lay.   

Hose lay shall be measured from the centerline of the fire lane along an unobstructed and
level path measuring 10 feet in width, unless otherwise approved by the fire code official. 

Section 504.1.1 is hereby added to read as follows: 

504.1.1 Any new structure designed to accommodate multiple tenants shall incorporate a
Master Key System” for all door openings. 

Section 504.3 is hereby amended to add the following: 

first paragraph remains unchanged}. When deemed necessary by the fire code official, 
stairway access to the roof shall be required. 

Section 505.1 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

505.1 Address Identification. Approved numerals of a minimum of six inches (6”) in height
and of a color contrasting with the background designating the address shall be placed on all
new and existing buildings or structures in a position as to be plainly visible and legible from
the street or road fronting the property and from all rear alleyways/access. 

If the building is more than 50’ from the street or road, approved numerals of a minimum of
twelve inches (12”) in height or as determined by the fire code official. 

Where buildings do not immediately front a street, approved six-inch ( 6”) height building
numerals or addresses and 4-inch (4”) height suite/apartment numerals of a color contrasting
with the background of the building shall be placed on all new and existing buildings or
structures. Numerals or addresses shall be posted on a minimum twenty-inch by thirty-inch
20” X 30”) background border. 

Where access is provided by means of a private road and the building cannot be viewed from
the public way, a monument, pole, or other sign with approved 6-inch (152.4 mm) height
building numerals or addresses and 4-inch (101.6 mm) height suite/apartment numerals of a

Page 223

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-__, Page 21

color contrasting with the background of the building or other approved means shall be used
to identify the structure. Numerals or addresses shall be posted on a minimum 20-inch (508
mm) by 30-inch (762 mm) background border. Address identification shall be maintained. 

Address numbers shall be Arabic numerals or alphabet letters. The minimum stroke width
shall be 0.5 inches. 

Where access is provided by means of a private road and the building cannot be viewed from
the public way, a monument, pole, or other sign or means shall be used to identify the
structure. 

Exception. R-3 Single Family occupancies shall have approved numerals of a minimum of
three and one-half inches (3-½”) in height and color contrasting with the background clearly
visible and legible from the street fronting the property and rear alleyway where such alleyway
exists. 

Section 505.3 is hereby added to read as follows: 

505.3 Wayfaring Sign. A wayfaring sign shall be provided for all new and existing multi-
building developments in which multiple buildings are addressed off a single address, such
as in an apartment complex, or when the nature and arrangement of the buildings, such
signage would be conducive to navigation. Such signs shall be placed at all points of entry
into the development, or as required by the Fire code official. 

The wayfaring sign shall meet the below minimum requirements: 

1.  Provide a simplified Site Plan layout of the development or property. 
2.  Shall indicate all entry and exit points. 
3.  Shall be a minimum of 36-inch by 36-inch. 
4.  Shall be provided with lighting and/or reflective sheeting. 
5.  Shall be permanently mounted. 
6.  Shall indicate major building and/or address numbers. 
7.  Shall indicate the development' s name and address. 
8. Shall be constructed of outdoor, weather-resistant material. 

Section 505.4 is hereby added to read as follows: 

505.4 Address Marking in Parking Garages. An approved sign displaying the building name
and address with a minimum of 1-inch-high letters and numerals on a contrasting background
in new and existing parking garages. The signs shall be located in each elevator lobby and at
the entrance to each stairwell displaying the following: 

1.  The building name and address with a minimum of 2-inch-high letters and numerals. 
2. The parking garage level with a minimum of 8-inch-high letters and numerals. 
3. Lettering and numerals shall be contrasting to their background.   

The fire code official my required additional signage where the above locations are not
visible in other locations of the parking garage.   

Section 506.1.2 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

506.1.2 Key boxes for fire service elevator keys. Key boxes provided for fire service
elevator keys shall comply with Section 506.1 and all of the following: 

Page 224

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-__, Page 22

Exceptions to remain unchanged. 

Section 506.1.3 is hereby added to read as follows: 

506.1.3 Knox Box Locations. The key box shall be provided at the entrance to the sprinkler
riser room and/or fire pump room. Additional key boxes shall be placed at the main entrance
to a large building when determined by the fire code official it is necessary due to the size and
remoteness from the fire sprinkler riser room and/or fire pump room. Key box shall be located
in accordance with the PFR-FMO Knox Design Guide. 

The Knox Box shall be a recessed type with a hinge. 

Section 507.4 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

507.4 Water supply test date and information. The water supply test used for hydraulic
calculation of fire protection systems shall be conducted in accordance with NFPA 291
Recommended Practice for Fire Flow Testing and Marking of Hydrants” and within one year

of sprinkler plan submittal. The fire code official shall be notified prior to the water supply test. 
Water supply tests shall be witnessed by the fire code official as required. 

The exact location of the static/residual hydrant and the flow hydrant shall be indicated on the
design drawings. All fire protection plan submittals shall be accompanied by a hard copy of
the water flow test report, or as approved by the fire code official. 

The report shall indicate: 
1. The dominant water tank level at the time of the test
2. The maximum and minimum operating levels of the tank
3. Identify applicable water supply fluctuation

The licensed contractor must then design the fire protection system based on this fluctuation
information, as per the applicable referenced NFPA standard. Reference Section 903.3.5 for
additional design requirements. 

All water-based suppression systems shall utilize the targeted water pressures of 75 psi static
and 65 psi residual in the hydraulic design of sprinkler suppression systems, regardless of
hydrant flow test results, as advised by the Prosper Water Department directive dated 08-17-
2017. The mandate for a 10-psi safety factor shall be added to the hydraulic design. 

1. Fire lines exceeding 100 feet shall be required to install a backflow preventer in a
concrete vault near the fire service line connection to the Town's re-circulating water
line. 

2. The Town Fire Marshal or designee shall approve the construction plans for the vault, 
fittings, valves, double detector check, etc., and will issue a separate permit for fire
sprinkler systems. 

Section 507.5.1 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

507.5.1 Where Required. Where a portion of the facility or building hereafter constructed or
moved into or within the jurisdiction is more than 400 feet (122 m) from a hydrant or a fire
access road, as measured by an approved route around the exterior of the facility or building, 
on-site fire hydrants and mains shall be provided where required by the fire code official. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, fire hydrants shall be required as follows: 

Page 225

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-__, Page 23

1. Spacing: As properties develop, fire hydrants shall be located at all intersecting streets, 
and at the maximum spacing shall be every 300 feet (300') for all developments, and
facilities other than R3. R-3 developments shall be every 500 feet ( 500') Distances
between hydrants shall be measured along the route that fire hose is laid by a fire
apparatus from the hydrant to the hydrant, not as the “crow flies.” 

2. Protected Properties: Fire hydrants required to provide a supplemental water supply
for automatic fire protection systems shall be located within a 50-foot (50') hose lay of
the fire department connection for such systems. 

3. Fire Hydrant Locations:  Fire hydrants shall be located 2 foot (2') to 6 foot (6') back
from the curb or fire lane and shall not be located in the bulb of a cul-de-sac. 

4. Minimum Number of Fire Hydrants: There shall be a minimum of two (2) fire hydrants
serving each property within the prescribed distances listed above. A minimum of one
fire hydrant shall be located on each lot. Where two or more hydrants are required, a
minimum spacing of 100 feet between hydrants is required in order to be used in the
hydrant count. 

5. Fire Hydrant leads shall not exceed 100 feet from the mainline connection. 

6. No connection shall be allowed to a fire hydrant lead for domestic, irrigation, or other
use. 

Section 507.5.4 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

507.5.4 Obstruction. Unobstructed access to fire hydrants shall be maintained at all times. 
Posts, fences, vehicles, growth, trash, storage, landscaping and other materials or objects
shall not be placed or kept near fire hydrants, fire department inlet connections of fire
protection system control valves in a manner that would prevent such equipment of fire
hydrants from being immediately discernible. The fire department shall not be deterred or
hindered from gaining immediate access to fire protection equipment or fire hydrants. 

Section 509.1.1 shall be added to read as follows:  

509.1.1 Utility shut-off and identification. All utilities shall have an exterior means of being
disconnected by the Fire Department in case of an emergency. Approved numerals of
minimum one-inch (1”) height and a color contrasting with the background shall be placed on
gas and electrical meters serving all new and existing buildings or structures except R- 3
occupancies. 

Section 509.1.2 is hereby added to read as follows: 

509.1.2 Sign Requirements. Unless more stringent requirements apply, lettering for signs
required by this section shall have a minimum height of 2 inches ( 50.8 mm) when located
inside a building and 4 inches (101.6 mm) when located outside, or as approved by the fire
code official. The letters shall be of a color that contrasts with the background. 

Outdoor signage shall be secured by mechanical means. Adhesives tapes or glues are
prohibited. 

Section 509.3 is hereby added to read as follows: 

Page 226

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-__, Page 24

Section 509.3 Signage specifications. Where signage is required by this section, other
provisions of this code, or where required by the fire code official, the construction and design
shall comply with the PFR-FMO Sign Guide. All required signage shall be approved by the
fire code official prior to installation. 

Section 510.1 is hereby amended to read as follows, while the Exceptions thereto remain
unchanged: 

Approved in-building, two-way emergency responder communication coverage for emergency
responders shall be provided in all new and existing buildings in which the type of construction
or distance from an operational emergency services antenna or dispatch site does not provide
adequate frequency or signal strength at the exterior and all portions of the interior of the
building, as determined by the code official, the building owner shall be responsible for
providing the equipment, installation, and maintenance of said equipment in a manner to
strengthen the communications signal. The communications signal shall meet the minimum
input/output strengths set forth in this section, or according to the emergency communication
system’s provider, system manager, and Town of Prosper requirements. 

Section 510.2 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

510.2 Emergency responder communication coverage in existing buildings. Existing
buildings that do not have approved radio coverage for emergency responders within the
building, based on the existing coverage levels of the public safety communications system
of the jurisdiction at the exterior and all portions of the interior of the building, shall be equipped
with such coverage installed in accordance with this section. 

Section 605.4 through 605.4.2.2; change to read as follows: 

605.4 Fuel oil storage systems. Fuel oil storage systems for building heating systems shall
be installed and maintained in accordance with this code. Tanks and fuel-oil piping systems
shall be installed in accordance with Chapter 13 of the International Mechanical Code and
Chapter 57. 

605.4.1 Fuel oil storage in outside, above-ground tanks. Where connected to a fuel-oil
piping system, the maximum amount of fuel oil storage allowed outside above ground without
additional protection shall be 660 gallons ( 2498 L). The storage of fuel oil above ground in
quantities exceeding 660 gallons (2498 L) shall comply with NFPA 31 and Chapter 57. 

605.4.1.1 Approval. Outdoor fuel oil storage tanks shall be in accordance with UL 142 or UL
2085, and also listed as double wall/secondary containment tanks. 

605.4.2 Fuel oil storage inside buildings. Fuel oil storage inside buildings shall comply with
Sections 605.4.2.2 through 605.4.2.8 or and Chapter 57. 

605.4.2.1 Approval. Indoor fuel oil storage tanks shall be in accordance with UL 80, UL 142, 
or UL 2085. 

605.4.2.2 Quantity limits. One or more fuel oil storage tanks containing Class II, or III
combustible liquid shall be permitted in a building. The aggregate capacity of all tanks shall
not exceed the following: 

1.  660 gallons (2498 L) in un-sprinklered buildings, where stored in a tank complying with

Page 227

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-__, Page 25

UL 80, UL 142, or UL 2085, and also listed as a double wall/secondary containment
tank for Class II liquids. 

2.  1,320 gallons ( 4996 L) in buildings equipped with an automatic sprinkler system in
accordance with Section 903.3.1.1, where stored in a tank complying with UL 142 or
UL 2085. The tank shall be listed as a secondary containment tank, and the secondary
containment shall be monitored visually or automatically. 

3.  3,000 gallons ( 11 356 L) in buildings equipped with an automatic sprinkler system in
accordance with Section 903.3.1.1, where stored in protected above-ground tanks
complying with UL 2085 and Section 5704.2.9.7. The tank shall be listed as a
secondary containment tank, as required by UL 2085, and the secondary containment
shall be monitored visually or automatically. 

Section 606.2 is hereby amended to read as follows:  

606.2 Where Required. A Type I hood shall be installed at or above all commercial cooking
appliances and domestic cooking appliances used for commercial purposes that produce
grease vapors, including but not limited to cooking equipment used in fixed, mobile, or
temporary concessions, such as trucks, buses, trailers, pavilions, or any form of roofed
enclosure, as required by the Fire code official. 

Exceptions: 
1. { No change to existing Exception.} 
2. { No change to existing Exception.} 
3. { No change to existing Exception.} 
4. { No change to existing Exception.} 
5. Tents, as provided for in Chapter 31. 

Additionally, fuel gas and power provided for such cooking appliances shall be interlocked
with the extinguishing system, as required by Section 904.12.2. Fuel gas containers and
piping/hose shall be properly maintained in good working order and in accordance with all
applicable regulations. 

Section 807.2 is hereby amended to read as follows:  

807.2 Combustible Decorative Materials. In occupancies in Groups A, E, I, and R-1, and
dormitories in Group R-2, curtains, draperies, fabric hangings, and other similar combustible
decorative materials suspended from walls or ceilings shall comply with Section 807.3 and
shall not exceed 10 percent of the specific wall or ceiling area to which they are attached. 

Section 807.5.2.2 and 807.5.2.3 applicable to Group E occupancies; change to read as
follows:  

807.5.2.2 Artwork in Corridors. Artwork and teaching materials shall be limited on the
walls of corridors to not more than 20 percent of the wall area. Such materials shall not be
continuous from floor to ceiling or wall to wall. Curtains, draperies, wall hangings, and other
decorative material suspended from the walls or ceilings shall meet the flame propagation
performance criteria of NFPA 701 in accordance with Section 807 or be noncombustible.  

Exception: Corridors protected by an approved automatic sprinkler system installed in
accordance with Section 903.3.1.1 shall be limited to 50 percent of the wall area.  

807.5.2.3 Artwork in Classrooms. Artwork and teaching materials shall be limited on walls
of classrooms to not more than 50 percent of the specific wall area to which they are

Page 228

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-__, Page 26

attached. Curtains, draperies, wall hangings, and other decorative material suspended from
the walls or ceilings shall meet the flame propagation performance criteria of NFPA 701 in
accordance with Section 807 or be noncombustible.  

Section 807.5.5.2 and 807.5.5.3 applicable to Group I-4 occupancies; change to read as
follows: 

807.5.5.2 Artwork in Corridors. Artwork and teaching materials shall be limited on the
walls of corridors to not more than 20 percent of the wall area. Such materials shall not be
continuous from floor to ceiling or wall to wall. Curtains, draperies, wall hangings, and other
decorative material suspended from the walls or ceilings shall meet the flame propagation
performance criteria of NFPA 701 in accordance with Section 807 or be noncombustible.  

Exception: Corridors protected by an approved automatic sprinkler system installed in
accordance with Section 903.3.1.1 shall be limited to 50 percent of the wall area.  

807.5.5.3 Artwork in Classrooms. Artwork and teaching materials shall be limited on walls
of classrooms to not more than 50 percent of the specific wall area to which they are
attached. Curtains, draperies, wall hangings, and other decorative material suspended from
the walls or ceilings shall meet the flame propagation performance criteria of NFPA 701 in
accordance with Section 807 or be noncombustible.  

Section 901.4.7 Pump and riser room size is hereby amended by adding the following
sentence at the end of the paragraph to read as follows:  

The minimum riser room size shall be 36 sq. ft. with the minimum interior wall to wall
dimension of 6 ft.  

When a fire pump is provided, the minimum fire pump room size shall be 144 sq. ft., with the
minimum interior wall dimension of 12 ft. 

Section 901.4.7.1 is hereby amended to read as follows:  

901.4.7.1 Access. Fire pump and automatic sprinkler system riser rooms shall be directly
accessible from the exterior of the structure. Access to the room shall be directly off an
approved fire apparatus access road, and the room shall face the approved fire apparatus
access road. Doors shall be a minimum of 3 feet (3') in width and six feet eight inches (6' 8”) 
in height. A Knox key box shall be provided at this door, as required by Section 506.1. 
Access to the room from the fire lane shall be provided by a concrete sidewalk or other
surface as approved by the fire code official. 

Exception: When it is necessary to locate the fire pump room on other levels or not on
an exterior wall, the corridor leading to the fire pump room access from the exterior of
the building shall be provided with equivalent fire resistance as that required for the
pump room, or as approved by the fire code official.  

Section 901.4.7.1.1 is hereby added to read as follows:  

901.4.7.1.1 Doorway obstructions. Fire pump and automatic sprinkler riser rooms shall not
be obstructed. Fire sprinkler underground and fire department connection shall not block the
riser room door.  A 3-foot clear aisle shall be maintained at all times from the riser room door
to any fire protection and life safety equipment

Page 229

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-__, Page 27

Section 901.4.7.2 is hereby amended to read as follows:  

901.4.7.2 Marking on access doors. Access doors for automatic sprinkler system riser
rooms and fire pump rooms shall be labeled in accordance with the PFR-FMO Sign
Specification Guide.  

Section 901.4.7.4 is hereby amended to read as follows:  

901.4.7.4 Lighting. Permanently installed regular artificial illumination and emergency
lighting with a minimum 90-minute battery backup- shall be provided in the automatic
sprinkler system riser room and fire pump rooms.  

Section 901.4.7.5 is hereby added to read as follows:  

Section 901.4.7.5 Fire protection equipment only. Fire pump and automatic sprinkler
system riser rooms shall be limited to equipment that is intended for fire protection
equipment and operations only. Limited other utilities, such as domestic water, necessary to
serve the building may be permitted by the fire code official. 

Section 901.4.7.6 is hereby added to read as follows:  

Section 901.4.7.6 Riser room heating. Fire pump and automatic sprinkler system riser
rooms shall be provided with permanent heating provided by a dedicated electrical circuit. A
means to locally disconnect power to the heating shall not be provided. Heating shall be
sufficient to maintain a minimum 40 degrees Fahrenheit at all times. 

Section 901.4.7.7 is hereby added to read as follows:  

Section 901.4.7.7 Access door protection. Exterior doors to fire pump and automatic
sprinkler system rooms shall be provided with appropriate weatherstripping or other
approved means to installed in accordance with the International Building Code. 

Section 901.5 Installation Acceptance Testing is hereby amended by adding the following
language to the end of the current text: 

Current text inserted without change.} All required tests shall be conducted by and at the
expense of the owner or his representative. The Fire Department shall not be held responsible
for any damages incurred in such test. Where it is required that the Fire Department witness
any such test, such test shall be scheduled with a minimum of 48-hour notice to the Fire
Marshal or his designee. 

Section 901.6.1.1 is hereby added to read as follows:  

901.6.1.1 Standpipe Testing. Building owners/managers must maintain and test standpipe
systems as per NFPA 25 requirements. The following additional requirements shall be
applied to the testing that is required every 5 years:  

1.  The piping between the Fire Department Connection (FDC) and the standpipe shall
be backflushed or inspected by an approved camera when foreign material is
present or when caps are missing, and also hydrostatically tested for all FDC’s on
any type of standpipe system. Hydrostatic testing shall also be conducted in
accordance with NFPA 25 requirements for the different types of standpipe systems.  

Page 230

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-__, Page 28

2.  For any manual (dry or wet) standpipe system not having an automatic water supply
capable of flowing water through the standpipe, the tester shall connect a hose from
a fire hydrant or portable pumping system (as approved by the fire code official) to
each FDC, and flow water through the standpipe system to the roof outlet to verify
that each inlet connection functions properly. Confirm that there are no open hose
valves prior to introducing water into a dry standpipe. There are no required pressure
criteria at the outlet. Verify that check valves function properly and that there are no
closed control valves on the system.  

3.  Any pressure relief, reducing, or control valves shall be tested in accordance with the
requirements of NFPA 25. All hose valves shall be exercised.  

4.  If the FDC is not already provided with approved caps, the contractor shall install
such caps for all FDC’s as required by the fire code official.  

5.  Upon successful completion of standpipe test, place a blue tag (as per Texas
Administrative Code, Fire Sprinkler Rules for Inspection, Test and Maintenance
Service ( ITM) Tag) at the bottom of each standpipe riser in the building. The tag shall
be check-marked as “Fifth Year” for Type of ITM, and the note on the back of the tag
shall read “5 Year Standpipe Test” at a minimum.  

6.  The procedures required by Texas Administrative Code Fire Sprinkler Rules with
regard to Yellow Tags and Red Tags or any deficiencies noted during the testing, 
including the required notification of the local Authority Having Jurisdiction ( fire code
official) shall be followed.  

7.  Additionally, records of the testing shall be maintained by the owner and contractor, if
applicable, as required by the State Rules mentioned above and NFPA 25.  

8.  Standpipe system tests where water will be flowed external to the building shall not
be conducted during freezing conditions or during the day prior to expected nighttime
freezing conditions.  

9.  Contact the fire code official for requests to remove existing fire hoses from Class II
and III standpipe systems where employees are not trained in the utilization of this
firefighting equipment. All standpipe hose valves must remain in place and be
provided with an approved cap and chain when approval is given to remove the hose
by the fire code official.  

Section 901.6 is hereby amended by adding a new Section 901.6.4 to read as follows:  

901.6.4 False Alarms and Nuisance Alarms. False alarms and nuisance alarms shall not be
given, signaled, transmitted, or caused or permitted to be given, signaled, or transmitted in any
manner. 

Section 901.6 is hereby amended by adding a new Section 901.6.4.1 to read as follows:  

901.6.4.1 Violations. Shall be addressed per ordinance 11-49 or as amended. Within a 12-
month period, should 3 or more false or nuisance fire alarms be received, transmitted, or
notified, the owner, operator, or representative of the property, building, or facility shall be
subject to a fine as set forth in Section 112.4 and for each subsequent false or nuisance fire
alarm. 

Section 901.7 is hereby amended to replace the first paragraph as follows: 

901.7 Systems out of service. Where a required fire protection system is out of service or in
the event of an excessive number of activations, the fire department and the Fire code official
shall be notified immediately and, where required by the Fire code official, the building shall
either be evacuated, or an approved fire watch shall be provided for all occupants left
unprotected by the shut down until the fire protection system has been returned to service. 

Page 231

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-__, Page 29

Where utilized, fire watches shall be in accordance with the PFR-FMO Fire Watch Guide. 

Remaining text unchanged) 

Section 901.9 is hereby added to read as follows: 

901.9 Discontinuation or change of service. Notice shall be made to the fire code official
whenever contracted alarm services for monitoring of any fire alarm system is terminated for
any reason, or a change in alarm monitoring provider occurs. Notice shall be made in writing
to the fire code official by the building owner and alarm service provider before the service is
terminated. 

Section 901.11 is hereby added to read as follows: 

Section 901.11 Access and clearance to fire protection equipment. All fire protection
equipment shall be provided with a minimum 36-inch clearance. The fire code official is
permitted to make modification thereto the required clearance. 

Section 903.1.1 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

903.1.1 Alternative protection. Alternative automatic fire- extinguishing systems complying
with Section 904 shall be permitted in addition to automatic sprinkler protection where
recognized by the applicable standard or as approved by the fire code official. 

Section 903.1.2 is hereby added to read as follows: 

903.1.2 Residential systems. Unless specifically allowed by this Code or the International
Building Code, residential sprinkler systems installed in accordance with NFPA 13D or NFPA
13R shall not be recognized for the purposes of modifications, exceptions, or reductions, 
commonly referred to as “ trade-offs,” permitted by other requirements of this Code or the
International Building Code. 

Residential sprinkler systems installed in accordance with NFPA 13R shall include attic
sprinkler protection to be recognized for the purposes of such trade-offs permitted by other
requirements of this Code, or for modifications permitted under Chapter 5 of the International
Building Code. When such trade-offs are taken, an NFPA 13 sprinkler system shall be
required.  

One- and two-family dwellings, mobile homes, and townhomes shall not be governed by
this ordinance. Refer to Town Ordinance No. 04-98 for fire sprinkler requirements

Section 903.1.3 is hereby added to read as follows: 

Section 903.1.3 Spray booths and rooms. New and existing spray booths and spray
rooms shall be protected by an approved automatic fire extinguishing system in accordance
with Chapter 9. 

Section 903.2 add a paragraph to read as follows and delete the Exception for
telecommunications buildings: 

Automatic Sprinklers shall not be installed in elevator machine rooms, elevator machine
spaces, and elevator hoistways, other than pits where such sprinklers would not necessitate

Page 232

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-__, Page 30

shunt trip requirements under any circumstances. Storage shall not be allowed within the
elevator machine room. Signage shall be provided at the entry doors to the elevator machine
room indicating “ ELEVATOR MACHINERY – NO STORAGE ALLOWED”, consistent with
Section 511. 

Section 903.2.4.2 is amended to read as follows:  

903.2.4.2 Group F-1 distilled spirits. An automatic sprinkler system shall be provided
throughout a Group F-1 fire area used for the manufacture of distilled spirits involving more
than 120 gallons of distilled spirits (>16% alcohol) in the fire area at any one time.  

Section 903.2.7 Group R is retained from Town Ordinance No. 04-98, the International Fire
Code 2003 Edition. 

Section 903.2.8.5 is hereby added to read as follows: 

903.2.8.5 Storage rooms. Within Group R occupancies, storage areas that are leased or
rented shall comply with Section 903.2.9.5 and 903.2.9.5.1. 

Section 903.2.9.3; change to read as follows:  

903.2.9.3 Group S-1 distilled spirits or wine. An automatic sprinkler system shall be
provided throughout a Group S-1 fire area used for the bulk storage of distilled spirits or wine
involving more than 120 gallons of distilled spirits or wine (>16% alcohol) in the fire area at
any one time.  

Section 903.2.9.4 is hereby added by deleting the exception. 

Section 903.2.9.5 and 903.2.9.5.1 are hereby added to read as follows:  

903.2.9.5 Self-service storage facility. An approved automatic sprinkler system shall be
installed throughout all self-service storage facilities.  

903.2.9.5.1 Vertical storage limits. A screen shall be installed at eighteen inches (18”) below
the level of the sprinkler heads to restrict storage above that level. This screen shall be a
mesh of not less than one inch (1”) nor greater than six inches (6”) in size. The screen and its
supports shall be installed such that all elements are at least eighteen inches (18”) below any
sprinkler heads, measured from the level of the sprinkler deflector.  

Section 903.2.11.3 is hereby added to read as follows:  

Section 903.2.11.3 Buildings more than 35 feet in height are retained from Town Ordinance
No. 04- 98, the International Fire Code 2003 Edition. 

Section 903.2.11.3 and the associated Exceptions are hereby amended to read as follows: 

903.2.11.3 Buildings more than 35 feet in height. An automatic sprinkler system shall be
installed throughout buildings with a floor level, other than penthouses in compliance with
Section 1511 of the International Building Code, located 35 feet (10,668 mm) or more above
the lowest level of fire department vehicle access, measured to the finished floor.  

Exception: Open parking structures in compliance with Section 406.5 of the International
Building Code, having no other occupancies above the subject parking garage, and

Page 233

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-__, Page 31

Section 903.2.11.9 of this Code. 

Sections 903.2.11.7 through Section 903.2.11.9 are hereby added to read as follows: 

903.2.11.7 High-piled combustible storage. For any building with a clear height exceeding
12 feet (4,572 mm), see Chapter 32 to determine if those provisions apply. 

903.2.11.8 Spray booths and rooms. New and existing spray booths and spraying rooms
shall be protected by an approved automatic sprinkler system and/or an approved automatic
fire- extinguishing system in accordance with Chapter 9 and Section 2404.  

903.2.11.9 Buildings over 5,000 sq. ft. An automatic sprinkler system shall be installed
throughout all buildings with a building area over 5,000 sq. ft. For the purpose of this provision, 
firewalls shall not define separate buildings. The building area is defined by the reflection of
the roof, commonly referred to as “drip line.” 

With every new system, a documentation cabinet shall be installed in the sprinkler riser room
or at another approved location at the protected premises. 

The documentation cabinet shall be sized so that it can contain all necessary documentation. 

All record documentation shall be stored in the documentation cabinet. 

Exceptions: Open parking garages in compliance with Section 406.5 of the International
Building Code, when all of the following conditions apply: 

a. The structure is freestanding. 
b. The structure does not contain any mixed uses, accessory uses, storage rooms, 

electrical rooms, elevators, or spaces used or occupied for anything other than motor
vehicle parking. 

c. The structure does not exceed 3 stories. 
d. An approved fire apparatus access road is provided around the entire perimeter of the

structure.  

Section 903.3.1 is hereby amended to add the following language at the end of the current
text in such section: 

Section 903.3.1 Standards. {Retain existing text unchanged.} For any structure or building, 
for which a specific use, lease, or tenant cannot be identified, such as speculative retail or
office building, the sprinkler system shall be designed to Ordinary Hazard Group II, or as
permitted by the Fire code official. 

For any structure or building with a clear height in excess of 12 feet, the sprinkler system shall
be designed to provide a minimum of Ordinary Hazard Group II. 

For any structure or building with a clear height in excess of 12 feet, and with the primary use
of storage or warehouse, the sprinkler system shall be designed to protect Class IV
Commodities to the maximum storage height. 

Exception: If a commodity type and storage height can be determined, the sprinkler
system shall be designed accordingly to the approved commodity class and storage
height. 

Page 234

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-__, Page 32

All buildings 3 or more stories shall be provided with floor control valves. 

Section 903.3.1.1.1 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

903.3.1.1.1 Exempt locations. When approved by the Fire code official, automatic sprinklers
shall not be required in the following rooms or areas where such . . . { bulk of section
unchanged} . . . because it is damp, of fire-resistance- rated construction or contains electrical
equipment. 

1. Any room where the application of water, or flame and water, constitutes a serious life
or fire hazard. 

2. Any room or space where sprinklers are considered undesirable because of the nature
of the contents when approved by the code official. 

3. Generator and transformer rooms, under the direct control of a public utility, separated
from the remainder of the building by walls and floor/ceiling or roof/ceiling assemblies
having a fire-resistance rating of not less than 2 hours. 

4. Elevator machine rooms, machinery spaces, and hoist-ways, other than pits where
such sprinklers would not necessitate shunt trip requirements under any
circumstances. 

Section 903.3.1.1.3 is hereby added to read as follows: 

Section 903.3.1.1.3 Residential systems. In Group R occupancies, an NFPA 13 fire
sprinkler system installed in accordance with 903.3.1.1 shall be required where the building
is designed to exceed the maximum allowable factors of Tables 504.3, 504.4, or 506.2 of
the 2021 International Building Code for the occupancy classification and construction type. 
For the purposes of this provision, fire walls shall not define separate buildings.  

Section 903.3.1.2 is hereby amended to read as follows:  

903.3.1.2 NFPA 13R sprinkler systems. Automatic sprinkler systems in Group R
occupancies shall be permitted to be installed throughout in accordance with NFPA 13R
where the Group R occupancy meets all of the following conditions: 

1.  Four stories or less above grade plane.  
2.  The floor level of the highest story is 35 feet or less above the lowest level of fire

department vehicle access. 
3.  The floor level of the lowest story is 35 feet or less below the lowest level of fire

department vehicle access. 

The number of stories of Group R occupancies constructed in accordance with Sections
510.2 and 510.4 of the International Building Code shall be measured from grade plane. 

Section 903.3.1.2.1 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

903.3.1.2.1 Balconies and decks. Sprinkler protection shall be provided for exterior
balconies, decks and ground floor patios of dwelling units and sleeping units. {delete the
remaining} 

Section 903.3.1.2.2 is hereby amended to read as follows:  

903.3.1.2.2 Corridors and balconies. Sprinkler protection shall be provided in all corridors
and for all balconies. { Delete the rest of this section.}  

Page 235

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-__, Page 33

Section 903.3.1.2.3; delete the section and replace as follows:  

Section 903.3.1.2.3 Attached Garages and Attics. Sprinkler protection is required in
attached garages, open breezeways, and in the following attic spaces:  

1.  Attics that are used or intended for living purposes or storage shall be protected by an
automatic sprinkler system.  

2.  Where fuel-fired equipment is installed in an un-sprinklered attic, not fewer than one
quick-response intermediate temperature sprinkler shall be installed above the
equipment.  

3.  Attic spaces of buildings that are two or more stories in height above grade plane or
above the lowest level of fire department vehicle access.  

4.  Group R-4, Condition 2 occupancy attics not required by Item 1 or 3 to have sprinklers
shall comply with one of the following:  
4.1. Provide automatic sprinkler system protection.  
4.2. Provide a heat detection system throughout the attic that is arranged to activate

the building fire alarm system.  
4.3. Construct the attic using non-combustible materials.  
4.4. Construct the attic using fire-retardant- treated wood complying with Section

2303.2 of the International Building Code.  
4.5. Fill the attic with noncombustible insulation.  

Sections 903.3.1.3 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

903.3.1.3 NFPA 13D Sprinkler systems. Where allowed, automatic sprinkler systems
installed in one & two-family dwellings and townhouses shall be permitted to be installed
throughout in accordance with NFPA 13D, or in accordance with state law. 

Section 903.3.1.3.1 is hereby added to read as follows:  

903.3.1.3.1 Design criteria. In addition to design criteria, 13D systems shall be designed as
follows:  

1. Piping shall be run vertically inside interior walls and horizontally between floors and
unheated garages.  
2. Garages shall be protected when a living space or portion thereof is provided above.  

Section 903.3.1.4 is hereby added to read as follows: 

903.3.1.4 Freeze protection. Freeze protection systems for automatic fire sprinkler systems
shall be in accordance with the requirements of the applicable referenced NFPA standard and
this section. 

903.3.1.4.1 Attics. Only dry-pipe, pre-action, or listed antifreeze automatic fire sprinkler
systems shall be allowed to protect attic spaces. 

Exception: Wet-pipe fire sprinkler systems shall be allowed to protect non-ventilated
attic spaces where: 
1. The attic sprinklers are supplied by a separate floor control valve assembly to allow

ease of draining the attic system without impairing sprinklers throughout the rest
of the building, and

2. Adequate heat shall be provided for freeze protection as per the applicable

Page 236

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-__, Page 34

referenced NFPA standard, and
3. The attic space is a part of the building’s thermal, or heat, envelope, such that

insulation is provided at the roof deck, rather than at the ceiling level. 

903.3.1.4.2 Heat trace/insulation. Heat trace/insulation shall only be allowed where
approved by the Fire code official for small sections of large diameter water-filled pipe. 

903.3.1.4.3 Water-filled piping. Water-filled piping shall not be permitted to be installed
in areas where the temperature is less than 40°F (4°C) unless approved by the fire code
official. 

Section 903.3.1.5 shall be added to read as follows: 

Section 903.3.1.5 Additional installation requirements. Automatic sprinkler and standpipe
systems shall be installed with the following: 

1. Underground piping serving the sprinkler, standpipe, or remote FDC shall have a 10
ft. separation from all other utilities and placed in a separate trench. 

2. Underground piping serving the sprinkler, standpipe, or remote FDC shall be provided
with metallic detector tracer tape or wire. 

3. All inspectors’ test, ball-drips, and main-drains shall be piped directly to the outside of
the building. 

Section 903.3.5 Water Supplies is hereby amended to add a second paragraph immediately
following the current paragraph to read as follows: 

Water supply as required for such systems shall be provided in conformance with the supply
requirements of the respective standards; however, every fire protection system shall be
designed with a 10-psi safety factor. Reference Section 507.4 for additional design
requirements. 

Section 903.4 Sprinkler System supervision and alarms is hereby amended to add a
second paragraph immediately after the existing paragraph to read as follows: 

Sprinkler and standpipe system water-flow detectors shall be provided for each floor tap to
the sprinkler system and shall cause an alarm upon detection of water flow for more than 45
seconds. All control valves in the sprinkler and standpipe systems except for fire department
hose connection valves shall be electrically supervised to initiate a supervisory signal at the
central station upon tampering. 

Section 903.4.2 Alarms is hereby amended to add a second paragraph immediately
following the current paragraph to read as follows: 

The alarm device required on the exterior of the building shall be a weatherproof horn/strobe
notification appliance with a minimum 75-candela strobe rating, installed as close as
practicable to the fire department connection. 

Section 903.7 is hereby added to read as follows: 

903.7 Site Map.  A laminated map of the fire protection system; including valve shutoffs, 
isolation valves, low point/auxiliary drains, and any other information deemed necessary by
the fire code official, shall be provided in the riser room.  The minimum map size shall be
24”x24”.  A larger map may be deemed necessary by the fire code official.   

Page 237

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-__, Page 35

Section 903.8 is hereby added to read as follows: 

Section 903.8 Air Venting. Where required by NFPA 13 air vents shall be installed.  Air
Vents shall comply with NFPA 13.  All valves for testing and maintenance shall be in an
accessible location.   

Section 905.2 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

905.2 Installation standard. Standpipe systems shall be installed in accordance with this
section and NFPA 14. Manual dry standpipe systems shall be supervised with a minimum of
10 psi and a maximum of 40 psi air pressure with a high/low alarm. 

Section 905.2.1 is hereby added to read as follows: 

Section 905.2.1 Automatic supply. Where standpipes are required, an automatic supply
shall be provided for the following occupancies/ buildings: 

1.  Buildings defined as high-rise
2.  Building four or more stories

Exception: Unattached open parking garages
3.  H Occupancies
4.  High-piled storage permitted occupancies
5. Hazardous materials permitted occupancies

The fire code official is authorized to require an automatic supply for occupancies/ buildings
not listed when the access to is limited or the hazard being protected requires such protection. 

Sections 905.3.9 and 905.3.9.1 are hereby added to read as follows: 

905.3.9. Building Area. In buildings exceeding 10,000 square feet in area per story, Class I
automatic wet or manual wet standpipes shall be provided where any portion of the building’s
interior area is more than 200 feet of travel, vertically and horizontally, from the nearest point
of fire department vehicle access.  

Exceptions: 
1.  Automatic dry and semi-automatic dry standpipes are allowed as provided for in NFPA

14, where approved by the fire code official. 
2.  R-2 occupancies of four stories or less in height having no interior corridors.  

905.3.9.1 Distance from fire lane. Class I standpipes shall be required in all occupancies in
which the distance from a single accessible point for Fire Department ingress to any area
within the structure exceeds 250 feet along the route a fire hose is laid as measured from the
fire lane as a single route. 

Section 905.4 change Items 1, 3, and 5, and add Item 7 to read as follows: 

1.  In every required exit stairway, a hose connection shall be provided for each story above
and below grade plane. Hose connections shall be located at an intermediate landing
between stories unless otherwise approved by the fire code official. 

Exception: {No change.} 

2.  { No change.} 

Page 238

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-__, Page 36

3.  In every exit passageway, at the entrance from the exit passageway to other areas of a
building. 

Exception: Where floor areas adjacent to an exit passageway are reachable from an exit
stairway hose connection by a {remainder of text unchanged} 

4.  { No change.} 

5.  Where the roof has a slope less than 4 units vertical in 12 units horizontal ( 33.3 -percent
slope), each standpipe shall be provided with a two-way hose connection shall be located
to serve the roof or at the highest landing of an interior exit stairway with stair access to
the roof provided in accordance with Section 1011.12. 

6.  { No change.} 

7.  When required by this Chapter, standpipe connections shall be placed adjacent to all
required exits to the structure and at two hundred feet (200’) intervals along major corridors
thereafter, or as otherwise approved by the fire code official. 

Section 905.8; change to read as follows: 

905.8 Dry standpipes. Dry standpipes shall not be installed. 

Exception: Where subject to freezing and in accordance with NFPA 14. Additionally, manual
dry standpipe systems shall be supervised with a minimum of 10 psi and a maximum of 40
psi air pressure with a high/low Supervisory alarm. 

Section 905.9 is hereby amended to add a second after the exceptions to read as follows: 

Sprinkler and standpipe system water-flow detectors shall be provided for each floor tap to
the sprinkler system and shall cause an alarm upon detection of water flow for more than 45
seconds. All control valves in the sprinkler and standpipe systems except for fire department
hose connection valves shall be electrically supervised to initiate a supervisory signal at the
central station upon tampering. 

Section 906.1 delete Exception 3:  

Section 907.1.4 is hereby added to read as follows: 

907.1.4. Design Standards. All alarm systems new or replacement shall utilize addressable
devices. 

Riser rooms shall be equipped with an annunciator panel if the main fire alarm control panel
is not located in the Riser Room.   

Annunciator panel shall be provided at the main entrance to all single occupant buildings.  

Exception: Existing systems need not comply unless the total building remodel or expansion
initiated after the effective date of this code, as adopted, exceeds 30% of the building. When
cumulative building remodels or expansion exceeds 50% of the building, must comply within
18 months of permit application. This exception does not prohibit the need for new fire alarm
devices on an existing system to be addressable. 

Section 907.2.1 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

907.2.1 Group A. A manual fire alarm system that activates the occupant notification system

Page 239

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-__, Page 37

in accordance with Section 907.5 shall be installed in Group “ A” occupancies having an
occupant load of 300 or more persons or more than 100 persons above or below the lowest
level of exit discharge. Group A occupancies not separated from one another in accordance
with Section 707.3.10 of the International Building Code shall be considered as a single
occupancy for the purposes of applying this section. Portions of Group “ E” occupancies
occupied for assembly purposes shall be provided with a fire alarm system as required for the
Group E occupancy. 

Exception: {No change} 

Activation of fire alarm notification appliances shall: 

1. Cause illumination of the means of egress with light of not less than 1 foot-candle (11
lux) at the walking surface level, and

2. Stop any conflicting or confusing sounds and visual distractions. 

Section 907.2.3 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

907.2.3 Group E. A manual fire alarm system that initiates the occupant notification signal
utilizing an emergency voice/alarm communication system meeting the requirements of
Section 907.5.2.2 and installed in accordance with Section 907.6 shall be installed in Group
E educational occupancies. When automatic sprinkler systems or smoke detectors are
installed, such systems or detectors shall be connected to the building fire alarm system. An
approved smoke detection system shall be installed in Group E Day Care occupancies. 
Unless separated by a minimum of 100' open space, all buildings, whether portable buildings
or the main building, will be considered one building for alarm occupant load consideration
and interconnection of alarm systems.  

Exceptions: 
1. A manual fire alarm system is not required in Group E educational and daycare

occupancies with an occupant load of less than 50 when provided with an approved
automatic sprinkler system. 
1.1 Residential In-Home daycare with not more than 12 children may use

interconnected single station detectors in all habitable rooms. (For care of more
than five children 2 1/2 or fewer years of age, see Section 907.2.6.)  

No change to the remainder of exceptions.} 

Section 907.2.6.4 is added to read as follows: 

907.2.6.4 Group I-4 occupancies. An automatic smoke detection system shall be installed
in egress corridors in Group I-4 facilities. The system shall be activated in accordance with
Section 907.4.   

907.2.6.4.1 Manual fire alarm box. A manual fire alarm box shall be provided in a
constantly attended location. 

907.2.6.4.2 Occupant notification. Occupant notification shall be required as per Section
907.5.3

Section 907.2.10 shall be amended to read as follows:  

907.2.10 Group S. A manual fire alarm system that activates the occupant notification
system in accordance with Section 907.5 shall be installed in Group S public- and self-

Page 240

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-__, Page 38

storage occupancies for interior corridors and interior common areas. Visible notification
appliances are not required within storage units.  

Exception: {No change.}  

Section 907.2.13 Exception 3 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

3. Open-air portions of buildings with an occupancy in Group A-5 in accordance with Section
303.1 of the International Building Code; however, this exception does not apply to
accessory uses including but not limited to skyboxes, restaurants, and similarly enclosed
areas. 

Section 907.2.24 is hereby added to read as follows: 

907.2.24 Self-service storage facilities. An approved fire alarm system shall be installed
throughout all self-service storage facilities. This shall include visual, audible, heat, and
smoke detection. 

Section 907.4.2.7 is hereby added to read as follows: 

Section 907.4.2.7 Type. Manual alarm initiating devices shall be an approved double-action
type. 

Section 907.5.2.4 is hereby added to read as follows: 

907.5.2.4 Audible and Visible Alarm. Upon manually silencing an alarm the visible signal
shall continue to operate while the audible alarm silences.  Alarms must not be silenceable
on waterflow alarms.   

907.5.3 is hereby added to read as follows: 

907.5.3 Occupant notification. Occupant notification in accordance with this section and
907.5 shall be required for all new construction, or existing construction complying with the
International Building Code, for renovations to existing buildings, tenant spaces, changes in
occupancy, replacement, or modification of the existing fire alarm system, or as required by
the fire code official, for all buildings or spaces provided with an approved automatic sprinkler
system. 

Section 907.6.1.1 is hereby added to read as follows: 

907.6.1.1 Wiring Installation. All fire alarm systems shall be installed in such a manner that
a failure of any single initiating device or single open in an initiating circuit conductor will not
interfere with the normal operation of other such devices. All signaling line circuits (SLC) shall
be installed in such a way that a single open will not interfere with the operation of any
addressable devices ( Class A). Outgoing and return SLC conductors shall be installed in
accordance with NFPA 72 requirements for Class A circuits and shall have a minimum of four
feet separation horizontal and one foot vertical between supply and return circuit conductors. 
The initiating device circuit (IDC) from an addressable input (monitor) module may be wired
Class B, provided the distance from the addressable module to the initiating device is ten feet
or less.  

All fire alarm wire jackets shall be RED.  A contrasting color stripe may be incorporated

Page 241

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-__, Page 39

for circuit identification provided the base color of the fire alarm wire jacket is RED. 

907.6.3 is hereby amended to delete all four Exceptions.  

Section 907.6.3.1.1 is hereby added to read as follows: 

Section 907.6.3.1.1 Graphical annunciation. Graphical annunciation of initiating devices
shall be provided for large, complex floor plans where required by the fire code official or
other sections of this code. 

907.6.3.2 is hereby added to read as follows: 

907.6.3.2 Communication requirements. All alarm systems, new or replacement, shall
transmit alarm, supervisory and trouble signals descriptively to the approved central station, 
remote supervisory station, or proprietary supervising station as defined in NFPA 72, with the
correct device designation and location of addressable device identification. Alarms shall not
be permitted to be transmitted as a General Alarm or Zone condition. 

907.6.6 Monitoring add a sentence at the end of the paragraph to read as follows. 

See 907.6.3 for the required information transmitted to the supervising station. 

907.6.7 Waterflow Notification is hereby added to read as follows: 

907.6.7 Waterflow Notification. When required by Section 903.4.2, an exterior audible and
visible notification device shall be provided on the exterior of the building and shall be located
above the Fire Department Connection. The notification device shall operate on a waterflow
alarm only, shall be non-silenceable, and shall continue to operate after the panel is silenced
on the condition the alarm was a water flow alarm only. The notification device shall be wired
from the fire alarm control panel as a dedicated latching circuit. The minimum candela rating
for the notification device shall be 75 (cd) candela.  

Where FDC is remote the horn strobe will be located on a permanently mounted pole behind
the Remote FDC.  All conduit and fire alarm wiring shall be burial rated. An isolator module
shall be located at each point the underground wiring runs above and below grade level. 

Section 907.11 Fire Extinguishing Systems shall be added to read as follows:  

907.11 Fire extinguishing systems. Automatic fire-extinguishing systems shall be
connected to the building fire alarm system where a fire alarm system is required by another
section of this code or is otherwise installed. 

Section 907.12 is hereby added to read as follows: 

907.12 Interconnection. Fire alarm systems installed in multi-building developments which
share a common address shall be provided with a separate fire alarm system for each
building and shall be independently monitored.  Buildings shall not be permitted to be
interconnected, unless required by the fire code official. 

Section 907.13 is hereby added to read as follows:  

907.13 Password protection prohibited.  No fire alarm system shall be protected by a
password or pin number that would hinder immediate silencing capabilities by the fire

Page 242

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-__, Page 40

department. 

Section 907.14 is hereby added to read as follows:  

907.14 Occupant reset.  Once an alarm is initiated and fire department is contacted, no
person shall silence or reset an alarm prior to fire department arrival. 

Section 909.18.8 is hereby amended to add the following: 

909.18.8 Testing for smoke control. Before the mechanical equipment is approved, the
system shall be tested in the presence of the fire code official to confirm that the system is
operating in compliance with these requirements. 

Section 910.2 Exceptions 2 and 3, are hereby amended to read as follows: 

2. Only manual smoke and heat removal shall be required in areas of buildings equipped
with early suppression fast-response ( ESFR) sprinklers. Automatic smoke and heat
removal are prohibited. 

3. Only manual smoke and heat removal shall be required in areas of buildings equipped
with control mode special application sprinklers with a response time index of 50(m*S)1/2
or less that are listed to control a fire in stored commodities with 12 or fewer sprinklers. 
Automatic smoke and heat removal are prohibited. 

Section 910.2.3 is hereby added to read as follows: 

910.2.3 Group H. Smoke and heat vents or a mechanical smoke removal system shall be
installed in buildings and portions thereof used as a Group H occupancy as follows: 

1. In occupancies classified as Group H-2 or H-3, any of which is more than 15,000
square feet (1,394 m2) in a single floor area. 

Exception: Buildings of noncombustible construction containing only noncombustible
materials. 

2. In areas of buildings in Group H used for storing Class 2, 3, and 4 liquid and solid
oxidizers, Class 1 and unclassified detonable organic peroxides, Class 3 and 4
unstable ( reactive) materials, or Class 2 or 3 water-reactive materials as required for
a high-hazard commodity classification. 

Exception: Buildings of noncombustible construction containing only noncombustible
materials. 

Section 910.2.4 is hereby added to read as follows: 

910.2.4 Exit access travel distance increase. Buildings and portions thereof used as a
Group F-1 or S-1 occupancy where the maximum exit access travel distance is increased in
accordance with Section 1017.2.2. 

Section 910.3.4 is hereby added to read as follows: 

910.3.4 Vent Operation. Smoke and heat vents shall be capable of being operated by
approved automatic and manual means. Automatic operation of smoke and heat vents shall
conform to the provisions of Sections 910.3.2.1 through 910.3.2.3. 

Page 243

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-__, Page 41

910.3.4.1 Sprinklered buildings. Where installed in buildings equipped with an approved
automatic sprinkler system, smoke and heat vents shall be designed to operate
automatically. The automatic operating mechanism of the smoke and heat vents shall
operate at a temperature rating of at least 100 degrees F ( approximately 38 degrees
Celsius) greater than the temperature rating of the sprinklers installed. 

Exception: Manual-only systems per Section 910.2. 

910.3.4.2 Non-sprinklered Buildings. Where installed in buildings not equipped with an
approved automatic sprinkler system, smoke and heat vents shall operate automatically
by actuation of a heat-responsive device rated at between 100°F ( 56°C) and 220°F
122°C) above ambient. 

Exception: Listed gravity-operated drop out vents. 

Section 910.4.3.1 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

910.4.3.1 Makeup Air. Makeup air openings shall be provided within 6 feet (1829 mm) of the
floor level. Operation of makeup air openings shall be automatic. The minimum gross area of
makeup air inlets shall be 8 square feet per 1,000 cubic feet per minute (0.74 m2 per 0.4719
m3/s) of smoke exhaust

Section 910.4.4 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

910.4.4 Activation. The mechanical smoke removal system shall be activated automatically
by the automatic sprinkler system or by an approved fire detection system. Individual manual
controls shall also be provided as approved by the AHJ. 

Exception:  Manual only systems per Section 910.2. 

Section 912.2.1 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

912.2.1 Visible location. Where an approved fire lane is provided on site in order to provide
fire department vehicle access to a building or structure, the fire department connection shall
be located such that it is adjacent thereto, along, and faces the fire lane. Shall be fully visible
and recognizable from the street or fire department access road, and in a location approved
by the fire code official. 

When a remote FDC is provided it shall be located on the opposite side of the fire lane from
the serviced building for all F, H, I, R, & S occupancies outside the collapse zone of the
building and located 10 ft. adjacent to a fire hydrant along the same side of the fire lane. 

Vehicle impact protection shall be provided for all remote FDC’s in accordance with Section
312. 

FDCs shall be fully recognizable from the street, fire apparatus access road or nearest point
of fire department vehicle access or as otherwise approved by the fire code official. 

Section 912.2.1.1 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

912.2.1.1 Building mounted FDCs. Building mounted FDCs shall be located on a minimum
10-foot unobstructed path and no greater than 30 feet from back of curb. 

Page 244

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-__, Page 42

Section 912.2.1.2 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

912.2.1.2 Remote FDC. Remote FDC’s are required on buildings greater than 30 feet in
height as measured from the lowest point of fire department access, unless otherwise
approved by the fire code official. Remote FDCs shall be located on the opposite side of the
fire lane from the serviced building. Remote FDCs shall be set back between 2 feet to 6 feet
from the back of curb and provided with vehicle impact protection in accordance with
Section 312. 

Section 912.2.1.3 is hereby added to read as follows: 

Section 912.2.1.3 FDC identification. New and existing fire department connections shall
be identified in accordance with the PFR-FMO Sign Specification Guide. Additionally for
remote FDCs, the barrel shall be painted traffic red and provided with a 2-inch, white - 3M
diamond-grade reflective tape stripe around the upper half of the barrel. 

Section 912.2.3 is hereby added to read as follows: 

Section 912.2.3 Hydrant distance. An approved fire hydrant shall be located adjacent to the
fire department connection (FDC) unless approved by the fire code official to be located within
50 feet as the hose lays along an unobstructed path. 

Section 912.2.4 is hereby added to read as follows:  

Section 912.2.4 High Rise Buildings. A second redundant FDC shall be provided for all
high-rise buildings, unless approved by the fire code official.  

Section 912.3 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

912.3 Fire hose threads.  AII fire department connections shall be 5- inch Storz with a 30-
degree down elbow with a chained locking Knox cap.  

Section 912.4 is hereby amended to add the following text to the end of the current text: 

Section 912.4 Access. A minimum clear and unobstructed pathway of 10 feet shall be
provided to access the fire department connection. Parking and landscaping are considered
obstructions. 

Section 912.4.1 is hereby amended to add the following:   

Knox locking caps shall be provided and a key shall be furnished to the Fire Department for
new installations. 

Section 912.2.4.4 is hereby added to read as follows: 

Section 912.2.4.4 Existing FDC’s. Existing FDC’s where caps are missing shall be
protected by Knox locking caps. 

Section 912.5 is hereby amended as follows: 

912.5 Signs. Signs shall be provided on all fire department connections serving automatic
sprinklers, standpipes, or fire pump connections. Where the fire department connection does

Page 245

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-__, Page 43

not serve the entire building, a sign shall be provided indicating the portions of the building
served. All signs shall comply with the PFR-FMO Sign Specification Guide. 

Section 913.2.1 Protection of Fire Pump Rooms is hereby amended by adding a second
paragraph to read as follows: 

When located on the ground level at an exterior wall, the fire pump room shall be provided
with an exterior fire department access door that is not less than 3 feet (3’) in width and six
feet eight inches (6’ 8”) in height, regardless of any interior doors that are provided. A key box
shall be provided at this door, as required by Section 506.1. 

Exception: When it is necessary to locate the fire pump room on other levels or not at an
exterior wall, the corridor leading to the fire pump room access from the exterior of the
building shall be provided with equivalent fire resistance as that required for the pump
room, or as approved by the Fire code official. Access keys shall be provided in the key
box as required by Section 506.1. 

Section 914.3.1.2 Water Supply to required Fire Pumps. is hereby amended to read as
follows: 

914.3.1.2 Water Supply to required Fire Pumps. In all buildings that are more than 120 feet
128 36.6 m) in building height, required fire pumps shall be supplied by connections to no

fewer than two water mains located in different streets. Separate supply piping shall be
provided between each connection to the water main and the pumps. Each connection and
the supply piping between the connection and the pumps shall be sized to supply the flow and
pressure required for the pumps to operate. 

Exception: {No change to exception.} 

Section 916.9 is hereby amended by adding the following text to the end of the current
text: 

916.9 Signage. {Current text unchanged.} Signs shall comply with the PFR-FMO Sign
Specification Guide. 

Section 1006.2.1; change Exception #3 to read as follows: 

1006.2.1 Egress based on occupant load and common path of egress travel distance. 
Two exits or exit doorways from any space shall be provided where the design occupant load
or the common path of egress travel distance exceeds the values listed in Table 1006.2.1. 
The cumulative occupant load from adjacent rooms, areas or space shall be determined in
accordance with Section 1004.2. 

Exceptions: 
1.  { No change.} 
2.  { No change.} 
3.  Unoccupied rooftop mechanical rooms and penthouses are not required to comply

with the common path of egress travel distance measurement. 

Section 1006.2.2.4 is hereby added to read as follows: 

1006.2.2.4 Electrical Rooms. For electrical rooms, special exiting requirements may apply.  
Reference the electrical code as adopted. 

Page 246

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-__, Page 44

Section 1009.1 is hereby amended by adding Exception 4 to read as follows:  

3.  Buildings regulated under State Law and built-in accordance with State registered plans, 
including any variances or waivers granted by the State, shall be deemed to be in
compliance with the requirements of Section 1009 and Chapter 11.  

Section 1009.8 Two-way communication; add Exception #7 to read as follows: 

Exceptions: 
1.  through 6. {No change.} 
7.  Buildings regulated under State Law and built-in accordance with State registered plans, 

including variances or waivers granted by the State, shall be deemed to be in compliance
with the requirements of Section 1009 and Chapter 11. 

Section 1010.2.5 Bolts & Locks Exceptions 3 and 4 are hereby amended as follows:  

Exceptions: 
3. Where a pair of doors serves an occupant load of less than 50 persons in a Group B, F, 

M or S occupancy. {Remainder unchanged} 
4. Where a pair of doors serves a Group A, B, F, M or S occupancy {Remainder unchanged}  

1010.2.11 Door hardware release of electrically locked egress doors. Paragraphs 5 & 7
are hereby amended to read as follows:  

5. Panic or fire exit hardware shall be required, and operation of the panic or fire exit
hardware shall release the electric lock. 

6. { No change.} 
7. All doors shall be provided with a key card and/or keyed exterior access. 

Section 1010.2.11.1 is hereby added as follows: 

Section 1010.2.11.1 When permitted by the fire code official, electrified strikes shall be
permitted to be fail secure and not tied into the building fire alarm system under the following
conditions: 

11.1 4400 Series Knox Box provided. 
11.2 Free egress is provided. 
11.3 Building master key shall open the door from the ingress side. 
11.4 Key cards shall be provided to open the door from the ingress side. 
11.5 When permitted by the fire code official, loss of power to the building will not be

required to unlock the electrified strikes. 
11.6 Written request provided to the fire code official. 
11.7 No special locking conditions or hazards within the building. 

Section 1010.2.12, Items 5 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

5.  { first paragraph remains unchanged}. If a building fire alarm system in not provided, 
approved smoke detection devices shall be provided on both access and egress sides of
the door. Activation of the smoke detection devices shall automatically unlock the
electric lock.  

Section 1010.2.12 Sensor release of electrically locked egress doors is hereby amended to
add Paragraphs 9 and 10 to the end of the current text:  

Page 247

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-__, Page 45

9.  Doors shall be equipped with panic and fire exit hardware controlling a manual switch
under the bar that will unlock the door. All wiring and circuitry to the switch and power unit
shall be fail-safe. In Group E Occupancies where ingress is available by keys and/or
access card located in a Knox Box mounted at the main entrance to the building, the
activation of the fire alarm system shall unlock the egress portion or capability of all doors
while the ingress function may remain secured. 

10. If a full building smoke detection system is not provided, approved smoke detectors shall
be provided on both the access and egress sides of doors and in a location approved by
the authority having jurisdiction of NFPA 72. Actuation of a smoke detector shall
automatically unlock the door. Smoke detection is required for magnetic locks only. 

Section 1010.2.13.1 Delayed egress locking is hereby amended to add Paragraphs 9 and
10 to the end of the current text:  

9.  Doors shall be equipped with panic and fire exit hardware controlling a manual switch
under the bar that will unlock the door. All wiring and circuitry to the switch and power unit
shall be fail-safe. In Group E Occupancies where ingress is available by keys and/or
access card located in a Knox Box mounted at the main entrance to the building, the
activation of the fire alarm system shall unlock the egress portion or capability of all doors
while the ingress function may remain secured. 

10. If a full building smoke detection system is not provided, approved smoke detectors shall
be provided on both the access and egress sides of doors and in a location approved by
the authority having jurisdiction of NFPA 72. Actuation of a smoke detector shall
automatically unlock the door.  

Section 1011.12. is hereby amended to add the following to the exception: 

Exception: {first paragraph remains unchanged}. When deemed necessary by the fire code
official, a permanently installed ladder shall be required. 

Section 1011.12.2 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

Exception: In buildings without an occupied roof, access to the roof shall be permitted to be
a roof hatch or trap door not less than 16 square feet in area and having a minimum dimension
of 3 feet. 

Section 1015.8 Window Openings, Paragraph Number 1 is hereby amended to read as
follows: 

1. Operable windows where the top of the sill of the opening is located more than 55 (16,764
mm) above the finished grade or other surface below and that are provided with window
fall prevention devices that comply with ASTM F 2006. 

Section 1015.9 shall be added to read as follows: 

1015.9 Electrical Rooms. For electrical rooms, special exiting requirements may apply. 
Reference the electrical code as adopted. 

Section 1020.2 Construction is hereby amended by adding Exception 6 to read as follows:  

Exceptions: 
1.  through 5. {No change.} 

Page 248

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-__, Page 46

6.  In un-sprinklered group B occupancies, corridor walls and ceilings need not be of fire-
resistive construction within a single tenant space when the space is equipped with
approved automatic smoke-detection within the corridor. The actuation of any detector
must activate self-annunciating alarms audible in all areas within the corridor. Smoke
detectors must be connected to an approved automatic fire alarm system where such
system is provided. 

Section 1030.1.1.1; add Exception #4 to read as follows: 

Exceptions: 
1.  through 3. {No change.} 
4.  Where alternate means or methods are submitted to and approved by the Building and

Fire Officials. 

Section 1031.1 Emergency Escape & Rescue shall be amended to read as follows: 

1031.1 General. In addition to the means of egress required by this chapter, provisions shall
be made for emergency escape and rescue openings in Group R and I-1, unless otherwise
approved by the fire code official. {Remainder unchanged}  

Section 1032.2 Maintenance of the Means of Egress is hereby amended to read as follows: 

1032.2 Reliability. Required exit accesses, exits, or exit discharges shall be continuously
maintained free from obstructions or impediments to full instant use in the case of fire or other
emergencies. An exit or exit passageway shall not be used for any purpose that interferes
with a means of egress. Security devices affecting means of egress shall be subject to
approval of the Fire code official. 

Section 1101.5 is hereby added to read as follows: 

Section 1101.5 Conflicts. Whenever a conflict arises between this code and the International
Existing Building Code, the more restrictive provisions of this code shall apply. 

Section 1102 is hereby amended by adding the following definition: 

WORK AREA. The portion or portions of a building consisting of all reconfigured spaces as
indicated on the construction documents. Work area excludes other portions of the building
where incidental work entailed by the intended work must be performed and portions of the
building where work not initially intended by the owner is specifically required by this or other
codes. 

Section 1103.3 Existing Elevators is hereby amended to add the following sentence
immediately following the current text in that section: 

Provide emergency signage as required by Section 604.4

Section 1103.5.1 Sprinkler Systems; add sentence to read as follows: 

Fire sprinkler system installation shall be completed within 24 months from date of notification
by the fire code official. 

Section 1103.5.6 Spray booths and rooms is hereby added to read as follows:  

Page 249

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-__, Page 47

1103.5.6 Spray booths and rooms. Existing spray booths and spray rooms shall be
protected by an approved automatic fire-extinguishing system in accordance with Section
2404. 

Sections 1103.7.7 and 1103.7.7.1 are hereby added to read as follows:  

1103.7.7 Fire Alarm System Design Standards. Where an existing fire alarm system is
upgraded or replaced, the devices shall be addressable.  

Exception: Existing systems need not comply unless the total building or fire alarm system
remodel or expansion exceeds 30% of the building. When cumulative building, or fire alarm
system, remodel or expansion initiated after the date of original fire alarm panel installation
exceeds 50% of the building, or fire alarm system, the fire alarm system must comply within
18 months of permit application. 

1103.7.7.1 Communication requirements. Refer to Section 907.6.6 for applicable
requirements. 

Section 1107 ‘MODIFICATION AND ALTERATIONS’ is hereby amended to read as follows: 

SECTION 1107
MODIFICATION AND ALTERATIONS

1107.1 Automatic sprinkler systems. Automatic sprinkler systems shall be provided
throughout a building per Section 903 where: 

1. The work area is required to be provided with automatic sprinkler protection in
accordance with this Code; and, 

2. The work area exceeds 50 percent of the building’s floor area; or, in multi-level
buildings where the work area on any floor exceeds 50 percent of that floor area. 

1107.1.1 Five thousand (5,000) square feet.  An automatic fire protection system shall
be installed throughout existing buildings enlarged to 5,000 square feet or greater, 
regardless of its current square footage.  For the purpose of this provision, new and/or
existing fire wall shall not define separate buildings.  Building area is defined by the
reflection of the roof, commonly referred to as “drip line.” 

1107.2 Standpipes. Standpipe systems shall be provided throughout a building where:   

1. The work area is required to be provided with automatic sprinkler protection
per this section, and

2. Standpipes would be required in accordance with this Code. 

1107.3 Fire alarm and detection. An approved fire alarm and detection systems shall
be installed where:  

1. The work area is required to be provided with fire alarm and detection system
in accordance with this Code; or, 

2. The work area exceeds 50 percent of the building’s floor area; or, in multi-level
buildings where the work area on any floor exceeds 50 percent of that floor area. 

Page 250

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-__, Page 48

1107.4 Cumulative work. Where the cumulative work over a period of time is greater
than or equal to 50 percent of the building’s initial floor area, the provisions of this
section shall apply. Initial building floor area shall be determined by the building’s
original, or oldest available, building permit construction documents.  

1107.5 Change of use.  Where a change of use or hazard occurs, all provisions of this
Code shall be required consistent with the new use. 

Section 1203 is hereby changed and added to read as follows:  

1203.1.1 {No change.}  

1203.1.2 {No change.}  

1203.1.3 Installation. Emergency power systems and standby power systems shall be
installed in accordance with the International Building Code, NFPA 70, NFPA 110, and NFPA
111. Existing installations shall be maintained in accordance with the original approval, except
as specified in Chapter 11.  

1203.1.4 {No change.}  

1203.1.5 Load Duration. Emergency power systems and standby power systems shall be
designed to provide the required power for a minimum duration of 2 hours without being
refueled or recharged unless specified otherwise in this code.  

Exception: Where the system is supplied with natural gas from a utility provider and is
approved.  

1203.1.6 through 1203.1.9 {No changes to these sections.}  

1203.1.10 Critical Operations Power Systems (COPS). Critical Operations Power Systems
are necessary to maintain continuous power supply to facilities or parts of facilities that require
continuous operation for the reasons of public safety, emergency management, national
security, or business continuity, see NFPA 70.  

1203.2 Where Required. Emergency and standby power systems shall be provided where
required by Sections 1203.2.1 through 1203.2.1826 or elsewhere identified in this code or any
other referenced code.  

1203.2.1 through 1203.2.3 {No change.}  

1203.2.4 Emergency Voice/Alarm Communications Systems. Emergency power shall be
provided for emergency voice/alarm communications systems in the following occupancies, 
or as specified elsewhere in this code, as required in Section 907.5.2.2.5. The system shall
be capable of powering the required load for a duration of not less than 24 hours, as required
in NFPA 72.  

1. Covered and Open Malls, Section 907.2.20 and 914.2
2. Group A Occupancies, Sections 907.2.1 and 907.5.2.2
3. Special Amusement Areas, Section 907.2.12 and 914.7
4. High-rise Buildings, Section 907.2.13 and 914.3
5. Atriums, Section 907.2.14 and 914.4

Page 251

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-__, Page 49

6. Deep Underground Buildings, Section 907.2.19 and 914.5

1203.2.5 through 1203.2.14 {No change.}  

1203.2.15 Means of Egress Illumination. Emergency power shall be provided for means of
egress illumination in accordance with Sections 1008.3 and 1104.5.1. (90 minutes)  

1203.2.16 Membrane Structures. Emergency power shall be provided for exit signs in
temporary tents and membrane structures in accordance with Section 3103.12.6. (90 minutes) 
Standby power shall be provided for auxiliary inflation systems in permanent membrane
structures in accordance with Section 2702 of the International Building Code. ( 4 hours) 
Auxiliary inflation systems shall be provided in temporary air-supported and air-inflated
membrane structures in accordance with section 3103.10.4.  

1203.2.17 {No change.}  

1203.2.18 Smoke Control Systems. Standby power shall be provided for smoke control
systems in the following occupancies, or as specified elsewhere in this code, as required in
Section 909.11:  

1. Covered Mall Building, International Building Code, Section 402.7
2. Atriums, International Building Code, Section 404.7
3. Underground Buildings, International Building Code, Section 405.8
4. Group I-3, International Building Code, Section 408.4.2
5. Stages, International Building Code, Section 410
6. Special Amusement Areas (as applicable to Group A’s), International Building Code, 

Section 411
7. Smoke Protected Seating, Section 1030.6.2

1203.2.19 {No change.}  

1203.2.20 Covered and Open Mall Buildings. Emergency power shall be provided in
accordance with Section 907.2.20 and 914.2.  

1203.2.21 Airport Traffic Control Towers. A standby power system shall be provided in
airport traffic control towers more than 65 ft. in height. Power shall be provided to the following
equipment:  

1. Pressurization equipment, mechanical equipment, and lighting.  
2. Elevator operating equipment.  
3. Fire alarm and smoke detection systems.  

1203.2.22 Smokeproof Enclosures and Stair Pressurization Alternative. Standby power
shall be provided for smokeproof enclosures, stair pressurization alternative, and associated
automatic fire detection systems as required by the International Building Code, Section
909.20.7.2.  

1203.2.23 Elevator Pressurization. Standby power shall be provided for the elevator
pressurization system as required by the International Building Code, Section 909.21.5.  

1203.2.24 Elimination of Smoke Dampers in Shaft Penetrations. Standby power shall be
provided when eliminating the smoke dampers in ducts penetrating shafts in accordance with
the International Building Code, Section 717.5.3, exception 2.3.  

Page 252

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-__, Page 50

1203.2.25 Common Exhaust Systems for Clothes Dryers. Standby power shall be
provided for common exhaust systems for clothes dryers located in multistory structures in
accordance with the International Mechanical Code, Section 504.11, Item 7.  

1203.2.26 Means of Egress Illumination in Existing Buildings. Emergency power shall be
provided for means of egress illumination in accordance with Section 1104.5 when required
by the fire code official. (90 minutes in I-2, 60 minutes elsewhere.)  

1203.3 through 1203.6 {No change.}  

Section 2304.1 Supervision of Dispensing is hereby amended to read as follows: 

2304.1 Supervision of Dispensing. The dispensing of fuel at motor fuel-dispensing facility
shall be in accordance with the following: 

1. Conducted by a qualified attendant; and/or, 
2. Shall be under the supervision of a qualified attendant; and/or
3. Shall be an unattended self-service facility in accordance with Section 2304.3. 

Any time the qualified attendant of item 1 or 2 above is not present, such operations shall be
considered as an unattended self-service facility and shall also comply with Section 2304.3. 

Section 2401.2 Non-Applicability is hereby deleted in its entirety. 

Section 3103.3.1 Special amusement area, delete this section in its entirety

Table 3206.2 General Fire Protection and Life Safety Requirements, footnote h. is hereby
amended to read as follows: 

h.  Where storage areas are protected by either early suppression fast response ( ESFR) 
sprinkler systems or control mode special application sprinklers with a response time index
of 50 (m • s) 1/2 or less that are listed to control a fire in the stored commodities with 12
or fewer sprinklers, installed in accordance with NFPA 13, manual smoke and heat vents
or manually activated engineered mechanical smoke exhaust systems shall be required
within these areas. 

Table 3206.2 General Fire Protection and Life Safety Requirements is hereby amended to
add footnote j to row titled ‘High Hazard’ and ‘Greater than 300,000’ to read as follows:  

j.  High hazard high-piled storage areas shall not exceed 500,000 square feet. A 2-hour fire
wall constructed in accordance with Section 706 of the International Building Code shall
be used to divide high-piled storage exceeding 500,000 square feet in area.  

Section 3311.1 Required Access change to read as follows:  

Section 3311.1 Required access. Approved vehicle access for firefighting and emergency
response shall be provided to all construction or demolition sites. Vehicle access shall be
provided to within 50 feet of temporary or permanent fire department connections. Vehicle
access shall be provided by either temporary or permanent roads, capable of supporting
vehicle loading under all weather conditions. Vehicle access shall be maintained until
permanent fire apparatus access roads are available. When fire apparatus access roads are
required to be installed for any structure or development, access shall be approved prior to

Page 253

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-__, Page 51

the time which construction has progressed beyond completion of the foundation of any
structure. Whenever the connection is not visible to approaching fire apparatus, the fire
department connection shall be indicated by an approved sign. 

Section 3311.3 is hereby added to read as follows: 

Section 3311.3 Addressing. Project name and address for all construction sites shall be
posted such that it can be legible and distinguishable from the public street and/or fire lane. 
The fire code official is permitted to require modification and additions to the temporary
construction signs as needed. 

Section 5307.3 is hereby amended to add a paragraph to read as follows: 

Where it is deemed necessary by the fire code official existing occupancies shall comply
with Section 5307 within 18 months of notification.   

Section 5307.3.2; is hereby amended by adding subsections 1.1 and 2.1 to read as
follows: 

1.1 Where an automatic fire alarm is installed the system shall send a supervisory signal
upon detection of a carbon dioxide concentration of 5,000 ppm (9,000 mg/m³). 

2.1 Where an automatic fire alarm is installed the system shall send an alarm signal upon
detection of a carbon dioxide concentration of 30,000 ppm (54,000 mg/m³). 

Section 5307.4.3; is hereby amended by adding subsections 1.1 and 2.1 to read as
follows: 

1.1 Where an automatic fire alarm is installed the system shall send a supervisory signal
upon detection of a carbon dioxide concentration of 5,000 ppm (9,000 mg/m³). 

2.1 Where an automatic fire alarm is installed the system shall send an alarm signal upon
detection of a carbon dioxide concentration of 30,000 ppm (54,000 mg/m³). 

Section 5601.1.3 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

5601.1.3 Fireworks. The possession, manufacture, storage, sale, handling, and use of
fireworks are prohibited. 

Exceptions: 
1.  Only when approved for fireworks displays, the storage and handling of fireworks as

allowed in Section 5604 and 5608. 
2.  The use of fireworks for approved fireworks displays as allowed in Section 5608. 

The presence or use of fireworks within the jurisdiction of the Town of Prosper in violation of
this Ordinance is hereby declared to be a common and public nuisance. The restrictions of
this section shall be applicable and in force throughout the territory of the Town of Prosper, 
Texas, and extending for a distance outside the Town limits for a total of 5,000 feet (5,000'); 
provided that this section shall not be in effect within any portion of such 5,000 feet (5,000') 
area which is contained within the territory of any other municipal corporation. The owner, 
lessee or occupant of the property or structure where fireworks are being stored or used shall
be deemed responsible for violating this section. 

Page 254

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-__, Page 52

Section 5601.7.1 shall be added to read as follows: 

5601.7.1 Documentation. The Fire Marshal or designee may seize and destroy illegal
fireworks prior to a court appearance and photographs of such seized and destroyed fireworks
will provide sufficient evidence of a violation of Section 3301.1.3 for the municipal court. 

Section 5703.6; add sentence to end of paragraph to read as follows:  

An approved method of secondary containment shall be provided for underground tank and
piping systems.  

Section 5704.2.9.5 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

5704.2.9.5 Above-ground tanks inside of buildings. Above- ground tanks inside of
buildings shall comply with Sections 5704.2.9.5.1 through 5704.2.9.5.3. 

Section 5704.2.9.5 is hereby amended by adding a new Section 5704.2.9.5.3 to read as
follows: 

5704.2.9.5.3 Combustible liquid storage tanks inside of buildings. The maximum
aggregate allowable quantity limit shall be 3,000 gallons ( 11 356 L) of Class II or III
combustible liquid for storage in protected aboveground tanks complying with Section
3404.2.9.7 when all of the following conditions are met: 

1. The entire 3,000-gallon (11 356 L) quantity shall be stored in protected above-ground
tanks. 

2. The 3,000-gallon (11 356 L) capacity shall be permitted to be stored in a single tank
or multiple smaller tanks. 

3. The tanks shall be located in a room protected by an automatic sprinkler system
complying with Section 903.3.1.1; and

4. Tanks shall be connected to fuel-burning equipment, including generators, utilizing an
approved closed piping system. 

The quantity of combustible liquid stored in tanks complying with this section shall not be
counted towards the maximum allowable quantity set forth in Table 5003.1.1(1), and such
tanks shall not be required to be located in a control area. Such tanks shall not be located
more than two stories below grade. 

Section 5704.2.11.4 Leak Prevention is hereby amended to read as follows: 

Section 5704.2.11.4 Leak prevention. Leak prevention for underground tanks shall comply
with Sections 5704.2.11.4.1 through 5704.2.11.4.3. An approved method of secondary
containment shall be provided for underground tank and piping systems. 

Section 5704.2.11.4.2 Leak Detection is hereby amended to read as follows: 

5704.2.11.4.2 Leak detection. Underground storage tank systems shall be provided with an
approved method of leak detection from any component of the system that is designed and
installed in accordance with NFPA 30 and as specified in Section 5704.2.11.4.3. 

Section 5704.2.11.4.3 Observation Wells is hereby added to read as follows: 

5704.2.11.4.3 Observation wells. Approved sampling tubes of a minimum 4 inches (4”) in

Page 255

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-__, Page 53

diameter shall be installed in the backfill material of each underground flammable or
combustible liquid storage tank. The tubes shall extend from a point 12 inches (12”) below the
average grade of the excavation to ground level and shall be provided with suitable surface
access caps. Each tank site shall provide a sampling sump at the corners of the excavation
with a minimum of four ( 4) sumps. Sampling tubes shall be placed in the product line
excavation within 10 feet (10’) of the tank excavation and one every 50 feet (50’) routed along
product lines towards the dispensers, and a minimum of two (2) are required. 

Section 5707.4 Mobile Fueling Areas add paragraph to read as follows:  

Mobile fueling sites shall be restricted to commercial, industrial, governmental, or
manufacturing, where the parking area having such operations is primarily intended for
employee vehicles. Mobile fueling shall be conducted for fleet fueling or employee vehicles
only, not the general public. Commercial sites shall be restricted to office-type or similar
occupancies that are not primarily intended for use by the public.  

Section 6103.2.1.8. is hereby added to read asfollows: 

6103.2.1.8 Jewelry Repair, Dental Labs and Similar Occupancies. Where natural gas
service is not available, portable LP-Gas containers are allowed to be used to supply approved
torch assemblies or similar appliances. Such containers shall not exceed 20-pound (9.0 kg) 
water capacity. Aggregate capacity shall not exceed 60-pound (27.2 kg) water capacity. Each
device shall be separated from other containers by a distance of not less than 20 feet (20’). 

Section 6104.2, add Exception 2. to read as follows:  

Exceptions:  
1.  { existing text unchanged}  
2.  Except as permitted in Sections 308 and 6104.3.3, LP-gas containers are not permitted

in residential areas.  

Section 6104.3.3 is hereby added to read as follows: 

6104.3.3 Spas, pool heaters and other listed devices. Where natural gas service is not
available, LP-Gas containers are allowed to be used to supply spa and pool heaters or other
listed devices. Such containers shall not exceed 250-gallon water capacity. See Table 6104.3
for location of containers. 

Exception: Lots where LP-Gas can be off loaded wholly on the property where the tank is
located may install 500 gallons aboveground or 1,000 gallon underground approved
containers. 

Section 6107.4 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

6107.4 Protecting Containers from Vehicles. Where exposed to vehicular damage due to
proximity to alleys, driveways or parking areas, LP-gas containers, regulators, and piping shall
be protected in accordance with Section 312. 

Section 6109.13 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

6109.13 Protection of Containers. LP-gas containers shall be stored within a suitable
enclosure or otherwise protected against tampering. Vehicle impact protection shall be
provided as required by Section 6107.4. 

Page 256

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-__, Page 54

Section B105.1 Exception shall be amended to read as follows: 

Exception: A reduction in required fire-flow of up to 50 percent (50%), as approved, is allowed
when the building is equipped with an approved automatic sprinkler system. 

Section B105.2 is hereby amended by establishing an Exception to read as follows: 

Exception: A reduction in required fire-flow of up to 50 percent (50%), as approved, is allowed
when the building is provided with an approved automatic sprinkler system installed in
accordance with Section 903.3.1.1 or 903.3.1.2. The resulting fire-flow shall not be less than
1,500 gallons per minute for the prescribed duration as specified in Table B105.1. 

Table B105.2 is hereby amended by amending Footnote “ a.” to read as follows: 

a. The reduced fire-flow shall not be less than 1,500 gallons per minute. 

Section D102.1 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

D102.1 Access and loading.  Facilities, buildings, or portions of buildings hereafter
constructed shall be accessible to fire department apparatus by way of an approved fire
apparatus access road with an asphalt, concrete or other approved driving surface capable
of supporting the imposed load of fire apparatus weighing up to 85,000 pounds. 
Section D103.4 is amended to read as follows: 

D103.4 Dead ends. Dead-end fire apparatus access roads in excess of 150 feet (45 720
mm) shall be provided with width and turnaround provisions in accordance with Table
D103.4. 

TABLE D103.4
REQUIREMENTS FOR DEAD-END FIRE APPARATUS ACCESS ROADS

LENGTH
feet) 

WIDTH
feet) 

TURNAROUNDS REQUIRED

0–150 24 None required

151–500 24
120-foot Hammerhead, 60-foot “Y” or 100-foot diameter cul-de-sac in
accordance with Figure D103.1

501–750 26
120-foot Hammerhead, 60-foot “Y” or 100-foot diameter cul-de-sac in
accordance with Figure D103.1

Over 750 Special approval required

For SI: 1 foot = 304.8 mm. 

Section D103.5 is amended to read as follows: 

Section D103.5 Fire apparatus access road gates. Fire apparatus access road gates
shall meet the MFD-FMO Gate Access Guide.  

Section D103.6 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

D103.6 Marking.  Striping, signs, or other markings, when approved by the fire code
official, shall be provided for fire apparatus access roads to identify such roads or

Page 257

Item 17.

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
https://codes.iccsafe.org/lookup/IFC2021P1_Pt07_AppxD_SecD103.1_FigD103.1

TOWNOFPROSPER\mlsirianni
https://codes.iccsafe.org/lookup/IFC2021P1_Pt07_AppxD_SecD103.1_FigD103.1



Ordinance No. 2023-__, Page 55

prohibit the obstruction thereof.  Striping, signs, and other markings shall be maintained
in a clean and legible condition at all times and be replaced or repaired when necessary
to provide adequate visibility. 

1) Striping – Fire apparatus access roads shall be continuously marked by painted
lines of red traffic paint six inches (6”) in width to show the boundaries of the lane.  
The words “NO PARKING FIRE LANE” or “FIRE LANE NO PARKING” shall appear
in four inch (4”) white letters at 25 feet intervals on the red border markings along
both sides of the fire lanes.  Where a curb is available, the striping shall be on the
vertical face of the curb. 

2) Signs – Signs shall read “NO PARKING FIRE LANE” or “FIRE LANE NO
PARKING” and shall be 12” wide and 18” high (See Figure D103.6). Signs shall
have red letters on a white reflective background, using not less than 2” lettering.  
Signs shall be permanently affixed to a stationary post and the bottom of the sign
shall be six feet, six inches (6’6”) above finished grade.  Signs shall be spaced not
more than fifty feet (50’) apart along both sides of the fire lane.  Signs may be
installed on permanent buildings or walls or as approved by the Fire Chief. 

Figure D103.6 Unchanged} 

Section D103.6.1 and D103.6.2 are deleted in their entirety. 

Section D104.2 is hereby amended by deleting the Exception in its entirety. 

Section D104.3 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

D104.3 Remoteness.  Where two fire apparatus access roads are required, they shall be
placed a distance apart equal to not less than one half of the length of the maximum overall
diagonal dimension of the lot or area to be served, measured in a straight line between
accesses, or as approved by the fire code official. 

Section D105.3 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

D105.3 Proximity to building. Unless otherwise approved by the fire code official, one or
more of the required access routes meeting this condition shall be located not less than 15
feet (4572 mm) and not greater than 30 feet (9144 mm) from the building and shall be
positioned parallel to one entire long side of the building. The side of the building on which
the aerial fire apparatus access road is positioned shall be approved by the fire code official. 
Fire lanes in the direct proximity of the building not deemed to be the AAFL shall be 26 ft. 
wide. 

Section D106.3 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

D106.3 Remoteness.  Where two fire apparatus access roads are required, they shall be
placed a distance apart equal to not less than one-half of the length of the maximum overall
diagonal dimension of the property or area to be served, measured in a straight line
between accesses, or as approved by the fire code official. 

Section D107.2 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

D107.2 Remoteness. Where two fire apparatus access roads are required, they shall be
placed a distance apart equal to not less than one-half of the length of the maximum overall

Page 258

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-__, Page 56

diagonal dimension of the property or area to be served, measured in a straight line
between accesses, or as approved by the fire code official. 

Section J101.1 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

J101.1 Scope. New buildings shall have a building information sign(s), when required by the
Fire code official that shall comply with Sections J101.1 through J101.7. Existing buildings
shall be brought into compliance, when required by the Fire code official, with Sections J101.1
through J101.9 when one of the following occurs: 

remainder unchanged} 

Section L101.2 is hereby added to read as follows: 

L101.2 Required locations. A FARS shall be provided in all new construction when any one
of the following conditions occur: 

1. Any new building 5 or more stories in height from the lowest level of fire department
access. 

2. Any building determined to be a high-rise. 
3. Any new building with 2 or more floors below grade. 
4. Any new building 500,000 square feet or more in size. 
5. Any new R-2 occupancy, or mixed-use occupancy, in which the total fire area exceeds

400,000 sq. ft. and is 4 or more stories or more from the lowest level of fire department
access. 

L103.4 is added to read as follows: 

L103.4 Submittals. Plans and specifications shall be from a Firefighter Air Replenishment
company and sealed by a Texas licensed PE. 

Section L104.5 is amended to read as follows: 

L104.5 Breathing air supply. The FARS shall be supplied by a minimum of one external
mobile air connection in accordance with Section L104.14. Additional external mobile air
connection may be required depending on the size of the facility and complexity. A stored
pressure air supply shall be supplied by an external mobile air connection provided a means
to bypass the stored pressure air supply located at the external mobile air connection. 

Section L104.13.1 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

L104.13.1 Location. Each stairwell shall have a supply riser. Fill stations for refilling
breathing air cylinders shall be located as follows or otherwise as required by the fire code
official: 

1.  Multi-level Buildings. 
a.  Single stairwell, on all even floor levels. 
b.  Two stairwells, on alternated floors between the stairwells
c.  Three or more stairwells. 

i.  Central stairwell on all floors. 
ii. Alternating floors in other stairwells as determined by the fire code official. 

2. Large-area Buildings
a. At interior structural support columns, adjacent to interior fire department hose

Page 259

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-__, Page 57

valves. 

The fire code official is authorized to require additional fill stations based on the occupancy, 
layout, use, or hazard. 

Section L101.13.4 is hereby added to read as follows: 

L101.13.4 Identification. In large area buildings, the adjacent standpipe drops shall be
identified with a white 4-inch and a red 4-inch diamond grade reflective striping at 8-feet AFF
and at ceiling level. Where only a standpipe drop is on a column, a red 4-inch diamond
grade reflective stripping shall be provided on the drop at the same levels. Signage shall be
provided at the corresponding doors to the stairwells to indicate if a fill station is located
there on the respective floor level

Section L104.5.1 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

L104.5.1 Stored pressure air supply. A stored pressure air supply shall be required and
designed based on Chapter 24 of NFPA 1901 except provisions applicable only to mobile
apparatus or not applicable to system design shall not apply. A stored pressure air supply
shall be capable of refilling not less than 50 empty breathing air cylinders. 

Section L104.5.1.2 is hereby added to read as follows: 

L104.5.1.2 Location. Stored pressure air supply shall be located in a dedicated FARS room
in a location determined acceptable by the fire code official. The FARS room shall be of
sufficient size, but in no case shall be smaller than 100 sq. ft. with minimum interior
dimensions of 10 ft. 

Section L104.14.1 is amended to read as follows: 

L104.14.1 Location. The external mobile air connection shall be located with approved
separation from the Fire Department Connection (FDC) to allow functionality of both devices
by first responders; shall be visible from and within 50 ft. of a fire apparatus access road along
an unobstructed path; and shall be located in an approved signed, secured cabinet.  Location
shall be approved by the fire code official. 

Sec. 5.03.003 Penalty. 

Any person, firm, corporation or business entity violating this article shall be deemed
guilty of a misdemeanor, and upon conviction therefor, shall be fined a sum not exceeding

2,000.00, and each and every day that such violation continues shall be considered a separate
offense; provided, however, that such penal provision shall not preclude a suit to enjoin such
violation. The town retains all legal rights and remedies available to it pursuant to local, state
and federal law.” 

SECTION 4

The North Central Texas Council of Governments Region recommended Amendments
that are attached hereto as Attachment A and incorporated herein as set forth in this Ordinance
are also on file in the office of the Town Secretary for permanent record and inspection. In the
event of a conflict between the wording of any amendments to the International Fire Code, 2021
Edition, set out in this Ordinance and the amendments set out in the NCTCOG Amendments
adopted by this Ordinance, the wording of the Amendments set out in this Ordinance shall control. 

Page 260

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-__, Page 58

SECTION 5

All provisions of any ordinance in conflict with this Ordinance are hereby repealed to the
extent they are in conflict; but such repeal shall not abate any pending prosecution for violation of
the repealed ordinance, nor shall the repeal prevent a prosecution from being commenced for
any violation if occurring prior to the repeal of the ordinance.  Any remaining portion of conflicting
ordinances shall remain in full force and effect. 

SECTION 6

Any person, firm, corporation, or business entity violating this Ordinance shall be deemed
guilty of a misdemeanor, and upon conviction, therefore, shall be fined a sum not exceeding Two
Thousand Dollars ($ 2,000.00), and each and every day that such violation continues shall be
considered a separate offense; provided, however, that such penal provision shall not preclude a
suit to enjoin such violation. The Town of Prosper retains all legal rights and remedies available
to it pursuant to local, state, and federal law. 

SECTION 7

If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, or phrase of this Ordinance is for any reason, 
held to be unconstitutional or invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, such decision shall not
affect the validity of the remaining portions of this Ordinance. Prosper hereby declares that it
would have passed this Ordinance, and each section, subsection, clause or phrase thereof, 
irrespective of the fact that any one or more sections, subsections, sentences, clauses, and
phrases be declared unconstitutional. 

SECTION 8

This Ordinance shall take effect and be in full force from and after its passage and
publication, as provided by the Revised Civil Statutes of the State of Texas and the Home Rule
Charter of the Town of Prosper, Texas. 

DULY PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF
PROSPER, TEXAS, ON THIS 24TH DAY OF JANUARY, 2023. 

APPROVED: 

David F. Bristol, Mayor

ATTEST:  

Michelle Lewis Sirianni, Town Secretary

Page 261

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-__, Page 59

APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGALITY: 

Terrence S. Welch, Town Attorney

Page 262

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 1

TOWN OF PROSPER, TEXAS ORDINANCE NO. 2023-__ 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF PROSPER, TEXAS, REPEALING
ARTICLE 3.06, “ ELECTRICITY,” OF CHAPTER 3, “ BUILDING
REGULATIONS,” OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE TOWN OF
PROSPER, TEXAS, AND REPLACING IT WITH A NEW ARTICLE 3.06, 
ELECTRICAL CODE”; ADOPTING THE 2020 EDITION OF THE NATIONAL

ELECTRICAL CODE, SAVE AND EXCEPT THE DELETIONS AND
AMENDMENTS SET FORTH HEREIN; REGULATING THE CONSTRUCTION, 
ALTERATION, REMOVAL, USE, AND MAINTENANCE OF ANY ELECTRICAL
WIRING, APPARATUS, DEVICE, AND/OR SYSTEMS WITHIN THE TOWN OF
PROSPER; PROVIDING FOR A PENALTY FOR THE VIOLATION OF THIS
ORDINANCE; PROVIDING FOR REPEALING, SAVINGS, AND SEVERABILITY
CLAUSES; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE OF THIS ORDINANCE
AND PROVIDING FOR THE PUBLICATION OF THE CAPTION HEREOF. 

WHEREAS, the Town Council of the Town of Prosper, Texas ( the “Town Council”), has
investigated and determined that it would be advantageous and beneficial to the citizens of
Prosper to repeal the existing Article 3.06, “Electricity,” of the Code of Ordinances and replace it
with a new Article 3.06, “Electricity”; and, 

WHEREAS, the Town Council has also investigated and determined that it would be
advantageous and beneficial to the citizens of Prosper to adopt the 2020 Edition of the National
Electrical Code, save and except the amendments and deletions set forth below. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF
PROSPER, TEXAS, THAT: 

SECTION 1

The findings set forth above are incorporated into the body of this Ordinance as if fully set
forth herein. 

SECTION 2

Existing Article 3.06, “Electricity,” of Chapter 3, “Building Regulations,” of the Code of
Ordinances of the Town of Prosper, Texas, is hereby repealed in its entirety and replace with a
new Article 3.06, “Electrical Code,” to read as follows: 

ARTICLE 3.06 ELECTRICAL CODE

Sec. 3.06.001 Code Adopted; amendments

The National Electrical Code, 2020 Edition, copyrighted by National Fire Protection Association, 
save and except the deletions and amendments set forth in Exhibit “ A,” attached hereto and
incorporated herein for all purposes, is hereby adopted as the Electrical Code for the Town, 
regulating the construction, alteration, removal, use, and/or maintenance of any electrical wiring, 
apparatus, device, or system within the Town ( the “2020 National Electrical Code”). The 2020

Page 263

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 2

National Electrical Code is made a part of this Article as if fully set forth herein. A copy of the
National Electrical Code, 2020 Edition, copyrighted by the National Fire Protection Association, 
is on file in the office of the Town Secretary of Prosper being marked and so designated as the
2020 National Electrical Code.” 

SECTION 3

Should any section, subsection, sentence, clause, or phrase of this Ordinance be declared
unconstitutional or invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, it is expressly provided that any
and all remaining portions of this Ordinance shall remain in full force and effect.  The Town hereby
declares that it would have passed this Ordinance, and each section, subsection, sentence, 
clause, or phrase thereof, irrespective of the fact that any one or more sections, subsections, 
sentences, clauses, and phrases be declared unconstitutional or invalid. 

SECTION 4

All provisions of any ordinance in conflict with this Ordinance are hereby repealed to the
extent they are in conflict; but such repeal shall not abate any pending prosecution from being
commenced for any violation if occurring prior to the repeal of the Ordinance.  Any remaining
portions of said ordinances shall remain in full force and effect. 

SECTION 5

Any person, firm, corporation, or business entity violating this Ordinance shall be deemed
guilty of a misdemeanor, and upon conviction thereof shall be subject to a fine not to exceed the
sum of Two Thousand Dollars ($2,000.00), and each and every day such violation shall continue
shall constitute a separate offense.  

SECTION 6

This Ordinance shall become effective on April 1, 2023 after its adoption and publication
as required by law.  

DULY PASSED, APPROVED, AND ADOPTED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE
TOWN OF PROSPER, TEXAS, ON THIS 24TH DAY OF JANUARY, 2023. 

David F. Bristol, Mayor
ATTEST: 

Michelle Lewis Sirianni, Town Secretary

Page 264

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 3

APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGALITY: 

Terrence S. Welch, Town Attorney

Page 265

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 4

Exhibit A
Town of Prosper Amendments to the

2020 National Electrical Code
The following additions, deletions, and amendments to the 2020 National Electrical Code

are hereby approved and adopted. 

Article 100; add the following to definitions: 

Engineering Supervision. Supervision by a Qualified State of Texas Licensed Professional Engineer
engaged primarily in the design or maintenance of electrical installations.   

Article 410.118; change to read as follows:  

410.118 Access to other boxes.  
Luminaires recessed in the ceilings, floors, or walls shall not be used to access outlet, pull, or junction boxes
or conduit bodies, unless the box or conduit body is an integral part of the listed luminaire. 

Exception: removable luminaires with a minimum measurement of 22 in. X 22 in. shall be permitted to be
used as access to outlet, pull, junction boxes or conduit bodies. 

Article 500.8 (A) (3); change to read as follows:  

500.8 Equipment. 
Articles 500 through 504 require equipment construction and installation that ensure safe performance
under conditions of proper use and maintenance. 

Informational Note No. 1: It is important that inspection authorities and users exercise more than ordinary
care with regard to installation and maintenance. 

Informational Note No. 2: Since there is no consistent relationship between explosion properties and ignition
temperature, the two are independent requirements. 

Informational Note No. 3: Low ambient conditions require special consideration. Explosion proof or dust-
ignition proof equipment may not be suitable for use at temperatures lower than -25°C

13°F) unless they are identified for low-temperature service. However, at low ambient temperatures, 
flammable concentrations of vapors may not exist in a location classified as Class I, Division 1 at normal
ambient temperature. 

A) Suitability. Suitability of identified equipment shall be determined by one of the following: 

1)  Equipment listing or labeling;  
2)  Evidence of equipment evaluation from a qualified testing laboratory or inspection agency

concerned with product evaluation; or,    
3)  Evidence acceptable to the authority having jurisdiction such as a manufacturer's self -evaluation

or an engineering judgment signed and sealed by a qualified licensed Professional Engineer in the
State of Texas.  

Informational Note: Additional documentation for equipment may include certificates demonstrating
compliance with applicable equipment standards, indicating special conditions of use, and other pertinent
information. 

Page 266

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 5

Article 505.7 (A); change to read as follows: 

505.7 Special Precaution. 
Article 505 requires equipment construction and installation that ensures safe performance under
conditions of proper use and maintenance. 

Informational Note No. 1: It is important that inspection authorities and users exercise more than ordinary
care with regard to the installation and maintenance of electrical equipment in hazardous ( classif ied) 
locations. 

Informational Note No. 2: Low ambient conditions require special consideration. Electrical equipment
depending on the protection techniques described by 505.8(A) may not be suitable for use at temperatures
lower than -20°C (-4°F) unless they are identified for use at lower temperatures. However, at low ambient
temperatures, flammable concentrations of vapors may not exist in a location classified Class I, Zones 0, 
1, or 2 at normal ambient temperature. 

A)  Implementation of Zone Classification System. Classification of areas, engineering and design, 
selection of equipment and wiring methods, installation, and inspection shall be performed by a
qualified licensed Professional Engineer in the State of Texas.  

Article 695.6 A 1; change to read as follows: 

695.6 (A) Supply Conductors. 

1) Services and On-Site Power Production Facilities. 
Service conductors and conductors supplied by on-site power production facilities shall be physically routed
outside a building(s) and shall be installed as service-entrance conductors in accordance with 230.6, 230.9, 
and Parts III and IV of Article 230. Where supply conductors cannot be physically routed outside of
buildings, the conductors shall be permitted to be routed through the building(s) where installed in
accordance with230.6(1) or (2). 

delete exception} 

Informative Annex H Administration and Enforcement of the 2020 National Electrical Code is
amended to read as follows: 

SCOPE, APPLICATION AND ADMINISTRATION

SECTION 101 GENERAL

AH] 101.1 Title. These regulations shall be known as the Electrical Code of the Town of Prosper
hereinafter referred to as “this Code.” 

AH] 101.2 Scope. The provisions of this Code shall apply to the erection, installation, alteration, repairs, 
relocation, replacement, addition to, use, or maintenance of electrical systems within this jurisdiction. This
Code shall also regulate the installation of electrical conductors, equipment, and raceways; signaling and
communications conductors, equipment, and raceways; and optical fiber cables and raceways as identified
in Article 90 of this Code. Provisions in the appendices shall not apply unless specifically adopted. 

Page 267

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 6

AH] 101.3 Intent. The purpose of this Code is to provide minimum standards to safeguard life or limb, 
health, property, and public welfare by regulating and controlling the design, construction, installation, 
quality of materials, location, operation and maintenance, or use of electrical systems and equipment. 

AH] 101.4 Severability. If any section, subsection, sentence, clause or phrase of this Code is for any
reason held to be unconstitutional, such decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions of
this Code. 

SECTION 102 APPLICABILITY

AH] 102.1 General. Where there is a conflict between a general requirement and a specific requirement, 
the specific requirement shall govern. Where, in any specific case, different sections of this code specify
different materials, methods of construction, or other requirements, the most restrictive shall govern. 

AH] 102.2 Existing installations. Electrical systems lawfully in existence at the time of the adoption of
this Code shall be permitted to have their use and maintenance continued if the use, maintenance, or repair
is in accordance with the original design and no hazard to life, health, or property is created by such
electrical system. 

AH] 102.3 Maintenance. All electrical systems, materials, and appurtenances, both existing and new, and
all parts thereof, shall be maintained in proper operating condition in accordance with the original design in
a safe condition. All devices or safeguards required by this Code shall be maintained in complianc e with
the code edition under which they were installed. The owner or the owner's designated agent shall be
responsible for maintenance of electrical systems. To determine compliance with this provision, the Code
Official shall have the authority to require any electrical system to be reinspected. 

AH] 102.4 Additions, alterations, or repairs. Additions, alterations, renovations, or repairs to any
electrical system shall conform to that required for a new electrical system without requiring the existing
electrical system to comply with all the requirements of this Code unless determined by the Code Official
that it is necessary to change part of or all of the existing electrical system to safeguard life or limb, health, 
property, and public welfare. Additions, alterations, or repairs shall not cause an existing system to become
unsafe, insanitary, or overloaded. Minor additions, alterations, renovations, and repairs to existing electrical
systems shall meet the provisions for new construction, unless such work is done in the same manner and
arrangement as was in the existing system, is not hazardous and is approved. 

AH] 102.5 Change in occupancy. It shall be unlawful to make any change in the occupancy of any
structure that will subject the structure to any special provision of this Code applicable to the new occupancy
without approval of the Code Official. The Code Official shall certify that such structure meets the intent of
the provisions of law governing building construction for the proposed new occupancy and that such change
of occupancy does not result in any hazard to the public health, safety, or welfare. 

AH] 102.6 Historic buildings. The provisions of this Code relating to the construction, alteration, repair, 
enlargement, restoration, relocation, or moving of buildings or structures shall not be mandatory for existing
buildings or structures identified and classified by the state or local jurisdiction as historic buildings when
such buildings or structures are judged by the Code Official to be safe and in the public interest of health, 
safety, and welfare regarding any proposed construction, alteration, repair, enlargement, restoration, 
relocation, or moving of buildings. 

AH] 102.7 Moved buildings. Except as determined by Section 102.2, electrical systems that are a part of
buildings or structures moved into or within the jurisdiction shall comply with the provisions of this Code for
new installations. 

Page 268

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 7

AH] 102.8 Referenced codes and standards. The codes and standards referenced in this Code, when
specifically adopted, shall be considered as part of the requirements of this Code to the prescribed extent
of each such reference. Where the differences occur between provisions of this Code and the referenced
standards, the provisions of this Code shall be the minimum requirements. Whenever amendments have
been adopted to the referenced codes and standards, each reference to said code and standard shall be
considered to reference the amendments as well. 

AH] 102.8.1 Conflicts. Where conflicts occur between provisions of this Code and the referenced
standards, the provisions of this code shall apply. 

AH] 102.8.2 Provisions in referenced codes and standards. Where the extent of the reference to a
referenced code or standard includes subject matter that is within the scope of this Code, the provisions of
this Code, as applicable, shall take precedence over the provisions in the referenced code or standard. 

AH] 102.9 Requirements not covered by code. Any requirements necessary for the strength, stability, 
or proper operation of an existing or proposed electrical system, or for the public safety, health, and general
welfare, not specifically covered by this code shall be determined by the Code Official. 

AH] 102.10 Other laws. The provisions of this Code shall not be deemed to nullify any provisions of local, 
state, or federal law. 

AH] 102.11 Application of references. Reference to chapter section numbers, or to provisions not
specifically identified by number, shall be construed to refer to such chapter, section, or provision of this
Code. 

SECTION 103 DEPARTMENT OF ELECTRICAL INSPECTION

AH] 103.1 General. The department of electrical inspection is hereby created and the executive official in
charge thereof shall be known as the Code Official. 

AH] 103.2 Appointment. The Code Official shall be appointed by the chief appointing authority of the
jurisdiction. 

AH] 103.3 Deputies. In accordance with the prescribed procedures of this jurisdiction and with the
concurrence of the appointing authority, the Code Official shall have the authority to appoint a Deputy Code
Official, other related technical officers, inspectors, and other employees. Such employees shall have
powers as delegated by the Code Official. 

AH] 103.4 Liability. The Code Official, member of the Board of Appeals, or employee charged with the
enforcement of this code, while acting for the jurisdiction in good faith and without malice in the discharge
of the duties required by this code or other pertinent law or ordinance, shall not thereby be rendered liable
personally, and is hereby relieved from all personal liability for any damage accruing to persons or property
as a result of any act or by reason of an act or omission in the discharge of official duties. Any suit instituted
against any officer or employee because of an act performed by that officer or employee in the lawful
discharge of duties and under the provisions of this Code shall be defended by the legal representative of
the jurisdiction until the final termination of the proceedings. The Code Official or any subordinate shall not
be liable for costs in any action, suit, or proceeding that is instituted in pursuance of the provisions of this
Code. 

SECTION 104 DUTIES AND POWERS OF THE CODE OFFICIAL

AH] 104.1 General. The Code Official is hereby authorized and directed to enforce the provisions of this
Code. The Code Official shall have the authority to render interpretations of this Code and to adopt policies

Page 269

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 8

and procedures in order to clarify the application of its provisions. Such interpretations, policies, and
procedures shall be in compliance with the intent and purpose of this Code. Such policies and procedures
shall not have the effect of waiving requirements specifically provided for in this Code. 

AH] 104.2 Applications and permits. The Code Official shall receive applications, review construction
documents, and issue permits for the installation and alteration of electrical systems, inspect the premises
for which such permits have been issued, and enforce compliance with the provisions of this Code. 

AH] 104.3 Inspections. The Code Official shall make all the required inspections, or shall accept reports
of inspection by approved agencies or individuals. All reports of such inspections shall be in writing and be
certified by a responsible officer of such approved agency or by the responsible individual. The Code Official
is authorized to engage such expert opinion as deemed necessary to report on unusual technical issues
that arise, subject to the approval of the appointing authority. 

AH] 104.4 Right of entry. Whenever it is necessary to make an inspection to enforce the provisions of
this Code, or whenever the Code Official has reasonable cause to believe that there exists in any building
or upon any premises any conditions or violations of this Code that make the building or premises unsafe, 
dangerous, or hazardous, the Code Official shall have the authority to enter the building or premises at all
reasonable times to inspect or to perform the duties imposed upon the Code Official by this Code. If such
building or premises is occupied, the Code Official shall present credentials to the occupant and request
entry. If such building or premises is unoccupied, the Code Official shall first make a reasonable effort to
locate the owner or other person having charge or control of the building or premises and request entry. If
entry is refused, the Code Official shall have recourse to every remedy provided by law to secure entry. 
When the Code Official shall have first obtained a proper inspection warrant or other remedy provided by
law to secure entry, no owner, occupant, or person having charge, care, or control of any building or
premises shall fail or neglect, after proper request is made as herein provided, to promptly permit entry
therein by the Code Official for the purpose of inspection and examination pursuant to this Code. 

AH] 104.5 Identification. The Code Official shall carry proper identification when inspecting structures or
premises in the performance of duties under this Code. 

AH] 104.6 Notices and orders. The Code Official shall issue all necessary notices or orders to ensure
compliance with this Code. 

AH] 104.7 Department records. The Code Official shall keep official records of applications received, 
permits and certificates issued, fees collected, reports of inspections, and notices and orders issued. Such
records shall be retained in the official records for the period required for the retention of public records. 

SECTION 105 APPROVAL

AH] 105.1 Modifications. Whenever there are practical difficulties involved in carrying out the provisions
of this Code, the Code Official shall have the authority to grant modifications for individual cases, upon
application of the owner or owner's representative, provided the Code Official shall first find that special
individual reason makes the strict letter of this Code impractical, the modification conforms to the intent and
purpose of this Code, and that such modification does not lessen health, life, and fire safety requirements. 
The details of action granting modifications shall be recorded and entered in the files of the electrical
inspection department. 

AH] 105.2 Alternative materials, methods, and equipment. The provisions of this Code are not intended
to prevent the installation of any material or to prohibit any method of construction not specifically prescribed
by this Code, provided that any such alternative has been approved. An alternative material or method of
construction shall be approved when the Code Official finds that the proposed alternative material, method, 

Page 270

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___-Page 9

or equipment complies with the intent of the provisions of this Code and is at least the equivalent of that
prescribed in this Code. 

AH] 105.2.1 Research reports. Supporting data, where necessary to assist in the approval of materials
or assemblies not specifically provided for in this Code, shall consist of valid research reports from approved
sources. 

AH] 105.3 Required testing. Whenever there is insufficient evidence of compliance with the provisions of
this Code, evidence that a material or method does not conform to the requirements of this Code, or in
order to substantiate claims for alternate materials or methods, the Code Official shall have the authority to
require tests as evidence of compliance to be made at no expense to the jurisdiction. 

AH] 105.3.1 Test methods. Test methods shall be as specified in this Code or by other recognized test
standards. In the absence of recognized and accepted test methods, the Code Official shall approve the
testing procedures. 

AH] 105.3.2 Testing agency. All tests shall be performed by an approved agency. 

AH] 105.3.3 Test reports. Reports of tests shall be retained by the Code Official for the period required
for retention of public records. 

AH] 105.4 Approved materials and equipment. Materials, equipment, and devices approved by the
Code Official shall be constructed and installed in accordance with such approval. 

AH] 105.4.1 Material and equipment reuse. Materials, equipment, and devices shall not be reused unless
such elements have been reconditioned, tested, placed in good and proper working condition, and
approved. 

SECTION 106 PERMITS

AH] 106.1 When required. Any owner, authorized agent, or contractor who desires to construct, enlarge, 
alter, repair, move, demolish, or change the occupancy of a building or structure, or to erect, install, enlarge, 
alter, repair, remove, convert, or replace any electrical system, the installation of which is regulated by this
Code, or to cause any such work to be done, shall first make application to the Code Official and obtain the
required permit for the work. 

AH] 106.2 Exempt work. The following work shall be exempt from the requirement for a permit: 

1. The work identified in Article 90.2(8) as not being covered by this Code. 

AH] 106.3 Application for permit. Each application for a permit, with the required fee, shall be filed with
the Code Official on a form furnished for that purpose and shall contain a general description of the
proposed work and its location. The application shall be signed by the owner or an authorized agent. The
permit application shall indicate the proposed occupancy of all parts of the building and of that portion of
the site or lot, if any, not covered by the building or structure and shall contain such other information
required by the Code Official. 

AH] 106.3.1 Construction documents. Construction documents, engineering calculations, diagrams and
other such data shall be submitted, as required by the Code Official, with each application for a permit. The
Code Official shall require construction documents, computations, and specifications to be prepared and
designed by a registered design professional when required by state law. Construction documents shall be
drawn to scale and shall be of sufficient clarity to indicate the location, nature, and extent of the work
proposed and show in detail that the work conforms to the provisions of this Code. Construction documents

Page 271

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___- Page 10

for buildings more than two (2) stories in height shall indicate where penetrations will be made for pipes, 
conduits, wiring, equipment, fittings, and components and shall indicate the materials and methods for
maintaining required structural safety, fire-resistance rating, and fireblocking. 

Exception: The Code Official shall have the authority to waive the submission of construction documents, 
calculations, or other data if the nature of the work applied for is such that reviewing of construction
documents is not necessary to determine compliance with this Code. 

AH] 106.3.2 Preliminary inspection. Before a permit is issued, the Code Official is authorized to inspect
and evaluate the systems, equipment, buildings, devices, premises, and spaces, or areas to be used. 

AH] 106.3.3 Time limitation of application. An application for a permit for any proposed work shall be
deemed to have been abandoned one hundred 180 ( 180) days after the date of filing, unless such
application has been pursued in good faith or a permit has been issued; except that the Code Official shall
have the authority to grant one (1) or more extensions of time for additional periods not exceeding ninety
90) days each. The extension shall be requested in writing and justifiable cause demonstrated. 

AH] 106.4 By whom application is made. Application for a permit shall be made by the person or agent
to install all or part of any electrical system. The applicant shall meet all qualifications established by statute, 
by rules promulgated by this Code, by Ordinance, or by Resolution. The full name and address of the
applicant shall be stated in the application. 

AH] 106.5 Permit issuance. The application, construction documents, and other data filed by an applicant
for permit shall be reviewed by the Code Official. If the Code Official finds that the proposed work conforms
to the requirements of this Code and all laws and ordinances applicable thereto, and that the fees specified
in Section I 06.6 have been paid, a permit shall be issued to the applicant. 

AH] 106.5.1 Approved construction documents. When the Code Official issues the permit where
construction documents are required, the construction documents shall be endorsed in writing and stamped
APPROVED.” Such approved construction documents shall not be changed, modified, or altered without

authorization from the Code Official. All work shall be done in accordance with the approved construction
documents. The Code Official shall have the authority to issue a permit for the construction of a part of an
electrical system before the entire construction documents for the whole system have been submitted or
approved, provided adequate information and detailed statements have been filed complying with all
pertinent requirements of this Code. The holders of such permit shall proceed at their own risk without
assurance that the permit for the entire electrical system will be granted. 

AH] 106.5.2 Validity. The issuance of a permit or approval of construction documents shall not be
construed to be a permit for, or an approval of, any violation of any of the provisions of this Code or any
other ordinance of the jurisdiction. No permit presuming to give authority to violate or cancel the provisions
of this Code shall be valid. The issuance of a permit based upon construction documents and other data
shall not prevent the Code Official from thereafter requiring the correction of errors in said construction
documents and other data or from preventing building operations being carried on thereunder when in
violation of this Code or of other ordinances of this jurisdiction. 

AH] 106.5.3 Expiration. Every permit issued shall become invalid unless the work authorized by such
permit is commenced within 180 days after the issuance, or if the work authorized by such permit is
suspended, abandoned, or lacks any required inspection for a period of 180 days after the time the work is
commenced. The Code Official is authorized to grant, in writing, one ( 1) or more extensions of time, for
periods not more than 180 days each. The extension shall be requested in writing and justifiable cause
demonstrated. 

Page 272

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___- Page 11

AH] 106.5.4 Extensions. Any permittee holding an unexpired permit shall have the right to apply for an
extension of the time within which the permittee will commence work under said permit when work is unable
to be commenced within the time required by this Section for good and satisfactory reasons. The Code
Official shall extend the time for action by the permittee for a period not exceeding 180 days if there is
reasonable cause. No permit shall be extended more than once.  

AH] 106.5.5 Suspension or revocation of permit. The Code Official shall have the authority to suspend
or revoke a permit issued under the provisions of this Code wherever the permit is issued in error or on the
basis of incorrect, inaccurate, or incomplete information, or in violation of any ordinance, regulation or any
of the provisions of this Code. 

AH] 106.5.6 Retention of construction documents. One (1) set of approved construction documents
shall be retained by the Code Official for a period of not less than 180 days from date of completion of the
permitted work, or as required by state or local laws. One (1) set of approved construction documents shall
be kept on the site of the building or work at all times. 

AH] 106.5.7 Previous approvals. This Code shall not require changes in the construction documents, 
construction, or designated occupancy of a structure for which a lawful permit has been heretofore issued
or otherwise lawfully authorized, and the construction of which has been pursued in good faith within 180
days after the effective date of this Code and has not been abandoned. 

AH] 106.5.8 Posting of permit. The permit or a copy shall be kept on the site of the work until the
completion of the project. 

AH] 106.6 Fees. A permit shall not be issued until the fees prescribed in Section 106.6.2 have been paid, 
and an amendment to a permit shall not be released until the additional fee, if any, due to an increase of
the electrical systems, has been paid. 

AH] 106.6.1 Work commencing before permit issuance. Any person who commences any work on an
electrical system prior to obtaining the necessary permits shall be subject to 100% of the usual permit fee
in addition to the required permit fees. 

AH] 106.6.2 Fee schedule. The fees for all electrical work shall be as indicated in the Town of Prosper
Fee Schedule as adopted by the City Council. 

AH] 106.6.3 Fee refunds. The Code Official shall authorize the refunding of fees as follows: 

1. The full amount of any fee paid hereunder that was erroneously paid or collected. 
2. Not more than eighty percent (80%) of the permit fee paid when no work has been done under a

permit issued in accordance with this Code. 
3. Not more than eighty percent (80%) of the plan review fee paid when an application for a permit for

which a plan review fee has been paid is withdrawn or canceled before any plan review effort has
been expended. 

The Code Official shall not authorize the refunding of any fee paid except upon written application filed by
the original permittee not later than 180 days after the date of fee payment. 

SECTION 107 INSPECTIONS AND TESTING

AH] 107.1 General. The Code Official is authorized to conduct such inspections as are deemed necessary
to determine compliance with the provisions of this Code. Construction or work for which a permit is required
shall be subject to inspection by the Code Official, and such construction or work shall remain accessible
and exposed for inspection purposes until approved. Approval as a result of an inspection shall not be

Page 273

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___- Page 12

construed to be an approval of a violation of the provisions of this Code or of other ordinances of the
jurisdiction. Inspections presuming to give authority to violate or cancel the provisions of this Code or of
other ordinances of the jurisdiction shall not be valid. It shall be the duty of the permit applicant to cause
the work to remain accessible and exposed for inspection purposes. Neither the Code Official nor the
jurisdiction shall be liable for expenses entailed in the removal or replacement of any material required to
allow inspection. 

AH] 107.2 Required inspections and testing. The Code Official, upon notification from the permit holder
or the permit holder's agent, shall make the following inspections, such other inspections as necessary, 
and shall either release that portion of the construction or shall notify the permit holder or an agent of any
violations that shall be corrected. The holder of the permit shall be responsible for the scheduling of such
inspections. 

1. Underground inspection shall be made after trenches or ditches are excavated and bedded, piping
and conduit installed, and before any backfill is put in place. 

2. Rough- in inspection shall be made after the roof, framing, fireblocking, firestopping, draftstopping, 
and bracing is in place, all electrical systems are roughed-in, and prior to the installation of wall or
ceiling membranes. 

3. Final inspection shall be made after the building is complete, all electrical fixtures are in place and
properly connected, and the structure is ready for occupancy. 

AH] 107.2.1 Other inspections. In addition to the inspections specified above, the Code Official is
authorized to make or require other inspections of any construction work to ascertain compliance with the
provisions of this Code and other laws that are enforced. 

AH] 107.2.2 Inspection requests. It shall be the duty of the holder of the permit or their duly authorized
agent to notify the Code Official when work is ready for inspection. It shall be the duty of the permit holder
to provide access to and means for inspections of such work that are required by this Code. 

AH] 107.2.3 Approval required. Work shall not be done beyond the point indicated in each successive
inspection without first obtaining the approval of the Code Official. The Code Official, upon notification, shall
make the requested inspections and shall either indicate the portion of the construction that is satisfactory
as completed, or notify the permit holder or his or her agent wherein the same fails to comply with this
Code. Any portions that do not comply shall be corrected and such portion shall not be covered or concealed
until authorized by the Code Official. 

AH] 107.2.4 Approved agencies. The Code Official is authorized to accept reports of approved inspection
agencies, provided that such agencies satisfy the requirements as to qualifications and reliability. 

AH] 107.2.5 Evaluation and follow -up inspection services. Prior to the approval of a closed, 
prefabricated electrical system and the issuance of an electrical permit, the Code Official may require the
submittal of an evaluation report on each prefabricated electrical system indicating the complete details of
the electrical system, including a description of the system and its components, the basis upon which the
electrical system is being evaluated, test results and similar information, and other data as necessary for
the Code Official to determine conformance to this Code. 

AH] 107.2.5.1 Evaluation service. The Code Official shall designate the evaluation service of an approved
agency as the evaluation agency, and review such agency's evaluation report for adequacy and
conformance to this Code. 

AH] 107.2.5.2 Follow -up inspection. Except where ready access is provided to all electrical systems, 
service equipment, and accessories for complete inspection at the site without disassembly or dismantling, 
the Code Official shall conduct the frequency of in -plant inspections necessary to ensure conformance to

Page 274

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___- Page 13

the approved evaluation report or shall designate an independent, approved inspection agency to conduct
such inspections. The inspection agency shall furnish the Code Official with the follow-up inspection manual
and a report of inspections upon request, and the electrical system shall have an identifying label
permanently affixed to the system indicating that factory inspections have been performed. 

AH] 107.2.5.3 Test and inspection records. All required test and inspection records shall be available to
the Code Official at all times during the fabrication of the electrical system and the erection of the building, 
or such records as the Code Official designates shall be filed. 

AH] 107.3 Special inspections. Special inspections of alternative engineered design electrical systems
shall be conducted in accordance with Sections 107.3.1 and 107.3.2. 

AH] 107.3.1 Periodic inspection. The registered design professional or designated inspector shall
periodically inspect and observe the alternative engineered design to determine that the installation is in
accordance with the approved construction documents. All discrepancies shall be brought to the immediate
attention of the electrical contractor for correction. Records shall be kept of all inspections. 

AH] 107.3.2 Written report. The registered design professional shall submit a final report in writing to the
Code Official upon completion of the installation, certifying that the alternative engineered design conforms
to the approved construction documents. A notice of approval for the electrical system shall not be issued
until a written certification has been submitted.  

AH] 107.4 Testing. Electrical work and systems shall be tested as required by this Code and in accordance
with Sections 107.4.1 through 107.4.3. Tests shall be made by the permit holder and observed by the Code
Official. 

AH] 107.4.1 New, altered, extended or repaired systems. New electrical systems and parts of existing
systems that have been altered, extended, or repaired shall be inspected and tested as required by the
Code Official. 

AH] 107.4.2 Equipment, material and labor for tests. All equipment, material, and labor required for
testing an electrical system or part thereof shall be furnished by the permit holder. 

AH] 107.4.3 Reinspection and testing. Where any work or installation does not pass any initial test or
inspection, the necessary corrections shall be made to comply with this Code. The work or installation shall
then be resubmitted to the Code Official for inspection and testing. 

AH] 107.5 Approval. After the prescribed tests and inspections indicate that the work complies in all
respects with this Code, a notice of approval shall be issued by the Code Official. 

AH] 107.5.1 Revocation. The Code Official is authorized to, in writing, suspend or revoke a notice of
approval issued under the provisions of this Code wherever the notice is issued in error, on the basis of
incorrect information supplied, or where it is determined that the building or structure, premise or portion
thereof is in violation of any ordinance or regulation or any of the provisions of this Code. 

AH] 107.6 Temporary connection. The Code Official shall have the authority to authorize the temporary
connection of the building or system to the utility source for the purpose of testing electrical systems or for
use under a temporary certificate of occupancy. 

AH] 107.7 Connection of service utilities. A person shall not make connections from a utility, source of
energy, or power system to any building or system that is regulated by this Code for which a permit is
required until authorized by the Code Official. 

Page 275

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___- Page 14

SECTION 108 VIOLATIONS

AH] 108.1 Unlawful acts. It shall be unlawful for any person, firm, or corporation to erect, construct, alter, 
repair, remove, demolish, or utilize any electrical system, or cause same to be done, in conflict with or in
violation of any of the provisions of this Code. 

AH] 108.2 Notice of violation. The Code Official shall serve a notice of violation or order to the person
responsible for the erection, installation, alteration, extension, repair, removal, or demolition of electrical
work in violation of the provisions of this Code, in violation of a detail statement or the approved construction
documents thereunder, or in violation of a permit or certificate issued under the provisions of this Code. 
Such order shall direct the discontinuance of the illegal action or condition and the abatement of the
violation. 

AH] 108.3 Prosecution of violation. If the notice of violation is not complied with promptly, the Code
Official shall request the legal counsel of the jurisdiction to institute the appropriate proceeding at law or in
equity to restrain, correct, or abate such violation, or to require the removal or termination of the unlawful
occupancy of the structure in violation of the provisions of this Code or of the order or direction made
pursuant thereto. 

AH] 108.4 Violation penalties. Any person who shall violate a provision of this Code or shall fail to comply
with any of the requirements thereof or who shall erect, install, alter, or repair electrical work in violation of
the approved construction documents, directive of the Code Official, or of a permit or certificate issued
under the provisions of this Code, shall be guilty of a misdemeanor and upon conviction may be fined up
to the maximum amount allowed by Texas Jaw. Each day that a violation continues after due notice has
been served shall be deemed a separate offense. 

AH] 108.5 Stop work orders. Upon notice from the Code Official, work on any electrical system that is
being done contrary to the provisions of this Code or in a dangerous or unsafe manner shall immediately
cease. Such notice shall be in writing and shall be given to the owner of the property, the owner's agent, or
to the person doing the work. The notice shall state the conditions under which work is authorized to
resume. Where an emergency exists, the Code Official shall not be required to give a written notice prior
to stopping the work. Any person who shall continue any work in or about the structure after having been
served with a stop work order, except such work as that person is directed to perform to remove a violation
or unsafe condition, shall be liable to a fine as required herein by this Code. 

AH] 108.6 Abatement of violation. The imposition of the penalties herein prescribed shall not preclude
the legal officer of the jurisdiction from instituting appropriate action to prevent unlawful construction or to
restrain, correct, or abate a violation, to prevent illegal occupancy of a building, structure, or premises, or
to stop an illegal act, conduct, business, or utilization of the electrical system on or about any premises. 

AH] 108.7 Unsafe Electrical Systems. Any electrical systems regulated by this Code that is unsafe, that
constitutes a fire or health hazard, or is otherwise dangerous to human life is hereby declared unsafe. Any
use of electrical systems regulated by this Code constituting a hazard to safety, health, or public welfare by
reason of inadequate maintenance, dilapidation, obsolescence, fire hazard, disaster, damage, or
abandonment is hereby declared an unsafe use. Any such unsafe electrical system is hereby declared to
be a public nuisance and shall be abated by repair, rehabilitation, demolition, or removal. 

AH] 108.7.1 Authority to condemn equipment. Whenever the Code Official determines that any
electrical system, or portion thereof, regulated by this Code has become hazardous to life, health, or
property the Code Official shall order in writing that such electrical system either be removed or restored to
a safe condition. A time limit for compliance with such order shall be specified in the written notice. No
person shall use or maintain a defective electrical system after receiving such notice. When such electrical

Page 276

Item 17.



Ordinance No. 2023-___- Page 15

system is to be disconnected, written notice as prescribed in Section 108.2 shall be given. In cases of
immediate danger to life or property, such disconnection shall be made immediately without such notice. 

AH] 108.7.2 Authority to disconnect service utilities. The Code Official shall have the authority to
authorize disconnection of utility service to the building, structure, or system regulated by the technical
codes in case of an emergency, where necessary, to eliminate an immediate danger to life or property. 
Where possible, the owner and occupant of the building, structure, or service system shall be notified of
the decision to disconnect utility service prior to taking such action. If not notified prior to disconnecting, the
owner or occupant of the building, structure, or service systems shall be notified in writing, as soon as
practical thereafter. 

AH] 108.7.3 Connection after order to disconnect. No person shall make connections from any energy
or power supply system or supply energy or power supply to any equipment regulated by this Code that
has been disconnected, ordered to be disconnected by the Code Official, or the use of which has been
ordered to be discontinued by the Code Official until the Code Official authorizes the reconnection and use
of such equipment. When any electrical system is maintained in violation of this Code, and in violation of
any notice issued pursuant to the provisions of this Section, the Code Official shall institute any appropriate
action to prevent, restrain, correct, or abate the violation. 

SECTION 109 MEANS OF APPEAL

AH] 109.1 Application for appeal. Any person shall have the right to appeal a decision of the Code Official
to the Board of Appeals as established by ordinance. The board shall be governed by the Town of Prosper's
enabling ordinance. 

END

Page 277

Item 17.


